# SECONDARY RESPIRATORY INFECTIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF ACUTE AND CHRONIC PULMONARY DISEASES

EDITED BY: François Trottein and John F. Alcorn PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-365-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-365-4

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

## SECONDARY RESPIRATORY INFECTIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF ACUTE AND CHRONIC PULMONARY DISEASES

**Topic Editors:** 

**François Trottein,** Centre d'Infection et d'Immunité de Lille, Inserm U1019, CNRS UMR 9017, University of Lille, CHU Lille, Institut Pasteur de Lille, Lille, France, France **John F. Alcorn,** UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, United States

**Citation:** Trottein, F., Alcorn, J. F., eds. (2020). Secondary Respiratory Infections in the Context of Acute and Chronic Pulmonary Diseases. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-365-4

# Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Secondary Respiratory Infections in the Context of Acute and Chronic Pulmonary Diseases

François Trottein and John F. Alcorn

08 STAT2 Signaling Regulates Macrophage Phenotype During Influenza and Bacterial Super-Infection

Radha Gopal, Benjamin Lee, Kevin J. McHugh, Helen E. Rich, Krishnaveni Ramanan, Sivanarayana Mandalapu, Michelle E. Clay, Philip J. Seger, Richard I. Enelow, Michelle L. Manni, Keven M. Robinson, Javier Rangel-Moreno and John F. Alcorn

27 Resolving Viral-Induced Secondary Bacterial Infection in COPD: A Concise Review

Hao Wang, Desiree Anthony, Stavros Selemidis, Ross Vlahos and Steven Bozinovski

34 Sepsis and Nosocomial Infection: Patient Characteristics, Mechanisms, and Modulation

Scott J. Denstaedt, Benjamin H. Singer and Theodore J. Standiford

50 Coinfection With Influenza A Virus and Klebsiella oxytoca: An Underrecognized Impact on Host Resistance and Tolerance to Pulmonary Infections

Kayla M. Lee, Jenna Morris-Love, Damien J. Cabral, Peter Belenky, Steven M. Opal and Amanda M. Jamieson

66 IFNAR2 is Required for Anti-influenza Immunity and Alters Susceptibility to Post-influenza Bacterial Superinfections

Kelly M. Shepardson, Kyle Larson, Laura L. Johns, Kayla Stanek, Hanbyul Cho, Julia Wellham, Haley Henderson and Agnieszka Rynda-Apple

- 77 Contribution of Dendritic Cell Responses to Sepsis-Induced Immunosuppression and to Susceptibility to Secondary Pneumonia Marwan Bouras, Karim Asehnoune and Antoine Roquilly
- 86 Respiratory Viral Infection-Induced Microbiome Alterations and Secondary Bacterial Pneumonia

Shigeo Hanada, Mina Pirzadeh, Kyle Y. Carver and Jane C. Deng

101 Innate Immune Cell Suppression and the Link With Secondary Lung Bacterial Pneumonia

David J. Morgan, Joshua Casulli, Christine Chew, Emma Connolly, Sylvia Lui, Oliver J. Brand, Rizwana Rahman, Christopher Jagger and Tracy Hussell

119 HRV16 Impairs Macrophages Cytokine Response to a Secondary Bacterial Trigger

Jamil Jubrail, Kshanti Africano-Gomez, Floriane Herit, Engin Baturcam, Gaell Mayer, Danen Mootoosamy Cunoosamy, Nisha Kurian and Florence Niedergang

**129** Viral-Bacterial Co-infections in the Cystic Fibrosis Respiratory Tract Megan R. Kiedrowski and Jennifer M. Bomberger

## 141 Using Lung Organoids to Investigate Epithelial Barrier Complexity and IL-17 Signaling During Respiratory Infection

Giuseppe Paolicelli, Antonella De Luca, Shyam S. Jose, Martina Antonini, Irene Teloni, Jan Fric and Teresa Zelante

#### 147 Mechanisms of Bacterial Superinfection Post-influenza: A Role for Unconventional T Cells

Christophe Paget and François Trottein





# **Editorial: Secondary Respiratory Infections in the Context of Acute and Chronic Pulmonary Diseases**

François Trottein<sup>1\*</sup> and John F. Alcorn<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Centre d'Infection et d'Immunité de Lille, Inserm U1019, CNRS UMR 8204, University of Lille, CHU Lille, Institut Pasteur de Lille, France, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pediatrics, UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Keywords: respiratory viruses, influenza, COPD, cystic fibrosis, sepsis, pneumonia, innate immune response, immunotherapy

**Editorial on the Research Topic** 

#### Secondary Respiratory Infections in the Context of Acute and Chronic Pulmonary Diseases

Despite major advances in the identification of key pathophysiological mechanisms and in treatment, respiratory bacterial infections arising from pulmonary insults remain a major clinical issue today. Acute or chronic, sterile or infection-driven, pulmonary inflammation predisposes to secondary respiratory tract infections. Secondary bacterial infections often result in lethal synergy with primary infection in the lung or, in the case of sepsis, throughout the body. Different mechanisms are implicated in this enhanced susceptibility including loss of barrier integrity and impaired host defenses. Today's treatments of secondary bacterial infections are still not effective enough and antibiotic resistance is a major issue. Hence, there is an urgent need for novel therapies. A better understanding of the mechanisms of why secondary bacterial infections arise is of key importance in order to propose novel interventional strategies. In this Research Topic, a series of reviews and original articles provide a timely survey of mechanisms leading to respiratory tract bacterial infections that occur following pulmonary insult including viral (mostly influenza) infections, cystic fibrosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and sepsis.

Viral infections predispose patients to secondary bacterial infections, which often have a more severe clinical course. The mechanisms underlying post-viral bacterial infections are complex, and include multifactorial processes mediated by interactions between viruses, bacteria, and the host immune system. Significant advances have been made in recent decades as illustrated by several reviews in this Research Topic. Morgan et al. review the current knowledge about mechanical and immunological mechanisms leading to bacterial super-infection post-viral infections. The authors present the emerging literature describing the role of innate immune cell suppression in secondary bacterial complications. They provide an overview of the principal functions that these cells play in pulmonary immunity, highlighting their unique ability to sense environmental factors and promote protection against respiratory bacterial infections. In particular, the authors discuss mechanisms through which respiratory viruses alter the beneficial cross-talk between airway epithelial cells and macrophages. The role of apoptotic cell clearance (efferocytosis) and reduced responsiveness of pattern recognition receptors (innate imprinting) following viral infection in susceptibility to secondary bacterial infections is highlighted. The authors discuss the importance of extracellular matrix alterations (elevated production following severe acute viral infection) in bacterial attachment, colonization and infection. Finally, they propose different areas for potential new investigation. Paget and Trottein focus on unconventional T lymphocytes (NKT cells, y8 T cells, and MAIT cells) in pulmonary defense against bacterial infection and review mechanisms leading to their dysfunctions in the context of viral-bacterial super-infection.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Approved by:

lan Marriott, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, United States

\*Correspondence: François Trottein francois.trottein@pasteur-lille.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 August 2019 Accepted: 12 November 2019 Published: 27 November 2019

#### Citation:

Trottein F and Alcorn JF (2019) Editorial: Secondary Respiratory Infections in the Context of Acute and Chronic Pulmonary Diseases. Front. Immunol. 10:2764. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02764

The impact of the antiviral response on unconventional T cellmediated anti-bacterial host defense is detailed. Finally, they discuss recent advances and future therapeutic opportunities based on the targeting of these cells to prevent bacterial superinfection post-influenza. Hanada et al. discuss the effect of prior viral (influenza) infection on the intestinal and (upper and lower) respiratory tract microbiomes. In this review, the authors summarize the literature on the interactions between host microbial communities in the lung mucosa and host defense. Data generated from mouse models of influenza and from human studies are presented. They also discuss mechanisms through which respiratory viruses disrupt these interactions and contribute to the pathogenesis of secondary bacterial infections. Using examples drawn from current literature, the authors highlight the great complexity of the field and how far we still need to go before proposing microbiome-based therapy. Kiedrowski and Bomberger summarize the current knowledge about the interactions between viruses and bacteria in the cystic fibrosis upper and lower respiratory tract and how superinfections impact the health of individuals with cystic fibrosis. The authors discuss the altered immune and metabolic states in the cystic fibrosis lung due to persistent inflammation and how this may impact bacterial infections. The link between viral exacerbations of cystic fibrosis and bacterial acquisition and outgrowth are covered in detail. Similarly, Wang et al. focus their review on dysregulated inflammation and altered reactive oxygen species production as central causes for acute and chronic bacterial infections in the context of COPD. In the COPD lung, persistent impairment of lung phagocytes results in protease imbalance and tissue damage. The authors go on to focus on interactions between serum amyloid A and formyl peptide receptor 2 (FPR2), which promotes neutrophil chemotaxis and survival. FPR2 signaling in this fashion inhibits the function of resolvin D1, a fatty acid metabolite with anti-inflammatory properties. Potential targeting of resolvin D1 is speculated as a method to limit COPD exacerbations. Finally, two reviews focus on bacterial (nosocomial) superinfection in the context of sepsis which is also characterized by depressed host (pulmonary) defenses. First, Denstaedt et al. recapitulate the dynamics of the septic host response and the balance of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cellular programs that occur. The authors summarize the epidemiology of nosocomial infections and characteristic immune responses associated with sepsis, as well as immunostimulatory therapies currently under clinical investigation. Sepsis inhibits host defense in distal organs through a variety of pathways including: decreased cytokine production, cytokine receptor antagonism, impaired pattern recognition receptor signaling, suppressor cell activation (myeloid-derived suppressor cells, regulatory T cells), induction of T cell exhaustion, and epigenetic reprogramming. The potential to target these immune deficiencies is discussed in detail. Complementary to this work, Bouras et al. focus their review on dendritic cell paralysis during sepsis and in their contribution to sepsis-induced immunosuppression. They describe the underlining mechanisms involved and propose a set of interventional strategies to overcome this process. Finally, Paolicelli et al. discuss the complexity of the epithelial barrier and introduce the use of lung organoids to better understand interleukin (IL)-17 signaling and host defense against bacterial infections. The relative strengths and weaknesses of air-liquid interface epithelial cell cultures, lung on a chip technology, and lung epithelial organoids are discussed. The use of these approaches will provide critical insight into cytokine, epithelial cross-talk in host defense against extracellular pathogens.

In original research articles, Shepardson et al. and Gopal et al. focus on type I interferons (IFN), a family of cytokines that regulate both anti-influenza immunity and host susceptibility to subsequent bacterial super-infections. The type 1 IFN/signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) axis was previously shown to inhibit type 17 immune response resulting in exacerbation of bacterial burden and mortality during influenza and bacterial (pneumococcal and staphylococcal) infections. Gopal et al. demonstrated that STAT2, which is required for type I and type III IFN signaling and virus clearance, participates in bacterial super-infection. In this setting, STAT2 regulates macrophage phenotype and suppresses bactericidal activity. Deletion of STAT2 during influenza results in increased numbers of dual M1/M2 marker expressing macrophages in the lung that demonstrate improved bacterial clearance. Despite impaired anti-viral host defense in STAT2-deficient mice, these mice are protected from super-infection induced mortality. Shepardson et al. investigate the role of type I IFN receptor (IFNAR2). While the impact of IFNAR1 signaling in influenza and superinfection contexts has been reported, little is known about the specific role or IFNAR2. The authors show that IFNAR2deficient mice have significantly impaired anti-viral host defense and have increased morbidity and mortality following influenza challenge. In super-infection, IFNAR2 appears to play a divergent role compared to IFNAR1 depending upon timing of bacterial challenge. At day 3 post-influenza infection, IFNAR2-deficient mice do not display altered susceptibility like IFNAR1-deficient mice. However, when challenged with bacteria at day 7 post-influenza, IFNAR2-deficient mice are protected similar to IFNAR1-deficient mice. These two studies illuminate as of yet unknown details regarding interferon signaling and susceptibility to secondary infections. Using a novel influenza A virus/Klebsiella oxytoca super-infection model, Lee et al. investigate host resistance and host tolerance, two processes essential for host survival during infection. In this system, the authors show that combined dysfunctional tolerance and resistance mechanisms cause worsened outcomes for the host. The authors identify K. oxytoca as a component of the human microbiome and cause of secondary infection post-influenza. Several unique features of this model are described including, delayed bacterial clearance, increased M1 macrophage activation, and, despite a small impact on lung leak, increased mortality vs. influenza infection alone. Finally, Jubrail et al. investigate the response of macrophages to human rhinovirus, a virus frequently isolated from COPD patients during exacerbations. Little is known about mechanisms of secondary bacterial infections with regard to non-influenza viruses. In this study, prior viral exposure blunts the macrophage responses and cytokine production to Haemophilus influenzae. This paralyzed macrophage phenotype was not observed in response to bacterial stimuli alone and likely indicates commonalities between influenza and other respiratory virus induced superinfections. Additional work is necessary to determine if the immune pathways of susceptibility implicated in influenza superinfection can be generally applied to the myriad of common respiratory viruses.

To conclude, recent advances in the field have sparked interest in the role of pulmonary injury and inflammation in secondary bacterial pneumonia. By expanding this knowledge base and understanding, researchers and clinicians hope to pave the way toward devising strategies to positively modulate lung immune responses within diverse clinical scenarios to combat against opportunistic bacteria. It is clear that from a mechanistic and public health point of view, such studies will be important because of the constant aging of the population, antibiotic resistance, and limits of vaccine efficacy. Immunomodulatory therapy has become increasingly important in the treatment of cancer and auto-immune diseases. Its potential in the context of acute pulmonary illness is only now emerging. The majority of the mechanistic information that we now know regarding secondary bacterial infections has been demonstrated in the mouse model. While complex polymicrobial infections have been studied in chronic lung disease in humans, very little is known in the acute viral infection context. Translational studies are needed to determine the conservation of susceptibility mechanisms to bacterial super-infections between mice and humans in order to advance therapeutic options in support of improved clinical care.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to convey our appreciation to all the authors who have participated in this Research Topic and the reviewers for their insightful comments. FT received salary support by the Centre national de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS) and JA by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) R01HL107380.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Trottein and Alcorn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# STAT2 Signaling Regulates Macrophage Phenotype During Influenza and Bacterial Super-Infection

Radha Gopal<sup>1†</sup>, Benjamin Lee<sup>2†</sup>, Kevin J. McHugh<sup>1</sup>, Helen E. Rich<sup>1</sup>, Krishnaveni Ramanan<sup>1</sup>, Sivanarayana Mandalapu<sup>1</sup>, Michelle E. Clay<sup>1</sup>, Philip J. Seger<sup>1</sup>, Richard I. Enelow<sup>3</sup>, Michelle L. Manni<sup>1</sup>, Keven M. Robinson<sup>4</sup>, Javier Rangel-Moreno<sup>5</sup> and John F. Alcorn<sup>1\*</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Laurel L. Lenz, University of Colorado, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Dane Parker, Columbia University, United States Maziar Divangahi, McGill University, Canada

> \*Correspondence: John F. Alcorn john.alcorn@chp.edu

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 12 April 2018 Accepted: 31 August 2018 Published: 25 September 2018

#### Citation:

Gopal R, Lee B, McHugh KJ, Rich HE, Ramanan K, Mandalapu S, Clay ME, Seger PJ, Enelow RI, Manni ML, Robinson KM, Rangel-Moreno J and Alcorn JF (2018) STAT2 Signaling Regulates Macrophage Phenotype During Influenza and Bacterial Super-Infection. Front. Immunol. 9:2151. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02151 <sup>1</sup> Department of Pediatrics, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pediatrics, University of Vermont College of Medicine, Burlington, VT, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medicine, Dartmouth Medical School, Lebanon, PA, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, <sup>5</sup> Division of Allergy, Immunology and Rheumatology, Department of Medicine, University of Rochester Medical Center, Rochester, NY, United States

Influenza is a common respiratory virus that infects between 5 and 20% of the US population and results in 30,000 deaths annually. A primary cause of influenza-associated death is secondary bacterial pneumonia. We have previously shown that influenza induces type I interferon (IFN)-mediated inhibition of Type 17 immune responses, resulting in exacerbation of bacterial burden during influenza and Staphylococcus aureus super-infection. In this study, we investigated the role of STAT2 signaling during influenza and influenza-bacterial super-infection in mice. Influenza-infected STAT2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had increased morbidity, viral burden, and inflammation when compared to wild-type mice. Despite an exaggerated inflammatory response to influenza infection, we found increased bacterial control and survival in STAT2 deficient mice during influenza-MRSA super-infection compared to controls. Further, we found that increased bacterial clearance during influenza-MRSA super-infection is not due to rescue of Type 17 immunity. Absence of STAT2 was associated with increased accumulation of M1, M2 and M1/M2 co-expressing macrophages during influenza-bacterial super-infection. Neutralization of IFNy (M1) and/or Arginase 1 (M2) impaired bacterial clearance in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during super-infection, demonstrating that pulmonary macrophages expressing a mixed M1/M2 phenotype promote bacterial control during influenza-bacterial super-infection. Together, these results suggest that the STAT2 signaling is involved in suppressing macrophage activation and bacterial control during influenza-bacterial super-infection. Further, these studies reveal novel mechanistic insight into the roles of macrophage subpopulations in pulmonary host defense.

Keywords: influenza, Staphylococcus aureus, super-infection, STAT2, macrophages, lung, pneumonia

8

## INTRODUCTION

Influenza A virus infection causes significant mortality and morbidity worldwide. It is estimated that influenza infection causes 3 million hospitalizations and 250,000 deaths, globally each year (1). The innate immune system senses invading influenza viruses through a variety of pattern recognition receptors, inducing the production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, including type I (IFN $\alpha/\beta$ ) and type III interferons (IFN $\lambda$ ) (2-4). Type I IFNs (IFN $\alpha/\beta$ ) bind to the heterodimer of IFNaR1 and IFNaR2 receptors, associated with Jak1 and Tyk2 kinases, respectively, to produce signaling effects during influenza infection (5). Signaling through IFNaR1/2 leads to phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2, activating downstream complex formation with IRF9, and transcription of IFN stimulated genes (ISGs), thereby controlling viral burden. Type II IFN (IFNy) activates only STAT1 signaling through IFNyR1 and IFNyR2 and plays a role in cell-mediated immunity (6, 7). Type III IFNs signal through IFNLR and IL10R2 to induce ISGs similar to those induced by type I IFN (7). Type I, type II and type III IFNs have been shown to have important roles during influenza infection (7-9). In the absence of type I or type II IFN during influenza infection, increased granulocytic or lymphocytic inflammation, respectively, has been reported (7). Absence of STAT1 signaling specifically resulted in an increased granulocytic and Th2-skewed response (7), and both STAT1 and STAT2 were crucial for viral control and survival in mice (9).

Secondary bacterial pneumonia during influenza infection is a common cause of influenza-associated hospitalization and mortality during both seasonal and pandemic outbreaks (10, 11). During the 1918 influenza pandemic, Streptococcus pneumoniae was the most common bacteria isolated from influenza-bacteria super-infected patients (10). However, recent reports have shown that Staphylococcus aureus is now the most frequent super-infecting bacteria (10, 12). We have shown that during influenza-bacterial super-infection, influenza-induced type I IFN inhibited S. aureus-induced Type 17 immunity and associated antimicrobial peptide (AMP) production (13, 14). Further, we and others have shown that mice lacking the type I IFN receptor cleared S. aureus and S. pneumoniae better than wild-type (WT) mice during super-infection (13, 15). While influenza infection alters host defense to S. aureus, the converse is also likely true; S. aureus increases influenza burden in the lung, possibly by affecting STAT1-STAT2 dimerization during super-infection (13, 16). These data suggest that influenza-induced STAT1 and STAT2 signaling is critical to mediating susceptibility to secondary bacterial pneumonia. We have recently shown that STAT1 is involved in increasing bacterial burden through suppression of the Type 17 immune response during influenza-bacterial superinfection (17). However, little is known regarding the specific role of STAT2 in super-infection.

Since type I and type III IFN signaling relies on STAT2, while type II IFN signals solely through STAT1, examination of STAT2 deficiency enables a more targeted evaluation of type I and type III IFN-mediated immune responses. In this study, we investigated the role of STAT2 signaling during influenza infection and influenza-bacterial super-infection by infecting

WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice with influenza A/PR/8/34 followed by MRSA (USA300) challenge, and evaluating subsequent survival, morbidity, viral and bacterial burden, and inflammatory responses. We then elucidated differential host responses in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice using RNA expression, flow cytometry, immunohistochemistry and *in vitro* macrophage culture. Further, we investigated the role of hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic STAT2 signaling during influenza-bacterial super-infection. These studies are the first to define the role of STAT2 signaling in influenza, bacterial super-infection and identify a novel macrophage-dependent mechanism of susceptibility to secondary bacterial pneumonia.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Mice

WT C57BL/6 (6 to 8-week-old) mice were purchased from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY).  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice on C57BL/6 background were a kind gift from Dr. Christian Schindler, Columbia University, NY (18), and colonies were subsequently maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions. *In vivo* studies were performed on age matched adult male mice, unless otherwise indicated. All experiments were approved by the University of Pittsburgh IACUC (19).

#### **Murine Infections**

Influenza A/PR/8/34 (influenza H1N1) was propagated in chicken eggs as described (20). Mice were infected with 100 plaque-forming units (PFU) of influenza in 40 µl of sterile PBS, unless otherwise noted. MRSA, USA 300, was provided by Dr. Alice Prince, Columbia University, NY. MRSA stocks were grown overnight in casein hydrolysate yeast extract-containing modified broth medium at 37°C and diluted to an inoculum of 5  $\times$  10<sup>7</sup> CFU in 50 µl of sterile PBS. MRSA dosing was calculated using OD<sub>660</sub> measurement of overnight cultures and application of an extinction coefficient. For survival experiments,  $2 \times 10^8$ CFU of MRSA were delivered. All infections were performed on isoflurane-anesthetized mice via oropharyngeal aspiration. For super-infection experiments, mice were challenged with influenza or vehicle and then infected with MRSA or vehicle on day 6 after influenza infection (13, 21, 22). Mouse tissues were collected 24 h after MRSA or vehicle challenge. To neutralize IFNy, mice were treated with 300  $\mu$ g anti-IFNy (XMG1.2) antibody in 200 µl sterile PBS (BioXCell, West Lebanon, NH) or rat IgG isotype control via intraperitoneal (IP) injection on days 4 and 6 post-influenza infection. To neutralize arginase, mice were treated with 100 µg N--hydroxy-nor-L-arginine (nor-NOHA) via IP injection on days -1, 0, 3, and 6 post-influenza.

### Measurement of Lung Inflammation

Lungs were perfused with 1 ml of sterile PBS and cell differential counts were performed on cytospin smears from bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid stained with Protocol Hema 3 staining (Fisher Scientific, Kalamazoo, MI). The cranial lobe of the right lung was homogenized in sterile PBS by mechanical grinding, for quantification of bacterial burden by plating serial dilutions and for cytokine production measurement by Lincoplex (Millipore, Billerica, MA), Bio-plex (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA), or ELISA (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN). The middle and caudal lobes of the right lung were snapfrozen and homogenized in liquid nitrogen for RNA isolation using the Absolutely RNA Miniprep Kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA). Gene expression was analyzed by RT-PCR utilizing commercially available Taqman primer and probe sets (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Fold changes in mRNA expression were calculated using the  $\Delta\Delta$ CT method, and were normalized to the endogenous housekeeping gene hypoxanthineguanine phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT). The left lobe of the lung was pressure inflated and fixed in 10% neutralbuffered formalin for histology, or collected in DMEM media for flow cytometry. Histology was scored by a sample blinded pathologist.

### **Flow Cytometry**

Mouse lungs were aseptically dissected into small sections, digested for 30 min at 37°C in 1 mg/mL collagenase media, and passed through 70 µm filters (23). Single cell suspensions were stained with anti-CD3 (145-2C11), CD4 (RM4-5), CD11b (M1/70), Ly6C (HK1.4), CD80(16-10A1), and macrophage galactose lectin (MGL) (LOM-14). After the singlets were gated from total cells, macrophages were gated for CD11b+Ly6C+ cells. Further, these cells were gated for CD80 and MGL to determine macrophage phenotype as M1 (CD80<sup>+</sup>) and/or M2 (MGL<sup>+</sup>). The frequency of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>, CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup> CD80<sup>+</sup>, CD11b<sup>+</sup> Ly6C<sup>+</sup> CD80<sup>+</sup> MGL<sup>+</sup>, and CD11b<sup>+</sup> Ly6C<sup>+</sup> MGL<sup>+</sup> cells were calculated from the frequency of total cells. For intracellular staining, cells were stimulated for 4 h with 50 ng/mL of phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) and 750 ng/mL ionomycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO) with Golgi plug (BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA) added 1 h into stimulation. After stimulation, cells were surface stained, permeabilized with cytofix-cytoperm solution (BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA), and stained with antibodies specific for IL-17 (TC11-18H10), IL-22 (Poly5164) for 30 min at 4°C. The percentage of IL-17<sup>+</sup> and IL-22<sup>+</sup> cells were determined from gating on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Cells were collected in a Becton Dickinson FACS Aria flow cytometer with FACS Diva software (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ). Flow cytometric analysis was performed using FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

### Immunohistochemistry

Left lung lobes were perfused and stored in 10% neutral buffered formalin. Paraffin-embedded sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and pulmonary inflammation was evaluated by microscopy. For immunofluorescent staining, formalin-fixed lung sections were incubated at  $60^{\circ}$ C, and quickly immersed in xylene to remove paraffin. Sections were then hydrated in 96% alcohol and PBS. Antigen retrieval was performed by incubating slides in boiling Dako Target Retrieval Solution (S1699, DAKO Cytomation), followed by blocking with 5% (v/v) normal donkey (017-000-121, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) serum and Fc block (BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA). Sections were stained with antibodies against inducible NO synthase (iNOS) (goat anti-mouse iNOS, clone M-19; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.), F4/80 (clone Cl:A3-1, MCA497GA, Bio-Rad), and arginase-1 (Arg1) (rabbit anti-arginase I, clone H-52; Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.). Primary antibodies were detected with Alexa Fluor 568-donkey anti-goat Ig G (H+L) cross adsorbed (A-11057; Invitrogen) to detect iNOS, donkey anti-rabbit Ig G (H+L) antibody conjugated to FITC (711-095-152, Jackson Immuno Research Laboratories) to visualize Arg1. Slides were incubated with biotin-F(ab')<sub>2</sub> donkey anti-rat (712-006-153 Jackson Immuno Research Laboratories), followed by Cy5-Streptavidin (405209, Biolegend) to reveal the location of F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages. Vectashield anti-fade mounting medium with DAPI (H-1200, Vector Laboratories) was used to counterstain tissues and to detect nuclei. Images were obtained with a Zeiss Axioplan 2 microscope and recorded with a Zeiss AxioCam digital camera. iNOS, F4/80, and Arg1 positive cells were enumerated in three random 200x fields per lung sample, and the average number of iNOS<sup>+</sup>, Arg1<sup>+</sup> or double positive macrophages was calculated. Samples were analyzed in a blinded fashion.

## **Arginase-1 Activity Determination**

Arginase-1 activity was quantified in lung BAL using the QuantiChrom Arginase Assay Kit as per the manufacturer's instructions (BioAssay Systems). In BAL samples, total protein was measured by using BCA Protein Assay kit (Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL). Protein concentration was adjusted to  $100 \,\mu$ g/ml per sample. Arg-1 activity is expressed as U/l of sample.

## **Nitrite Quantitation**

Nitrite was quantified in BAL samples by using Griess reagent as per the manufacturer's instructions (Promega Corporation).

## **RNAseq Analysis**

RNA was isolated from C57BL/6 and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mouse lungs using the Agilent RNA miniprep kit. RNA integrity was determined using an Agilent 2100 bio analyzer. mRNA was purified by using Sera-Mag Oligo(dT) Beads, fragmented with magnesiumcatalyzed hydrolysis, and reverse transcribed into cDNA using random primers (Superscript II; Invitrogen). Then, cDNA underwent end repair with T4 DNA polymerase and Klenow DNA polymerase, followed by the addition of "A" bases to the 3' end and ligation to adaptor oligonucleotides. Products from the ligation were run on a 2% agarose gel. A gel slice consisting of the 200 bp region ( $\pm 25$  bp) was excised and used as a template for PCR amplification. The final PCR product was purified, denatured with 2 N NaOH, and diluted to 10-12 pM prior to cluster amplification on a single-read flow cell v4, as outlined in the Single-Read Cluster Generation Kit v4 (Illumina). The flow cell was sequenced on an Illumina Genome Analyzer II. The data were analyzed as previously described (24). Full sequencing data has been uploaded to the National Center for Biotechnology Information Gene Expression Omnibus, GSE119029.

## Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophage (BMDM) and Dendritic Cell (BMDC) Generation

Bone marrow cells were isolated from the femurs and tibias of mice, and grown for 7 days in complete DMEM media supplemented with 20 ng/mL GM-CSF (PeproTech, NJ), as previously described (25). On day 7, non-adherent cells (BMDCs) were collected, and adherent cells (BMDMs) were recovered using cell scraper (Genemate, Kaysville, UT) or by gentle mechanical scraping.

## Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophage (BMDM) and Dendritic Cell (BMDC) Stimulation

Bone marrow derived cells were plated to  $1\times10^6$  cells/mL and cells in 1 mL of media in 24 well tissue culture-treated plates, rested overnight at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, then treated with IFN- $\beta$  (10 units/mL) or IFN- $\gamma$  (10 ng/mL) (R&D Systems, MN). Twenty-four hours later, cell culture supernatants were harvested and cells were lysed in RLT buffer and frozen at  $-80^\circ$ C for RNA extraction using the RNAeasy mini kit (QIAGEN, Germantown, MD. Gene expression was analyzed as described above.

#### **BMDM** Phagocytosis and Killing Assay

BMDMs were incubated with fluorescein isothiocyanate or Alexa Fluor-647 (Molecular Probes) —labeled MRSA (10 MOI) for 30 min. After washing, flow cytometry was performed to determine bacterial uptake. To determine bacterial killing by macrophages, BMDMs were incubated with MRSA for 1 h. Cells were washed with PBS and the remaining macrophages were incubated with gentamycin (300  $\mu$ l/ml) for 15 min to kill extracellular bacteria. Cells were washed and incubated for an additional hour to determine killing of intracellular bacteria. Cells were washed and lysed with 0.5 ml of 0.02% Triton X-100 in PBS, and plated to determine the percentage of intracellular bacterial killing.

### Bone Marrow Chimera (BMC) Mice

To generate BMC mice, C57BL/6 (Thy1.1), C57BL/6 (Thy1.2), and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  (Thy 1.2) mice were fed with Sulfa-Trimm diet containing 1.2% sulfamethoxazole and 0.2% trimethoprim for 2 weeks before irradiation (26, 27). Mice were sub-lethally irradiated twice with two doses of 600 rad delivered 4 h apart. Mice were reconstituted with 1 × 10<sup>7</sup> bone marrow cells from either C57BL/6 (Thy1.1), C57BL/6 (Thy1.2), or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  (Thy 1.2) mice as previously described (26). Mice were allowed to reconstitute for 9 weeks.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software. Experiments were repeated 2 to 5 times. All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, unless otherwise noted. Significance was determined by unpaired Student's *t* test or one-way ANOVA followed by *post-hoc* Bonferroni or Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. Mortality data was analyzed by Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test.

## RESULTS

## Influenza Severity Is Increased in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice Compared to WT

To determine the role of STAT2 signaling during influenza infection, WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with influenza. By day 6 of influenza infection, influenza-challenged  $Stat2^{-/-}$ mice showed significantly more weight loss than WT mice and increased lung viral burden (Figures 1A,B). In males, infection was sub-lethal in both  $Stat2^{-/-}$  and WT mice, but  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice showed markedly delayed recovery, requiring 35 days to return to baseline weight, versus 14 days for WT mice (Figure 1C). In females,  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice showed increased mortality compared to WT during influenza infection (Figure 1D). Next, we determined the cellular inflammatory response to influenza infection in WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice. There was a significantly greater number of polymorphonuclear cells (PMN, neutrophils) observed in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice when compared to WT (Figure 1E). Interestingly,  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice had significantly fewer numbers of macrophages and lymphocytes in BAL compared to WT mice (Figure 1E).

Next, we determined whether type I IFN levels were altered during influenza infection. We found a trend toward increased levels of IFN $\beta$  in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice when compared to WT mice during primary influenza infection (**Figure 1F**). Influenza infection induced a variety of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-8, CCL2, CCL5, and CXCL10 from epithelial and immune cells (2). We found an increase in the levels of the inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-12p40, IL-17, and IFN $\gamma$ , and increased levels of the Type 2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-5, in influenza-infected *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice when compared to WT mice (**Figures 1G,H**).

It has been shown that IL-17 signaling induces the chemokines CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL5, and CXCL8 to mediate granulopoiesis and increased neutrophil recruitment to mucosal sites (28, 29). Consistent with the increase in PMNs, we observed an increase in CXCL1 and the granulopoietic factor, G-CSF in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  when compared to WT mice (**Figure 1I**). Further, scoring of pulmonary inflammation indicated an increase in perivascular infiltration of cells in the lungs of  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice when compared to WT mice (**Figures 1J,K**). Together, these data demonstrate that influenza-infected  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice have more severe influenza infection, which is associated with an increased inflammatory response, compared to WT mice.

### *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice Are Rescued From Impaired Bacterial Clearance During Influenza/MRSA Super-Infection

We have previously shown that influenza-associated IFN $\beta$  attenuated host bacterial defense due to suppression of Type 17 immunity (13, 14). Also, we recently identified that Type 17 immunity is rescued in the absence of STAT1 signaling during influenza-bacterial super-infection (17). In this study, we examined the effects of MRSA challenge on day 6 of influenza infection in WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice. One day following





**FIGURE 1** | influenza infection in females, N = 8 per group. (E) BAL samples collected on day 6 following influenza infection from mice lungs, cytospin the cells and differential counts were made N = 10-12 per group. Right upper lung lobes were homogenized in PBS, (F) IFN $\beta$  levels were measured in BAL samples by using ELISA, N = 4 per group. (G) IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-12 $\rho$ 40, (H) IL-17A, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-4, and IL-5 (I) CXCL1, and GCSF levels were measured by Luminex assay, N = 4 per group. Representative data shown from 3 or more experiments are shown (J) On day 6 post infection, lungs were fixed in 10% formalin, embedded in paraffin, stained with H&E, lung perivascular areas (arrows) were scored. (K) Representative histology pictures are shown. Original magnification for H&E sections  $\times$  100. Data are represented as mean±SEM, two tailed Student's *t*-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, ns, not significant.

MRSA challenge, super-infected WT mice had significantly increased lung bacterial burden compared to mice infected with MRSA alone, demonstrating impaired bacterial clearance from the lung caused by preceding influenza infection (Figure 2A). However,  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were rescued from this clearance defect (Figure 2A). To assess survival in the context of super-infection, adult female mice were subjected to influenza/MRSA superinfection using a dose of MRSA previously determined to be lethal to WT mice. Given the increased severity of influenza infection seen in females, mice were infected with a lower dose of influenza to minimize the confounding effects of lethal influenza infection. Under these conditions,  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice showed significantly delayed mortality (Figure 2B). Next, we found that BAL fluid from both  $Stat2^{-/-}$  and WT mice had significantly greater numbers of neutrophils compared to macrophages or lymphocytes (Figure 2C). However, we observed no significant differences in neutrophils, macrophages, or lymphocytes between super-infected WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 2C). Further, we found no differences in the levels of cytokines IL-1a, IL-1β, IL-6, TNFa, IL-12p40, IL-17A, IL-10, CXCL1, and GCSF between WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice (Figures 2D-F). However, the levels of IFN $\gamma$ , IL-4 and IL-5 were elevated in Stat2<sup>-/-</sup> mice during super-infection (Figure 2E). In agreement with similar cellularity and local production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, histological scoring showed no differences in perivascular inflammation (**Figures 2G,H**). These findings demonstrate that  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice are rescued from impaired bacterial clearance in the lung during super-infection, which translated into a detectable survival advantage, but this was independent of any noticeable differences in lung inflammation.

We next addressed whether the increased bacterial clearance observed in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice was due to altered Type 17 immunity. Interestingly, numbers of IL-17 and IL-22 positive CD4 cells, and the levels of Type 17 cytokines (IL-17, IL-22, and IL-23) were not altered in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice compared to WT mice (**Figures S1A-E**). In further support of this finding, no differences in expression levels of the Th17 transcription factors *Rorc* and *Rora*, and Th17 immune mediated antimicrobial peptide (AMP) such as Lcn2 and Reg3b production in the lungs were detected between  $Stat2^{-/-}$  and WT mice (data not shown). These data suggest that protection in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice is not mediated by rescue of Type 17 immunity.

### Rescue of Bacterial Clearance in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice Is Associated With M1 and M2 Signature in Infected Lungs

Next, to determine the pathways associated with this increased bacterial clearance in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice, we performed RNA

sequencing analyses. We found increased expression of Type 1 (IFN $\gamma$ ) and Type 2 (IL-4 and IL-13) cytokines in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice compared to WT (**Figures 2E**, **3A,B**). In response to IFN $\gamma$  stimulation, macrophages increase their production of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen intermediates to become M1 type macrophages, which exhibit proinflammatory and antibacterial activity (30, 31) Accordingly, we found increased RNA abundance of genes associated with the M1 phenotype including *Nos2*, *Tnfa*, *Tnfsf13b*, *Batf2*,*Ido1*, and chemokines such as *Cxcl9*, *Ccl5*, and *Ccl8* in the lungs of *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice compared to WT during super-infection (**Figure 3A**).

In response to IL-4, IL-13, and glucocorticoids, macrophages express markers of the M2 phenotype, which is characterized by induction of Arg1, chitinase 3-like 3 (Ym), found in inflammatory zone-1 (Fizz1), resistin-like molecule (Relm $\alpha$ /Retnla), chemokines such as CCL17, CCL20, and CCL22, scavenger receptors (CD36, Macrophage receptor with collagenous structure or MARCO), and c-type lectin receptors or CLRs (CD209, Macrophage Galactose Lectin or MGL) (30, 32). Accordingly, we found increased RNA abundance of *Arg1, Socs1, Sra1, Saa1, Ciita, Marco, Mgl2, Cd209d, Cd209e, Cd209f, Ccl1, Ccl11, Ccl17, Ccl19, Ccl20, Ccl22, and Ccl24* genes in *Stat2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice when compared to WT mice during super-infection (**Figure 3B**).

Next, we confirmed the observed RNA abundance of the classical M1 and M2 macrophage markers. We found increased gene expression of *Nos2* and Nitrite in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice compared to WT with super-infection (**Figures 3C,D**). IFN $\gamma$ -inducible chemokines CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11 are ligands for the receptor CXCR3, which is essential in the attraction of effector lymphocytes to inflammatory sites (33, 34). Accordingly, we found increased mRNA expression of *Cxcl9* in influenza/MRSA infected *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice compared to WT mice (**Figure 3E**). Further, we found increased expression of M1 macrophage markers *Ccl8, Ido1*, and *Tnfsf13b in Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during super-infection when compared to WT mice (**Figure 3F**). These data confirm the increased expression of genes associated with M1 macrophages in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection.

Next, we found increased mRNA expression and activity levels of Arg1, mRNA expression of *Fizz*, *Chi3l3*, *Cd209d*, *Cd209e*, *Mrc2* (*Cd206*), *Marco*, *Il13*, *Saa1* (Serum amyloid A1 protein), *Ccl17*, *Ccl19*, *Ccl20*, *Ccl22*, and *Ccl24* in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice compared to WT mice during super-infection (**Figures 3G-K**). Together, these data show that in the absence of STAT2 signaling, both the M1 and M2 macrophage phenotypes are enhanced during super-infection.

IFNγ signals through the IFNGR1/ IFNGR2 complex and activates the transcription factor STAT1, thereby inducing ISGs.



**FIGURE 2** |  $Stat2^{-/-}$  are rescued from impaired bacterial clearance from the lung following influenza infection. (A) WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Right upper lung lobes were homogenized in PBS and bacterial burden was determined. N = 12–13 per group. (B) Adult female mice were infected with 66 PFU influenza A PR/8/H1N1 followed by challenge with  $2 \times 10^8$  CFU MRSA and the survival was determined, N = 7–8 per group. (C) BAL samples collected from co-infected B6 and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice, cytospin the cells and differential counts were made, N = 11–13 per group. Right Upper lung lobes were homogenized in PBS, and (D) IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-12p40, (E) IL-17A, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-5 (F) CXCL1, and GCSF levels were measured by luminex assay, N = 4 per group. Representative data shown from three or more experiments. Lungs were fixed in 10% formalin, embedded in paraffin, (G) perivascular areas (arrows) were scored in formalin fixed lungs by staining with H&E (H) representative figures are shown, N = 4 per group. Original magnification for H&E sections  $\times$  100. Data are represented as mean±SEM. Data analyzed using 2-tailed Student's *t*-test or One way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni test for multiple comparisons, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, ns, not significant.



**FIGURE 3** | M1 and M2 macrophages are associated with increased bacterial clearance in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  during influenza-MRSA super-infection. WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Gene expression analyses were measured in lung by RNAseq analysis. Heat-map representing RNA abundance associated with M1 (A) and M2 (B) macrophages from WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice, N = 4 per group. (C) *Nos2*, (D) Nitrite, (E) *Cxcl9*, (F) *Ccl8*, *Ido1*, *Tnfsf13b* were analyzed by RT-PCR, N = 4 per group. (G) Arginase-1 activity was determined from BAL samples from both WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice infected with influenza and MRSA super-infection, N = 4 per group. (H) *Arg1*, *Fizz1*, and *Chi3/3*, (I) *Cd209d*, *Cd209e* and *Mrc2* (J) *Marco* mRNA expression levels were determined by RT-PCR, N = 3-4 per group. (K) *II13* and *Saa1*, *Ccl17*, *Ccl19*, *Ccl20*, *Ccl22*, and *Ccl24* mRNA expression levels were determined by RT-PCR, N = 4 per group. (K) *II13* and *Saa1*, *Ccl17*, *Ccl19*, *Ccl20*, *Ccl22*, and *Ccl24* mRNA expression levels were determined by RT-PCR, N = 4 per group. (K) *II13* and *Saa1*, *Ccl17*, *Ccl19*, *Ccl20*, *Ccl22*, and *Ccl24* mRNA expression levels were determined by RT-PCR, N = 4 per group. (K) *II13* and *Saa1*, *Ccl17*, *Ccl19*, *Ccl20*, *Ccl22*, and *Ccl24* mRNA expression levels were determined by RT-PCR, N = 4 per group. Representative data shown from three or more experiments. Data are represented as mean±SEM. Data analyzed using 2-tailed Student's t-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, ns, not significant.

We found increased levels of IFN $\gamma$  (**Figure 2E**) and IFN $\gamma$ induced ISGs (**Figure 3E**) in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during influenzabacterial super-infection. Next, we determined whether STAT1 is altered due to increased levels of IFN $\gamma$  in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection. As expected, we found increased STAT1 expression in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice when compared to WT mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection (**Figure S2A**).

IL-4 activates the STAT6 signaling pathway through activation of transcription factors PPAR $\gamma$  and PPAR $\delta$  and drives M2 polarization (31, 35). Here, we tested whether STAT6 signaling is altered due to increased IL-4 levels in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection. However, we found no differences in STAT6 expression levels in between WT and *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection (**Figure S2B**). Further, we measured the RNA expression of *Pparg* from WT and *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during influenza-MRSA superinfection. Interestingly, we found that *Pparg* expression was suppressed in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during influenza-bacterial superinfection (**Figure S2C**). Together, these data suggest that in the absence of STAT2, there is alteration of other associated signaling pathways during super-infection.

Next, we determined the frequency of M1 and M2 macrophages by using flow cytometry. CD80 and MGL (macrophage galactose lectin) have been shown to be markers for M1 and M2 macrophages, respectively (36, 37). We found a significant increase in the percentage of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup> cells in influenza/MRSA infected *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* lungs when compared to WT mice by flow cytometry (**Figure 4A**). Further, we found increased frequency of M1 (CD80<sup>+</sup>) and M1/M2 (CD80<sup>+</sup>MGL<sup>+</sup>) co-expressing macrophages in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice when compared to WT during influenza-bacterial super-infection (**Figures 4B,C**). Interestingly, we found no differences in M2 (MGL<sup>+</sup>) macrophages in between WT and *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice in super-infection (**Figure 4D**). Further, we found higher frequency of M1/M2 co-expressing macrophages when compared to M1 or M2 populations (**Figures 4B-E**).

To then determine the specific macrophages involved in production of Arg1 and Nos2, we sorted M1, M2, and M1/M2 cells by using specific antibodies, and determined the RNA expression levels of *Nos2* and *Arg1* (Figures 4F,G). As expected, we found increased expression of *Nos2* in M1 and M1/M2 macrophages. Next, we found no differences in induction of *Arg1* in M1 and M2 macrophages. However, we found increased expression of *Arg1* in dual M1/M2 macrophages. These data suggest that these M1/M2 macrophages induce both Arg1 and Nos2 in influenza-bacterial super-infection. To further characterize specific Arg1<sup>+</sup> and iNOS<sup>+</sup> macrophage localization in the lung, we used an IHC technique using iNOS and Arg1 antibodies.

### Increased Accumulation of M1 and M2 Macrophages in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice Is Dependent on Preceding Influenza Infection

To determine whether the increase in M1 and M2 macrophages is influenza or MRSA dependent, we infected WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$ 

mice with influenza or MRSA or super-infection, and determined the number of iNOS<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> and Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages in the lung by IHC. We found increased numbers of iNOS<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> and Arg1+F4/80+ cells during influenza infection and superinfection in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice compared to WT mice (Figure 5A). In WT mice, we observed a higher number of iNOS<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells during MRSA and super-infection compared to influenza infection alone. In contrast, we observed a decrease in the number of Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells in MRSA and super-infection compared to WT mice infected with influenza alone (Figure 5B). Further, no differences were observed between WT and *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice in the number of iNOS<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> and Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells during MRSA infection alone (Figures 5A,B). Next, we found increased gene expression of Nos2 and Arg1 in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice when compared to WT mice during influenza, but not MRSA infection (Figures 5C,D). These data indicate that influenza infection, not MRSA infection, is likely the cause of the increased number of Arg1<sup>+</sup> macrophages seen in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during super-infection.

The M1 and M2 macrophage phenotypes are thought to antagonize each other to establish inflammatory or antiinflammatory responses (38). M1 macrophages induce Lhydroxy-arginine and citrulline through NOS2 induction, which is a potent inhibitor of arginase (39), to promote inflammation. Conversely, M2 macrophage induction of arginase antagonizes M1 markers to promote repair and resolution of infection (39). As we seen in flow cytometry data, we found an increased number of "dual function" iNOS+Arg1+F4/80+ cells during and super-infection in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice compared to WT mice (Figures 5E,F). However, no significant differences were observed in the number of dual function iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells between WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during MRSA infection (Figures 5E,F). Together, these data show that in the absence of STAT2 signaling, the increase in Type 1 and Type 2 cytokines during influenza infection creates a pulmonary environment that supports both M1 and M2 macrophage differentiation after super-infection. Unexpectedly and contrary to the idea that there is antagonism between M1 and M2 macrophages, we found increased accumulation of M1, M2 and M1/M2 co-expressing cells in the lungs of  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice after super-infection.

### Dual Function M1/M2 Macrophages Are Required for Control of Bacterial Burden in *Stat2*<sup>-/-</sup> Mice

We next examined whether M1 and/or M2 macrophages are required for the improved bacterial clearance in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during super infection. We treated both influenza-infected WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice with anti-IFN $\gamma$ , followed by super-infection with MRSA, and measured subsequent bacterial burden. We found that blocking IFN $\gamma$  decreased bacterial clearance in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice (**Figure 6A**). IFN $\gamma$  neutralization showed a trend toward decreased bacterial clearance in WT mice as well. Next, we found fewer iNOS<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells in anti-IFN $\gamma$ -treated WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice compared to mice treated with isotype controls (**Figure 6B**). Further, we found a decreased number of dual function iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> in mice treated with anti-IFN $\gamma$ antibody (**Figures 6C,D**). However, consistent with the role of



**FIGURE 4** | Increased frequency of M1/M2 macrophages in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  during influenza-MRSA super-infection. WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. (A) Frequency of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup> cells, (B) CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>CD80<sup>+</sup> cells, (C) CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MGL<sup>+</sup> cells (D) CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>CD80<sup>+</sup>MGL<sup>+</sup> cells from lungs were determined from influenza and MRSA super infection by flow cytometry, N = 4 per group. Double positive CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup> cells were gated for CD80 and MGL to identify the CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>CD80<sup>+</sup>, CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MGL<sup>+</sup>, CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>CD80<sup>+</sup>MGL<sup>+</sup> cells. (E) The representative figures were shown. CD80<sup>+</sup>, MGL<sup>+</sup>, CD80<sup>+</sup>MGL<sup>+</sup> cells were sorted from the lung using FACS and Arg1 (F) NOS2 (G) RNA expression was analyzed using RT-PCR. N = 4 per group. Data analyzed using 2-tailed Student's *t*-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, ns, not significant.

 $\rm IFN\gamma$  as an inducer of the M1 phenotype, we found no significant differences in the number of total Arg1+F4/80+ cells with IFN $\gamma$  neutralization (Figure S3A).

Next, we determined whether M2 macrophage activation was required to control MRSA during super-infection in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  super-infected mice. Arg1 was neutralized using nor-NOHA in both WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice subjected to influenza/MRSA super-infection. Inhibition of Arg1 during super-infection increased bacterial burden in  $Stat2^{-/-}$ , but not WT mice (**Figure 6E**). Further, we observed a decrease in the number of Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages and dual function iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice treated with nor-NOHA when compared to  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice treated with vehicle (**Figures 6F,G**). Interestingly, we found increased

numbers of iNOS<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages in both WT and *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice upon nor-NOHA treatment during influenzabacterial infection (**Figure S3B**). Despite the presence of M1 macrophages during Arg1/M2 blockade and M2 macrophages during IFN $\gamma$ /M1 blockade, bacterial control was suppressed in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during super-infection. These data suggest that neither M1 nor M2 macrophages alone are as proficient at MRSA clearance. We then inhibited both IFN $\gamma$  and Arg1 simultaneously during super-infection in WT and *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (**Figure 6H**). Inhibition of both M1 and M2 pathways increased bacterial burden in both WT and *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. These data together suggest that activation of M1/M2 co-expressing macrophages is required for increased bacterial clearance during super-infection in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice.



**FIGURE 5** [Increased M1 and M2 macrophage expression in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  is dependent on influenza but not MRSA infection. WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days or  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one day or super-infection as described in methods. (A) iNOS<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>, N = 11-16 (B) Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> producing cells were determined from lungs by IHC, N = 11-16. (C) *Nos2*, (D) *Arg1* gene expression was analyzed from lungs by RT-PCR, N = 4 per group. (E) iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> producing cells were determined from lung by immunohistochemistry, N = 11-32 per group. (F) Representative figures, ×200 magnification fields are shown. Data are represented as mean±SEM. Data analyzed using two-tailed Student's *t*-test, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, ns, not significant.

## STAT2 Signaling Negatively Regulates Macrophage Bacterial Uptake and Killing

We then examined bacterial uptake and killing by macrophages from WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice. BMDMs isolated from WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were incubated with fluorescent-labeled MRSA for 30 min. Bacterial uptake percentage was determined by the number of FITC<sup>+</sup> BMDMs by flow cytometry. It has been shown that the FITC dye can be quenched in response to pH changes in endosomes (40, 41). Therefore, we compared phagocytosis by using FITC or Alexa Fluor-647-labeled bacteria. We found increased bacterial uptake in *Stat2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice in both FITC or Alexa Fluor-647-labeled MRSA (**Figures 7A,B**). These data show that macrophages from *Stat2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice can bind and take up more bacteria than WT mice. Further, under basal conditions we found increased mRNA expression of *Mrc2* and *Cd209e* in *Stat2*<sup>-/-</sup> BMDMs compared to WT BMDMs (**Figures 7C,D**). However, no significant differences in the expression levels of *Arg1*, *Chi3l3*, and



**FIGURE 6** | M1/M2 co-expressing macrophages are required for increased bacterial clearance in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  during influenza-MRSA super-infection. WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Mice were treated with 300 µg of anti-IFN<sub>Y</sub> antibodies or 300 µg of rat IgG isotype controls as described in methods. (A) Bacterial burden was measured, N = 7-8 per group, (B) iNOS<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> producing cells, N = 3-7 per group (C) iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> producing cells, N = 3-7 per group (C) were determined by IHC, representative figures x200 magnification fields are shown. WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Mice were treated (*Continued*)

**FIGURE 6** | with Vehicle (DMSO) or N-<sup>-</sup>hydroxy-nor-L-arginine (nor-NOHA) as described in methods (**E**) Bacterial burden, N = 8 per group, (**F**) Arg<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells, N = 6-10 per group (**G**) iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> producing cells were determined, N = 7-10 per group. Representative pictures from two experiments are shown. (**G**) WT or *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Mice were treated with 300 µg of anti-IFNy antibodies and N-<sup>-</sup>hydroxy-nor-L-arginine (nor-NOHA) or vehicle as described in methods (**H**) Bacterial burden was measured, N = 4 per group, Data are represented as mean±SEM. Data analyzed using 2-tailed Student's *t*-test or One way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni test for multiple comparisons, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, ns, not significant.

*Marco* were observed (**Figures 7E–G**). These results suggest that increased expression of the M2 phenotype-associated receptors MRC2 and CD209 is likely to be a mechanism involved in increased binding ability in BMDMs from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice.

To test the ability of these BMDMs to kill MRSA, we performed a bacterial killing assay using BMDMs treated with mouse IFNy. We found that  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMDMs have increased killing ability at baseline and following IFNy treatment when compared to WT BMDMs (Figure 7H). However, in BMDMs from WT mice, IFNy treatment had no effect on bacterial killing (Figure 7H). Next, we found that macrophages from  $Stat2^{-/-}$ mice had increased expression of Nos2 and Cxcl9 compared to WT mice (Figures 7I,J). These data suggest that macrophages from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice have an enhanced ability to kill bacteria due to increased activation and nitric oxide production, and have the potential to attract CXCR3<sup>+</sup> effector lymphocytes that can amplify M1 activation. These results together show that STAT2 modulates the expression of CLRs and iNOS production by macrophages, and thus negatively impacts their protective functions during super-infection.

#### Contribution of Hematopoietic or Stromal Cell Compartments in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* Mediates Improves MRSA Clearance in Super-Infection

To further confirm that increased bacterial control in  $Stat2^{-/-}$ mice during influenza-bacterial super infection is due to M1/M2 co-expressing macrophage activation, we generated bone marrow chimeric (BMC) mice. We transferred hematopoietic cells from WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice to irradiated WT or STAT2 mice and vice versa. We used WT C57BL/6 mice with Thy1.1 or Thy 1.2 markers and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice bred on a Thy1.2 background. After 9 weeks of bone marrow reconstitution, we infected mice with both influenza and MRSA. Consistent with our previous data, we found higher lung bacterial burden in WT BMC mice (WT host/WT BM) than Stat2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Stat2<sup>-/-</sup> host/Stat2<sup>-/-</sup> BM) during influenza-bacterial super-infection (Figure 8A). As expected, we found decreased bacterial burden in hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice (WT host/ $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM) compared to WT BMC mice (WT host/ WT BM) during super-infection (Figure 8A). Interestingly, we also found decreased bacterial burden in non-hematopoietic Stat2<sup>-/-</sup> BMC (Stat2<sup>-/-</sup> host/WT BM) compared to WT BMC mice (WT host/ WT BM) during super-infection (Figure 8A).

Next, we found increased expression of  $iNOS^+Arg1^+$  macrophages in hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC (WT host/ $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM) and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host/ $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM), suggesting that hematopoietic cells are

involved in bacterial control in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during influenza-MRSA super-infection (**Figures 8B,C**). Also, no significant differences were observed in the expression of iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup> macrophages between WT BMC mice (WT host/WT BM) and non-hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host/WT BM). These data suggest that iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup> macrophages mediate bacterial control in hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC (WT host/  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM) and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC (WT host/  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM) during influenza-MRSA super-infection. However, we found increased bacterial clearance in nonhematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host/WT BM) during influenza-MRSA super-infection.

Type I and type II interferons induce interferon stimulated genes (ISGs) to establish anti-viral response responses (42–44). Based on RNAseq data and RT-PCR analysis, we identified that expression of type I IFN-induced genes such as Mx1, Lhx2, and CCL12 was suppressed in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during influenza-MRSA super-infection (**Figures S4A–D**). However, the type II IFN-induced chemokine CXCL9 was not suppressed during influenza-MRSA super-infection (**Figure S4E**). Further, Mx1 and Ccl12 gene expression was suppressed in bone marrow dendritic cells (BMDCs) from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice stimulated with IFN $\beta$  compared to BMDCs from WT mice (**Figures S4F,G**). These data confirm that type I IFN, but not type II IFN responses are significantly attenuated in the lungs of  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during influenza infection.

To determine if ISG expression in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice was suppressed, we measured the expression of Mx1 and Ccl12. We found decreased expression of Mx1 in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC ( $Stat2^{-/-}$ host/ $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM), hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC (WT host/  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM), and non-hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host/WT BM) compared to WT BMC mice (WT host/WT BM) (**Figure 8D**). The expression of Mx1 was further suppressed in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host/ $Stat2^{-/-}$ BM) when compared to hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC (WT host/ $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM) and non-hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host/WT BM) (**Figure 8D**). These data suggest that both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells are involved in the expression of Mx1 in response to influenza-bacterial superinfection.

Next, we determined the expression of *Ccl12* in the BMC mice. We found decreased expression of *Ccl12* in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* BMC (*Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* host/*Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* BM) and hematopoietic *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* BMC mice (WT host/ *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* BM) as compared to WT BMC (WT host/WT BM) (**Figure 8E**). However, the expression of *Ccl12* was not suppressed in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* non-hematopoietic BMC mice (*Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* host/WT BM) (**Figure 8E**). These data suggest that STAT2 signaling in hematopoietic cells is crucial in induction of CCL12 during influenza-bacterial super-infection. Further, these



**FIGURE 7** [Increased bacterial uptake and killing efficiency in BMDMs from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice BMDMs were generated and infected with FITC or Alex-647-labeled MRSA (10 MOI) for 30 min, washed, fixed with 1% formaldehyde and the number of FITC<sup>+</sup> (A) or Alex-647<sup>+</sup> (B) BMDMs were determined by Flow cytometry. (C) *Mrc2* and (D) *Cd209e*, (E) *Arg1*, (F) *Chi3l3*, (G) *Marco* gene expression levels were measured by RT-PCR. (H) BMDMs were generated, treated with recombinant IFN<sub>Y</sub> (10 µg/ml) for 24 h, and infected with MRSA (10 MOI) and bacterial killing was determined. (I) *Nos2* and (J) *Cxcl9* gene expression levels were measured from naïve BMDMs, N = triplicates per treatment. Representative pictures from two experiments are shown. Data are represented as mean±SEM. Data analyzed using 2-tailed Student's *t*-test, \*p < 0.05, ns, not significant.

data suggest that the absence of stromal cell STAT2 resulted in decreased ISG expression and improved bacterial control in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  non-hematopoietic BMC mice ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host/WT BM) during influenza-bacterial super-infection.

Next, we determined the influenza viral burden in the BMC mice. We found higher viral burden in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC

 $(Stat2^{-/-} host/Stat2^{-/-} BM)$  and non-hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice  $(Stat2^{-/-} host/WT BM)$  when compared to WT BMC (WT host/WT BM) and hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC (WT host/  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM) (**Figure S5**). These data suggest that non-hematopoietic cells are involved in STAT2-mediated viral control during influenza-MRSA super-infection.



**FIGURE 8** Increased bacterial control in cells from hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic compartments of  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice. WT BMC (Thy 1.1 host, Thy 1.2 BM or Thy 1.2 host, Thy 1.1 BM),  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host,  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM), Hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice (Thy 1.1 or Thy 1.2 host,  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM), non-hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host, Thy 1.1 or Thy 1.2 BM) were generated as described in methods. These mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. (A) Mice were sacrificed and right upper lung lobes were homogenized in PBS and bacterial burden was measured. (B) iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> producing cells were determined from lung by immunohistochemistry, N = 6-19 per group. (C) Representative figures,  $\times 200$  magnification fields are shown. (D) Mx1, (E) Cc/12 mRNA expression was measured, N = 6-9 per group. Data are represented as mean $\pm$ SEM. Data analyzed using One way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni test for multiple comparisons, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, ns, not significant.

## DISCUSSION

During influenza infection, epithelial cells, macrophages and dendritic cells all induce type I and type III IFNs, proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (2). Type I IFN signaling mediates lung pathology and infiltration of granulocytes during influenza infection (7). Absence of STAT1 or STAT2 signaling compromises viral control and survival in mice (9). In the current study, we have demonstrated that in the absence of STAT2 signaling the type I IFN response is impaired. This was associated with increased viral burden, inflammation, and pathology in the lungs during influenza infection. These results show that STAT2-dependent signaling is crucial in controlling influenza burden and inflammatory immune responses during primary influenza infection. Consistent with these findings, elevated levels of type I IFNs during influenza infection correlates with disease severity in outbred mice (45).

Influenza-associated secondary bacterial pneumonia is a serious complication of influenza infection (10, 11, 46). Reducing morbidity and mortality requires insight into the immune mechanisms that alter susceptibility to secondary bacterial infection. In this study, we show that STAT2 deficiency improves survival and rescues the impairment of bacterial clearance from the lung otherwise observed during influenza-bacterial super-infection. Further, we have identified increased accumulation of M1, M2 and M1/M2 co-expressing macrophages by influenza-MRSA super-infection in the setting of STAT2 deficiency as a novel mechanism that mediates this protection.

We have previously demonstrated that influenza-induced type I IFN-mediated suppression of Type 17 responses to both Gram (+) (S. aureus) and Gram (-) bacteria (Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli) during influenza-bacterial superinfection (13, 14). In these studies, loss of Type 17 immune responses was associated with exacerbation of secondary bacterial challenge during influenza infection. Further, we have also shown increased bacterial control in Ifnar-/- mice during super-infection, suggesting that influenza-induced type I IFN is a critical mediator of antibacterial immune suppression (13). Also, we have recently shown increased Type 17 immunity in STAT1<sup>-/-</sup> mice during super-infection (17). Therefore, we hypothesized that STAT2 deficiency would rescue suppression of Type 17 responses during influenza infection. Surprisingly, we found that the increased bacterial clearance we observed in the absence of STAT2 was not due to rescue of the Type 17 immune response. These data suggest that Type 17 immunity is predominantly regulated by STAT1 and not STAT2 during superinfection. This finding prompted further investigation into the mechanism of protection in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice.

Since Type 17 responses were not associated with the observed phenotype, we next explored other possible mechanisms involved in bacterial control. In our study, we found no differences in neutrophils, macrophages and lymphocyte numbers in BAL of WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection. A possible role for neutrophils in bacterial killing exists, as shown by a trend toward increased neutrophil numbers in BAL from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice. However, based on RNAseq

data analysis, we found increased RNA abundance of M1 and M2 macrophage markers, and further characterized the RNA expression, frequency and immunolocalization of these cells. We then determined the role of these macrophages in bacterial control in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection.

M1 macrophages are known to be involved in pathogen defense and inflammation, whereas M2 macrophages are thought to have a suppressive or regulatory role during inflammation (30, 47). In the current study, we found the majority of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Lv6C<sup>+</sup> macrophages are CD80<sup>+</sup>/MGL<sup>+</sup> (M1/M2) positive. Also, we found increased frequency of M1 (CD80<sup>+</sup>), but not M2 (MGL<sup>+</sup>) single positive cells in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection. Further, these M1/M2 cells had increased expression levels of both Arg1 and Nos2 in Stat2<sup>-/-</sup> mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection. We then confirmed these flow cytometry findings by IHC and observed an increase in Arg1+iNOS+F4/80+ cells in Stat2-/mice. These data confirm the ability of STAT2 to regulate macrophage phenotype during pneumonia, and identify an M1/M2 dual phenotype macrophage population in the context of influenza-associated secondary bacterial infection.

Further, in accordance with increased levels of IFN $\gamma$  and ISGs, we found increased *Stat1* expression levels in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice when compared to WT mice. This suggests that in the absence of STAT2 signaling, other pathways are activated as a compensatory effect. However, *Stat6* expression is not altered in the absence of STAT2 in super-infection. IFN $\gamma$  is known to suppress expression of the nuclear receptor PPAR $\gamma$  (48, 49). We also found suppression of *Pparg* expression in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during influenza-bacterial super-infection. Alterations in IFN $\gamma$  and PPAR $\gamma$  signaling may be a possible mechanism by which M1/M2 macrophage populations are altered in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice in super-infection.

In  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice, iNOS<sup>+</sup> macrophages were elevated during super-infection. This contrasted with WT mice in which iNOS<sup>+</sup> macrophages were only induced in the setting of bacterial challenge. In contrast, Arg1<sup>+</sup> macrophages were decreased during both MRSA and super-infection in WT mice. However, in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice the Arg1<sup>+</sup> cells were increased in influenza-bacterial super-infection, but not MRSA infection, suggesting that the M2 induction during super-infection is driven by influenza infection. Chen et al. (15) correlated an increased number of M2 macrophages during influenza infection with suppression of the protective immune response to bacterial super-infection (50). In contrast, one study has shown that S. aureus priming increased M2 macrophages and anti-inflammatory responses to influenza challenge (51). In the current study, we found an increased number of Arg1<sup>+</sup> macrophages associated with increased bacterial control in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during super-infection, and that WT mice suffered from impaired bacterial clearance despite the presence of Arg1<sup>+</sup> at a level similar to that seen during MRSA infection alone. Also, we found that Arg1- and iNOS-expressing dual function macrophages were significantly higher in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice. The presence of M1/M2 co-expressing macrophages has recently been described in response to Toxoplasma gondii infection (52), but to our knowledge is a novel finding in pulmonary host defense.

Promotion of bacterial killing by IFNy is well established for intracellular pathogens such as Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Toxoplasma gondii. However, information regarding its role in bacterial killing of S. aureus is limited. Studies have shown that influenza-induced IFNy inhibits pneumococcal control during super-infection (53). In this study, we found a trend in increased bacterial burden in IFNy neutralization in WT mice during super-infection. However, no differences were observed in WT BMDMs in bacterial killing in response to IFNy treatment. Observed discrepancies in the role of IFNy during super-infection might be due to differences in the dose and the strain of bacteria. We found that improved bacterial control seen during influenza-bacterial super-infection in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice was lost upon neutralization of IFNv. This was associated with a loss of iNOS<sup>+</sup> and iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup> dualfunction cells, suggesting that increased IFN $\gamma$  in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice during super-infection mediates the protective phenotype by driving induction of M1-polarized macrophages. However, it is known that IFNy increases neutrophil nitrite production and increases phagocytosis (54-56). It is also possible that other reactive oxygen species are involved in increased IFNy-mediated bacterial clearance in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during super-infection. Similarly, we found that neutralization of Arg1 decreased bacterial clearance in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice during super-infection in association with an attenuated number of iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup> dual function macrophages. Ultimately, bacterial control in  $Stat2^{-/-}$ mice during super-infection was compromised when the number of iNOS<sup>+</sup>Arg1<sup>+</sup> dual function macrophages was diminished. Further, we confirmed this by decreased bacterial clearance upon both Arg1 and IFN $\gamma$  neutralization in both WT and Stat2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Further, BMC studies showed increased bacterial control in both  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  hematopoietic BMC mice during influenza-bacterial infection, confirming the role of macrophage STAT2 in suppressing bacterial control during influenza-bacterial super-infection. However, bacterial control in non-hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice is likely due to altered macrophage phenotype, as influenza-induced ISGs are reduced in these mice. Further, increased influenza viral burden in nonhematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice indicated a role for stromal STAT2 signaling in inducing ISGs. Collectively, these data indicate a cell intrinsic role for STAT2 signaling in macrophages and an accessory role for stromal STAT2 signaling via regulation of ISG expression.

In addition to quantitative differences in critical macrophage phenotypes, we have demonstrated that macrophages from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice showed important qualitative differences compared to WT cells. We demonstrated that BMDM from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice had improved MRSA uptake at baseline. This increased efficiency was unaffected by any infection challenge. Increased uptake was associated with expression of multiple C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), which are primarily expressed in monocytes in the lung, and are involved in phagocytosis of a variety of pulmonary pathogens (57, 58). However, these receptors favor the entry of influenza by acting as a receptor for viral attachment (59, 60). In this study, we found increased expression of CLRs and increased phagocytic ability in BMDMs from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice. These results suggest that, even though these receptors favor influenza infection, they may help control secondary bacterial infection in  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice by improving bacterial uptake. In addition to increased bacterial uptake, BMDM from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice displayed increased bacterial killing compared to WT mice upon IFN $\gamma$  treatment. Naive BMDMs from  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice also displayed increased *Nos2* and *Cxcl9* expression compared to cells from WT mice, suggesting that  $Stat2^{-/-}$  macrophages have inherently increased expression of *Nos2* and enhanced bacterial killing ability compared to WT macrophages.

In summary, we have shown that STAT2 signaling decreases influenza viral burden and inflammatory immune responses during influenza infection, at the cost of inhibiting bacterial control during subsequent bacterial challenge by suppressing a distinct M1/M2 dual function macrophage population during influenza-bacterial super-infection. Together our data show a novel role of influenza induced type I IFN-mediated STAT2 signaling in inhibiting bacterial control through suppression of macrophage activity during influenza and influenza/MRSA super-infection. STAT2 and dual function M1/M2 macrophage activation may be a potential target for the treatment or prevention of influenza-bacterial super-infection.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

All mouse experiments were approved by the University of Pittsburgh IACUC, Protocol #: 17071194; PHS Assurance Number: D16-00118.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

RG, BL, JR-M, and JA designed the experiments. RG, BL, KM, HR, KR, SM, MC, PS, RE, MM, KMR, and JR-M performed the experiments. RG, BL, JR-M, and JA performed the analyses. RG, BL, HR, MM, KMR, JR-M, and JA drafted and edited the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH R01HL107380 (JA) and T32 HD071834 (BL).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02151/full#supplementary-material

**FIGURE S1** | No differences in Th17 response between WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice following MRSA, and influenza-MRSA super-infection. WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza A/PR/8/H1N1 or PBS by oropharyngeal aspiration for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA or PBS by oropharyngeal aspiration for one additional day. Frequency of (A) IL-17<sup>+</sup> or (B) IL-22<sup>+</sup> cells were determined by flow cytometry. The percentage of IL-17<sup>+</sup> and IL-22<sup>+</sup> cells were calculated from the percentage of CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with influenza-MRSA as described above. Lung lobes were homogenized with PBS, and the levels of (C) IL-23, (D) IL-17 were measured by Luminex analysis, and (E) IL-22 levels measured by ELISA. Data are

represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data analyzed using two-tailed Student's t-test, ns, not significant.

**FIGURE S2** | *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have altered other STAT1 and STA6 signaling pathways during influenza-bacterial super-infection. WT or *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were infected with either 100 PFU of influenza A PR/8/H1N1 or influenza for 6 days and then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA by oropharyngeal aspiration for one additional day, **(A)** *Stat1*, **(B)** *Stat6*, **(C)** *Pparg* gene expression relative to *Hprt* was analyzed by RT-PCR. *N* = 4 per group. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data analyzed using two-tailed Student's *t*-test, \**p* ≤ 0.05, ns, not significant.

**FIGURE S3** | M1 and M2 macrophages are altered in *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice in response to Arg1 and IFN<sub>Y</sub> neutralization during influenza-MRSA super-infection. WT or *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Mice were treated with 300 µg of anti-IFN<sub>Y</sub> antibodies or 300 µg of rat IgG isotype controls as described in methods. (A) Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80+ producing cells, were determined by IHC, N = 4–13 per group. WT or *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Mice were treated with 300 µg of anti-IFN<sub>Y</sub> antibodies or 300 µg of rat IgG isotype controls as described in methods. (A) Arg1<sup>+</sup>F4/80+ producing cells, were determined by IHC, N = 4–13 per group. WT or *Stat2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Mice were

treated with Vehicle (DMSO) or N-hydroxy-nor-L-arginine (nor-NOHA) as described in methods. **(B)** iNOS+F4/80+ cells, N = 6-9 per group. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data analyzed using two-tailed Student's *t*-test, \* $p \leq 0.05$ , \*\* $p \leq 0.01$ , ns, not significant.

**FIGURE S4** |  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice have deficient type I IFN responses with preserved type II IFN responses. **(A)** WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  male 6–8 weeks mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza A/PR/8/H1N1 by oropharyngeal aspiration for 6 days

### REFERENCES

- Simonsen L, Clarke MJ, Williamson GD, Stroup DF, Arden NH, Schonberger LB. The impact of influenza epidemics on mortality: introducing a severity index. *Am J Public Health* (1997) 87:1944–50.
- Iwasaki A, Pillai PS. Innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:315–28. doi: 10.1038/nri3665
- 3. Wu S, Metcalf JP, Wu W. Innate immune response to influenza virus. *Curr* Opin Infect Dis. (2011) 24:235–40. doi: 10.1097/QCO.0b013e328344c0e3
- Pulendran B, Maddur MS. Innate immune sensing and response to influenza. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. (2015) 386:23–71. doi: 10.1007/82\_2014\_405
- Durbin RK, Kotenko SV, Durbin JE. Interferon induction and function at the mucosal surface. *Immunol Rev.* (2013) 255:25–39. doi: 10.1111/imr.12101
- 6. Platanias LC. Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2005) 5:375–86. doi: 10.1038/nri1604
- Durbin JE, Fernandez-Sesma A, Lee CK, Rao TD, Frey AB, Moran TM, et al. Type I IFN modulates innate and specific antiviral immunity. *J Immunol.* (2000) 164:4220–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.8.4220
- Garcia-Sastre A, Durbin RK, Zheng H, Palese P, Gertner R, Levy DE, et al. The role of interferon in influenza virus tissue tropism. J Virol. (1998) 72:8550–8.
- 9. Jewell NA, Cline T, Mertz SE, Smirnov SV, Flano E, Schindler C, et al. Lambda interferon is the predominant interferon induced by influenza A virus infection *in vivo*. *J Virol*. (2010) 84:11515–22. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01703-09
- Morens DM, Taubenberger JK, Fauci AS. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: implications for pandemic influenza preparedness. J Infect Dis. (2008) 198:962–70. doi: 10.1086/591708
- Hers JF, Masurel N, Mulder J. Bacteriology and histopathology of the respiratory tract and lungs in fatal Asian influenza. *Lancet.* (1958) 2:1141–3.
- Rothberg MB, Haessler SD. Complications of seasonal and pandemic influenza. Crit Care Med. (2010) 38(4 Suppl.):e91–7. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181c92eeb
- Kudva A, Scheller EV, Robinson KM, Crowe CR, Choi SM, Slight SR, et al. Influenza A inhibits Th17-mediated host defense against bacterial pneumonia in mice. J Immunol. (2011) 186:1666–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002194
- Lee B, Robinson KM, McHugh KJ, Scheller EV, Mandalapu S, Chen C, et al. Influenza-induced type I interferon enhances susceptibility to gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial pneumonia in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2015) 309:L158–67. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00338.2014

then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA by oropharyngeal aspiration for one additional day. Overall gene expression was measured in lung by RNAseq analysis, Heat-map representing the fold induction of Interferon stimulated genes (ISGs) from WT and  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice following influenza-MRSA super-infection, N = 4 per group. WT or  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with either 100 PFU of influenza A PR/8/H1N1 or influenza for 6 days and then challenged with  $5 \times 10^7$  cfu of MRSA by oropharyngeal aspiration for one additional day, (**B**) Mx1, (**C**) Lhx2, and (**D**) Cc/12, (**E**) Cxc/9 gene expression relative to Hprt was analyzed by RT-PCR. N = 3-4 per group. Bone marrow-derived dendritic cells ( $1 \times 10^6$ ) were cultured *in vitro* with IFN $\beta$  (6.5 units/mL) or IFN $\gamma$  (20 ng/mL) for 24 h, (**F**) Mx1, (**G**) Cc/12 gene expression in cell RNA was analyzed by qRT-PCR. The cells were treated in triplicates. Each data point from panel F and G were the number of replicates per treatment. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data analyzed using two-tailed Student's *t*-test, \* $p \leq 0.05$ , \*\* $p \leq 0.01$ , ns, not significant.

**FIGURE S5** | Increased influenza burden in cells from non-hematopoietic compartments of  $Stat2^{-/-}$  mice. WT BMC (Thy1.1 host, Thy 1.2 BM or Thy 1.2 host, Thy 1.1 BM),  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host,  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM), Hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC mice (Thy 1.1 or Thy 1.2 host,  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BM), non-hematopoietic  $Stat2^{-/-}$  BMC ( $Stat2^{-/-}$  host, Thy 1.1 or Thy 1.2 BM) were generated as described in methods. These mice were infected with 100 PFU of influenza for 6 days then challenged with 5 × 10<sup>7</sup> cfu of MRSA for one additional day. Mice were sacrificed and RNA expression of Influenza M protein was measured from the lungs by PCR, N = 6-9 per group. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data analyzed using One way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni test for multiple comparisons, \*\* $p \leq 0.01$ , ns, not significant.

- Shahrara S, Pickens SR, Mandelin AM II, Karpus WJ, Huang Q, Kolls JK, et al. IL-17-mediated monocyte migration occurs partially through CC chemokine ligand 2/monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 induction. *J Immunol.* (2010) 184:4479–87. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901942
- Warnking K, Klemm C, Loffler B, Niemann S, van Kruchten A, Peters G, et al. Super-infection with *Staphylococcus aureus* inhibits influenza virusinduced type I IFN signalling through impaired STAT1-STAT2 dimerization. *Cell Microbiol.* (2015) 17:303–17. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12375
- Lee B, Gopal R, Manni ML, McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Robinson KM, et al. STAT1 Is required for suppression of Type 17 immunity during influenza and bacterial superinfection. *ImmunoHorizons* (2017) 1:81–91. doi: 10.4049/immunohorizons.1700030
- Park C, Li S, Cha E, Schindler C. Immune response in Stat2 knockout mice. *Immunity*. (2000) 13:795–804. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00077-7
- Curzer HJ, Perry G, Wallace MC, Perry D. The three Rs of animal research: what they mean for the institutional animal care and use committee and why. *Sci Eng Ethics* (2016) 22:549–65. doi: 10.1007/s11948-015-9659-8
- Braciale TJ. Immunologic recognition of influenza virus-infected cells. II. Expression of influenza A matrix protein on the infected cell surface and its role in recognition by cross-reactive cytotoxic T cells. *J Exp Med.* (1977) 146:673–89.
- Robinson KM, McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Clay ME, Lee B, Scheller EV, et al. Influenza A virus exacerbates *Staphylococcus aureus* pneumonia in mice by attenuating antimicrobial peptide production. *J Infect Dis.* (2014) 209:865–75. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit527
- Robinson KM, Choi SM, McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Enelow RI, Kolls JK, et al. Influenza A exacerbates *Staphylococcus aureus* pneumonia by attenuating IL-1beta production in mice. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:5153–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301237
- Gopal R, Khader SA. Vaccines against tuberculosis: moving forward with new concepts. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2013) 12:829–31. doi: 10.1586/14760584.2013.814836
- Eddens T, Elsegeiny W, Nelson MP, Horne W, Campfield BT, Steele C, et al. Eosinophils contribute to early clearance of pneumocystis murina infection. J Immunol. (2015) 195:185–93. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1403162
- Crowe CR, Chen K, Pociask DA, Alcorn JF, Krivich C, Enelow RI, et al. Critical role of IL-17RA in immunopathology of influenza infection. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:5301–10. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900995

- Gopal R, Monin L, Slight S, Uche U, Blanchard E, Fallert Junecko BA, et al. Unexpected role for IL-17 in protective immunity against hypervirulent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* HN878 infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2014) 10:e1004099. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004099
- Slight SR, Rangel-Moreno J, Gopal R, Lin Y, Fallert Junecko BA, Mehra S, et al. CXCR5(+) T helper cells mediate protective immunity against tuberculosis. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:712–26. doi: 10.1172/JCI65728
- Kolls JK, Khader SA. The role of Th17 cytokines in primary mucosal immunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2010) 21:443–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.11.002
- Witowski J, Pawlaczyk K, Breborowicz A, Scheuren A, Kuzlan-Pawlaczyk M, Wisniewska J, et al. IL-17 stimulates intraperitoneal neutrophil infiltration through the release of GRO alpha chemokine from mesothelial cells. J Immunol. (2000) 165:5814–21. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.10.5814
- Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol. (2003) 3:23–35. doi: 10.1038/nri978
- Martinez FO, Gordon S, Locati M, Mantovani A. Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:7303–11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.7303
- Ho VW, Sly LM. Derivation and characterization of murine alternatively activated (M2) macrophages. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2009) 531173–85. doi: 10.1007/978-1-59745-396-7\_12
- 33. Crawford MA, Burdick MD, Glomski IJ, Boyer AE, Barr JR, Mehrad B, et al. Interferon-inducible CXC chemokines directly contribute to host defense against inhalational anthrax in a murine model of infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2010) 6:e1001199. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001199
- Colvin RA, Campanella GS, Sun J, Luster AD. Intracellular domains of CXCR3 that mediate CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11 function. J Biol Chem. (2004) 279:30219–27. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M403595200
- Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep.* (2014) 6:13. doi: 10.12703/P6-13
- 36. Raes G, Brys L, Dahal BK, Brandt J, Grooten J, Brombacher F, et al. Macrophage galactose-type C-type lectins as novel markers for alternatively activated macrophages elicited by parasitic infections and allergic airway inflammation. J Leukoc Biol. (2005) 77:321–7. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0304212
- Li W, Katz BP, Spinola SM. Haemophilus ducreyi-induced interleukin-10 promotes a mixed M1 and M2 activation program in human macrophages. *Infect Immun.* (2012) 80:4426–34. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00912-12
- Murray PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol. (2011) 11:723–37. doi: 10.1038/nri3073
- 39. Hesse M, Modolell M, La Flamme AC, Schito M, Fuentes JM, Cheever AW, et al. Differential regulation of nitric oxide synthase-2 and arginase-1 by type 1/type 2 cytokines *in vivo*: granulomatous pathology is shaped by the pattern of L-arginine metabolism. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:6533–44. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.11.6533
- Murphy RF. Analysis and isolation of endocytic vesicles by flow cytometry and sorting: demonstration of three kinetically distinct compartments involved in fluid-phase endocytosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1985) 82:8523–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82.24.8523
- Sokolovska A, Becker CE, Stuart LM. Measurement of phagocytosis, phagosome acidification, and intracellular killing of *Staphylococcus aureus. Curr Protoc Immunol.* (2012) Chapter 14:Unit14.30. doi: 10.1002/0471142735.im1430s99
- Liu SY, Sanchez DJ, Aliyari R, Lu S, Cheng G. Systematic identification of type I and type II interferon-induced antiviral factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:4239–44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1114981109
- Schoggins JW, Rice CM. Interferon-stimulated genes and their antiviral effector functions. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2011) 1:519–25. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2011.10.008
- 44. Dussurget O, Bierne H, Cossart P. The bacterial pathogen *Listeria monocytogenes* and the interferon family: type I, type II and type III interferons. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2014) 4:50. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00050
- McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Kolls JK, Ross TM, Alcorn JF.A novel outbred mouse model of 2009 pandemic influenza and bacterial co-infection severity. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e82865. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082865

- Rynda-Apple A, Robinson KM, Alcorn JF. Influenza and bacterial superinfection: illuminating the immunologic mechanisms of disease. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:3764–70. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00298-15
- Martinez FO, Helming L, Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2009) 27:451–83. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132532
- Waite KJ, Floyd ZE, Arbour-Reily P, Stephens JM. Interferon-gammainduced regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and STATs in adipocytes. J Biol Chem. (2001) 276:7062–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M007 894200
- Qiao Y, Kang K, Giannopoulou E, Fang C, Ivashkiv LB. IFN-gamma induces histone 3 lysine 27 trimethylation in a small subset of promoters to stably silence gene expression in human macrophages. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 16:3121–9. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.08.051
- Chen WH, Toapanta FR, Shirey KA, Zhang L, Giannelou A, Page C, et al. Potential role for alternatively activated macrophages in the secondary bacterial infection during recovery from influenza. *Immunol Lett.* (2012) 141:227–34. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2011.10.009
- Wang J, Li F, Sun R, Gao X, Wei H, Li LJ, et al. Bacterial colonization dampens influenza-mediated acute lung injury via induction of M2 alveolar macrophages. *Nat Commun.* (2013) 42106. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3106
- Patil V, Zhao Y, Shah S, Fox BA, Rommereim LM, Bzik DJ, et al. Coexistence of classical and alternative activation programs in macrophages responding to *Toxoplasma gondii*. *Int J Parasitol*. (2014) 44:161–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2013.08.003
- Sun K, Metzger DW. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-gamma during recovery from influenza infection. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:558–64. doi: 10.1038/nm1765
- Ellis TN, Beaman BL. Interferon-gamma activation of polymorphonuclear neutrophil function. *Immunology* (2004) 112:2–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.01849.x
- 55. Bovolenta C, Gasperini S, McDonald PP, Cassatella MA. High affinity receptor for IgG (Fc gamma RI/CD64) gene and STAT protein binding to the IFN-gamma response region (GRR) are regulated differentially in human neutrophils and monocytes by IL-10. *J Immunol.* (1998) 160:911–9.
- Hansen BD, Finbloom DS. Characterization of the interaction between recombinant human interferon-gamma and its receptor on human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J Leukoc Biol. (1990) 47:64–9. doi: 10.1002/jlb.47.1.64
- Cambi A, Netea MG, Mora-Montes HM, Gow NA, Hato SV, Lowman DW, et al. Dendritic cell interaction with *Candida albicans* critically depends on N-linked mannan. *J Biol Chem.* (2008) 283:20590–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M709334200
- Tailleux L, Pham-Thi N, Bergeron-Lafaurie A, Herrmann JL, Charles P, Schwartz O, et al. DC-SIGN induction in alveolar macrophages defines privileged target host cells for mycobacteria in patients with tuberculosis. *PLoS Med.* (2005) 2:e381. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0020381
- Ng WC, Londrigan SL, Nasr N, Cunningham AL, Turville S, Brooks AG, et al. The C-type lectin langerin functions as a receptor for attachment and infectious entry of influenza a virus. J Virol. (2015) 90:206–21. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01447-15
- Londrigan SL, Tate MD, Brooks AG, Reading PC. Cell-surface receptors on macrophages and dendritic cells for attachment and entry of influenza virus. J Leukoc Biol. (2012) 92:97–106. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1011492

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Gopal, Lee, McHugh, Rich, Ramanan, Mandalapu, Clay, Seger, Enelow, Manni, Robinson, Rangel-Moreno and Alcorn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Resolving Viral-Induced Secondary** Bacterial Infection in COPD: A Concise Review

Hao Wang, Desiree Anthony, Stavros Selemidis, Ross Vlahos and Steven Bozinovski\*

School of Health and Biomedical Sciences, RMIT University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a leading cause of disability and death world-wide, where chronic inflammation accelerates lung function decline. Pathological inflammation is worsened by chronic bacterial lung infections and susceptibility to recurrent acute exacerbations of COPD (AECOPD), typically caused by viral and/or bacterial respiratory pathogens. Despite ongoing efforts to reduce AECOPD rates with inhaled corticosteroids, COPD patients remain at heightened risk of developing serious lung infections/AECOPD, frequently leading to hospitalization and infection-dependent delirium. Here, we review emerging mechanisms into why COPD patients are susceptible to chronic bacterial infections and highlight dysregulated inflammation and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) as central causes. This underlying chronic infection leaves COPD patients particularly vulnerable to acute viral infections, which further destabilize host immunity to bacteria. The pathogeneses of bacterial and viral exacerbations are significant as clinical symptoms are more severe and there is a marked increase in neutrophilic inflammation and tissue damage. AECOPD triggered by a bacterial and viral co-infection increases circulating levels of the systemic inflammatory marker, serum amyloid A (SAA). SAA is a functional agonist for formyl peptide receptor 2 (FPR2/ALX), where it promotes chemotaxis and survival of neutrophils. Excessive levels of SAA can antagonize the protective actions of FPR2/ALX that involve engagement of specialized pro-resolving mediators, such as resolvin-D1. We propose that the anti-microbial and anti-inflammatory actions of specialized pro-resolving mediators, such as resolvin-D1 should be harnessed for the treatment of AECOPD that are complicated by the co-pathogenesis of viruses and bacteria.

Keywords: COPD-chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, exacerbation, influenza (flu), secondary infection, co-infection, resolvin D1 (RvD1), serum amyloid A (SAA), pneumococcus (*Streptococcus pneumoniae*)

# COPD PATIENTS ARE HIGHLY SUSCEPTIBLE TO RESPIRATORY INFECTIONS

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is an umbrella term encompassing multiple lung pathologies (including emphysema, chronic bronchitis and bronchiolitis) that manifest into persistent and poorly reversible airflow limitation. It is a major chronic disease that is predicted to become the third leading cause of death world-wide by 2030 (1) and has a huge economic burden costing \$50 billion annually in the USA alone (2). COPD is characterized as a chronic inflammatory condition due to the persistent accumulation of innate

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

John F. Alcorn, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Manisha Singh, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States Brian Gregory George Oliver, University of Technology Sydney, Australia

\*Correspondence: Steven Bozinovski steven.bozinovski@rmit.edu.au

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 July 2018 Accepted: 21 September 2018 Published: 16 October 2018

#### Citation:

Wang H, Anthony D, Selemidis S, Vlahos R and Bozinovski S (2018) Resolving Viral-Induced Secondary Bacterial Infection in COPD: A Concise Review. Front. Immunol. 9:2345. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02345

27

and adaptive immune cells in the airways along with increased systemic inflammation (3). This inflammatory process is driven, in part by inhalation of highly noxious particles in cigarette smoke and biomass fuels that overwhelm protective detoxifying and anti-oxidant pathways. Inflammation is maintained through the continual recruitment and activation of leukocytes, which perpetuate a state of oxidative stress and local tissue damage. Neutrophilic inflammation is particularly prominent in COPD where neutrophils degranulate with increasing severity of COPD, resulting in uncontrolled release of proteolytic enzymes (neutrophil elastase and matrix metalloproteinase 9-MMP9) that further damage the lungs (4).

An important paradox in COPD is that despite the accumulation of leukocytes in the airways with increasing disease severity, there is still a major failure to adequately control and eradicate respiratory pathogens. As a consequence, the lower airways become persistently infected, where up to 50% of COPD patients are chronically colonized with potentially pathogenic bacteria including Haemophilus influenzae, Streptococcus pneumoniae and Moraxella catarrhalis (5, 6). Another major consequence of susceptibility to infection is that people with underlying severe disease frequently develop acute exacerbations of COPD (AECOPD). AECOPD are defined as "a sustained worsening of the patient's condition, from the stable state and beyond normal day-to-day variations, that is acute in onset and necessitates a change in regular medication in a patient with underlying COPD" (7). AECOPD are predominately caused by acquisition of a new respiratory pathogen (8), which accelerate pathological remodeling leading to a more rapid decline in lung function (9). Severe exacerbations account for much of the health related expenditure for COPD (10) and the "frequent exacerbator" phenotype has been defined, where patients that fall into this category are at much greater risk of hospitalization and death (11).

Anti-inflammatory agents including inhaled corticosteroids in combination with bronchodilators are frequently used to treat COPD, however they have failed to reduce the rate of severe AECOPD requiring hospitalization (12). Inhaled corticosteroids, delivered alone or in combination with bronchodilators are also associated with a small but significant increased risk of serious adverse pneumonia events (13). S. pneumoniae is the major bacterial cause of community acquired pneumonia (CAP); accounting for up to 40-50% of bacteriologically examined cases. COPD is a common underlying chronic comorbid condition in CAP (14) and the severity of CAP is worse in COPD patients based on severity index and respiratory failure (15). Without radiological assessment, it is difficult to differentiate CAP from AECOPD, however CAP is generally associated with more severe illness and pulmonary consolidation. Polyvalent vaccination may also be less effective in COPD patients as the elevated relative risk for developing pneumococcal pneumonia in COPD (8-fold compared to controls) is only reduced by 50% with vaccination (16). With over 90 serotypes, the genetic diversity of S. pneumoniae means that strategies in addition to vaccination are needed to control this pathogen, particularly in people with chronic comorbid conditions, such as COPD.

## DYSFUNCTIONAL OXIDANT PATHWAYS DISRUPT CLEARANCE OF RESPIRATORY PATHOGENS IN COPD

The persistence of bacterial infection in the lower airways of COPD patients is associated with impaired phagocytic function, where clearance of both H. influenzae and S. pneumoniae by alveolar macrophages was shown to be defective relative to control macrophages (17, 18). Oxidative stress is thought to drive impaired phagocytosis as activation of nuclear erythroidrelated factor 2 (Nrf2) restores phagocytosis of bacteria by alveolar macrophages from patients with COPD (19). Nrf2 is a key transcription factor that regulates expression of a suite of cytoprotective and antioxidant enzymes. As COPD progresses in severity, inflammatory cells accumulate and become an important endogenous source of reactive oxygen species (ROS) independent of smoking status. Increased ROS production by activated leukocytes will also promote the peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids and generation of reactive carbonyl species, such as 4-hydroxynonenol (4HNE) and malondialdehyde (MDA); both of which are increased in COPD (20). Levels of auto-antibodies against carbonyl-modified proteins correlate with severity of COPD (21). Importantly, reactive carbonyls can impair macrophagemediated phagocytosis of bacteria by directly causing cytoskeletal instability and carbonyl modification of pseudopodia (22-24). Also, macrophages interact with carbonyl-modified extracellular matrix proteins and this interaction suppresses their phagocytic functions (25).

Immunity to common respiratory viruses is also disrupted in COPD patients. Around 30-50% of AECOPDs are associated with respiratory viruses including rhinovirus, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and influenza (26, 27). Experimental rhinovirus infection in subjects with COPD results in elevated systemic and airway inflammation (28). In addition, increased rhinovirus load was detected in COPD subjects compared to controls, which was associated with reduced interferon production (28). Using the same human experimental model, rhinovirus infection was also shown to markedly increase markers of oxidative and nitrosative stress (29). We have recently shown that single stranded RNA viruses (including influenza A virus, rhinovirus, RSV) and DNA viruses promote the production of ROS through activation of endosomal NADPH oxidase 2 (NOX2) (30). The internalization of viruses specifically triggered production of hydrogen peroxide within endosomes, where NOX2-dependent production of ROS suppressed antiviral signaling networks via modification of Toll-like receptor-7 (30). This process acts as a critical physiological brake to prevent an over exuberant anti-viral or humoral response that can contribute to autoimmune disease. Conversely, excessive ROS production in COPD has the potential to compromise essential anti-viral immune responses (such as type-1 interferon) during viral-induced exacerbations, although this has yet to be proven. We have however, targeted excessive ROS generation with the glutathione peroxidase (Gpx) mimetic and NOX2 oxidase inhibitor, ebselen and apocynin in an experimental AECOPD



model (31). Here, we exposed mice to cigarette smoke prior to acute influenza A virus infection, which resulted in a greater viral lung burden (31). Furthermore, treatment with ebselen effectively reduced viral lung titres and lung inflammation, thus identifying the Gpx pathway as a novel therapeutic target for the treatment of viral-induced exacerbations (31).

## VIRAL AND BACTERIAL CO-INFECTIONS INCREASE THE SEVERITY OF AECOPD

AECOPD associated with respiratory viruses including rhinoviruses have been shown to be frequently followed by secondary bacterial infections in COPD (32). A subsequent study revealed that acute rhinovirus infection during AECOPD promoted a significant rise in pathogenic bacteria, such as *H. Influenzae* from the pre-existing lung microbiota, which persisted for over 40 days (33). Hence, the classic secondary bacterial infection setting whereby an acute viral event leads to a secondary bacterial lung infection may not necessarily represent the natural course of respiratory co-infections in COPD. This is because many moderate/severe COPD patients are already chronically infected with multiple pathogenic bacteria before they encounter a viral pathogen. Acute flares or COPD exacerbations associated with the presence of bacterial and viral pathogens occur frequently, constituting around a quarter of infective exacerbations (8, 34, 35), and this rate may increase with the development of more sensitive assays to detect respiratory pathogens. Clinically, AECOPD associated with the presence of a bacterial and viral pathogen are significant as they result in

more severe events involving greater lung function impairment and longer hospitalization (8). Virus infection in the presence of chronic bacterial infection is also an important determinant of hospital readmission following the initial exacerbation (36). AECOPD associated with respiratory co-infections result in increased bacterial lung loads during the acute phase of the exacerbation (37). The viral-mediated outgrowth of bacteria is not restricted to rhinovirus and *H. Infuenzae* interactions as rhinovirus can also facilitate acquisition and transmission of *S. pneumoniae* (38). Influenza A readily triggers pneumococcal dispersion from nasopharyngeal biofilms deeper into the lower airways (39). In addition, rhinovirus has been shown to impair antibacterial responses to the TLR4 ligand, LPS and reduce uptake of *E. coli* bioparticles (40).

At a cellular level, severe exacerbations drive an airway inflammatory response involving increased neutrophilic inflammation (36). The amplified neutrophilic response during severe AECOPD is thought to directly compromise host immunity to bacterial respiratory pathogens. We have previously shown that the degranulation of neutrophil-derived proteinases, such as neutrophil elastase and MMP9 increase with the severity of COPD irrespective of elevated corticosteroid therapy (4). Increased levels of neutrophil elastase are also detected during AECOPD associated with the presence of a viral and bacterial pathogen (32). In this cohort, the levels of antimicrobial peptides were markedly reduced in exacerbations where viral and bacterial pathogens were detected, and they suggest that uncontrolled degranulation of neutrophil elastase actively degrades anti-microbial peptides in the lung, leading to outgrowth of bacteria (32). Neutrophils can also increase mucin production by activating epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signaling (41), which involves protease-dependent release of membrane bound EGFR ligands, such as TGF-a (42, 43). In addition, neutrophil-derived myeloperoxidase can also catalyze the generation of hypochlorous acid that cross-links mucus to form hydrogels (44). Since mucus hypersecretion is significantly associated with an excess decline in lung function during AECOPD and an increased risk of subsequent hospitalization (45), we propose that an excessive neutrophilic response is directly driving mucus-mediated obstruction during AECOPD.

## TARGETING BACTERIAL SUPER-INFECTIONS WITH SPECIALIZED PRO-RESOLVING MEDIATORS

Hence, a therapeutic strategy that dampens the exuberant neutrophilic response during AECOPD may not only be beneficial in reducing the risk of developing a secondary bacterial infection, but will also alleviate symptomatic lung function decline due to excessive mucus production and plugging. To support our claim, we have actively screened for inflammatory biomarkers that are altered during AECOPD and identified serum amyloid A (SAA) as an acute phase reactant that is markedly increased during severe episodes (34). Furthermore, we demonstrated that the circulating levels of SAA were significantly higher in AECOPD associated with the presence of a bacterial and viral co-infection (34). SAA serves multiple innate host defense roles during acute infection including opsonisation of gram-negative bacteria to facilitate more efficient phagocytosis (46). It can also promote the recruitment of leukocytes to the site of infection as it is a functional agonist for the Formyl peptide receptor 2 (FPR2/ALX), which stimulates chemotaxis (47). In COPD, we found a positive association between SAA expression and neutrophilic inflammation in lung tissue biopsies derived from COPD patients (48). We demonstrated that SAAinduced recruitment of neutrophils into the airways is dependent on Interleukin 17A (IL-17A) signaling (48, 49). SAA can also prolong neutrophil survival by suppressing the apoptotic machinery involving activation of the ERK and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways (50). Hence, production of SAA is normally protective and self-limiting with a sharp decline during the resolution phase of infection, however the persistent elevation during AECOPD triggered by co-infections may lead to the excessive recruitment of neutrophils.

The persistence of SAA expression during AECOPD will alter FPR2/ALX signaling in innate and mucosal cells that express this receptor. FPR2/ALX is a member of the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily characterized by seven putative trans-membrane domains that displays diverse ligand affinities, interacting with over 30 different ligands (51). By binding to distinct ligands that are temporally expressed, this receptor is a master regulator of acute inflammation and resolution of inflammation. Hence, there is a class switch from proinflammatory ligands (such as SAA and the leukotriene LTB<sub>4</sub>) to pro-resolving mediators during the course of infection and acute inflammation (52). Lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> (LXA<sub>4</sub>) is a specialized pro-resolving mediator that directly interacts with FPR2/ALX to initiate resolution pathways. This eicosanoid opposes leukocyte migration and activation by suppressing transendothelial (53) and transepithelial (54) migration and neutrophil degranulation (55). Furthermore, we have shown that LXA<sub>4</sub> can potently antagonize the recruitment of neutrophils into the lungs in response to SAA stimulation (56). LXA4 also promotes tissue repair by stimulating basal cell proliferation required for wound healing following mucosal injury (57). In addition, LXA4 stimulates more efficient macrophage-mediated efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils, which is an essential component to the resolution of inflammation (58, 59).

FPR2/ALX also interacts with an alternate specialized proresolving mediator called resolvin D1 (RvD1), which belong to the D series resolvins derived from the omega-3 fatty acid, docosahexaenoic acid (50). Like LXA4, RvD1 and its more stable aspirin-triggered derivative (AT-RvD1) display potent anti-inflammatory actions in a number of disease models including cigarette smoke exposure and acute lung injury (60, 61). This eicosanoid is also a promising therapeutic target in bacterial pneumonia because it can stimulate macrophage phagocytosis of pathogenic bacteria (E. coli, P. aeruginosa, and H. Influenzae) and enhance neutrophil efferocytosis to prevent collateral lung injury (62, 63). More recently, we have evaluated the efficacy of AT-RvD1 in a co-infection model where mice were initially inoculated with S. pneumoniae and subsequently infected with influenza A virus. This model represents the AECOPD setting where the lower airways

are chronically infected with pathogenic bacteria prior to encountering a respiratory virus. Similar to classic bacterial super-infection models, acute viral infection resulted in a marked increase in pneumococcal lung load (64). We also observed a significant increase in neutrophil and monocyte infiltration into the lungs of co-infected mice and the lung pathology was consistent with severe pneumonia. Levels of SAA were strikingly increased in the serum and lungs of co-infected mice relative to mice infected with either pneumococcus or influenza A virus alone (64). Our approach to reducing excessive inflammation in co-infected mice was to therapeutically deliver exogenous AT-RvD1 during the acute phase of infection, where FPR2/ALX is the only characterized receptor for AT-RvD1 in mice. AT-RvD1 reduced pneumococcal lung load and potently reduced the degree of pneumonia or alveolitis, which was associated with a marked reduction in neutrophil and monocyte lung infiltration in co-infected mice (64). The reduction in neutrophilic inflammation was accompanied by a reduction in neutrophil elastase activity in the lungs. The AT-RvD1 mediated suppression of neutrophil elastase activity was concurrently associated with restoration of anti-microbial activity in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of co-infected mice (64). AT-RvD1 is also known to stimulate the production of the antibacterial peptide lipocalin 2, thereby enhancing anti-microbial activity (62).

In addition to reducing the degree of localized pneumonia, specialized pro-resolving mediators, such as AT-RvD1 may also treat the central consequences of co-infection or bacterial super-infection. In the classic bacterial super-infection setting, S. pneumoniae can enter and proliferate in the brain, with the ensuing inflammatory response causing bacterial meningitis in severe cases (65). Whilst meningitis rarely occurs, severe respiratory infections will prolong sickness behavior including fever, malaise and fatigue. The onset of sickness behavior is mediated in part, by inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1β produced at the primary site of infection, which then act centrally to stimulate neuroinflammation (66). Brain inflammation can also produce acute cognitive impairments, such as delirium, which is common in COPD patients (67, 68) and this is worsened during acute exacerbations (69). The circulating inflammatory mediators that impair cognitive function during AECOPD are not well-characterized. However, circulating SAA can readily cross the intact blood-brain barrier (70) and excessive production of SAA in a transgenic model resulted in greater deposition in the brain and an increase in brain inflammation (71). Consistent with this study, we found that in our co-infection model associated with a marked increase in circulating SAA, there was an increase in SAA immuno-reactivity, increased numbers of "activated" amoeboid-shaped microglia and inflammatory

#### REFERENCES

- Mathers CD, Loncar D. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. *PLoS Med.* (2006) 3:e442. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030442
- 2. Guarascio AJ, Ray SM, Finch CK, Self TH. The clinical and economic burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the USA.

cytokine expression in the brain (72). Furthermore, under *in vitro* conditions SAA proved to be a potent stimulus for primary mouse microglia activation, and this response was markedly suppressed by the anti-inflammatory actions of AT-RvD1 (72).

#### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

The likelihood of developing a co-infection or secondary bacterial infection is increased in COPD largely due to the ROS-dependent suppression of macrophage phagocytic function. Suppressed macrophage phagocytosis contributes to the establishment of chronic bacterial infection of the lower airways. Consequently, acute infection with a newly acquired respiratory virus, such as influenza A can promote uncontrolled bacterial outgrowth in the lung. This is observed clinically, as the detection of a respiratory virus and bacteria during AECOPD occurs frequently and is associated with an increase in exacerbation severity and neutrophilic inflammation. We have shown that the exuberant inflammatory response during coinfections are associated with elevated levels of SAA, which is an agonist for FPR2/ALX that promotes neutrophil migration and survival. Specialized pro-resolving mediators, such as lipoxins and D-series resolvins can counteract the pro-inflammatory actions of SAA. We provide compelling pre-clinical data to demonstrate that AT-RvD1 is a very effective therapeutic in the co-infection setting, where it potently suppressed leukocyte tissue accumulation in the lungs and concurrently improved pneumococcal clearance. Furthermore, co-infections markedly increase brain inflammation and AT-RvD1 can suppress the release of inflammatory cytokines from activated microglia. In summary, specialized pro-resolving mediators have great potential in the co-infection setting as they not only reduce local tissue inflammation and improve bacterial clearance at the site of infection, but they can also dampen central microglial inflammation that prolongs sickness behavior and cognitive dysfunction (Figure 1).

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SB performed the literature review. HW, DA, and SB designed the figures. SB, SS, HW, DA, and RV organized, wrote and edited the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

The work in our laboratory is funded by National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (grant number APP1067547) and Australian Research Council (grant number FT130100654).

*Clinicoecon Outcomes Res.* (2013) 5:235–45. doi: 10.2147/CEOR. S34321

- 3. Barnes PJ. Immunology of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:183–92. doi: 10.1038/nri2254
- Vlahos R, Wark PA, Anderson GP, Bozinovski S. Glucocorticosteroids differentially regulate MMP-9 and neutrophil elastase in COPD. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e33277. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033277

- Monso E, Ruiz J, Rosell A, Manterola J, Fiz J, Morera J, et al. Bacterial infection in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. A study of stable and exacerbated outpatients using the protected specimen brush. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1995) 152:1316–20.
- Pela R, Marchesani F, Agostinelli C, Staccioli D, Cecarini L, Bassotti C, et al. Airways microbial flora in COPD patients in stable clinical conditions and during exacerbations: a bronchoscopic investigation. *Monaldi Arch Chest Dis.* (1998) 53:262–7.
- Rodriguez-Roisin R. Toward a consensus definition for COPD exacerbations. *Chest* (2000) 117:398S–401S. doi: 10.1378/chest.117.5\_suppl\_2.398S
- Papi A, Bellettato CM, Braccioni F, Romagnoli M, Casolari P, Caramori G, et al. Infections and airway inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease severe exacerbations. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2006) 173:1114–21. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200506-859OC
- Donaldson GC, Seemungal TA, Bhowmik A, Wedzicha JA. Relationship between exacerbation frequency and lung function decline in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* (2002) 57:847–52. doi: 10.1136/thorax.57.10.847
- Donaldson GC, Wilkinson TM, Hurst JR, Perera WR, Wedzicha JA. Exacerbations and time spent outdoors in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2005) 171:446–52. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200408-1054OC
- Wedzicha JA, Brill SE, Allinson JP, Donaldson GC. Mechanisms and impact of the frequent exacerbator phenotype in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *BMC Med.* (2013) 11:181. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-181
- Calverley PM, Anderson JA, Celli B, Ferguson GT, Jenkins C, Jones PW, et al., T. investigators, Salmeterol and fluticasone propionate and survival in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N Engl J Med.* (2007) 356:775–89. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa063070
- Kew KM, Seniukovich A. Inhaled steroids and risk of pneumonia for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2014) 3:CD010115. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010115.pub2
- Falguera M, Martin M, Ruiz-Gonzalez A, Pifarre R, Garcia M. Communityacquired pneumonia as the initial manifestation of serious underlying diseases. *Am J Med.* (2005) 118:378–83. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.01.011
- Liapikou A, Polverino E, Ewig S, Cilloniz C, Marcos MA, Mensa J, et al. Severity and outcomes of hospitalised community-acquired pneumonia in COPD patients. *Eur Respir J.* (2012) 39:855–61. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00067111
- Lee TA, Weaver FM, Weiss KB. Impact of pneumococcal vaccination on pneumonia rates in patients with COPD and asthma. J Gen Intern Med. (2007) 22:62–7. doi: 10.1007/s11606-007-0118-3
- Berenson CS, Garlipp MA, Grove LJ, Maloney J, Sethi S. Impaired phagocytosis of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae by human alveolar macrophages in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Infect Dis. (2006) 194:1375–84. doi: 10.1086/508428
- Taylor AE, Finney-Hayward TK, Quint JK, Thomas CM, Tudhope SJ, Wedzicha JA, et al. Defective macrophage phagocytosis of bacteria in COPD. *Eur Respir J.* (2010) 35:1039–47. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00036709
- Harvey CJ, Thimmulappa RK, Sethi S, Kong X, Yarmus L, Brown RH, et al. Targeting Nrf2 signaling improves bacterial clearance by alveolar macrophages in patients with COPD and in a mouse model. *Sci Transl Med.* (2011) 3:78ra32. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002042
- Rahman I, van Schadewijk AA, Crowther AJ, Hiemstra PS, Stolk J, MacNee W, et al. 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal, a specific lipid peroxidation product, is elevated in lungs of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2002) 166:490–5. doi: 10.1164/rccm.2110101
- 21. Kirkham PA, Caramori G, Casolari P, Papi AA, Edwards M, Shamji B, et al. Oxidative stress-induced antibodies to carbonyl-modified protein correlate with severity of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 184:796–802. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201010-1605OC
- 22. Banan A, Zhang Y, Losurdo J, Keshavarzian A. Carbonylation and disassembly of the F-actin cytoskeleton in oxidant induced barrier dysfunction and its prevention by epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor alpha in a human colonic cell line. *Gut* (2000) 46:830–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.46.6.830
- Smerjac SM, Bizzozero OA. Cytoskeletal protein carbonylation and degradation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurochem. (2008) 105:763–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.05178.x

- Bozinovski S, Vlahos R, Zhang Y, Lah LC, Seow HJ, Mansell A, et al. Carbonylation caused by cigarette smoke extract is associated with defective macrophage immunity. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2011) 45:229–36. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2010-0272OC
- 25. Kirkham PA, Spooner G, Rahman I, Rossi AG. Macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils is compromised by matrix proteins modified by cigarette smoke and lipid peroxidation products. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2004) 318:32–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.04.003
- Rohde G, Wiethege A, Borg I, Kauth M, Bauer TT, Gillissen A, et al. Respiratory viruses in exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease requiring hospitalisation: a case-control study. *Thorax* (2003) 58:37–42. doi: 10.1136/thorax.58.1.37
- 27. Seemungal T, Harper-Owen R, Bhowmik A, Moric I, Sanderson G, Message S, et al. Respiratory viruses, symptoms, and inflammatory markers in acute exacerbations and stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2001) 164:1618–23. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.164.9.2105011
- Mallia P, Message SD, Gielen V, Contoli M, Gray K, Kebadze T, et al. Experimental rhinovirus infection as a human model of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 183:734– 42. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201006-0833OC
- Footitt J, Mallia P, Durham AL, Ho WE, Trujillo-Torralbo MB, Telcian AG, et al. Oxidative and nitrosative stress and histone deacetylase-2 activity in exacerbations of COPD. *Chest* (2016) 149:62–73. doi: 10.1378/chest.14-2637
- To EE, Vlahos R, Luong R, Halls ML, Reading PC, King PT, et al. Endosomal NOX<sub>2</sub> oxidase exacerbates virus pathogenicity and is a target for antiviral therapy. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:69. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00057-x
- Oostwoud LC, Gunasinghe P, Seow HJ, Ye JM, Selemidis S, Bozinovski S, et al. Apocynin and ebselen reduce influenza A virus-induced lung inflammation in cigarette smoke-exposed mice. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:20983. doi: 10.1038/srep20983
- Mallia P, Footitt J, Sotero R, Jepson A, Contoli M, Trujillo-Torralbo MB, et al. Rhinovirus infection induces degradation of antimicrobial peptides and secondary bacterial infection in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2012) 186:1117–24. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201205-0806OC
- 33. Molyneaux PL, Mallia P, Cox MJ, Footitt J, Willis-Owen SA, Homola D, et al. Outgrowth of the bacterial airway microbiome after rhinovirus exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 188:1224–31. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201302-0341OC
- Bozinovski S, Hutchinson A, Thompson M, Macgregor L, Black J, Giannakis E, et al. Serum amyloid a is a biomarker of acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2008) 177:269–78. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200705-678OC
- 35. Wilkinson TMA, Aris E, Bourne S, Clarke SC, Peeters M, Pascal TG, et al., Group AS. A prospective, observational cohort study of the seasonal dynamics of airway pathogens in the aetiology of exacerbations in COPD. *Thorax* (2017) 72:919–27. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209023
- Wark PA, Tooze M, Powell H, Parsons K. Viral and bacterial infection in acute asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease increases the risk of readmission. *Respirology* (2013) 18:996–1002. doi: 10.1111/resp.12099
- Wilkinson TM, Hurst JR, Perera WR, Wilks M, Donaldson GC, Wedzicha JA. Effect of interactions between lower airway bacterial and rhinoviral infection in exacerbations of COPD. *Chest* (2006) 129:317–24. doi: 10.1378/chest.129.2.317
- Karppinen S, Terasjarvi J, Auranen K, Schuez-Havupalo L, Siira L, He Q, et al. Acquisition and transmission of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* are facilitated during rhinovirus infection in families with children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:1172–80. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201702-0357OC
- Pettigrew MM, Marks LR, Kong Y, Gent JF, Roche-Hakansson H, Hakansson AP. Dynamic changes in the *Streptococcus pneumoniae* transcriptome during transition from biofilm formation to invasive disease upon influenza A virus infection. *Infect Immun.* (2014) 82:4607–19. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02225-14
- 40. Oliver BG, Lim S, Wark P, Laza-Stanca V, King N, Black JL, et al. Rhinovirus exposure impairs immune responses to bacterial products in human alveolar macrophages. *Thorax* (2008) 63:519–25. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.0 81752
- Kohri K, Ueki IF, Nadel JA. Neutrophil elastase induces mucin production by ligand-dependent epidermal growth factor receptor activation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2002) 283:L531–40. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00455.2001

- Shao MX, Nadel JA. Neutrophil elastase induces MUC5AC mucin production in human airway epithelial cells via a cascade involving protein kinase C, reactive oxygen species, and TNF-alpha-converting enzyme. J Immunol. (2005) 175:4009–16. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.26.4.4473
- Shao MX, Nadel JA. Dual oxidase 1-dependent MUC5AC mucin expression in cultured human airway epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:767–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0408932102
- 44. Dunican EM, Elicker BM, Gierada DS, Nagle SK, Schiebler ML, Newell JD, et al., National Heart L, and P. Blood Institute Severe Asthma Research, Mucus plugs in patients with asthma linked to eosinophilia and airflow obstruction. J *Clin Invest.* (2018) 128:997–1009. doi: 10.1172/JCI95693
- Vestbo J, Prescott E, Lange P. Association of chronic mucus hypersecretion with FEV1 decline and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease morbidity. Copenhagen City Heart Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (1996) 153:1530–5.
- Shah C, Hari-Dass R, Raynes JG. Serum amyloid A is an innate immune opsonin for Gram-negative bacteria. *Blood* (2006) 108:1751–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-11-011932
- 47. Su SB, Gong W, Gao JL, Shen W, Murphy PM, Oppenheim JJ, et al. A seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor, FPRL1, mediates the chemotactic activity of serum amyloid A for human phagocytic cells. J Exp Med. (1999) 189:395–402.
- Anthony D, Seow HJ, Uddin M, Thompson M, Dousha L, Vlahos R, et al. Serum amyloid A promotes lung neutrophilia by increasing IL-17A levels in the mucosa and gammadelta T cells. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 188:179–86. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201211-2139OC
- Anthony D, McQualter JL, Bishara M, Lim EX, Yatmaz S, Seow HJ, et al. SAA drives proinflammatory heterotypic macrophage differentiation in the lung via CSF-1R-dependent signaling. *FASEB J.* (2014) 28:3867–77. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-250332
- El Kebir D, Jozsef L, Khreiss T, Pan W, Petasis NA, Serhan CN, et al. Aspirintriggered lipoxins override the apoptosis-delaying action of serum amyloid A in human neutrophils: a novel mechanism for resolution of inflammation. J Immunol. (2007) 179:616–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.1.616
- Ye RD, Boulay F, Wang JM, Dahlgren C, Gerard C, Parmentier M, et al., International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXIII. Nomenclature for the formyl peptide receptor (FPR) family. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2009) 61:119–61. doi: 10.1124/pr.109.001578
- Levy BD, Clish CB, Schmidt B, Gronert K, Serhan CN. Lipid mediator class switching during acute inflammation: signals in resolution. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:612–9. doi: 10.1038/89759
- Papayianni A, Serhan CN, Brady HR. Lipoxin A4 and B4 inhibit leukotrienestimulated interactions of human neutrophils and endothelial cells. J Immunol. (1996) 156:2264–72.
- Colgan SP, Serhan CN, Parkos CA, Delp-Archer C, Madara JL. Lipoxin A4 modulates transmigration of human neutrophils across intestinal epithelial monolayers. J Clin Invest. (1993) 92:75–82.
- Soyombo O, Spur BW, Lee TH. Effects of lipoxin A4 on chemotaxis and degranulation of human eosinophils stimulated by platelet-activating factor and N-formyl-L-methionyl-L-leucyl-L-phenylalanine. *Allergy* (1994) 49:230–4.
- Bozinovski S, Uddin M, Vlahos R, Thompson M, McQualter JL, Merritt AS, et al. Serum amyloid A opposes lipoxin A(4) to mediate glucocorticoid refractory lung inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:935–40. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1109382109
- Bonnans C, Fukunaga K, Levy MA, Levy BD. Lipoxin A(4) regulates bronchial epithelial cell responses to acid injury. *Am J Pathol.* (2006) 168:1064–72. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.051056
- El Kebir D, Jozsef L, Pan W, Wang L, Petasis NA, Serhan CN, et al. 15epi-lipoxin A4 inhibits myeloperoxidase signaling and enhances resolution of acute lung injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2009) 180:311–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200810-1601OC

- Godson C, Mitchell S, Harvey K, Petasis NA, Hogg N, Brady HR. Cutting edge: lipoxins rapidly stimulate nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by monocyte-derived macrophages. *J Immunol.* (2000) 164:1663– 7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.4.1663
- Hsiao HM, Sapinoro RE, Thatcher TH, Croasdell A, Levy EP, Fulton RA, et al. A novel anti-inflammatory and pro-resolving role for resolvin D1 in acute cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e58258. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058258
- Eickmeier O, Seki H, Haworth O, Hilberath JN, Gao F, Uddin M, et al. Aspirintriggered resolvin D1 reduces mucosal inflammation and promotes resolution in a murine model of acute lung injury. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2013) 6:256–66. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.66
- 62. Abdulnour RE, Sham HP, Douda DN, Colas RA, Dalli J, Bai Y, et al. Aspirin-triggered resolvin D1 is produced during self-resolving gramnegative bacterial pneumonia and regulates host immune responses for the resolution of lung inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2016) 9:1278–87. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.129
- Croasdell A, Lacy SH, Thatcher TH, Sime PJ, Phipps RP. Resolvin D1 dampens pulmonary inflammation and promotes clearance of nontypeable haemophilus influenzae. *J Immunol.* (2016) 196:2742–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502331
- Wang H, Anthony D, Yatmaz S, Wijburg O, Satzke C, Levy B, et al. Aspirintriggered resolvin D1 reduces pneumococcal lung infection and inflammation in a viral and bacterial coinfection pneumonia model. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. (2017) 131:2347–62. doi: 10.1042/CS20171006
- Kim KS. Pathogenesis of bacterial meningitis: from bacteraemia to neuronal injury. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2003) 4:376–85. doi: 10.1038/nrn1103
- Dantzer R. Cytokine, sickness behavior, and depression. *Immunol Allergy Clin* N Am. (2009) 29:247–64. doi: 10.1016/j.iac.2009.02.002
- 67. Dodd JW. Lung disease as a determinant of cognitive decline and dementia. *Alzheimers Res Ther.* (2015) 7:32. doi: 10.1186/s13195-015-0116-3
- Duran L, Aygun D. Evaluation of patients with delirium in the emergency department. *Balkan Med J.* (2012) 29:381–5. doi: 10.5152/balkanmedj.2012.023
- Dodd JW, Charlton RA, van den Broek MD, Jones PW. Cognitive dysfunction in patients hospitalized with acute exacerbation of COPD. *Chest* (2013) 144:119–27. doi: 10.1378/chest.12-2099
- Erickson MA, Jude J, Zhao H, Rhea EM, Salameh TS, Jester W, et al. Serum amyloid A: an ozone-induced circulating factor with potentially important functions in the lung-brain axis. *FASEB J.* (2017) 31:3950–65. doi: 10.1096/fj.201600857RRR
- Jang WY, Lee BR, Jeong J, Sung Y, Choi M, Song P, et al. Overexpression of serum amyloid a 1 induces depressive-like behavior in mice. *Brain Res.* (2017) 1654:55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2016. 09.003
- 72. Wang H, Blackall M, Sominsky L, Spencer SJ, Vlahos R, Churchill M, et al. Increased hypothalamic microglial activation after viral-induced pneumococcal lung infection is associated with excess serum amyloid A production. J Neuroinflamm. (2018) 15:200. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1 234-1

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wang, Anthony, Selemidis, Vlahos and Bozinovski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Sepsis and Nosocomial Infection: Patient Characteristics, Mechanisms, and Modulation

#### Scott J. Denstaedt, Benjamin H. Singer and Theodore J. Standiford\*

Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Michigan Medical School, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

Sepsis is a leading cause of death worldwide. After initial trials modulating the hyperinflammatory phase of sepsis failed, generations of researchers have focused on evaluating hypo-inflammatory immune phenotypes. The main goal has been to develop prognostic biomarkers and therapies to reduce organ dysfunction, nosocomial infection, and death. The depressed host defense in sepsis has been characterized by broad cellular reprogramming including lymphocyte exhaustion, apoptosis, and depressed cytokine responses. Despite major advances in this field, our understanding of the dynamics of the septic host response and the balance of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cellular programs remains limited. This review aims to summarize the epidemiology of nosocomial infections and characteristic immune responses associated with sepsis, as well as immunostimulatory therapies currently under clinical investigation.

Keywords: sepsis, compensatory anti-inflammatory response, priming, nosocomial infection, immunosuppression, SIRS, immunostimulation

## INTRODUCTION

In 1996, following several failed trials aimed at treating the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) (1–3), Roger C. Bone first urged a paradigm shift toward understanding the "compensatory anti-inflammatory response (CARS)" in sepsis (4). Decades later, sepsis remains a leading cause of morbidity and mortality affecting over 30 million people worldwide each year (5), yet not a single immune modulating therapy is actively being used in the clinical setting today. Though mortality rates have declined over time with advances in supportive care, improvements in sepsis therapy are needed to combat persistently high mortality (6, 7). The most recent focus has been on delivery of precision medicine through immunomodulation of the altered host response in sepsis.

Early observations of immune dysfunction in the critically ill come from the trauma and surgical literature (8–10). Decreased cytokine responses to stimulation were later identified and associated with decreased survival in patients with septic shock (11). Though a correlation between sepsis and nosocomial infection has been clinically recognized for decades, it is mostly within the last 10–15 years that this clinical entity has been strongly associated with depressed host immune responses. Large observational studies examining the impact of secondary infection on morbidity and mortality in patients with sepsis are limited and at times data are conflicting. Here, we review the evidence for increased susceptibility to secondary infection in sepsis, mechanisms of depressed host immunity, and promising therapies to modulate the host response.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

John F. Alcorn, University of Pittsburgh, United States

#### Reviewed by: Daniel Remick,

Boston University, United States John McGuire, University of Washington, United States Michael Otto, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), United States

> \*Correspondence: Theodore J. Standiford

tstandif@med.umich.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 02 August 2018 Accepted: 03 October 2018 Published: 23 October 2018

#### Citation:

Denstaedt SJ, Singer BH and Standiford TJ (2018) Sepsis and Nosocomial Infection: Patient Characteristics, Mechanisms, and Modulation. Front. Immunol. 9:2446. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02446

34

# EPIDEMIOLOGY OF NOSOCOMIAL INFECTION AFTER SEPSIS

Nosocomial infections after sepsis are common. However, there are wide variations in the reported incidence and associated morbidity. Sepsis-related immunosuppression in the form of depressed cytokine responses and lymphocyte apoptosis has been hypothesized as the main factor contributing to this complication, though evidence supporting causation is found mainly in experimental models of sepsis. A number of small retrospective observational studies have demonstrated increased risk for nosocomial bacterial and fungal infections in patients with sepsis (12, 13). Likewise, reactivation of dormant viral infections has also been well-recognized and occurs concomitantly with other nosocomial infections (14). For the purposes of this review, we will focus on two large observational studies that have examined this topic in detail.

One large retrospective study estimated that 1 in 3 patients with sepsis will develop a nosocomial infection and half of these infections will occur in the lung (15). A larger prospective study found that 1 in 8 patients will develop nosocomial infection and one-quarter of these will be pulmonary infections (16). In both studies, nosocomial infection developed in the late phase of sepsis at a median of 9 days from admission. In the study by Zhao and colleagues, the most common site of secondary infection was pulmonary (52.5%) and there was no association between primary site of infection (e.g., pulmonary, abdominal, skin/soft tissue, urinary) and the development of secondary infection. In the study of van Vught and colleagues, the most common site of secondary infection was cardiovascular (35.3%). The distribution of primary and secondary infection sites in both studies were distinct, suggesting that secondary infection resulted from a new infectious insult rather than inadequately managed primary infection. Patient risk factors for development of nosocomial infection were similar and included older age, higher illness severity score, longer intensive care unit (ICU) length of stay (LOS), and respiratory insufficiency. ICUspecific exposures such as central venous catheterization and endotracheal intubation also increased risk. The most common causative pathogens were bacterial in both studies. As list of typical sites of nosocomial infection and pathogens are shown Table 1.

Nosocomial infection was associated with increased hospital LOS in both studies, but the effect on mortality varied between 15 and 21%. The adjusted absolute increase in mortality specifically attributable to nosocomial infection (population attributable mortality fraction) was only 2% (16). These data suggest that a significant portion of the difference in mortality after sepsis is actually due to competing factors such as higher admission illness severity rather than nosocomial infection. Other studies have made similar observations linking illness severity to outcome, rather than nosocomial infection (17). Furthermore, critically ill patients without sepsis had similarly high rates of nosocomial infection suggesting that ICU exposure, rather than sepsis itself, contributes largely to the development of nosocomial infections. However, infections in patients with sepsis were more commonly due to

opportunistic pathogens (enterococci, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and viruses) implying there still may be a link to sepsis-related immunosuppression.

Both exposures and host susceptibility play a role in development of nosocomial infection. As such, differences among studies in nosocomial infection and mortality rates are likely due to differences in patient selection, ICU type, primary type of sepsis, infectious diagnostics/definitions, infection prevention practices, and geographical location. Regardless of their impact on mortality, nosocomial infections are common and remain a significant factor in morbidity during recovery from sepsis. In addition, they are a burden on the health care system and account for an additional \$20,000–40,000 dollars per episode (18). Whether immunostimulatory therapies will reduce rates of secondary infection in patients with sepsis will be determined in ongoing clinical trials.

## DOES THE BIPHASIC MODEL EXPLAIN THE HETEROGENEITY OF RESPONSE IN SEPSIS?

### The Biphasic Model

The biphasic model of sepsis has been hypothesized for nearly two decades (19). This model depicts an initial hyperinflammatory response followed by prolonged immune paralysis resulting in morbidity and mortality. However, it is well recognized that the septic immune response does not fit a linear timeline of enhanced inflammation with progression to impaired immunity. Evidence to support this comes from multiple studies, including systematic reviews of gene expression microarray data from blood leukocytes over the course of sepsis (20). In this study, no clear immunosuppressive phase was identified. In fact, at any given timepoint pro- and anti-inflammatory genes were expressed simultaneously in the same patient. Similarly, others have demonstrated circulating anti-inflammatory mediators, such as IL-10, in conjunction with prototypical inflammatory cytokines (TNFa, IL-6, IL-8) at the onset of septic shock (21, 22). Sepsis is therefore a heterogeneous continuum of pro and antiinflammatory immune programs occurring concurrently. There is also evidence supporting primed immune programs, discussed later in this section, that may occur during the course of sepsis or recovery. A revised model of the inflammation is therefore necessary to illustrate the simultaneous nature of these processes (Figure 1).

To complicate matters further, cytokines often do not behave in a dichotomized manner (23). A single cytokine may contribute to survival or death depending on the context in which it is examined (23). For example, IL-10 neutralization 24 h after cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) is protective against secondary *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pneumonia (24). However, IL-10 neutralization performed prior to endotoxemia or CLP (25, 26) is lethal. A cytokine may also act pleiotropically depending on the environmental context. For instance, IL-10 has suppressive and priming effects depending on the adherent state of a monocyte (27). Non-adherent monocytes are actually primed by this "anti-inflammatory" cytokine to produce more TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6,
TABLE 1   Primary and secondary sites of infection and etiology of secondary
nosocomial infection in patients presenting with sepsis.

Infection site	Primary	Secondary
Pulmonary	48%	25.4%
Cardiovascular*	7.3%	35.3%
Abdominal	19%	15.9%
Neurological	2.2%	12.7%
Skin/Soft tissue	2.2%	3.9%
Urinary	4.3%	1.2%
Other¥	16.8%	19%

#### TYPICAL NOSOCOMIAL PATHOGENS

#### Gram positive (45.2%)

- Staphylococcus epidermidis (14.7%)
- Enterococcus faecalis (12.0%)
- Enterococcus faecium (6.3%)
- Staphylococcus aureus (6.0%)
- Others (6.2%)

#### Gram negative (26.6%)

- Pseudomonas aeruginosa (9.0%)
- Escherichia coli (3.9%)
- Klebsiella pneumonia (2.7%)
- Stenotrophomonas maltophilia (2.7%)
- Others (8.3%)

#### Fungi (9.6%)

- Candida albicans (2.7%)
- Candida glabrata (1.2%)
- Others (5.7%)
- Viruses (9.9%)
- Herpes simplex (3.9%)
- Cytomegalovirus (2.1%)
- Others (3.9%)

Data from Van vught et al. (16) Table 2 and Supplementary Table 3. \*Cardiovascular site of infection included bacteremia and catheter-related bloodstream infections <sup>¥</sup>Other sites of infection included lung abscess, sinusitis, pharyngitis, tracheobronchitis, endocarditis, mediastinitis, myocarditis, postoperative wound infection, bone and joint infection, oral infection, eye infection, reproductive tract infection.

and IL-1ra upon endotoxin challenge *ex vivo*. The net effect of an inflammatory mediator is therefore highly contextual.

Moreover, the inflammatory response is tissue-specific (28). Differential expression of inflammatory mediators has been noted in mouse tissues in response to systemic endotoxin. IL- $1\alpha$  production is maximally increased in lung, spleen and liver, while IL-6 is increased in the heart, muscle, brain and kidney (29). In a rat model of CLP examining the molecular response to sepsis, though a subset of gene expression was shared, each organ had a distinct molecular fingerprint (30). Tissue-level responses to secondary stimulation may also be discrepant in the septic host. For example, hemorrhage prior to CLP in mice caused primed responses in alveolar macrophages and Kupffer cells, whereas splenic macrophages and peripheral blood mononuclear cells demonstrated decreased cytokine production consistent with endotoxin tolerance (31). The magnitude of response to an inflammatory stimulus is also variable, as in-vivo imaging of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced NF-KB activation has shown heterogenous intracellular activation more prominently in the skin, lungs, spleen, and small intestine as compared to other organs (32). These observations illustrate two important conceptual points: (1) the (tissue) compartmental response to



sepsis and other inflammatory stimuli is highly variable both in quality and magnitude and (2) primed and suppressed responses may be present simultaneously within the same organism following a single exposure. These experimental studies raise important questions that require further investigation in humans.

#### Priming

Primed immune responses in sepsis may contribute to the heterogenous inflammatory response and are not accounted for in the biphasic model. Priming requires an initial exposure to the host that results in an enhanced inflammatory response to secondary stimulation. For example, Kupffer cells are primed to produce more TNFa in response to endotoxin when femur fracture precedes CLP (33). Similarly, hemorrhage prior to CLP enhances production of plasma IL-6 and TNFa (31). Priming during sepsis may be a protective mechanism, as seen in a model of enteral Enterococcus faecalis infection (34). In this study, mice were pre-exposed to mild or severe sterile systemic inflammation using varying degrees of pancreatitis or thermal injury. Mice experiencing mild inflammation were protected from E. faecalis related mortality, this was associated with primed IL-12 production and enhanced phagocytic function in peritoneal macrophage.

Priming may also represent a mechanism of late organ injury in survivors of sepsis. It is well recognized that survivors of sepsis are at increased risk for long-term cognitive impairment (35), new cardiac events (myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular accident, sudden cardiac death) (36), and new renal failure (37). The cause of these complications remains unclear, though persistent inflammation and primed immune responses have been hypothesized to contribute. Murine CLP models have demonstrated enhanced TNF $\alpha$  production in splenic inflammatory monocytes and brain microglia for at least 2 weeks after sepsis (38, 39) suggesting a possible link between

primed cells and long-term organ dysfunction. Meanwhile, persistent inflammation may influence patient outcome, as observations of persistent elevation of IL-6 in patients with pneumonia have been associated with increased risk for longterm mortality due to cardiovascular disease or renal failure (40). Similarly, models of sepsis survival have demonstrated progressive atherosclerosis in the setting of low-grade circulating inflammation (41) and neurocognitive dysfunction associated with persistent neuroinflammation (38, 42) weeks to months after polymicrobial sepsis. In a mouse model of pneumococcal pneumonia, recruitment of inflammatory monocytes to the brain was associated with microglial activation and long-term cognitive impairment (43). When monocyte recruitment was abolished, neuroinflammation was reduced and cognitive impairment was improved. While these initial findings are exciting, the relationship between persistent inflammation, immune priming and long-term organ injury needs to be understood in more detail.

There is strong experimental evidence supporting the conclusion that the inflammatory response of sepsis is heterogeneous at a molecular, cellular, tissue compartment, and individual level. Though further studies are needed in human sepsis, the possibility of "within patient" compartment

specific immune heterogeneity warrants consideration. A new conceptual model of the patient experiencing sepsis is required (Figure 2), as one may have reduced immune response on peripheral blood assays, yet in other compartments the net immune response may be mixed or primed. With the introduction of immune stimulating therapies, one must consider that disproportionately primed organs may be harmed by this therapy. Decisions on how to modulate the immune response may be informed by ex vivo stimulation assays, but consideration should be taken to survey for multiple cellular programs in multiple tissue compartments. In addition, these programs are not limited to the acute phase of sepsis, as immune reprogramming influences the entire clinical course including recovery (Figure 3). Pre-sepsis immune status is likely to be an important determinant of which predominant cellular program manifests during acute illness. Post-sepsis immune status may also be impacted by the preceding phases of illness. Likewise, chronic comorbidities may influence the magnitude and evolution of both responses. Despite the evidence supporting sepsis-related immunosuppression in this review, there are large pieces of the immune response to sepsis that remain a mystery and our understanding of sepsis heterogeneity is only in its infancy.



FIGURE 2 | Conceptual model of the compartmentalization and heterogeneity of sepsis. This conceptual model is derived from studies in experimental sepsis that have demonstrated tissue-specific inflammatory responses. In this model, acute sepsis in one compartment (abdomen) leads to specific and dynamic changes in proximal (blood) and distal (lungs) compartments. Assessment of the immune response by *ex vivo* stimulation assays (second hit) may then reveal the predominant cellular program. In this case, each compartment responds differently to secondary stimulation based on the severity and composition of the preceding inflammatory insult.



# THE IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE CELLULAR PROGRAM OF SEPSIS

Critically ill patients with sepsis, trauma, and burns experience similar immunosuppressive phenotypes. Broadly, these include enhanced cellular apoptosis, suppressed cytokine production, decreased major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II surface markers, reduced antigen presentation, anergy, and diminished cytotoxic effector cell function. Collectively, these septic leukocyte responses are known as the immunoparalysis or immune exhaustion. While these phenotypes may be associated with increased risk of nosocomial infections and death, they are not inclusive of broader immune changes in sepsis such as potentially primed cells. Moreover, though an exhausted cell may down-regulate cytokine responses, other cellular functions may be simultaneously upregulated (44, 45). As such, the term "cellular reprogramming" is more appropriate to describe general immunophenotypic changes occurring during sepsis. Several examples of immunosuppressive cellular program are described below and are summarized in Figure 4.

# **Cellular Apoptosis**

Apoptosis of T and B lymphocytes has been demonstrated in models of sepsis (46), post-mortem analysis of septic patients (47–49), and in the circulation of patients with septic shock (50).

Resultant lymphopenia is associated with increased mortality and risk of nosocomial infection (50, 51) and occurs commonly in patients with persistent critical illness (52). Enhanced apoptosis also occurs in myeloid and epithelial cells including blood monocytes (53, 54), dendritic cells (55), intestinal (48) and pulmonary epithelial cells (56), but not neutrophils (57). Apoptosis of monocytes may be a protective mechanism, as acute apoptosis of these cells has been associated with improved mortality (54). Broad reversal of lymphocyte apoptosis through caspase inhibition or over-expression of the antiapoptotic Bcell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) protein in experimental sepsis has subsequently been shown to improve mortality (58, 59). As such, improving sepsis-induced lymphocyte apoptosis and lymphopenia has been a primary target for immunomodulation.

# Suppressed Cytokine Release

Immunodepression, immune tolerance, and immunoparalysis are all terms used to describe the decreased production of various cytokines, including TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IFN $\gamma$ , after *ex vivo* stimulation of leukocytes with endotoxin or other pattern recognition receptor (PRR) agonists. This phenotype in sepsis is similar to the *in vitro* phenomenon of endotoxin tolerance, whereby stimulating with high concentration endotoxin results in decreased responses upon secondary stimulation. In sepsis, decreased cytokine production in response to endotoxin stimulation has been demonstrated in whole blood (60),



FIGURE 4 | Cellular and molecular mechanisms of immune reprogramming in sepsis. TLR, toll-like receptor; miRNA, microRNA; PAMP, pathogen associated molecular pattern; DAMP, damage associated molecular pattern; PRR, pathogen recognition receptor; MDSC, myeloid derived suppressor cell; T-reg, regulator T-cell; mHLA-DR, monocyte Human Leukocyte Antigen-DR.

peripheral blood mononuclear cells (61), adherent monocytes (11), neutrophils (62), and NK cells (63). This phenotype occurs early in the course of sepsis and resolves in survivors. However, failure to resolve immune tolerance is associated with increased mortality (11), and expression of endotoxintolerant gene signature has been associated with sepsis induced organ failure (64). Though immune tolerance is associated with increased risk of nosocomial infection in trauma patients (65), the association in sepsis is less clear (66, 67).

# Alterations in HLA-DR Expression and Other Surface Markers

Changes in cellular surface markers occurs during sepsis, with reduced expression of MHC class II molecules on monocytes being the most well studied. Low monocyte human leukocyte antigen (mHLA)-DR correlates with endotoxin tolerance and suppression of antigen-specific T cell responses (68). Early studies found increased rates of sepsis in trauma patients with low mHLA-DR expression (69). Subsequently, low mHLA-DR

on admission for sepsis or septic shock has been associated with increased mortality (70, 71) and nosocomial infections (72). Failure to restore mHLA-DR expression over the course of illness is also associated with worse outcome in patients with severe sepsis (66). While highly predictive of mortality and nosocomial infection, mHLA-DR expression dynamics are contextual and dependent on the infectious agent (73) with Gram-positive infections showing lower monocytic mHLA-DR expression than Gram-negative bloodstream infections. The reliability of mHLA-DR to predict outcome and its dynamics of expression are currently under investigation as part of two large observational cohort studies (74, 75). Neutrophil surface markers are also altered, including CD88 expression which is associated with reduced phagocytic function and increased risk for nosocomial infection (76). Importantly, the presence of multiple surface marker abnormalities (low mHLA-DR, low neutrophil CD88 and increased T regulatory cell markers) was most associated with nosocomial infection than any single marker alone (77).

# **Gene Expression Endotypes**

Functional assays and cell surface marker assessments remain the standard method to assess immunosuppression in sepsis. However, whole-genome expression endotypes correlating with survival of sepsis have been discovered using advanced statistical techniques (78, 79). Davenport et al. found increased 14-day mortality and illness severity associated with a gene expression endotype that was characterized by functional changes in T cell activation, apoptosis, endotoxin tolerance, and down-regulation of HLA class II molecules. Variation in genomic DNA sequence was also associated with specific gene expression patterns, supporting a genetic mechanism for individual heterogeneity. In a follow-up study of patients with community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) and fecal peritonitis (FP), the genomic response to sepsis was largely similar between types of infection with only a modest number of genes differentially expressed between CAP and FP (80). Serial sampling over the course of sepsis demonstrated that patients may switch between the defined endotypes during the course of disease. These studies confirm what is known about clinical sepsis, that phenotype is both heterogenous and dynamic. Classification of patient immune responses quickly and dynamically remains a priority for precision medicine in sepsis. In addition, while mixed leukocytes in whole blood have been reliably used for gene expression analysis, cell-type specific gene expression in sepsis may reveal additional endotypes and help us understand therapies that may reliably be used to modify them.

# Lung-Specific Changes in Immunity

The lung is uniquely and continuously exposed to the external environment and acts as a first line of defense against environmental pathogens, especially in critically ill patients with respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation. Consequently, the lung is a primary site for nosocomial infection in patients with sepsis. The alveolar macrophage (AM) represents the predominant immune effector cell in the alveolus. Similar to the dysfunction of blood monocytes, decreased TNF $\alpha$  production in AM of mice and humans with sepsis has been

recognized for quite some time (81). In polymicrobial sepsis models, AM display both depressed cytokine responses to endotoxin challenge and decreased phagocytic capacity (82). Neutrophil recruitment to the alveolus is decreased (83) and recruited neutrophil ROS production is depressed (84). In an Escherichia coli pneumonia model, lung parenchymal dendritic cells demonstrated decreased antigen presenting capacity and reduced immunostimulatory responses during recovery from sepsis (85). Moreover, these depressed responses were specific to the pulmonary compartment and were mediated by local inflammatory factors released upon organ injury. Disruption of the epithelial barrier leads to alveolus permeability, leak, and decreased mucocilliary clearance all of which may predispose to development of nosocomial infection (86). General loss of pulmonary epithelial barrier function is noted with pulmonary epithelial cell apoptosis in polymicrobial sepsis models (87) and in patients with acute lung injury due to sepsis (56).

# Anergy and Cytotoxicity

Anergy due to a failure of T cell proliferation or elaboration of cytokines in response to specific antigens has also been described. An increased risk of post-operative sepsis and death was initially described in patients with anergy to delayed-type hypersensitivity skin testing (88). Similarly, patients with lethal post-operative peritonitis had reduced T cell proliferation and secretion of both IL-2 and TNFa in response to CD3/CD28 cross-linking (89). In sepsis models, development of anergy is mediated via a population of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) expressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (90). In humans, CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD25<sup>+</sup>, CD127<sup>lo</sup> regulatory T cells (Treg) have been associated with reduced mitogen responses and development of anergy (91). Depressed cytotoxic responses have been reported in various cell types. Impaired NK cell function with reduced IFNy secretion and cytotoxicity has been reported in patients with sepsis (92), while others have found normal NK cytotoxic function in severe sepsis (93).

# MECHANISMS OF ALTERED IMMUNITY

There are many potential mechanisms for altered immunity, both suppressed and primed, in patients with sepsis. Here we highlight several important mechanisms with a primary focus on mechanisms of immunosuppression (**Figure 4**).

# Anti-inflammatory Cytokines and Soluble Receptors

Three decades of research examining the cytokine response in sepsis is too broad a topic to review here and extensive reviews have already been published on the subject (21). Several cytokines and anti-inflammatory mediators are associated with worse outcomes in septic patients. IL-10 suppresses the proinflammatory immune response through deactivating innate immune cells (94, 95). IL-10 is elevated early in the course of sepsis (96) and persistent elevations increase risk of death (97). As discussed previously, this cytokine has pleiotropic roles in experimental models of sepsis, though it may have a particular importance in sepsis-induced impairment of lung immunity (24). IL-10 is actively secreted by multiple cell types that are expanded in septic patients including Treg and myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC), which are discussed in more detail below. Though IL-10 has direct immunosuppressive effects, its association with development of nosocomial infection is less straight forward (96). Enhanced IL-10 signaling has been associated with the development of nosocomial infection in at least one study (98).

Soluble receptors for cytokines are additional antiinflammatory mediators that have been long recognized in sepsis. These molecules are shed cell-surface receptors that neutralize the activity of pro-inflammatory cytokines and are largely viewed as a protective mechanism. TNF soluble receptors I and II (sTNFR-I, sTNFR-II) levels are increased in septic patients and are associated with mortality (97, 99, 100). Though there is minimal data linking sTNFR to nosocomial infections in sepsis, they are chronically elevated in the elderly and therefore elevated levels may represent a predisposition to infection (101).

IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) is a naturally occurring antagonist to IL-1. IL-1ra levels are significantly elevated in patients with septic shock (97, 102) and are associated with increased mortality (103). Recent retrospective analysis of the IL-1 pathway in a previously completed trial of anti-IL1 therapy in sepsis showed a mortality benefit of anti-IL1 antibody administration in patients with the highest levels of circulating IL-1ra (104). These data suggest that the levels of soluble receptors and receptor antagonists may be markers of mortality by indicating the magnitude of the pro-inflammatory response. In addition, recent data have suggested a link between an initial dysregulated hyperinflammation and subsequent development of nosocomial infection (98). Gene expression analysis of leukocytes from patients developing nosocomial infection has demonstrated overactivation of IL-1 signaling (16) supporting a potential relationship between elevation of IL-1ra and nosocomial infection in sepsis.

# Pathogen Recognition Receptor Signaling Inhibitors

The pro-inflammatory host response to microbial mediators occurs through PRRs including the Toll-like receptor (TLR) family. Negative regulators of TLR signaling are induced during sepsis. These regulators selectively inhibit the downstream inflammatory response via interactions with one or multiple TLR pathways. Single immunoglobulin IL-1R-related protein (SIGIRR) interferes with binding of IL-1 and LPS extracellularly and interferes with complexing of IRAK-1 and TRAF-6 intracellularly, resulting in profound effects on NF-KB and MAPK-dependent signaling (105). MyD88 short (MyD88s) splice variant is upregulated in response to LPS and is defective in its ability to phosphorylate IRAK resulting in reduced NF-KB activation (106). Both SIGIRR and MyD88s expression were found to be elevated in septic monocytes and associated with depressed cytokine responses (107). Interleukin-1 receptor associated kinase-M (IRAK-M, also known as IRAK-3) negatively regulates TLR signaling through inhibiting the dissociation of IRAK-1 from the Toll-IL-1 signaling domain. In experimental sepsis, IRAK-M is upregulated in alveolar macrophages and mediates supressed cytokine responses and impaired clearance of P. aeruginosa (108). IRAK-M is also elevated in monocytes from septic patients (109). MicroRNAs (miRNA) are small non-coding RNA and have been found to exert negative regulatory effects on TLR signaling. Multiple miRNAs are dysregulated in sepsis. In particular, elevated circulating levels of miRNA 155 have been associated with poor outcome and expansion of regulatory T cells in patients with sepsis (110) indicating a possible link to sepsis immunosuppression and nosocomial infection.

# **Pathogen Associated Molecular Patterns**

Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are exogenous microbial factors derived from infectious organisms that activate PRRs. In sepsis, PAMPs, such as cell wall and intracellular microbial components, are the primary factors initiating the inflammatory response. PAMPs are therefore critical to the reprogramming of immune cells in sepsis, this reprogramming is likely dependent on the specific antigen (PAMP) and receptor (PRR) combinations that are engaged on a particular cell. For example, in vitro stimulation of human monocytes with various PAMPs has demonstrated that the fungal cell wall component β-glucan induces primed (trained) responses through nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs) (111). In contrast, engagement of PAMP-TLR combinations, such as LPS with its receptor Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), induced predominantly tolerant programs with depressed cytokine production. Interestingly, the TLR ligands administered at low dose caused primed responses while inducing tolerance at higher doses, suggesting the presence of an inflammatory rheostat guiding secondary responses. In the context of sepsis, pathogen specific ligands such as LPS (Gram-negative organism) or lipotechoic acid (Gram-positive organism) and endogenous PRR ligands (discussed in the next section) form a complex network of PRR signaling that is likely to contribute to the inflammatory cellular program. In addition to exposure to infectious pathogens, sepsis and critical illness are associated with collapse of the host microbial community, a term known as dysbiosis. This occurs through a combination of ecological factors that are drastically altered in the critically ill (112). While there is no direct evidence linking the dysbiosis that occurs in septic patients to subsequent nosocomial infection, population level studies have demonstrated an increased risk of severe sepsis within 90 days following hospitalizations known to result in dysbiosis (113). A second study demonstrated an increased risk of severe sepsis and septic shock in the 90 days following a hospitalrelated antibiotic exposure (114). These studies suggest PAMP-PRR interactions via primary infection or continued dysbiosis may promote changes in the immune program that predispose critically ill patients to secondary infection and sepsis, although further investigation is required to establish causal relationships.

# **Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns**

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) are endogenous pattern recognition receptor agonists that initiate inflammatory responses but have distinct biological roles in non-inflammatory states. These proteins are released upon host injury, either passively from necrotic cells or actively secreted into the extracellular space (115). DAMPs are released during injured states, including sepsis, trauma, and burns. As such, DAMPs

are appealing candidates as mediators of altered immune programs observed in these patients. Several DAMPs have been shown to correlate with sepsis morbidity and mortality including S100A8/A9, high-mobility group box-1 (HMGB1), mitochondrial DNA, nuclear DNA, histones and heat shock proteins (HSP) (115). HMGB1 and S100A8/A9 are acutely elevated in patients presenting with sepsis and are associated with worse outcome (116, 117). Their functions are pleiotropic, including induction of immunosuppressive MDSC expansion and priming of immune cells in sepsis models (38, 39, 118). HMGB1 also stimulates the expansion of Treg in chronic inflammatory diseases (119). HSPs are intracellular molecular chaperone proteins that can have anti-inflammatory properties. Several HSPs (HSP27, 60, 70, 90) are increased in patients with sepsis and are associated with enhanced neutrophil oxidative activity and reduced apoptosis (120). HSP70 levels increase with the degree of hyperinflammatory response and are associated with increased risk of mortality in patients with sepsis (121, 122). HSP70 also promotes adaptive immune dysfunction through enhanced Treg suppressor activities and secretion of antiinflammatory cytokines (123). In many of the studies referenced elevated levels of certain DAMPs persist in the circulation of survivors for many days, indicating a potential for ongoing modulation of the immune system after acute sepsis has resolved.

### **Expansion of Regulatory T Cells**

Cellular subsets that have roles in homeostasis are expanded during sepsis and may contribute to nosocomial infection susceptibility. Treg are a T cell population that are able to negatively regulate the adaptive and innate immune response (124). There are several subsets of Treg which can be identified by cell surface markers. The CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD25<sup>+</sup>, CD127<sup>lo</sup> subset is one of several studied in sepsis. These cells are expanded in patients with sepsis (125) and contribute to lymphocyte anergy in septic shock patients (91). Higher Treg numbers are also associated with the development of nosocomial infections in critically ill patients with and without sepsis (77). In sepsis models, Treg expansion results in systemic immunosuppression potentiating tumor growth (126). Data is conflicting though as models of sepsis have demonstrated that antibody mediated depletion of Treg does not improve mortality (127) and adoptive transfer of CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> Treg early in the course of sepsis actually improves bacterial clearance and mortality (128). Similarly, in one human study, increased Treg in patients with severe sepsis was associated with improved survival, though this finding may have been driven by higher total T cell counts in these patients (129). Further investigation such as depletion or inhibiting expansion of Treg in humans is required to establish a detrimental role for Treg in patients with sepsis.

TABLE 2 | Current clinical evidence for immunostimulation in patients with sepsis.

Therapy	Goal of therapy	Human Evidence	References
G-CSF/ GM-CSF	<ul> <li>Accelerate innate immune cell production</li> <li>Restore mHLA-DR expression and cytokine production</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Enhanced resolution of infection<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Decreased length of ICU stay<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Minimal adverse events<sup>1</sup></li> <li>May be delivered directly to lung<sup>2</sup></li> <li>Pending results from phase III clinical trial<sup>3</sup></li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Bo et al. (157)</li> <li>Scott et al. (158)</li> <li>NCT02361528</li> </ol>
IFNγ	<ul> <li>Increase phagocytic capacity</li> <li>Restore mHLA-DR expression and cytokine production</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Enhanced resolution of bacterial and fungal infection (case series)<sup>1,2</sup></li> <li>Pending results from phase IIIb trial<sup>3</sup></li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Nalos et al. (159)</li> <li>Delsing et al. (160)</li> <li>NCT01649921</li> </ol>
IL-7	<ul> <li>Accelerate lymphocyte production</li> <li>Decrease lymphocyte apoptosis</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Well tolerated in phase Ilb trial<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Increased CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Increased T cell activation and trafficking<sup>1</sup></li> </ul>	1. Francois et al. (161)
Anti-PD-1/ PD-L1	<ul> <li>Reverse innate and adaptive immune exhaustion</li> <li>Restore mHLA-DR expression and cytokine production</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Well tolerated in patients with sepsis and septic shock<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Trend toward sustained restoration of mHLA-DR<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Pending results from phase lb trial<sup>2</sup></li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Hotchkiss et al. (162)</li> <li>NCT02960854</li> </ol>
Τα1	Restore mHLA-DR expression	<ul> <li>No adverse events reported in single RCT<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Trend toward improved 28-day mortality<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Ongoing phase III clinical trial<sup>2</sup></li> </ul>	1. Wu et al. (163) 2. NCT02883595
MSC	<ul><li>Reduce inflammatory response</li><li>Decrease lymphocyte apoptosis</li><li>Increase phagocytic capacity</li></ul>	<ul> <li>No adverse events reported in a phase I clinical trial<sup>1</sup></li> <li>Ongoing phase II clinical trial<sup>2</sup></li> </ul>	<ol> <li>McIntyre et al. (164)</li> <li>NCT02883803</li> </ol>

Tα1, Thymosin alpha 1; G-CSF, granulocyte colony stimulating factor; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage stimulating factor; IFNγ, interferon gamma; MSC, mesynchymal stem cell; NCT, clinicaltrials.gov identifier.

# **Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells**

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) are a heterogenous group of immature innate immune cells that exert predominantly suppressive effects. Their expansion is a component of the emergency myelopoietic response to injury, infection and malignancy (130). This population consists of a mix of immature granulocytes, monocytes, and dendritic cells with the ability to suppress T cell function through enhanced arginase, nitric oxide synthase, and reactive oxygen species activity (131). MDSCs can produce a number of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines upon secondary stimulation, including IL-10 (132). As such, they represent important effector cells in sepsis recovery. Their release is driven mainly by STAT-3 signaling through inflammatory mediators including IL-6 and colony stimulating factors. Activated STAT-3 also induces release of S100A8/9 which both prevents maturation of MDSCs and promotes additional expansion in a feed forward loop (118, 133). In mouse models of sepsis, MDSCs exert pleiotropic effects, with protective or detrimental properties depending on phase of sepsis in which they are examined (134, 135). MDSCs are expanded acutely in patients with sepsis (136, 137) and are associated with the development of nosocomial infection (138). Their persistence in severe sepsis and septic shock is also associated with increased risk for persistent critical illness and mortality (139).

# **Co-inhibitory Molecules**

Co-inhibitory molecules of the B7-CD28 family function to maintain homeostasis in the host by negatively regulating the immune response (140). In sepsis, these molecules have been postulated to be responsible for immune exhaustion. Postmortem studies of patients dving of sepsis has demonstrated elevations in co-inhibitory receptors PD-1 and CTLA-4 in splenic T cells, while the ligand PD-L1 was elevated in antigen presenting cells and tissue macrophages (47). T cells and dendritic cells isolated from the lung also expressed increased PD-1 and PD-L1, respectively. Circulating T cells in patients with severe sepsis demonstrated non-statistically significant elevations in PD-1, with a decrease in CTLA-4 (61). Others demonstrated marked elevation in T cell PD-1 and monocyte PD-L1 in septic shock. In vitro treatment with anti-PD1 antibody resulted in restoration of monocyte proinflammatory responses and decreased apoptosis of T cells (141). Furthermore, higher monocyte PD-L1 has been associated with mortality, while higher PD-1 and PD-L2 are associated with increased risk of nosocomial infection (142). Others have shown that monocyte PD-L1, and not T cell PD1, expression on day 3-4 of septic shock is an independent predictor of death (143). In mice, neutralization of PD-1 or PD-L1 24 h after sepsis reduced apoptosis of lymphocytes and improved survival (144, 145). In leukocytes isolated from septic patients, in vitro blockade of PD1 and PDL1 reverses T cell exhaustion and restores neutrophil and monocyte phagocytic function (146, 147).

# **Epigenetic Reprogramming**

Epigenetic mechanisms of immune dysfunction have also been proposed. Histone modification at inflammatory loci alters the accessibility of DNA to transcription factors and therefore gene transcription. Alterations in chromatin structure are determined by gene activating and repressing histone marks, which are in turn regulated by chromatin modifying enzymes (CME) (148). Specific changes in chromatin are associated with exposure to inflammatory stimuli (149). Not surprisingly, chromatin remodeling occurs in the monocytes of septic patients (150). In models of sepsis survival, dendritic cell cytokine responses were suppressed for up to 6 weeks and were associated with alterations in histone H3 lysine-4 (H3K4) and histone H3 lysine-27 (H3K27) methylation at IL-12 promoter regions. These changes were also mediated by interactions with histone methyltransferases (151). We have demonstrated an IRAK-M mediated reduction in histone H4 acetylation and H3K4 methylation (H3K4me) in immune tolerant AM 24 h after induction of sepsis (152). These studies provide compelling evidence for epigenetic changes in sepsis leading to immunosuppressive phenotypes in both the acute and recovery phases of illness. As such dynamic changes in histones and their CMEs have high potential for use as prognostic markers and therapeutic targets. Epigenetic reprogramming of inflammatory cells may also result in primed phenotypes. This concept is also known as "trained immunity" whereby exposure to specific PAMPs (β-glucan, BCG) leads to specific modifications in chromatin structure and enhanced inflammatory responses to secondary stimulation (153, 154). These modifications include genome wide changes in H3K4me3, H3K4me1, and H3K27 acetylation. Our understanding of trained immunity and its potential implications in the pathophysiology of sepsis-related immune priming remains limited.

# IMMUNOSTIMULATION

Though the immune response to sepsis is dynamic and contextual, there is a large body of evidence supporting an association between immunosuppressive cellular programs and poor outcomes in patients with sepsis. We know that supportive care is inadequate in addressing the complex immunology of sepsis. As such, immunostimulatory therapies have been evaluated to improve sepsis outcomes. Precision approaches in sepsis through immunomodulation require the development of immune monitoring strategies and suitable immunomodulating agents that can be deployed quickly and dynamically at the bedside. The first step is accurately predicting which patients are at risk for secondary infection and mortality related to immune exhaustion. Large observational studies aiming to predict poor outcomes through cellular phenotyping and cell surface marker expression are already underway (74, 75). Given the heterogenous and rapidly evolving immune programs occurring during sepsis, safety and tolerability of immune therapies with a focus on monitoring for hyperinflammatory consequences is essential. Moreover, assessment of long-term outcomes will be important. In addition, recent in vitro studies of PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in mononuclear cells from septic patients has demonstrated significant variability in response to immunostimulation (146, 147). Non-response of mononuculear cells to in vitro immunostimulation was associated with increased mortality (155). As such, response rates and mechanisms of response will also need to be examined in further detail, similar to the current practices of immune modulation in oncology (156).

There are a number of ongoing trials of immunostimulation in sepsis (**Table 2**).

### **Immunostimulatory Cytokines**

Early clinical trials attempting to simulation the immune system used granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) to enhance phagocyte production, function and improve bacterial clearance. A meta-analysis of trials performed between 1998 and 2011 failed to find a mortality benefit of these therapies, though there was some improvement in clinical endpoints such as ICU LOS (157). IFN $\gamma$  has similarly been used to stimulate the innate immune response in patients with bacteremia and chronic fungal infections (159, 160). Both are being used in patients with sepsis as part of ongoing phase III clinical trials.

IL-7 is potent inducer of the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2 that has the ability to both stimulate lymphocyte production and reduce apoptosis. A recent multicenter, randomized and controlled phase IIb trial examined IL-7 administration in patients with septic shock and lymphopenia (161). Patients received low or high dosing regimens of IL-7 for a total of 4 weeks or until discharge. These investigators found an increase in CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, enhanced T cell activation and potentially T cell trafficking as compared to placebo. In this small trial, there was no difference in mortality or rate of nosocomial infection. The drug was well tolerated with minimal adverse events. Cytokine profiles were measured serially over the course of IL-7 administration and there were no signs of patients developing cytokine storm. Also, the effect of enhanced lymphocyte production persisted for weeks following treatment. These promising results will require confirmation in larger studies to determine if therapy is efficacious and without longterm consequences.

# **Checkpoint Inhibition**

Checkpoint inhibitors such as anti-PD1 and anti-PD-L1, improve monocyte and lymphocyte function and reduce apoptosis through disruption of negative cell-cell interactions. These inhibitors have revolutionized management of malignancy and are now first line therapy for many types of cancer (165). However, immune related adverse events (iRAE) with checkpoint inhibition are not infrequent, with rates of grade  $\geq$ 3 toxicity approaching 7% (166). Early human studies have demonstrated feasibility and reversal of sepsis induced immunosuppression with *in vitro* blockade (146, 147). A phase I clinical trial of the novel PD-L1 inhibitor, BMS-936559, has been completed (162). A phase I clinical trial of PD-1 inhibitor, Nivolumab, is currently ongoing (NCT02960854).

### **Endogenous Immunostimulatory Proteins**

Thymosin alpha 1 ( $T\alpha 1$ ) is an endogenous thymic peptide that regulates the innate and adaptive immune system. Initial studies in sepsis have shown improvement in mHLA-DR (163). Continued study of this agent is ongoing in a phase III clinical trial (NCT02883595).

# **Cellular Therapies**

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) reduce mortality and organ dysfunction in models of sepsis through modulation of the inflammatory cascade, pathogen clearance and promotion of tissue repair (167). Following completion of a phase I clinical trial in septic shock, administration of MSCs appears to be safe (164). Further research is ongoing in a phase II clinical trial (NCT02883803).

# CONCLUSIONS

The clinical phases of sepsis are associated with specific and dynamic changes in the immune programming of multiple cell types. Suppressed inflammatory responses to stimulation have been demonstrated extensively in patients with sepsis, however the dynamics, pathogen, and compartmental specificity of these findings requires additional investigation. Primed immune responses have also been demonstrated in animal models of sepsis survival. This cellular program has not been examined extensively in humans and its contributions to sepsis related morbidity and mortality remains unknown. Molecular mechanisms of immune reprogramming in sepsis still require further investigation. In particular the complexities of PAMP/DAMP-PRR interactions, the role of MDSC and T-reg, and alterations in the epigenome are prime targets for evaluation.

Patients at higher risk for nosocomial infection and mortality frequently experience an immunosuppressed state characterized by defects in immune tolerance, exhaustion, and apoptosis. While reversal of these immunosuppressive phenotypes has improved outcomes in animal models, a direct causal relationship between sepsis-related immunosuppression and nosocomial infection/death has not vet been established in humans. Furthermore, rates of nosocomial infection and its attributable mortality in sepsis may not be as high as previously estimated, suggesting that reasons why septic patients die despite best supportive care still need to be explored. Regardless, nosocomial infections are common and carry such significant morbidity that sepsis patients may benefit from immunostimulatory therapies. Early stage trials of immune therapy have shown reversal of leukocyte dysfunction and good safety profiles, both promising for the potential future of these therapies. However, as sepsis has long-term consequences that are still not well understood and immune therapies may have lasting effects, long-term outcomes of patients receiving immunostimulatory therapy require attention.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grants T32HL00774921 (to SD), K08NS101054 (to BS), R01HL123515 (to TS).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Michigan Interdisciplinary Critical Care Research Workgroup for their continued support. SMART Servier

## REFERENCES

- 1. Abraham E, Wunderink R, Silverman H, Perl TM, Nasraway S, Levy H, et al. Efficacy and safety of monoclonal antibody to human tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  in patients with sepsis syndrome. A randomized, controlled, doubleblind, multicenter clinical trial JAMA. *J Am Med Assoc.* (1995) 273:934–41. doi: 10.1001/jama.273.12.934
- Dhainaut JF, Tenaillon A, Le Tulzo Y, Schlemmer B, Solet JP, Wolff M, et al. Platelet-activating factor receptor antagonist BN 52021 in the treatment of severe sepsis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter clinical trial. BN 52021 Sepsis Study Group. *Crit. Care Med.* (1994) 22:1720–8.
- Fisher CJ, Dhainaut JF, Opal SM, Pribble JP, Balk RA, Slotman GJ, et al. Recombinant human interleukin 1 receptor antagonist in the treatment of patients with sepsis syndrome. Results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Phase III rhIL-1ra Sepsis Syndrome Study Group. *JAMA* (1994) 271:1836–43. doi: 10.1001/jama.1994.03510470040032
- Bone RC. Sir Isaac Newton, sepsis, SIRS, and CARS. Crit Care Med. (1996) 24:1125–6. doi: 10.1097/00003246-199607000-00010
- Fleischmann C, Scherag A, Adhikari NKJ, Hartog CS, Tsaganos T, Schlattmann P, et al. Assessment of global incidence and mortality of hospital-treated sepsis current estimates and limitations. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 193:259–72. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201504-0781OC
- Rhee C, Dantes R, Epstein L, Murphy DJ, Seymour CW, Iwashyna TJ, et al. Incidence and trends of sepsis in US hospitals using clinical vs claims data, 2009-2014. *JAMA - J Am Med Assoc.* (2017) 318:1241–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.13836
- Stevenson EK, Rubenstein AR, Radin GT, Wiener RS, Walkey AJ. Two decades of mortality trends among patients with severe sepsis: a comparative meta-analysis\*. *Crit Care Med.* (2014) 42:625–31. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000026
- Faist E, Kupper TS, Baker CC, Chaudry IH, Dwyer J, Baue AE. Depression of cellular immunity after major injury. Its association with posttraumatic complications and its reversal with immunomodulation. *Arch. Surg.* (1986) 121:1000–5.
- Richardson JD, DeCamp MM, Garrison RN, Fry DE. Pulmonary infection complicating intra-abdominal sepsis: clinical and experimental observations. *Ann. Surg.* (1982) 195:732–8.
- Stephan RN, Kupper TS, Geha AS, Baue AE, Chaudry IH. Hemorrhage without tissue trauma produces immunosuppression and enhances susceptibility to sepsis. *Arch. Surg.* (1987) 122:62–8.
- Munoz C, Carlet J, Fitting C, Misset B, Blériot JP, Cavaillon JM. Dysregulation of in vitro cytokine production by monocytes during sepsis. *J Clin Invest.* (1991) 88:1747–54. doi: 10.1172/JCI115493
- Landelle C, Lepape A, Français A, Tognet E, Thizy H, Voirin N, et al. Nosocomial infection after septic shock among intensive care unit patients. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* (2008) 29:1054–65. doi: 10.1086/ 591859
- Otto GP, Sossdorf M, Claus RA, Rödel J, Menge K, Reinhart K, et al. The late phase of sepsis is characterized by an increased microbiological burden and death rate. *Crit Care* (2011) 15:R183. doi: 10.1186/cc10332
- Walton AH, Muenzer JT, Rasche D, Boomer JS, Sato B, Brownstein BH, et al. Reactivation of multiple viruses in patients with sepsis. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e98819. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098819
- Zhao G, Li D, Zhao Q, Song J, Chen X, Hong G, et al. Incidence, risk factors and impact on outcomes of secondary infection in patients with septic shock: an 8-year retrospective study. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:38361. doi: 10.1038/srep38361
- 16. van Vught LA, Klein Klouwenberg PMC, Spitoni C, Scicluna BP, Wiewel MA, Horn J, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and attributable mortality of secondary

medical art (smart.servier.com) was used with permission through the creative commons license in **Figures 2**, **4**, significant editing was performed on images used in **Figure 4**.

infections in the intensive care unit after admission for sepsis. Jama (2016) 315:1469. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.2691

- Bonten MJ, Froon AH, Gaillard CA, Greve JW, de Leeuw PW, Drent M, et al. The systemic inflammatory response in the development of ventilatorassociated pneumonia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1997) 156:1105–13. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.156.4.9610002
- Schmier JK, Hulme-Lowe CK, Semenova S, Klenk JA, DeLeo PC, Sedlak R, et al. Estimated hospital costs associated with preventable health careassociated infections if health care antiseptic products were unavailable. *Clinicoecon Outcomes Res.* (2016) 8:197–205. doi: 10.2147/CEOR.S1 02505
- Hotchkiss RS, Karl IE. The pathophysiology and treatment of sepsis. N Engl J Med. (2003) 348:138–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra021333
- Tang BM, Huang SJ, McLean AS. Genome-wide transcription profiling of human sepsis: a systematic review. *Crit Care* (2010) 14:R237. doi: 10.1186/cc9392
- Cavaillon JM, Adib-Conquy M, Fitting C, Adrie C, Payen D. Cytokine cascade in sepsis. Scand J Infect Dis. (2003) 35:535–44. doi: 10.1080/00365540310015935
- 22. Tamayo E, Fernández A, Almansa R, Carrasco E, Heredia M, Lajo C, et al. Pro- and anti-inflammatory responses are regulated simultaneously from the first moments of septic shock. *Eur Cytokine Netw.* (2011) 22:82–7. doi: 10.1684/ecn.2011.0281
- Cavaillon JM. Pro- versus anti-inflammatory cytokines: myth or reality. *Cell.* Mol. Biol. (2001) 47:695–702.
- Steinhauser ML, Hogaboam CM, Kunkel SL, Lukacs NW, Strieter RM, and Standiford TJ. IL-10 is a major mediator of sepsis-induced impairment in lung antibacterial host defense. J. Immunol. (1999) 162:392–9
- Standiford TJ, Strieter RM, Lukacs NW, Kunkel SL. Neutralization of IL-10 increases lethality in endotoxemia. Cooperative effects of macrophage inflammatory protein-2 and tumor necrosis factor. *J. Immunol.* (1995) 155:2222–9.
- Walley KR, Lukacs NW, Standiford TJ, Strieter RM, Kunkel SL. Balance of inflammatory cytokines related to severity and mortality of murine sepsis. *Infect. Immun.* (1996) 64:4733–8.
- Adib-Conquy M, Petit AF, Marie C, Fitting C, Cavaillon JM. Paradoxical priming effects of IL-10 on cytokine production. *Int Immunol.* (1999) 11:689–98. doi: 10.1093/intimm/11.5.689
- Cavaillon J-M, Annane D. Compartmentalization of the inflammatory response in sepsis and SIRS. J Endotoxin Res. (2006) 12:151–70. doi: 10.1179/096805106X102246
- Hacham M, Cristal N, White RM, Segal S, Apte RN. Complementary organ expression of IL-1 vs. IL-6 and CSF-1 activities in normal and LPS-injected mice. *Cytokine* (1996) 8:21–31. doi: 10.1006/cyto.1995.0004
- Chinnaiyan AM, Huber-Lang M, Kumar-Sinha C, Barrette TR, Shankar-Sinha S, Sarma VJ, et al. Molecular signatures of sepsis: multiorgan gene expression profiles of systemic inflammation. *Am J Pathol.* (2001) 159:1199– 209. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62505-9
- Suzuki T, Shimizu T, Szalay L, Choudhry MA, Rue LW, Bland KI, et al. Androstenediol ameliorates alterations in immune cells cytokine production capacity in a two-hit model of trauma-hemorrhage and sepsis. *Cytokine* (2006) 34:76–84. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2006.04.007
- Carlsen H, Moskaug JO, Fromm SH, Blomhoff R. In vivo imaging of NF- B activity. J Immunol. (2002) 168:1441-6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168. 3.1441
- Huynh T, Lemasters JJ, Bracey LW, Baker CC. Proinflammatory kupffer cell alterations after femur fracture trauma and sepsis in rats. *Shock* (2000) 14:555–60. doi: 10.1097/00024382-200014050-00010
- 34. Takahashi H, Tsuda Y, Takeuchi D, Kobayashi M, Herndon DN, Suzuki F. Influence of systemic inflammatory response syndrome on host

resistance against bacterial Infections. Crit Care Med. (2004) 32:1879–85. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000139606.34631.61

- Iwashyna TJ, Ely EW, Smith DM, Langa KM. Long-term cognitive impairment and functional disability among survivors of severe sepsis. *JAMA* (2010) 304:1787–94. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1553
- Corrales-Medina VF, Alvarez KN, Weissfeld LA, Angus DC, Chirinos JA, Chang C-CH, et al. Association Between Hospitalization for Pneumonia and Subsequent Risk of Cardiovascular Disease. *JAMA* (2015) 313:264. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.18229
- Prescott HC, Langa KM, Iwashyna TJ. Readmission diagnoses after hospitalization for severe sepsis and other acute medical conditions. *JAMA* (2015) 313:1055–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.1410
- Denstaedt SJ, Spencer-Segal JL, Newstead MW, Laborc K, Zhao AP, Hjelmaas A, et al. S100A8/A9 Drives neuroinflammatory priming and protects against anxiety-like behavior after sepsis. *J. Immunol.*, (2018) 200:3188–200. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700834
- Valdés-Ferrer SI, Rosas-Ballina M, Olofsson PS, Lu B, Dancho ME, Ochani M, et al. HMGB1 mediates splenomegaly and expansion of splenic CD11b+ Ly-6C(high) inflammatory monocytes in murine sepsis survivors. J Intern Med. (2013) 274:381–90. doi: 10.1111/joim.12104
- Yende S, Angelo GD, Kellum JA, Weissfeld L, Fine J, Welch RD, et al. Inflammatory markers at hospital discharge predict subsequent mortality after pneumonia and sepsis. (2008) 177:1242–7. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200712-1777OC
- Kaynar AM, Yende S, Zhu L, Frederick DR, Chambers R, Burton CL, et al. Effects of intra-abdominal sepsis on atherosclerosis in mice. *Crit Care* (2014) 18:469. doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0469-1
- Singer BH, Newstead MW, Zeng X, Cooke CL, Thompson RC, Singer K, et al. Cecal ligation and puncture results in long- term central nervous system myeloid inflammation. *PLoS ONE* (2016) 11:e0149136. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149136
- Andonegui G, Zelinski EL, Schubert CL, Knight D, Craig LA, Winston BW, et al. Targeting inflammatory monocytes in sepsis-associated encephalopathy and long-term cognitive impairment. *JCI insight* (2018) 3:99364. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.99364
- Foster SL, Hargreaves DC, Medzhitov R. Gene-specific control of inflammation by TLR-induced chromatin modifications. *Nature* (2007) 447:972–8. doi: 10.1038/nature05836
- Shalova IN, Lim JY, Chittezhath M, Zinkernagel AS, Beasley F, Hernández-Jiménez E, et al. Human monocytes undergo functional re-programming during sepsis mediated by hypoxia-inducible factor-1α. *Immunity* (2015) 42:484–98. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.02.001
- Hotchkiss RS, Swanson PE, Cobb JP, Jacobson A, Buchman TG, Karl IE. Apoptosis in lymphoid and parenchymal cells during sepsis: Findings in normal and T- and B-celldeficient mice. *Crit Care Med.* (1997) 25:1298–307. doi: 10.1097/00003246-199708000-00015
- Boomer JS, To K, Chang KC, Ii SDJ, Kreisel D. Immunsuppression in patients who die of sepsis and multiple organ failure. *JAMA* (2011) 306:2594–605. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1829.Immunosuppression
- Hotchkiss RS, Swanson PE, Freeman BD, Tinsley KW, Cobb JP, Matuschak GM, et al. Apoptotic cell death in patients with sepsis, shock, and multiple organ dysfunction. *Crit. Care Med.* (1999) 27:1230–51.
- Hotchkiss RS, Tinsley KW, Swanson PE, Schmieg RE, Hui JJ, Chang KC, et al. Sepsis-induced apoptosis causes progressive profound depletion of B and CD4+ T lymphocytes in humans. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:6952–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6952
- Le Tulzo Y, Pangault C, Gacouin A, Guilloux V, Tribut O, Amiot L, et al. Early circulating lymphocyte apoptosis in human septic shock is associated with poor outcome. *Shock* (2002) 18:487–94. doi: 10.1097/01.shk.0000043614.39685.6f
- Drewry AM, Samra N, Skrupky LP, Fuller BM, Compton SM, Hotchkiss RS. Persistent lymphopenia after diagnosis of sepsis predicts mortality. *Shock* (2014) 42:383–91. doi: 10.1097/SHK.00000000000234
- Stortz JA, Murphy TJ, Raymond SL, Mira JC, Ungaro R, Dirain ML, et al. Evidence for persistent immune suppression in patients who develop chronic critical illness after sepsis. *Shock* (2018) 49:249–58. doi: 10.1097/SHK.00000000000981

- Adrie C, Bachelet M, Vayssier-Taussat M, Russo-Marie F, Bouchaert I, Adib-Conquy M, et al. Mitochondrial membrane potential and apoptosis peripheral blood monocytes in severe human sepsis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2001) 164:389–95. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.164.3.2009088
- 54. Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Routsi C, Plachouras D, Markaki V, Raftogiannis M, Zervakis D, et al. Early apoptosis of blood monocytes in the septic host: Is it a mechanism of protection in the event of septic shock? *Crit Care* (2006) 10:1–8. doi: 10.1186/cc4921
- Hotchkiss RS, Tinsley KW, Swanson PE, Grayson MH, Osborne DF, Wagner TH, et al. Depletion of dendritic cells, but not macrophages, in patients with sepsis. J. Immunol. (2002) 168:2493–500. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.5.2493
- 56. Albertine KH, Soulier MF, Wang Z, Ishizaka A, Hashimoto S, Zimmerman GA, et al. Fas and fas ligand are up-regulated in pulmonary edema fluid and lung tissue of patients with acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am J Pathol.* (2002) 161:1783–96. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64455-0
- Wesche DE, Lomas-Neira JL, Perl M, Chung C-S, Ayala A. Leukocyte apoptosis and its significance in sepsis and shock. J Leukoc Biol. (2005) 78:325–37. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0105017
- Hotchkiss RS, Swanson PE, Knudson CM, Chang KC, Cobb JP, Osborne DF, et al. Overexpression of Bcl-2 in transgenic mice decreases apoptosis and improves survival in sepsis. *J Immunol.* (1999) 162:4148–56.
- Hotchkiss RS, Tinsley KW, Swanson PE, Chang KC, Cobb JP, Buchman TG, et al. Prevention of lymphocyte cell death in sepsis improves survival in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1999) 96:14541–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.25.14541
- Ertel W, Kremer JP, Kenney J, Steckholzer U, Jarrar D, Trentz O, et al. Downregulation of proinflammatory cytokine release in whole blood from septic patients. *Blood* (1995) 85:1341–7.
- Boomer JS, Shuherk-Shaffer J, Hotchkiss RS, Green JM. A prospective analysis of lymphocyte phenotype and function over the course of acute sepsis. *Crit Care* (2012) 16:R112. doi: 10.1186/cc11404
- McCall CE, Grosso-Wilmoth LM, LaRue K, Guzman RN, Cousart SL. Toerance to endotoxin-induced expression of the interleukin- beta gene in blood neutrophils of humans with sepsis syndrome. *Joural Clin. Investig.* (1993) 91:853–61.
- Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Parlato M, Philippart F, Misset B, Cavaillon J-M, Adib-Conquy M, et al. Toll-like receptors expression and interferongamma production by NK cells in human sepsis. *Crit Care* (2012) 16:R206. doi: 10.1186/cc11838
- 64. Pena OM, Hancock DG, Lyle NH, Linder A, Russell JA, Xia J, et al. An endotoxin tolerance signature predicts sepsis and organ dysfunction at initial clinical presentation. *EBioMedicine* (2014) 1:64–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2014.10.003
- Muszynski JA, Nofziger R, Greathouse K, Nateri J, Hanson-Huber L, Steele L, et al. Innate immune function predicts the development of nosocomial infection in critically injured children. *Shock* (2014) 42:313–21. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0000000000217
- 66. Drewry AM, Ablordeppey EA, Murray ET, Beiter ER, Walton AH, Hall MW, et al. Comparison of monocyte human leukocyte antigen-DR expression and stimulated tumor necrosis factor alpha production as outcome predictors in severe sepsis: a prospective observational study. *Crit Care* (2016) 20:334. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1505-0
- Van Vught LA, Wiewel MA, Hoogendijk AJ, Scicluna BP, Belkasim-Bohoudi H, Horn J, et al. Reduced responsiveness of blood leukocytes to lipopolysaccharide does not predict nosocomial infections in critically ill patients. *Shock* (2015) 44:110–4. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0000000000 00391
- Wolk K, Döcke WD, von Baehr V, Volk HD, Sabat R. Impaired antigen presentation by human monocytes during endotoxin tolerance. *Blood* (2000) 96:218–23. doi: 10.1182/blood.v98.13.3800
- Hershman MJ, Cheadle WG, Wellhausen SR, Davidson PF, Polk HC. Monocyte HLA-DR antigen expression characterizes clinical outcome in the trauma patient. *Br J Surg.* (1990) 77:204–7. doi: 10.1002/bjs.1800770225
- Monneret G, Lepape A, Voirin N, Bohé J, Venet F, Debard AL, et al. Persisting low monocyte human leukocyte antigen-DR expression predicts mortality in septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2006) 32:1175–83. doi: 10.1007/s00134-006-0204-8

- Wu JF, Ma J, Chen J, Ou-Yang B, Chen MY, Li LF, et al. Changes of monocyte human leukocyte antigen-DR expression as a reliable predictor of mortality in severe sepsis. *Crit Care* (2011) 15:R220. doi: 10.1186/cc10457
- 72. Landelle C, Lepape A, Voirin N, Tognet E, Venet F, Bohé J, et al. Low monocyte human leukocyte antigen-DR is independently associated with nosocomial infections after septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2010) 36:1859–66. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-1962-x
- 73. Cajander S, Rasmussen G, Tina E, Magnuson A, Söderquist B, Källman J, et al. Dynamics of monocytic HLA-DR expression differs between bacterial etiologies during the course of bloodstream infection. *PLoS ONE* (2018) 13:e192883. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192883
- 74. Conway Morris A, Datta D, Shankar-Hari M, Weir CJ, Rennie J, Antonelli J, et al. Predictive value of cell-surface markers in infections in critically ill patients: Protocol for an observational study (ImmuNe FailurE in Critical Therapy (INFECT) Study). *BMJ Open* (2016) 6:e011326. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011326
- 75. Rol ML, Venet F, Rimmele T, Moucadel V, Cortez P, Quemeneur L, et al. The REAnimation Low Immune Status Markers (REALISM) project: A protocol for broad characterisation and follow-up of injury-induced immunosuppression in intensive care unit (ICU) critically ill patients. *BMJ Open* (2017) 7:e015734. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015734
- Conway Morris A, Brittan M, Wilkinson TS, McAuley DF, Antonelli J, McCulloch C, et al. C5a-mediated neutrophil phagocytic dysfunction is RhoA-dependent and predicts nosocomial infection in critically ill patients. *Blood* (2011) 117:5178–89. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-08-304667
- Conway Morris A, Anderson N, Brittan M, Wilkinson TS, Mcauley DF, Antonelli J, et al. Combined dysfunctions of immune cells predict nosocomial infection in critically ill patients. *Br J Anaesth.* (2013) 111:778–87. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet205
- Davenport EE, Burnham KL, Radhakrishnan J, Humburg P, Hutton P, Mills TC, et al. Genomic landscape of the individual host response and outcomes in sepsis: A prospective cohort study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2016) 4:259–71. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(16)00046-1
- Scicluna BP, van Vught LA, Zwinderman AH, Wiewel MA, Davenport EE, Burnham KL, et al. Classification of patients with sepsis according to blood genomic endotype: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2017) 5:816–26. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(17)30294-1
- Burnham KL, Davenport EE, Radhakrishnan J, Humburg P, Gordon AC, Hutton P, et al. Shared and distinct aspects of the sepsis transcriptomic response to fecal peritonitis and pneumonia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:328–39. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201608-1685OC
- Simpson SQ, Modi HN, Balk RA, Bone RC, Casey LC. Reduced alveolar macrophage production of tumor necrosis factor during sepsis in mice and men. *Crit. Care Med.* (1991) 19:1060–6.
- Reddy RC, Chen GH, Newstead MW, Zeng X, Tateda K, Theodore J, et al. Alveolar macrophage deactivation in murine septic peritonitis : role of interleukin 10 alveolar macrophage deactivation in murine septic peritonitis : role of interleukin 10. *Infect Immun.* (2001) 69:1394–401. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.3.1394
- Hiruma T, Tsuyuzaki H, Uchida K, Trapnell BC, Yamamura Y, Kusakabe Y, et al. Interferon-β improves sepsis-related alveolar macrophage dysfunction and post-septic ARDS-related mortality. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2018) 59:45–55. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2017-02610C
- Delano MJ, Thayer T, Gabrilovich S, Kelly-Scumpia KM, Winfield RD, Scumpia PO, et al. Sepsis Induces Early Alterations in Innate Immunity That Impact Mortality to Secondary Infection. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:195–202. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002104
- Roquilly A, McWilliam HEG, Jacqueline C, Tian Z, Cinotti R, Rimbert M, et al. Local modulation of antigen-presenting cell development after resolution of pneumonia induces long-term susceptibility to secondary infections. *Immunity* (2017) 47:135–147.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.021
- Whitsett JA, Alenghat T. Respiratory epithelial cells orchestrate pulmonary innate immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:27–35. doi: 10.1038/ni.3045
- Hiramatsu M, Hotchkiss RS, Karl IE, Buchman TG. Cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) induces apoptosis in thymus, spleen, lung, and GUT by an endotoxin and TNF- independent pathway. *Shock* (1997) 7:247–53. doi: 10.1097/00024382-199704000-00002

- Meakins JL, Pietsch JB, Bubenick O, Kelly R, Rode H, Gordon J, et al. Delayed hypersensitivity: indicator of acquired failure of host defenses in sepsis and trauma. *Ann Surg.* (1977) 186:241–50. doi: 10.1097/00000658-197709000-00002
- Heidecke CD, Hensler T, Weighardt H, Zantl N, Wagner H, Siewert JR, et al. Selective defects of T lymphocyte function in patients with lethal intraabdominal infection. *Am J Surg.* (1999) 178:288–92. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9610(99)00183-X
- Unsinger J, Kazama H, McDonough JS, Griffith TS, Hotchkiss RS, Ferguson TA. Sepsis-induced apoptosis leads to active suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity by CD8+ regulatory T cells through a TRAIL-dependent mechanism. J Immunol. (2010) 184:6766–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0904054
- Venet F, Chung CS, Kherouf H, Geeraert A, Malcus C, Poitevin F, et al. Increased circulating regulatory T cells (CD4+CD25+CD127-) contribute to lymphocyte anergy in septic shock patients. *Intensive Care Med.* (2009) 35:678–86. doi: 10.1007/s00134-008-1337-8
- 92. Chiche L, Forel J-M, Thomas G, Farnarier C, Cognet C, Guervilly C, et al. Interferon-γ production by natural killer cells and cytomegalovirus in critically ill patients<sup>\*</sup>. *Crit Care Med.* (2012) 40:3162–9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e318260c90e
- Forel JM, Chiche L, Thomas G, Mancini J, Farnarier C, Cognet C, et al. Phenotype and functions of natural killer cells in critically-ill septic patients. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e50446. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050446
- Fiorentino DF, Bond MW, Mosmann TR. Two types of mouse T helper cell. IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. J. Exp. Med. (1989) 170:2081–95.
- Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Mosmann TR, Howard M, O'Garra A. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. *J. Immunol.* (1991) 147:3815–22.
- 96. Gomez HG, Gonzalez SM, Londoño JM, Hoyos NA, Niño CD, Leon AL, et al. Immunological characterization of compensatory anti-inflammatory response syndrome in patients with severe sepsis: a longitudinal study. *Crit Care Med.* (2014) 42:771–80. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000100
- Gogos CA, Drosou E, Bassaris HP, Skoutelis A. Pro- versus antiinflammatory cytokine profile in patients with severe sepsis: a marker for prognosis and future therapeutic options. *J Infect Dis.* (2000) 181:176–80. doi: 10.1086/315214
- van Vught LA, Wiewel MA, Hoogendijk AJ, Frencken JF, Scicluna BP, Klein Klouwenberg PMC, et al. The host response in sepsis patients developing intensive care unit-acquired secondary infections. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:1–55. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201606-1225OC
- Froon AH, Bemelmans MH, Greve JW, van der Linden CJ, Buurman WA. Increased plasma concentrations of soluble tumor necrosis factor receptors in sepsis syndrome: correlation with plasma creatinine values. *Crit. Care Med.* (1994) 22:803–9.
- 100. Schröder J, Kremer B, Stüber F, Gallati H, Schade FU. Pattern of soluble TNF receptors I and II in sepsis. *Infection* (1995) 23:143–8. doi: 10.1007/BF01793854
- 101. Hasegawa Y, Sawada M, Ozaki N, Inagaki T, Suzumura, A. Increased soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor levels in the serum of elderly people. *Gerontology* (2000) 46:185–8. doi: 10.1159/000022157
- 102. Goldie, a S, Fearon KC, Ross JA, Barclay GR, Jackson RE, Grant IS, et al. Natural cytokine antagonists and endogenous antiendotoxin core antibodies in sepsis syndrome. The Sepsis Intervention Group. *JAMA* (1995) 274:172–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.274.2.172
- 103. De Pablo R, Monserrat J, Reyes E, Diaz-Martin D, Rodriguez Zapata M, Carballo F, et al. Mortality in patients with septic shock correlates with antiinflammatory but not proinflammatory immunomodulatory molecules. J Intensive Care Med. (2011) 26:125–32. doi: 10.1177/0885066610384465
- 104. Meyer NJ, Reilly JP, Anderson BJ, Palakshappa JA, Jones TK, Dunn TG, et al. Mortality benefit of recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist for sepsis varies by initial interleukin-1 receptor antagonist plasma concentration. *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:21–8. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002749
- Ballinger MN, Standiford TJ. Innate immune responses in ventilatorassociated pneumonia. In: Prince A, editor. *Mucosal Immunology of Acute Bacterial Pneumonia*. New York NY: Springer. (2013). p. 185–212.

- 106. Janssens S, Burns K, Tschopp J, Beyaert R. Regulation of interleukin-1and lipopolysaccharide-induced NF-κB activation by alternative splicing of MyD88. *Curr Biol.* (2002) 12:467–71. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(02) 00712-1
- 107. Adib-Conquy M, Adrie C, Fitting C, Gattolliat O, Beyaert R, Cavaillon JM. Up-regulation of MyD88s and SIGIRR, molecules inhibiting Toll-like receptor signaling, in monocytes from septic patients. *Crit Care Med.* (2006) 34:2377–85. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000233875.93866.88
- Deng JC, Cheng G, Newstead MW, Zeng X, Kobayashi K, Flavell RA, et al. Sepsis-induced suppression of lung innate immunity is mediated by IRAK-M. J Clin Invest. (2006) 116:2532–42. doi: 10.1172/JCI28054
- 109. Escoll P, Del Fresno C, García L, Vallés G, Lendínez MJ, Arnalich F, et al. Rapid up-regulation of IRAK-M expression following a second endotoxin challenge in human monocytes and in monocytes isolated from septic patients. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2003) 311:465–72. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.10.019
- Liu J, Shi K, Chen M, Xu L, Hong J, Hu B, et al. Elevated miR-155 expression induces immunosuppression via CD39+regulatory T-cells in sepsis patient. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2015) 40:e135–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2015.09.016
- 111. Ifrim DC, Quintin J, Joosten LAB, Jacobs C, Jansen T, Jacobs L, et al. Trained immunity or tolerance: opposing functional programs induced in human monocytes after engagement of various pattern recognition receptors. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2014) 21:534–45. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00688-13
- 112. Dickson RP. The microbiome and critical illness. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2016) 4:59–72. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(15)00427-0
- 113. Prescott HC, Dickson RP, Rogers MAM, Langa KM, Iwashyna TJ. Hospitalization type and subsequent severe sepsis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2015) 192:581–8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201503-0483OC
- 114. Baggs J, Jernigan JA, Halpin AL, Epstein L, Hatfield KM, McDonald LC. Risk of subsequent sepsis within 90 days after a hospital stay by type of antibiotic exposure. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2018) 66:1004–12. doi: 10.1093/cid/ cix947
- Ma KC, Schenck EJ, Pabon MA, Choi AMK. The role of danger signals in the pathogenesis and perpetuation of critical illness. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 197:300–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201612-2460PP
- Gao S, Yang Y, Fu Y, Guo W, Liu G. Diagnostic and prognostic value of myeloid-related protein complex 8/14 for sepsis. Am J Emerg Med. (2015) 33:1278–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2015.06.025
- 117. Gibot S, Massin F, Cravoisy A, Barraud D, Nace L, Levy B, et al. High-mobility group box 1 protein plasma concentrations during septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2007) 33:1347–53. doi: 10.1007/s00134-007-0691-2
- Dai J, Kumbhare A, Youssef D, McCall CE, El Gazzar M. Intracellular S100A9 promotes myeloid-derived suppressor cells during late sepsis. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1565. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01565
- 119. Li J, Wang F, She W, Yang C, Li L, Tu C, et al. Enhanced high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) modulates regulatory T cells (Treg)/ T helper 17 (Th17) balance via toll-like receptor (TLR)-4-interleukin (IL)-6 pathway in patients with chronic hepatitis B. *J Viral Hepat.* (2014) 1:129–40. doi: 10.1111/jvh. 12152
- 120. Hashiguchi N, Ogura H, Tanaka H, Koh T, Nakamori Y, Noborio M, et al. Enhanced expression of heat shock proteins in activated polymorphonuclear leukocytes in patients with sepsis. J Trauma (2001) 51:1104–9. doi: 10.1097/00005373-200112000-00015
- 121. Delogu G, Lo Bosco L, Marandola M, Famularo G, Lenti L, Ippoliti F, et al. Heat shock protein (HSP70) expression in septic patients. *J Crit Care* (1997) 12:188–92. doi: 10.1016/S0883-9441%2897%2990031-9
- 122. Gelain DP, De Bittencourt Pasquali MA M, Comim C, Grunwald MS, and Ritter C, Tomasi CD, et al. Serum heat shock protein 70 levels, oxidant status, and mortality in sepsis. *Shock* (2011) 35:466–70. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0b013e31820fe704
- 123. Wachstein J, Tischer S, Figueiredo C, Limbourg A, Falk C, Immenschuh S, et al. HSP70 enhances immunosuppressive function of CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ T regulatory cells and cytotoxicity in CD4+CD25- T Cells. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e51747. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051747
- 124. Venet F, Chung C-S, Monneret G, Huang X, Horner B, Garber M, et al. Regulatory T cell populations in sepsis and trauma. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2007) 83:523–35. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0607371

- 125. Monneret G, Debard AL, Venet F, Bohe J, Hequet O, Bienvenu J, et al. Marked elevation of human circulating CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in sepsis-induced immunoparalysis. *Crit Care Med.* (2003) 31:2068–71. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000069345.78884.0F
- 126. Cavassani KA, Carson WF, Moreira AP, Wen H, Schaller MA, Ishii M, et al. The post sepsis-induced expansion and enhanced function of regulatory T cells create an environment to potentiate tumor growth The post sepsisinduced expansion and enhanced function of regulatory T cells create an environment to potentiate tumor growth. *Blood* (2010) 115:4403–11. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-09-241083
- 127. Scumpia PO, Delano MJ, Kelly KM, O'Malley KA, Efron PA, McAuliffe PF, et al. Increased natural CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and their suppressor activity do not contribute to mortality in murine polymicrobial sepsis. J Immunol (2006) 177:7943–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.7943
- Heuer JG, Zhang T, Zhao J, Ding C, Cramer M, Justen KL, et al. Adoptive Transfer of in vitro-stimulated CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells increases bacterial clearance and improves survival in polymicrobial sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:7141–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.7141
- 129. Wu H-P, Chung K, Lin C-Y, Jiang B-Y, Chuang D-Y, Liu Y-C. Associations of T helper 1:2, 17 and regulatory T lymphocytes with mortality in severe sepsis. *Inflamm Res.* (2013) 62:751–63. doi: 10.1007/s00011-013-0630-3
- 130. Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:1–10. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12150
- Ost M, Singh A, Peschel A, Mehling R, Rieber N, Hartl D. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Bacterial Infections. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2016) 6:37. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00037
- 132. Delano MJ, Scumpia PO, Weinstein JS, Coco D, Nagaraj S, Kelly-Scumpia KM, et al. MyD88-dependent expansion of an immature GR-1(+)CD11b(+) population induces T cell suppression and Th2 polarization in sepsis. *J Exp Med.* (2007) 204:1463–74. doi: 10.1084/jem.20062602
- 133. Cheng P, Corzo CA, Luetteke N, Yu B, Nagaraj S, Bui MM, et al. Inhibition of dendritic cell diff erentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by S100A9 protein. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:2235–49. doi: 10.1084/jem.20080132
- Brudecki L, Ferguson DA, McCall CE, El Gazzar M. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells evolve during sepsis and can enhance or attenuate the systemic inflammatory response. *Infect Immun.* (2012) 80:2026–34. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00239-12
- Derive M, Bouazza Y, Alauzet C, Gibot S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells control microbial sepsis. *Intensive Care Med.* (2012) 38:1040–9. doi: 10.1007/s00134-012-2574-4
- 136. Darcy CJ, Minigo G, Piera KA, Davis JS, McNeil YR, Chen Y, et al. Neutrophils with myeloid derived suppressor function deplete arginine and constrain T cell function in septic shock patients. *Crit Care* (2014) 18:1–12. doi: 10.1186/cc14003
- 137. Janols H, Bergenfelz C, Allaoui R, Larsson AM, Rydén L, Björnsson S, et al. High frequency of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in sepsis patients, with the granulocytic subtype dominating in Gram-positive cases. *Crit Care* (2014) 96:1–53. doi: 10.1186/cc14006
- 138. Uhel F, Azzaoui I, Grégoire M, Pangault C, Dulong J, Tadié JM, et al. Early expansion of circulating granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells predicts development of nosocomial infections in patients with sepsis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. (2017) 196:315–27. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201606-1143OC
- 139. Mathias B, Delmas AL, Ozrazgat-Baslanti T, Vanzant EL, Szpila BE, Mohr AM, et al. Human myeloid-derived suppressor cells are associated with chronic immune suppression after severe sepsis/septic shock. Ann Surg. (2017) 265:827–34. doi: 10.1097/SLA.000000000001783
- Chen L. Co-inhibitory molecules of the B7-CD28 family in the control of T-cell immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2004) 4:336–47. doi: 10.1038/nri1349
- 141. Zhang Y, Li J, Lou J, Zhou Y, Bo L, Zhu J, et al. Upregulation of programmed death-1 on T cells and programmed death ligand-1 on monocytes in septic shock patients. *Crit Care* (2011) 15:1–9. doi: 10.1186/cc 10059
- 142. Guignant C, Lepape A, Huang X, Kherouf H, Denis L, Poitevin F, et al. Programmed death-1 levels correlate with increased mortality, nosocomial

infection and immune dysfunctions in septic shock patients. *Crit Care* (2011) 15:R99. doi: 10.1186/cc10112

- 143. Shao R, Fang Y, Yu H, Zhao L, Jiang Z, Li CS. Monocyte programmed death ligand-1 expression after 3-4 days of sepsis is associated with risk stratification and mortality in septic patients: a prospective cohort study. *Crit Care* (2016) 20:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1301-x
- 144. Brahmamdam P, Inoue S, Unsinger J, Chang KC, McDunn JE, Hotchkiss RS. Delayed administration of anti-PD-1 antibody reverses immune dysfunction and improves survival during sepsis. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2010) 88:233–40. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0110037
- 145. Zhang Y, Zhou Y, Lou J, Li J, Bo L, Zhu K, et al. PD-L1 blockade improves survival in experimental sepsis by inhibiting lymphocyte apoptosis and reversing monocyte dysfunction. *Crit Care* (2010) 14:1–9. doi: 10.1186/cc9354
- 146. Chang K, Svabek C, Vazquez-guillamet C, Sato B, Rasche D, Wilson S, et al. Targeting the programmed cell death 1 : programmed cell death ligand 1 pathway reverses T cell exhaustion in patients with sepsis. *Crit Care* (2014) 18:R3. doi: 10.1186/cc13176
- 147. Patera AC, Drewry AM, Chang K, Beiter ER, Osborne D, Hotchkiss RS. Frontline science: defects in immune function in patients with sepsis are associated with PD-1 or PD-L1 expression and can be restored by antibodies targeting PD-1 or PD-L1. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2016) 100:1239–54. doi: 10.1189/jlb.4HI0616-255R
- 148. Carson WF, Cavassani KA, Dou Y, Kunkel SL. Epigenetic regulation of immune cell functions during post-septic immunosuppression. *Epigenetics* (2011) 6:273–83. doi: 10.4161/epi.6.3.14017
- 149. Hamon MA, Cossart P. Histone Modifications and Chromatin Remodeling during Bacterial Infections. *Cell Host Microbe* (2008) 4:100–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.07.009
- 150. Weiterer S, Uhle F, Lichtenstern C, Siegler BH, Bhuju S, Jarek M, et al. Sepsis induces specific changes in histone modification patterns in human monocytes. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e121748. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121748
- 151. Wen H, Dou Y, Hogaboam CM, Kunkel SL. Epigenetic regulation of dendritic cell – derived interleukin-12 facilitates immunosuppression after a severe innate immune response. *Blood* (2008) 111:1797–804. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-08-106443
- 152. Lyn-Kew K, Rich E, Zeng X, Wen H, Kunkel SL, Newstead MW, et al. IRAK-M regulates chromatin remodeling in lung macrophages during experimental sepsis. *PLoS ONE* (2010) 5:e11145. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011145
- 153. Kleinnijenhuis J, Quintin J, Preijers F, Joosten LAB, Ifrim DC, Saeed S, et al. Bacille Calmette-Guerin induces NOD2-dependent nonspecific protection from reinfection via epigenetic reprogramming of monocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:17537–42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1202870109
- Quintin J, Saeed S, Martens JHA, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Ifrim DC, Logie C, et al. Candida albicans infection affords protection against reinfection via functional reprogramming of monocytes. *Cell Host Microbe* (2012) 12:223– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.06.006
- 155. Thampy LK, Remy KE, Walton AH, Hong Z, Liu K, Liu R, et al. Restoration of T Cell function in multi-drug resistant bacterial sepsis after interleukin-7, anti-PD-L1, and OX-40 administration. *PLoS ONE* (2018) 13:e0199497. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0199497

- 156. Jenkins RW, Barbie DA, Flaherty KT. Mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors. Br J Cancer (2018) 118:9–16. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.434
- 157. Bo L, Wang F, Zhu J, Li J, Deng X. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) for sepsis: A meta-analysis. *Crit Care* (2011) 15:1–12. doi: 10.1186/cc10031
- Scott JP, Ji Y, Kannan M, Wylam ME. Inhaled granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor for Mycobacterium abscessus in cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir J.* (2018) 51:1702127. doi: 10.1183/13993003.02127-2017
- 159. Nalos M, Santner-Nanan B, Parnell G, Tang B, McLean AS, Nanan R. Immune effects of interferon gamma in persistent staphylococcal sepsis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2012) 185:110–2. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.185.1.110
- 160. Delsing CE, Gresnigt MS, Leentjens J, Preijers F, Frager FA, Kox M, et al. (2014). Interferon-gamma as adjunctive immunotherapy for invasive fungal infections : a case series. *BMC Infect Dis.* 14:166. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-14-166
- 161. Francois B, Jeannet R, Daix T, Walton AH, Shotwell MS, Unsinger J, et al. Interleukin-7 restores lymphocytes in septic shock: the IRIS-7 randomized clinical trial. *JCI insight* (2018) 3:98960. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight. 98960
- 162. Hotchkiss R, Colston E, Yende S, Angus D, Moldawer L, Crouser E, et al.. 1504: Immune checkpoint inhibitors in sepsis A phase 1B Trial Of Anti-PD-L1 (BMS-936559). *Crit. Care Med.* (2018) 46:736. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000529506.43290.de
- 163. Wu J, Zhou L, Liu J, Ma G, Kou Q, He Z, et al. The efficacy of thymosin alpha 1 for severe sepsis (ETASS): a multicenter, single-blind, randomized and controlled trial. *Crit Care*. (2013) 17:R8. doi: 10.1186/cc11932
- 164. McIntyre LA, Stewart DJ, Mei SHJ, Courtman D, Watpool I, Granton J, et al. Cellular immunotherapy for septic shock. A phase I clinical trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2018) 197:337–47. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201705-1006OC
- Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. Science (2018) 359:1350–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar4060
- 166. Osta B, El, HF, Sadek R, Chintalapally R, Tang S. Not all immunecheckpoint inhibitors are created equal : Meta-analysis and systematic review of immune-related adverse events in cancer trials. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* (2017) 119:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2017. 09.002
- 167. Mei SHJ, Haitsma JJ, Dos Santos CC, Deng Y, Lai PFH, Slutsky AS, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells reduce inflammation while enhancing bacterial clearance and improving survival in sepsis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182:1047–57. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201001-0010OC

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Denstaedt, Singer and Standiford. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Coinfection With Influenza A Virus and *Klebsiella oxytoca*: An Underrecognized Impact on Host Resistance and Tolerance to Pulmonary Infections

Kayla M. Lee<sup>1</sup>, Jenna Morris-Love<sup>2</sup>, Damien J. Cabral<sup>1</sup>, Peter Belenky<sup>1</sup>, Steven M. Opal<sup>3</sup> and Amanda M. Jamieson<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Molecular Biology, Cell Biology and Biochemistry, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medicine, Warren Alpert School of Medicine, Brown University, Providence, RI, United States

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

John F. Alcorn, University of Pittsburgh, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Jie Sun, Mayo Clinic, United States Agnieszka Rynda-Apple, Montana State University System, United States

\*Correspondence:

Amanda M. Jamieson amanda\_jamieson@brown.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 July 2018 Accepted: 25 September 2018 Published: 29 October 2018

#### Citation:

Lee KM, Morris-Love J, Cabral DJ, Belenky P, Opal SM and Jamieson AM (2018) Coinfection With Influenza A Virus and Klebsiella oxytoca: An Underrecognized Impact on Host Resistance and Tolerance to Pulmonary Infections. Front. Immunol. 9:2377. doi: 10.3389/firmmu.2018.02377

Pneumonia is a world health problem and a leading cause of death, particularly affecting children and the elderly (1, 2). Bacterial pneumonia following infection with influenza A virus (IAV) is associated with increased morbidity and mortality but the mechanisms behind this phenomenon are not yet well-defined (3). Host resistance and tolerance are two processes essential for host survival during infection. Resistance is the host's ability to clear a pathogen while tolerance is the host's ability to overcome the impact of the pathogen as well as the host response to infection (4-8). Some studies have shown that IAV infection suppresses the immune response, leading to overwhelming bacterial loads (9-13). Other studies have shown that some IAV/bacterial coinfections cause alterations in tolerance mechanisms such as tissue resilience (14-16). In a recent analysis of nasopharyngeal swabs from patients hospitalized during the 2013-2014 influenza season, we have found that a significant proportion of IAV-infected patients were also colonized with Klebsiella oxytoca, a gram-negative bacteria known to be an opportunistic pathogen in a variety of diseases (17). Mice that were infected with K. oxytoca following IAV infection demonstrated decreased survival and significant weight loss when compared to mice infected with either single pathogen. Using this model, we found that IAV/K. oxytoca coinfection of the lung is characterized by an exaggerated inflammatory immune response. We observed early inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production, which in turn resulted in massive infiltration of neutrophils and inflammatory monocytes. Despite this swift response, the pulmonary pathogen burden in coinfected mice was similar to singly-infected animals, albeit with a slight delay in bacterial clearance. In addition, during coinfection we observed a shift in pulmonary macrophages toward an inflammatory and away from a tissue reparative phenotype. Interestingly, there was only a small increase in tissue damage in coinfected lungs as compared to either single infection. Our results indicate that during pulmonary coinfection a combination of seemingly modest defects in both host resistance and tolerance may act synergistically to cause worsened outcomes for the host. Given the prevalence of *K. oxytoca* detected in human IAV patients, these dysfunctional tolerance and resistance mechanisms may play an important role in the response of patients to IAV.

Keywords: coinfection, influenza A virus, Klebsiella oxytoca, disease tolerance, pulmonary infection

## INTRODUCTION

During the influenza season an average of 20% of the human population is infected, with this percentage varying from year to year depending on the virulence of the strains circulating that season (18). Secondary bacterial pneumonia following influenza A virus (IAV) infection is a serious complication whose prevalence and severity correlates with the virulence of the influenza strain (3, 19). On average, 0.5% of previously healthy, young individuals and 2.5% of elderly or immunocompromised patients that contract IAV have bacterial coinfections; however, during times of influenza pandemic these numbers climb even higher and in the 1918 influenza virus pandemic up to 6.1% of all patients with IAV were thought to have secondary bacterial infections (20). In 1918, prior to the use of antibiotics, autopsies confirmed the presence of bacteria in up to 95% of fatalities (3, 21). In the 2009 pandemic between 18 and 34% of IAV patients in the ICU had a bacterial coinfection and up to 55% of fatalities were associated with bacterial coinfection (21, 22).

The bacteria that are most commonly implicated in coinfection with IAV are Streptococcus pneumoniae, Staphylococcus aureus, Haemophilus influenzae, Legionella pneumophila, Pseudomonas species, and Klebsiella species (18). The development and use of antibiotic treatment has increased the prevalence of antibiotic-resistant bacterial strains, such as methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA), implicated in coinfection as well (18). However, due to the significant overlap in symptoms of pneumonia caused by influenza virus infection alone vs. coinfection, diagnoses of coinfection are difficult to make and often antibiotics are inappropriately administered (18). With the growing concern about antibiotic- and antiviral-resistant pathogens, it is clear that more emphasis needs to be placed on finding alternative therapies to treat coinfection. Currently the IAV vaccine, while it does impart some protection and can decrease the severity of symptoms, has variable effectiveness due to the antigen drift that occurs each season (3). Even with advances in treatments against pathogens such as vaccines, antivirals, and antibiotics, bacterial coinfection still represents a major threat to human health (23, 24).

Host resistance and host tolerance are two important factors that can determine the outcome of a patient following infection (4-8). The ability to successfully detect and eliminate pathogens is called host resistance while the ability to overcome the damaging effects caused by the pathogen and the immune response to that pathogen is known as host disease tolerance or resilience. If the host lacks either one of these properties, it becomes susceptible to infection (4-8). Bacterial coinfections can cause increased mortality due to alterations in either

resistance or tolerance; for example, *S. pneumoniae* coinfections are characterized by an increased bacterial burden which overwhelms the host, whereas *L. pneumophila* coinfections cause mortality through a significant amount of tissue damage without an increase in pathogen burden (14, 25). IAV/*S. pneumoniae* coinfection may be an example of decreased resistance leading to alterations in tolerance as there is also increased tissue damage, but given the overwhelming bacterial burden it is challenging to separate out these two mechanisms (26). Because each type of IAV/bacterial coinfection can cause mortality through different mechanisms, it is important to study them individually to uncover the best way to treat them.

Up until now, the majority of studies on IAV/bacterial coinfection have focused on S. pneumoniae and S. aureus. While these are two of the most prevalent bacteria in coinfections with IAV, there are many other bacteria that have been vastly understudied (18). This includes Klebsiella spp which are gramnegative, opportunistic pathogens responsible for between 3 and 7% of all nosocomial infections including UTIs, septicemia, and pneumonia (17). Pneumonia caused by Klebsiella spp has up to a 50% fatality rate and the emergence of multi-drugresistant strains has made it increasingly difficult to treat (17, 27). Among this genus is *Klebsiella oxytoca* which is a pathobiont in the human microbiome and an underrecognized contributor to hospital-acquired pneumonia in immunocompromised patients (28). The involvement of K. oxytoca in bacterial coinfections with IAV has of yet been unclear. A recent study from Gao et al. identified the presence of K. oxytoca in one H7N9 patient from a cohort in China in 2013 (29). Data presented here indicates that its prevalence is potentially underestimated and therefore should be a target for further study. Our lab has detected an increased presence of K. oxytoca in nasopharyngeal swabs from patients who tested positive for IAV in Rhode Island during the 2013-2014 influenza season and this finding prompted us to investigate the immunological responses that occur during coinfection with IAV and K. oxytoca.

To study the pathogenesis of IAV/K. oxytoca coinfection we developed a mouse model in which we observed increased mortality in coinfected animals compared to singly-infected controls. Within our model system, we saw a heightened inflammatory response following coinfection but despite an increase in immune cell infiltrate, there was a delay in bacterial clearance. In addition, we observed an increase in tissue damage as a result of coinfection, perhaps caused by a shift in macrophage polarization away from a tissue reparative phenotype. As such, this model is an excellent vehicle to study host resistance and tolerance since both are impacted as a result of coinfection. Our work studying coinfections with IAV and the previously underrecognized *K. oxytoca* highlight the complex relationship between host resistance and tolerance and suggest the need for further study of these systems.

# RESULTS

# Detection of *Klebsiella oxytoca* in Nasopharyngeal Swabs From IAV Patients

While pneumonia caused by K. oxytoca has recently been reported in one IAV-infected patient (29), the overall prevalence of K. oxytoca among IAV patients is as yet unknown. In order to investigate this, we looked for the presence of K. oxytoca in nasopharyngeal swabs from a cohort of patients admitted to the Memorial Hospital in Rhode Island during the influenza season of 2013-2014. Our findings show that among patients that tested positive for IAV there was a significantly higher proportion that also tested positive for K. oxytoca (14.00%) compared to those patients that tested negative for IAV (3.88%), implying that infection with IAV increases susceptibility to K. oxytoca colonization (Table 1). While these data show a clear association of IAV patients with K. oxytoca, it is unknown whether these patients had an active secondary infection with K. oxytoca or whether IAV infection enhances susceptibility to K. oxytoca colonization without causing infection. We also looked for the presence of S. pneumoniae in this cohort and found a similar trend to *K. oxytoca* in which a higher percentage of IAV-positive patients also tested positive for S. pneumoniae (20.00%) compared to IAV-negative patients (8.53%) (Table 1). S. pneumoniae is commonly implicated in secondary bacterial infections with IAV and is known to cause increased morbidity and mortality in these cases. Our findings showed similar patterns in the association of IAV patients with K. oxytoca as S. pneumoniae, which led us to question whether K. oxytoca is likewise able to alter host responses during coinfection with IAV to cause worsened outcomes.

**TABLE 1** | Influenza patients are more susceptible to bacterial colonization by

 Streptococcus pneumoniae and Klebsiella oxytoca.

	Influenza-	Influenza+
S. pneumoniae –	91.47%	80.00%
S. pneumoniae +	8.53%	20.00%
Total number of patients	129	50
K. oxytoca –	96.12%	86.00%
K. oxytoca +	3.88%	14.00%
Total number of patients	129	50

Nasopharyngeal swabs from a total of 179 patients were tested for the presence of influenza as well as S. pneumoniae and K. oxytoca. Of the 50 patients that tested positive for influenza, 10 (20.00%) also tested positive for S. pneumoniae and 7 (14.00%) tested positive for K. oxytoca. In contrast, of the 129 patients that tested negative for influenza, only 11 (8.53%) also tested positive for S. pneumoniae and 5 (3.88%) tested positive for K. oxytoca. These results indicate that infection with influenza leads to an increased association with several bacterial species. Statistics were calculated by Fisher's exact test with P = 0.0403 for S. pneumoniae and P = 0.0391 for K. oxytoca.

# Coinfected Mice Exhibit Increased Inflammation and Cellular Infiltrate Early After Bacterial Infection

In order to investigate the host response to infection during IAV and K. oxytoca coinfection, we developed a mouse model in which a sublethal dose of IAV was administered followed by a sublethal dose of K. oxytoca 5 days after IAV. First, we assessed whether coinfection induced changes to the inflammatory response early following bacterial infection as has been observed in other coinfection models (9, 25, 30-32). We measured the concentrations of a panel of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) including IL-6, TNFα, IFNγ, CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CXCL1, CXCL5, and CXCL10 (Figure 1). These cytokines and chemokines are essential in the innate immune response to both bacteria and viruses. On day 1 post-coinfection, there was an early increase in the production of TNFα during coinfection that was not observed in either singly-infected group whereas levels of IL-6 were equal between IAV-infected and coinfected groups (Figure 1A). We also saw a significant amplification in the production of all chemokines measured during coinfection compared to any other group (Figure 1B). The only reduction in cytokine levels that we observed in the coinfection was in IFNy; however, IFNy during coinfection was still significantly increased over the group infected with K. oxytoca alone (Figure 1A). By day 3, IFNy levels in the coinfected lungs overtook those seen in the singly-infected groups and reached the level seen in IAVinfected lungs on day 1, indicating a delay in the kinetics of IFNy during coinfection (Figure 1C). At day 3 post-coinfection, most chemokines remained elevated in the coinfected lungs, although these levels were decreased overall from day 1 with the exception of CCL2 (Figure 1D). Only CCL5 and CXCL5 concentrations were higher in the group with K. oxytoca alone than coinfection (Figure 1D). These results indicate that the coinfected lung was able to sense the presence of both pathogens and increase production of multiple inflammatory signals in response. This also shows that there is an early, robust response on day 1 that tapers but remains elevated by day 3 post-coinfection.

After observing that coinfection with IAV/K. oxytoca was characterized by a significant amplification of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, we next investigated how this inflammatory milieu might affect which innate immune cells traffic to the lung and the magnitude of their recruitment as compared to either single viral or bacterial infections. Using a flow cytometric panel of markers to identify different innate immune cell subsets, we identified Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages which include both alveolar macrophages and macrophages that upregulate CD11c as they infiltrate the lungs, Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>-</sup> inflammatory monocytes, Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> infiltrating inflammatory macrophages, and Ly6G<sup>+</sup>F480<sup>-</sup> neutrophils (Figures 2A-C). For identification of lung macrophages, we compared expression of CD11c and Siglec-F (known alveolar macrophage markers) and found that on day 1 post-coinfection, all macrophages that expressed CD11c also expressed Siglec-F and were therefore all alveolar macrophages, but on day 3



and IAV groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and *K. oxytoca* groups. Data were analyzed with ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests. Error bars represent SEM. Data are combined from at least four independent experiments with at least four mice per group.

there was a percentage of  $CD11c^+$  cells in the coinfected group that did not express Siglec-F, potentially representing a population of infiltrating macrophages that upregulate CD11c as they repopulate the lungs following infection (**Supplemental Figure 2**) (33). For complete description of gating strategies see **Supplemental Figures 1**, **2**.

We first examined cell subsets in the BALF (Figure 2). The Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophage population did not show any notable changes in number throughout the course of any single or dual infection. However, neutrophil numbers increased dramatically during coinfection. One day post-coinfection, coinfected lungs showed similar neutrophil numbers to K. oxytoca-infected lungs; however, by 3 days post-coinfection, neutrophil numbers from coinfected lungs were increased greater than three-fold over K. oxytoca-infected animals and greater than seven-fold over IAV-infected animals (Figures 2A,D). This delayed but significant increase in the recruitment of neutrophils was likely in part caused by the early induction of many chemokines that recruit neutrophils, such as CXCL1 and CXCL5, at day 1 post-coinfection (Figure 1B). In addition, both the inflammatory monocyte and infiltrating macrophage populations expanded significantly during coinfection at both days 1 and 3 post-coinfection in the BALF when compared to other groups (Figures 2B,C,E,F).

We next determined changes in innate immune cells that infiltrated into the lung parenchyma during infection (**Figure 3**). In the lung tissue on day 1 post-coinfection, we observed a significantly greater number of neutrophils (**Figures 3A,D**), inflammatory monocytes (**Figures 3B,E**), and infiltrating macrophages (**Figures 3C,F**); however, by day 3 there were no significant differences in these populations between the infected groups which may be indicative of these cells trafficking through the lungs on day 1 to reach the alveolar space by day 3 (**Figures 3C,D-F**).

## Amplified Innate Immune Responses Do Not Enhance Resistance in Coinfected Mice

Following our observations that coinfected lungs had a significantly heightened initial immune response compared to singly-infected lungs, we reasoned that this response was an attempt by the host to eliminate the dual pathogen burden. Therefore, we measured viral and bacterial loads in the lung



**FIGURE 2** I Immune cell infiltrate is increased in the BALF of coinfected mice. Innate immune cell populations were quantified in the BALF of mice on days 1 and 3 post-*K. oxytoca* infection. We identified neutrophils as Ly6G<sup>+</sup>F480<sup>-</sup> cells and separated the F480<sup>+</sup> population according to expression of CD11c with alveolar and repopulating macrophages identified as Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells. The CD11c<sup>-</sup> population was further separated by expression of Ly6C and MHC II with inflammatory monocytes identified as Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> cells and infiltrating macrophages identified as Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> cells and infiltrating macrophages identified as Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> cells (**A-C**). The total number of neutrophils (**D**), inflammatory monocytes (**E**), and infiltrating macrophages (**F**) from days 1 and 3 were calculated according to their percentages of the total population and the total number of cells collected in each BALF. @ denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and uninfected groups. # denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and the total number of cells collected from at least four independent experiments with at least four mice per group.





(Continued)

**FIGURE 3** | Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> cells (**A**–**C**). The total number of neutrophils (**D**), inflammatory monocytes (**E**), and infiltrating macrophages (**F**) from days 1 and 3 were calculated according to their percentages of the total population and the total number of cells collected in each lung. @ denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and uninfected groups. # denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and uninfected groups. # denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and influenza groups. \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and K. *axytoca* groups. Data were analyzed with ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests. Error bars represent SEM. Data are combined from at least four independent experiments with at least four mice per group.

throughout coinfection to determine if the immune response was able to effectively clear or control the pathogens. On day 1 post-coinfection, both viral and bacterial burdens were comparable between the coinfected and respective singlyinfected groups (Figures 4A,B). However, by day 3 postcoinfection, although viral load remained equal between the coinfected and virally-infected groups, the coinfected mice displayed delayed bacterial clearance compared to the K. oxytoca-infected animals (Figures 4A-C). While most of the K. oxytoca-infected mice had cleared the bacteria by day 3, only 30% of coinfected mice had no detectable bacteria in their lungs (Figures 4B,C). Interestingly, despite delayed clearance during coinfection, all of the mice with detectable bacteria had similar bacterial burdens, regardless of whether or not they had a prior IAV infection. Since neither viral load nor bacterial colonies increased between days 1 and 3 in the coinfected lungs (Figures 4A,B), it appears that the immune response mounted was able to prevent both pathogens from overwhelming the host but had a defect in the early clearance of bacteria.

## Increased Innate Immune Responses Impact Host Tolerance During Coinfection

To determine the effects of delayed clearance of K. oxytoca on the overall health of coinfected animals, we monitored the survival of coinfected mice as compared to singly-infected mice and observed that while all singly-infected groups were able to overcome infection, there was a significant decrease in survival of the coinfected animals starting just 3 days postcoinfection (Figure 4D). We also measured weights of these animals throughout an extended period of time following coinfection and found that all singly-infected animals lost weight but were able to recover back to their starting weights within 15 days of infection (Figure 4E). Coinfected mice exhibited a decrease in body weight comparable to the IAV-infected group but at an accelerated rate starting 1 day post-coinfection until several of the mice succumbed to disease (Figure 4E). With only a mild defect in host resistance as seen through delayed clearance of K. oxytoca in coinfected lungs, we questioned whether this phenomenon was responsible for the increased morbidity and mortality of these mice. Another possibility was that the worsened outcomes observed during coinfection were not as a result of uncontrolled pathogen replication but rather an inability of the host to tolerate the damage done by the massive immune response to the pathogens. To test this hypothesis, we measured the concentration of albumin in the BALF of infected mice as an indicator of vasculature leakage and therefore tissue damage in the lung (34). We found that as early as day 1 post-coinfection there was a significantly greater concentration of albumin in the lungs of coinfected mice as compared to singly-infected animals, and this observation was even more profound at day 3 post-coinfection (**Figure 4F**). Additionally, we looked at lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release into the BALF as a measure of cell death and found that there was also increased LDH in coinfected BALF although this trend was not statistically significant (**Supplemental Figure 2**).

# Macrophage Populations in Coinfected Mice Are More Pro-Inflammatory Compared to Singly-Infected Mice

After observing mild defects in both host resistance and tolerance during coinfection, we aimed to determine how the innate immune cells might be contributing to this progression of disease. Alveolar macrophages are the prominent cell type patrolling the lungs and are therefore often the first cells to encounter an invading pathogen (35). Alveolar macrophages will recognize and phagocytose pathogens, which triggers the release of a plethora of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines to attract other immune cells to the lung to help fight the infection (36). When they are not responding to pathogens, alveolar macrophages play an important role in maintaining homeostasis at steady state as well as mediating the return to homeostasis at the resolution of infection (35, 37, 38). They do this through the release of anti-inflammatory agents and factors that promote tissue repair, as well as by aiding in the catabolism of surfactant (35, 37-39). We hypothesized that during coinfection alveolar macrophages and macrophages that repopulate the lung following infection might play a role in shifting the balance toward pro-inflammatory and away from tissue repair processes. To test this, we explored changes in MHC II and CD206 expression on Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages as these are two markers of antigen presenting and tissue reparative phenotypes, respectively (35). We found that in a naïve lung, Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages were almost exclusively CD206<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>-</sup> and at 1 day post-coinfection, Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages from the BALF and lungs of both singly-infected groups remained predominantly CD206<sup>+</sup> with a small percentage expressing MHC II as well (Figures 5A,C,D). By day 3 postcoinfection the Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages from the IAV-infected BALF exhibited higher MHC II and lower CD206 expression (Figures 5B,E). Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages in the K. oxytoca-infected BALF at day 3 were still predominantly CD206<sup>+</sup> (Figures 5B,E). In the lung at day 3, all infected groups showed an expansion in the MHC II<sup>+</sup> population (Figures 5B,F). In coinfected BALF, there was a significant reduction in the number of CD206<sup>+</sup>



**FIGURE 4** | Coinfected mice exhibit increased morbidity and mortality as well as decreased resistance and tolerance. Viral burden as measured by viral genome copies in lung tissue on days 1 and 3 (**A**). Bacterial burden as measured by colony-forming units (CFUs) in 1 mL of lung homogenate on days 1 and 3 (**B**). Percentage of mice with no detectable bacteria in their lungs at day 1 and 3 (**C**). Survival of naïve, singly-infected and coinfected mice was measured over the course of 2 weeks (**D**). Weights were monitored during this time and are expressed as percentages of the starting weight of each mouse prior to infection (**E**). Concentration of albumin in the BALF on days 1 and 3 post-*K. oxytoca* (**F**). In (**E**) # denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected and IAV groups while \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between coinfected mice begin to exhibit decreased survival. In (**C**,**D**,**F**) \* denotes  $P \le 0.05$  between indicated groups. Data were analyzed with ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests (**A**,**E**,**F**), Mann-Whitney *U*-test on non-transformed data (**B**), Fisher's exact test (**C**), and log rank tests (**D**) where appropriate. Error bars represent SEM. Data are combined from at least three independent experiments with at least four mice per group.

macrophages on day 1, while by day 3 there was also a significantly higher number of MHC II<sup>+</sup> macrophages in the BALF (**Figures 5C,E**). Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages in the lung followed this trend but these results were not statistically significant. Additionally, we explored the capacity of the pulmonary macrophage populations to contribute to the inflammatory environment in the lung, particularly on day 1 post-coinfection (**Figure 1**). To do this, we looked for changes in TNF $\alpha$  production by Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> and Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup> Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> macrophages on day 1 post-coinfection (**Figures 6A-D**). On day 1 post-coinfection, the Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophage population is made up entirely of alveolar macrophages, as indicated by their Siglec-F expression (**Supplemental Figure 2**) while the Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup> Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> macrophages are those

that are infiltrating into the lung. The Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> alveolar macrophages exhibit a significant increase in their production of TNF $\alpha$  as compared to any singly-infected group (**Figures 6A,C**). On day 1, the Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup> Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> infiltrating macrophage population is absent in uninfected as well as *K. oxytoca*-infected BALF; however, comparing this population between IAV-infected and coinfected BALF, there is a significant increase in the production of TNF $\alpha$  during coinfection (**Figures 6B,D**). Also, it is notable that the Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> infiltrating macrophages never express CD206 and are therefore not likely to be exhibiting a reparative phenotype (**Figures 6B,D**). These data indicate that both the Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> alveolar macrophages and the Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F480<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> infiltrating macrophages are likely important contributors to







the early, heightened inflammatory response during coinfection. Overall, these data showed that pulmonary macrophages from coinfected mice exhibit a more accelerated shift toward a pro-inflammatory phenotype when compared to singly-infected macrophages (**Figures 5, 6**). These results indicate that pulmonary macrophages play an important role in propagating the prolonged inflammatory response and delaying the reparative processes necessary to return to homeostasis following coinfection.

# DISCUSSION

Thus far the vast majority of research on IAV/bacterial coinfections has focused on the bacteria *S. pneumoniae* or *S. aureus*; however, our data demonstrate that patients with IAV infection have a higher risk of association with the previously underrecognized bacteria *K. oxytoca*. Although it is unknown whether this increased association is due to increased susceptibility to infection with *K. oxytoca* or colonization without active infection, we decided to investigate the potential effects of coinfection with *K. oxytoca* since we saw similar trends of

association as with IAV and S. pneumoniae which is known to result in severe coinfections with IAV. In addition, K. oxytoca was recently implicated in a study of IAV infection (29). Therefore, in order to explore the effects of coinfection with IAV and K. oxytoca, we developed a mouse model of IAV/K. oxytoca coinfection in which we observed that coinfected mice had increased morbidity and mortality when compared to singlyinfected mice, as measured by survival and weight loss. As early as 1 day after coinfection, mice that had been previously infected with IAV had increased levels of several inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in the lung. The early induction of the inflammatory response that ultimately recruits innate immune cells is likely orchestrated by early pattern recognition receptor (PRR) signaling from pulmonary epithelial and endothelial cells (40-42). It is known that prior influenza infection can lead to a cytokine storm during secondary bacterial infection which begins with early pathogen-sensing by the epithelial cells and leads to massive infiltration of immune cells (40, 41). In conjunction with these findings, we observed an early increase in the levels of inflammatory cytokines day 1 post-coinfection in mice that were coinfected compared to mice with only one infection. In addition, following this increase in cytokine and chemokine

levels in our model there was an increase in cellular infiltration into the lungs in coinfected mice by day 3 post-coinfection. Interestingly, this increased inflammatory infiltrate did not result in improved resistance to infection, as coinfected mice did not have a significant reduction in either viral or bacterial burden. Rather, 3 days after coinfection there was a decrease in the rate of clearance of K. oxytoca in mice that had an ongoing viral infection compared to those that did not. These results suggest a potential defect in the ability of the infiltrating immune cells to clear the bacteria. Although the increased inflammation in the lung during coinfection might have been expected to be accompanied by resultant lung damage, there was only a modest, albeit significant, increase in albumin in the BALF from coinfected mice, indicating a minor increase in vascular permeability compared to singly-infected lungs. It is unknown if this slight increase in vasculature leakage is enough to tip the balance toward increased morbidity and mortality or if there is another cause of decreased tolerance.

There are many examples of IAV/bacterial coinfection in which an overwhelming pathogen burden leads to a damaging inflammatory response (9-13). Some models of coinfection with IAV are characterized by an early, acute inflammatory response with increased production of TNFa among other cytokines. These models demonstrate that prior infection with IAV leads to bacterial overgrowth, tissue damage due to the heightened immune response, and ultimately decreased survival (9, 25, 30-32). Our model of IAV/K. oxytoca coinfection echoed the same types of inflammatory immune responses as have been seen in similar coinfection models. In contrast though, IAV/K. oxytoca coinfection did not result in increased bacterial or viral burden at early time points and bacterial burden was controlled despite a delay in clearance at later time points. These results indicate that decreased host resistance may not be solely responsible for decreased survival during coinfection with IAV/K. oxytoca and that perhaps there are other mechanisms which play a role in determining the outcome of the host during this particular coinfection.

Most studies of IAV/S. pneumoniae or IAV/S. aureus coinfections demonstrate that IAV infection suppresses the initial innate immune response to bacteria. IAV has been shown to impair neutrophil phagocytic activity and reactive oxygen species production which leads to increased susceptibility to bacterial infection (9, 43, 44). In addition, type I IFN production during IAV/bacterial coinfection has been shown to suppress CCL2, CXCL1, and CXCL2 levels and subsequently inhibit the recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils (45, 46). Type I IFN has also been demonstrated to suppress type 17 immunity and therefore increase susceptibility to secondary bacterial infection (47, 48). It has been reported that high levels of IFN $\gamma$  suppress the expression of the scavenger receptor MARCO leading to decreased phagocytosis of bacteria by alveolar macrophages (49, 50). The only indication of immunosuppression in our model was a small drop in IFNy levels 1 day after K. oxytoca infection in coinfected lungs compared to IAV infection alone; however, the levels in coinfected animals were higher than those seen in animals infected with bacteria alone. Also by day 3 post-coinfection, IFNy levels in the coinfected mice increased and were higher than the other groups. Elevated IFN $\gamma$  production at day 3 also corresponded to the time at which we observed a delay in bacterial clearance, which may indicate that IFN $\gamma$  suppressed bacterial clearance at this later timepoint in the coinfected group. In contrast, *K. oxytoca*-infected mice produce less IFN $\gamma$  and have no defect in bacterial clearance, supporting the notion that IFN $\gamma$  may hinder clearance during coinfection.

Neutrophils are often essential in the response to bacterial infection, playing important roles in rapid clearance of the bacteria; however, their role during viral/bacterial coinfection has been less clear with some studies arguing their importance for tissue protection while others demonstrate more pathogenic roles (9, 44, 51). Our results showed that during IAV/K. oxytoca coinfection there was massive infiltration of neutrophils without a reduction in bacterial or viral load. One possible explanation for this outcome is that IAV infection impairs neutrophil phagocytic or bactericidal functions so that the neutrophils that are recruited to the lung following coinfection are less able to clear bacteria than naïve neutrophils. It has been shown that neutrophils from IAV-infected lungs have impaired phagocytosis as well as production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and that increasing production of ROS by neutrophils and macrophages can reduce susceptibility to secondary bacterial infections (43, 44, 52). IAV infection has also been shown to diminish the production of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), which is known to activate neutrophils, and administering this cytokine following IAV infection restores neutrophil bactericidal function (9). It has also been shown that during coinfection with IAV and S. pneumoniae, neutrophils produce excessive neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) which cause extensive lung damage without any reduction in pathogen burden (53). In addition, neutrophils during IAV/bacterial coinfection have been shown to have accelerated apoptosis, which can cause tissue damage if not effectively cleared (54). This knowledge, coupled with our results of macrophages downregulating the efferocytic mannose receptor CD206, may point to a source of damage in our coinfection model (55). With this in mind, it is reasonable to suspect that neutrophils in IAV/K. oxytoca coinfected lungs are also dysfunctional, which might explain the delay in bacterial clearance and increase in tissue damage in these animals.

Lastly, many studies show that excess damage and the inability for the lung to return to homeostasis can cause decreased survival (14–16). Our data demonstrate that IAV/*K. oxytoca* coinfected lungs have increased vasculature leakage and tissue damage as indicated by a small but significant increase in albumin in the BALF as compared to IAV-infected lungs, whereas lungs infected with bacteria alone have virtually no lung damage. Although this increase in tissue damage is modest, it is possible that there is a threshold for the amount of damage that can be done to the lung and still allow for function and this small difference is a tipping point in morbidity and mortality during coinfection. One potential factor involved in the inadequate repair response following IAV/*K. oxytoca* coinfection is the shift in phenotype of pulmonary macrophages away from their native, homeostatic state. Macrophages are phenotypically flexible cells that can

perform a variety of different roles depending on a number of environmental cues. On one side of the spectrum of macrophage phenotypes are M1 macrophages which have been defined by their role in recognizing certain bacterial and viral pathogens and generating inflammatory signals in response (55, 56). On the other side of the spectrum are M2 macrophages, which have been defined by their role in maintaining homeostasis through anti-inflammatory and tissue protective actions. However, these classifications are very broad and often do not accurately describe the nuanced states that macrophages can shift between (56). Alveolar macrophages normally play important roles during the resolution of infection to clear inflammatory agents and apoptotic cells and to remodel tissue (36-38, 55-57). However, pulmonary macrophage populations are also altered during inflammatory states, including infection and damage (58-60). The changes that occur to macrophage populations during IAV/bacterial coinfection have not been well studied. During coinfection with IAV/K. oxytoca, alveolar macrophages increase their production of TNFa and take on a more inflammatory phenotype. In addition, there is also a significant influx of macrophages and monocytes to the alveolar space during coinfection that tend to have a more inflammatory phenotype and likely also contribute to a shift in the macrophage population away from a reparative phenotype. Regardless of the origin of the pulmonary macrophages, whether they are alveolar macrophages or macrophages that have infiltrated and are repopulating the lung, it is evident that the population as a whole takes on a new role during coinfection that is directed more toward driving inflammation and is likely less conducive to repair. Several studies have demonstrated the important functions that macrophages play during lung infection. It has been demonstrated that the return to homeostasis mediated by macrophages is essential to survival of influenza infection and that mice suffer worsened outcomes in the absence of macrophages that promote tissue repair (61, 62). In addition, CD206 expression on macrophages is known to play important roles in removing potentially harmful extracellular enzymes generated during infection such as myeloperoxidases which are produced by neutrophils and cause tissue damage (63). CD206 is also an important mediator of phagocytosis of pathogens including influenza virus and Klebsiella pneumoniae, a bacterial species related to K. oxytoca (64-66). We observed downregulation of the mannose receptor CD206 in macrophages from coinfected lungs which could be indicative of a larger functional defect in important repair processes as well as recognition and clearance of pathogens. The overall shift in pulmonary macrophages toward a pro-inflammatory phenotype could be part of an ongoing effort to clear the bacteria that persists during coinfection. It is also likely that the influx of inflammatory cells is not only contributing to the damage done in the lung but also preventing the return to homeostasis by propagating and prolonging the inflammatory response. It is also possible that there are other factors that lead to decreased survival in conjunction with the increased lung damage so that lung function may be compromised independently of vascular leak. Another possibility is that additional organs are impacted by the coinfection. Although there is no evidence of systemic

spread of either pathogen (data not shown), there could be a systemic effect that compromises organ function. In addition, although we see no evidence of overwhelming pathogen burden at early timepoints post-coinfection, it is also possible that there is a loss of control of either the virus or the bacteria at later timepoints, in some mice, which may contribute to the death of these coinfected animals. This seems unlikely though considering that the majority of mice that succumb to infection do so within the first 3 days post-coinfection where we observed no evidence of overwhelming pathogen burdens.

While other models of coinfection point to major perturbations to either host resistance or tolerance as the cause of increased mortality, IAV/K. oxytoca coinfection is instead characterized by more subtle alterations in both of these host responses that work synergistically to decrease survival. These data, in conjunction with previously published studies, demonstrate that the impact of IAV infection on host resistance and tolerance responses is dependent on the bacteria that comprises the secondary infection. Although we observed similar trends as have been previously reported in other coinfections, our data demonstrate that even slight dysfunction of these host responses can lead to poor disease outcomes and it is likely that there are other mechanisms of both host resistance and tolerance that factor into determining the outcome of coinfection. Understanding how IAV impacts the response to a secondary bacterial infection is crucial in producing more effective treatments for these complex pulmonary infections.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Nasopharyngeal Swab Sampling

The survey study was approved by the IRB (institutional review board) at Memorial Hospital of RI before any samples were obtained. The study samples were residual, spent, clinical samples of nasopharyngeal washings obtained in 0.9% normal saline from patients with influenza-like illnesses. These patient samples were obtained through the emergency room and acute care outpatient clinics during the influenza season of 2013-2014. The clinical laboratory performed rapid diagnostic antigen detection methods and by standard PCR methodologies for influenza virus. The research samples were obtained from spent samples prior to their final disposal. A waiver of informed consent by IRB approval was granted as the samples were patient de-identified by the clinical laboratory staff before providing the samples for the research study. The samples were maintained at -80C until further study.

### Mice

All animal studies were approved by the Brown University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and carried out in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Animals of the National Institutes of Health. The University is accredited by the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International (AAALAC). Brown University's PHS Assurance Number: D16-00183 (A3284-01), expiration date July 31, 2022. The USDA Registration Number is 15-R-0003. Brown University IACUC was approved on September 28, 2016, and the animal protocol number is 1308000011. C57BL/6J mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory. Mice used were female and 7–9 weeks old.

### **Pulmonary Infection**

Mice under anesthesia and analgesia by ketamine (70-100 mg/kg) and xylazine (20-40 mg/kg) injection were administered IAV intranasally in a volume of 30 µL using a sterile saline vehicle. Mice were infected with 300 PFU influenza A virus (A/WSN/33 (H1N1)) strain. Influenza A virus was obtained from Akiko Iwasaki at Yale University. It was propagated using MDCK cells using standard procedures. Klebsiella oxytoca was cultured from glycerol bead stocks in 50 mL Todd-Hewitt broth overnight. The next day 1 mL of the overnight culture was diluted in 50 mL Todd-Hewitt broth and allowed to grow to log phase before being washed and resuspended in a sterile saline vehicle. Mice were infected intranasally with  $10^6$  CFU in a volume of 30  $\mu$ L. Coinfected mice were administered 300 PFU IAV followed by 10<sup>6</sup> CFU K. oxytoca 5 days later. Mice were monitored daily for a minimum of 3 days, and every other day for the remainder of the experiment, except for survival and weight monitoring which was conducted daily.

# **Confirming Klebsiella Oxytoca Identity**

Bacterial DNA was isolated from a culture grown as described above using the QIAamp UCP Pathogen Mini Kit (Qiagen). Genomic DNA was sonicated to a median size of 300 bp using a Covaris S220 instrument. Fragmented DNA was subsequently prepared into sequencing libraries using the Ovation Ultralow Library System V2 from Nugen according to the manufacturer's instructions. The library was then sequenced on an Illumina HiSeqX machine in the 2x150 bp configuration, yielding a total of 3,234,751 paired end reads. Raw reads were deposited in the NCBI Short Read Archive (SRA) under accession number SRP148653. Reads were trimmed of Illumina adapters and low quality bases using Trimmomatic (67) and then assembled using SPAdes (version 3.11.0) (68). Preliminary Sanger sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene and Blastn analysis of individual contigs suggested that this strain was related to Klebsiella oxytoca. Therefore, we calculated average nucleotide identity of our scaffolds (ANI) based on MUMmer (69) using the web-based tool JSpeciesWS (70) using four completely sequenced genomes of K. oxytoca as a reference. This analysis found that our strain, which we named JK01, was in fact K. oxytoca and shared >99% average nucleotide identity with strains CAV1335 and CAV1099. However, this strain was less similar to CAV1374 and KONIH1 (~92.6% ANI). This Whole Genome Shotgun project has been deposited at DDBJ/ENA/GenBank under the accession QMBO00000000. The version described in this paper is version QMBO01000000.

# **BALF** Collection

Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) was collected via exposing the trachea, inserting a BD Venflon IV catheter into the trachea,

removing the needle and inserting a 1 mL syringe with PBS. 1mL of PBS was flushed into the lung and collected. BALF was then centrifuged to isolate cells which were counted on a Moxi Z Automated Cell Counter (Orflo) and used for flow cytometry analyses and cell-free supernatants were collected for cytokine analyses and albumin content quantification.

# Lung Tissue Cell Collection

For isolation of cells from lungs, the right superior and middle lobes were perfused with 15 ml of PBS. The lung tissue was cut into small pieces and incubated for 60 min at  $37^{\circ}$ C in 2 ml of digestion media containing type 4 collagenase (Worthington Biochemical Corporation) and DNAse I (Sigma-Aldrich). Digested lung tissue was then sieved passed through a 70  $\mu$ M cell strainer and washed with PBS. After washing the cell pellet was resuspended in 1.5 ml 44% Percoll/0.15M NaCl and layered over 1 ml of 56% Percoll/0.15M NaCl. Percoll layers were centrifuged at room temperature for 20 min at 600 g with minimal acceleration and deceleration to form a gradient with a band of cells at the interphase which were then collected and washed with 10 mL PBS. Isolated lung cells were counted on a Moxi Z Automated Cell Counter (Orflo) and used for flow cytometry analyses.

# **BALF Albumin Content Quantification**

Cell-free supernatants taken from BALF were tested for the concentration of albumin using the BCG Albumin Assay Kit (Sigma Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's instructions, using a dilution series of albumin standard to determine a standard curve which was used to calculate measurements of albumin in each sample. Absorbances were measured for each sample at 620 nm on a SpectraMax<sup>®</sup> M3 Multi-Mode Microplate Reader (Molecular Devices) using SoftMax Pro 6.4 software.

# Viral Quantification

Viral genome copies were measured using RNA isolated from the unperfused right inferior lobe using the ReliaPrep<sup>TM</sup> RNA Tissue Miniprep System according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega). RNA then underwent PCR with random hexamers (Invitrogen). Viral genome copies from the cDNA were then measured via qPCR using the forward primer (5'-CATGGAATGGCTAAAGACAAGACC-3'), the reverse primer (5'-CCATTAAGGGCATTTTGGACA-3'), and the probe (5'-[6-FAM]TTTGTGCCCA[BHQ1a-Q]-3') specific for the M gene of influenza A viruses. qPCR was run on a Roche LightCycler<sup>®</sup> 96 Real-Time PCR System and analyzed with the LightCycler<sup>®</sup> 96 software.

# **Bacterial Quantification**

Unperfused superior lobes of mouse lungs were harvested and homogenized by a gentleMACS<sup>TM</sup> Dissociator (miltenyi Biotec) in 1mL of PBS. The homogenate was immediately serial diluted by 10-fold up to six times. 5  $\mu$ L of each dilution were then plated on a sheep's blood agar plate per sample. The plates were then incubated under 37°C overnight and the colonies were counted as a measurement for the bacterial load in the infected lungs.

## Flow Cytometry Analysis of Cell Subsets

The following antibodies were used to identify cell subsets: Lv6C eFluor<sup>©</sup> 450 (clone HK1.4, eBioscience), F4/80 eFluor<sup>©</sup> 660 (clone BM8, eBioscience), CD11c Brilliant Violet<sup>TM</sup> 711 (clone N418, BioLegend), MHC II PerCP-eFluor<sup>©</sup> 710 (clone M5/114.15.2, eBioscience), CD206 PE-Dazzle<sup>TM</sup> 594 (clone C068C2, BioLegend), TNFα Alexa Fluor<sup>®</sup> 488 (clone MP6-XT22, eBioscience), Siglec-F PE (clone E50-2440, BD Biosciences) and Ly6G PE/Cy7 (clone 1A8, BioLegend). Dead cells were excluded from analyses using Fixable Viability Dye eFluor<sup>©</sup> 506 (eBioscience). For surface staining, cells were first washed with 1x PBS then incubated with Fixable Viability Dye diluted in 1x PBS for 20 min at room temperature. Cells were washed again with 1x PBS and then treated with anti-CD16/CD32 Fc receptor blocking antibody (clone 2.4G2) in 1x PBS (1% FBS) for 10 min on ice. Surface staining antibodies were then added and incubated for 30 min on ice. Cells were washed, then fixed and permeabilized with BD Cytofix/Cytoperm<sup>TM</sup> for 20 min on ice (BD Biosciences). Then cells were washed and stained with intracellular antibodies in the permeabilization buffer from the BD Cytofix/Cytoperm<sup>TM</sup> kit on ice for 30 min before undergoing a final wash and resuspension with 1x PBS (1% FBS). Samples were acquired on an Attune NxT Acoustic Focusing Cytometer (Thermo Fisher) or a FACSAria Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences) and downstream analyses were performed using FlowJo v10 software (Tree Star, Inc.). Isotype, fluorescence minus one, and unstained samples were used as controls to determine positive and negative gating of experimental samples. Viable cells were determined by first gating out doublets and debris using forward and side scatter properties and then selecting for cells with low staining with Fixable Viability Dye eFluor<sup>©</sup> 506 (Supplemental Figure 1A). Total cell numbers of each cell subset were determined by multiplying initial cell counts obtained on the Moxi Z Automated Cell Counter (Orflo) by the percentage of total viable cells.

# **Cytokine Analysis**

Cytokine concentrations were determined in BALF using a custom LEGENDplex bead-based immunoassay (BioLegend) according to manufacturer instructions. The samples were acquired on an Attune NxT Acoustic Focusing Cytometer (Thermo Fisher) and the data files were analyzed by LEGENDPlex Data Analysis Software (Vigenetech). IL-6 concentrations in BALF were determined via the BD OptEIA<sup>TM</sup> ELISA set according to manufacturer instructions (BD Biosciences).

# LDH Cytotoxicity Assay

The LDH cytotoxicity assay was conducted using the Pierce<sup>TM</sup> LDH Cytotoxicity Assay Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions on BALF samples from days 1 and 3 post-coinfection. Absorbances were measured for each sample at 490 nm and 680 nm on a SpectraMax<sup>®</sup> M3 Multi-Mode Microplate Reader (Molecular Devices) using SoftMax Pro 6.4 software.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism software. Fisher's exact test, log rank, ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests, and *t*-tests were performed where appropriate.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KL and AJ contributed to the conception and design of the study; KL performed the animal experiments, analyzed the data, performed statistical analysis, and made the figures; JM-L, DC, and PB identified and sequenced the *K. oxytoca* strain; SO obtained and provided the nasopharyngeal patient samples; KL and AJ wrote the manuscript; All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA) YFAA15 D15AP00100, NIGMS COBRE Award P20GM109035, National Heart Lung Blood Institute (NHLBI) 1R01HL126887-01A1, and Brown Respiratory Research Training Program (BRRTP) NIH T32HL134625.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Dr. Meredith Crane for helpful commentary on the manuscript, as well as Kevin Carlson at the Brown University Flow Cytometry and Sorting Facility for use of the FACS Aria, and Holly Tran for lab management support.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02377/full#supplementary-material

Supplemental Figure 1 | Flow cytometry gating strategy. First, viable cells were determined by gating out doublet cells based on FSC-A/FSC-H and SSC-A/SSC-H and then cellular debris/dead cells were gated out on FSC-A/SSC-A. From there, viable cells were gated on their low staining of viability dye (A). Viable cells were further separated into cell subsets (B). First, viable cells were gated based on Ly6G and F4/80. Ly6G+F4/80- cells were called neutrophils. Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> cells were further gated on CD11c. Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells were called alveolar and repopulating macrophages. Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup> were further separated based on expression of Ly6C and MHC II. Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>-</sup> cells were called inflammatory monocytes and Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> were called infiltrating macrophages. Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> macrophages and Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>-</sup>CD11c<sup>-</sup>Ly6C<sup>+</sup>MHC II<sup>+</sup> macrophages were further separated by their expression of CD206 and MHC II or TNF $\alpha$  in order to determine polarization. To establish the identity of Ly6G<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells, we compared their expression of Siglec-F, a known alveolar macrophage marker, and CD11c on days 1 (C) and 3 (D) post-coinfection in the BALF.

**Supplemental Figure 2** | An LDH assay was conducted on BALF from days 1 and 3 post-coinfection as a measure of cytotoxicity in the lungs. \* denotes  $P \leq 0.05$  between indicated groups. Data were analyzed with ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests. Error bars represent SEM. Data are combined from at least four independent experiments with at least four mice per group.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Disease Burden and Mortality Estimates. *World Health Organization*. Available online at: http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global\_burden\_disease/estimates/en/index3.html
- UNICEF. One Is Too Many: Ending Child Deaths From Pneumonia and Diarrhoea. Available online at: https://www.unicef.org/publications/index\_ 93020.html
- Morris DE, Cleary DW, Clarke SC, Clarke SC, Morris DE. Secondary bacterial infections associated with influenza pandemics. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:1041. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01041
- Medzhitov R, Schneider DS, Soares MP. Disease tolerance as a defense strategy. Science (2012) 335:936–41. doi: 10.1126/science.1214935
- Soares MP, Teixeira L, Moita LF. Disease tolerance and immunity in host protection against infection. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:83–96. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.136
- Schneider D, Ayres JS. Two ways to survive infection: what resistance and tolerance can teach us about treating infectious diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:889–95. doi: 10.1038/nri2432
- Crane MJ, Lee KM, Fitzgerald ES, Jamieson AM. Surviving deadly lung infections : innate host tolerance mechanisms in the pulmonary system. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1421. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01421
- Quinton LJ, Mizgerd JP. Dynamics of lung defense in pneumonia: resistance, resilience, and remodeling. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2015) 77:407–430. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021014-071937
- Ishikawa H, Fukui T, Ino S, Sasaki H, Awano N, Kohda C, et al. Influenza virus infection causes neutrophil dysfunction through reduced G-CSF production and an increased risk of secondary bacteria infection in the lung. *Virology* (2016) 499:23–9. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2016.08.025
- Robinson KM, Lee B, Scheller EV, Mandalapu S, Enelow RI, Kolls JK, et al. The role of IL-27 in susceptibility to post-influenza *Staphylococcus aureus* pneumonia. *Respir Res.* (2015) 16:10. doi: 10.1186/s12931-015-0168-8
- Sharma-chawla N, Sender V, Kershaw O, Gruber AD, Volckmar J, Henriquesnormark B. Influenza A virus infection predisposes hosts to secondary infection with different *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotypes with similar outcome but serotype-specific manifestation. *Infect Immun.* (2016) 84:3445– 57. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00422-16
- Ellis GT, Davidson S, Crotta S, Branzk N, Papayannopoulos V, Wack A. TRAIL + monocytes and monocyte-related cells cause lung damage and thereby increase susceptibility to influenza-*Streptococcus pneumoniae* coinfection. *EMBO Rep.* (2015) 16:1203–18. doi: 10.15252/embr.201540473
- Ghoneim HE, Thomas PG, McCullers JA. Depletion of alveolar macrophages during influenza infection facilitates bacterial superinfections. J Immunol. (2013) 191:1250–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300014
- Jamieson AM, Pasman L, Yu S, Gamradt P, Homer RJ, Decker T, et al. Role of tissue protection in lethal respiratory viral-bacterial coinfection. *Science* (2013) 340:1230–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1233632
- Ivanov S, Renneson J, Fontaine J, Barthelemy A, Paget C, Fernandez EM, et al. Interleukin-22 reduces lung inflammation during influenza A virus infection and protects against secondary bacterial infection. *J Virol.* (2013) 87:6911–24. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02943-12
- Talmi-Frank D, Altboum Z, Solomonov I, Udi Y, Jaitin DA, Klepfish M, et al. Extracellular matrix proteolysis by MT1-MMP contributes to influenzarelated tissue damage and mortality. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 20:458–70. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.09.005
- Podschun R, Ullman U. Klebsiella spp. as nosocomial pathogens: epidemiology, taxonomy, typing methods, and pathogenicity factors. Clin Microbiol Rev. (1998) 11:589–603.
- Klein EY, Monteforte B, Gupta A, Jiang W, May L, Hsieh YH, et al. The frequency of influenza and bacterial coinfection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses*. (2016) 10:394–403. doi: 10.1111/irv.12398
- Nair H, Brooks WA, Katz M, Roca A, Berkley JA, Madhi SA, et al. Global burden of respiratory infections due to seasonal influenza in young children : a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* (2011) 378:1917–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61051-9
- 20. Metersky ML, Masterton RG, Lode H, File TM, Babinchak T. Epidemiology , microbiology , and treatment considerations for bacterial

pneumonia complicating influenza. Int J Infect Dis. (2012) 16:e321-31. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2012.01.003

- Morens DM, Taubenberger JK, Fauci AS. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza : implications for pandemic influenza preparedness. J Infect Dis. (2008) 198:1–9. doi: 10.1086/591708
- Chertow DS, Memoli MJ. Bacterial coinfection in influenza: a grand rounds review. JAMA (2013) 309:275–82. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.194139
- Duckworth G. Clinical implications of antimicrobial resistance: how big is the problem? *Int J Infect Dis.* (2002) 6:S1–7. doi: 10.1016/S1201-9712(02)90148-7
- 24. Macgowan AP. Clinical implications of antimicrobial resistance for therapy. J Antimicrob Chemother. (2008) 62:105–14. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkn357
- Levine AM, Koeningsknecht V, Stark JM. Decreased pulmonary clearance of S. pneumoniae following influenza A infection in mice. J Virol Methods (2001) 94:173–86. doi: 10.1016/S0166-0934(01)00287-7
- 26. Kash JC, Walters KA, Davis AS, Sandouk A, Schwartzman LM, Jagger BW, et al. Lethal synergism of 2009 pandemic h1n1 influenza virus and streptococcus pneumoniae coinfection is associated with loss of murine lung repair responses. *MBio* (2011) 2:1–9. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00172-11
- 27. Cella E, Ciccozzi M, Presti A Lo, Fogolari M, Taj A, Prosperi M, et al. Multidrug resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae strains circulating in hospital setting : whole- genome sequencing and Bayesian phylogenetic analysis for outbreak investigations. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03581-4
- Zechner EL. Inflammatory disease caused by intestinal pathobionts. Curr Opin Microbiol. (2017) 35:64–9. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2017.01.011
- Gao H-N, Lu H-Z, Cao B, Du B, Shang H, Gan J, et al. Clinical findings in 111 cases of influenza A (H7N9) virus infection. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:2277–85. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1305584
- Okamoto S, Kawabata S, Nakagawa I, Okuno Y, Goto T, Sano K, et al. Influenza A virus-infected hosts boost an invasive type of *Streptococcus pyogenes* infection in mice. *J Virol.* (2003) 77:4104–12. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.7.4104-4112.2003
- Breslow-Deckman JM, Mattingly CM, Birket SE, Hoskins SN, Ho TN, Garvy BA, et al. Linezolid Decreases susceptibility to secondary bacterial pneumonia postinfluenza infection in mice through its effects on IFN-g. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:1792–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300180
- 32. Liu X, He Y, Xiao K, White JR, Fusco DN, Papanicolaou GA. Effect of linezolid on clinical severity and pulmonary cytokines in a murine model of influenza A and *Staphylococcus aureus* coinfection. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e57483. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057483
- Guth AM, Janssen WJ, Bosio CM, Crouch EC, Henson PM, Dow SW. Lung environment determines unique phenotype of alveolar macrophages. *AJP Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2009) 296:L936–46. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.90625.2008
- Henderson RF. Use of bronchoalveolar lavage to detect lung damage. *Environ Health Perspect*. (1984) 56:115–29. doi: 10.1289/ehp.8456115
- Hussell T, Bell TJ. Alveolar macrophages: plasticity in a tissue-specific context. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:81–93. doi: 10.1038/nri3600
- Wager CML, Wormley FL. Classical versus alternative macrophage activation: the Ying and the Yang in host defense against pulmonary fungal infections. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:1023–35. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.65
- Alber A, Howie SEM, Wallace WAH, Hirani N. The role of macrophages in healing the wounded lung. *Int J Exp Pathol.* (2012) 93:243–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2613.2012.00833.x
- Minutti CM, Knipper JA, Allen JE, Zaiss DMW. Tissue-specific contribution of macrophages to wound healing. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* (2017) 61:3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.08.006
- Garbi N, Lambrecht BN. Location, function, and ontogeny of pulmonary macrophages during the steady state. *Eur J Physiol.* (2017) 469:561–72. doi: 10.1007/s00424-017-1965-3
- Rynda-Apple A, Robinson KM, Alcorn JF. Influenza and bacterial superinfection: Illuminating the immunologic mechanisms of disease. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:3764–3770. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00298-15
- Gómez MI, Prince A. Airway epithelial cell signaling in response to bacterial pathogens. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2008) 43:11–19. doi: 10.1002/ppul.20735
- Pober JS, Sessa WC. Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. (2007) 7:803–815. doi: 10.1038/nri2171
- 43. McNamee LA, Harmsen AG. Both influenza-induced neutrophil dysfunction and neutrophil-independent mechanisms contribute to increased

susceptibility to a secondary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. Infect Immun. (2006) 74:6707–21. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00789-06

- Sun K, Metzger DW. Influenza infection suppresses NADPH oxidasedependent phagocytic bacterial clearance and enhances susceptibility to secondary methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus infection. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:3301–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303049
- Nakamura S, Davis KM, Weiser JN. Synergistic stimulation of type I interferons during influenza virus coinfection promotes *Streptococcus pneumoniae* colonization in mice. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:3657–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI57762
- 46. Shahangian A, Chow EK, Tian X, Kang JR, Ghaffari A, Liu SY, et al. Type I IFNs mediate development of postinfluenza bacterial pneumonia in mice. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:1910–1920. doi: 10.1172/JCI35412
- 47. Lee B, Robinson KM, Mchugh KJ, Scheller E V, Mandalapu S, Chen C, et al. Influenza-induced type I interferon enhances susceptibility to gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial pneumonia in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2015) 309:158–67. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00338.2014
- Li W, Moltedo B, Moran TM. Type I Interferon induction during influenza virus infection increases susceptibility to secondary *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection by negative regulation of T cells. *J Virol.* (2012) 86:12304–12. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01269-12
- Sun K, Metzger DW. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-γ during recovery from influenza infection. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:558–64. doi: 10.1038/nm1765
- Wang Z, Zhou S, Sun C, Lei T, Peng J, Li W, et al. Interferon-γ inhibits nonopsonized phagocytosis of macrophages via an mTORC1-c/EBPβ pathway. J Innate Immun. (2015) 7:165–176. doi: 10.1159/000366421
- Tate MD, Deng Y-M, Jones JE, Anderson GP, Brooks AG, Reading PC. Neutrophils ameliorate lung injury and the development of severe disease during influenza infection. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:7441–50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902497
- Subramaniam R, Barnes PF, Fletcher K, Boggaram V, Hillberry Z, Neuenschwander P, et al. Protecting against post-influenza bacterial pneumonia by increasing phagocyte recruitment and ROS production. *J Infect Dis.* (2014) 209:1827–36. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit830
- Moorthy AN, Narasaraju T, Rai P, Perumalsamy R, Tan KB, Wang S, et al. *In vivo* and *in vitro* studies on the roles of neutrophil extracellular traps during secondary pneumococcal pneumonia after primary pulmonary influenza infection. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:56. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013. 00056
- Engelich G, White M, Hartshorn KL. Neutrophil survival is markedly reduced by incubation with influenza virus and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: role of respiratory burst. *J Leukoc Biol*. (2001) 69:50–6. doi: 10.1189/jlb.69.1.50
- Gordon S, Plüddemann A. Macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells: a critical assessment. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:127. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00127
- Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep.* (2014) 6:13. doi: 10.12703/P6-13
- Herold S, Mayer K, Lohmeyer J. Acute lung injury: how macrophages orchestrate resolution of inflammation and tissue repair. *Front Immunol.* (2011) 2:65. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00065
- Landsman L, Jung S. Lung macrophages serve as obligatory intermediate between blood monocytes and alveolar macrophages. J Immunol. (2007) 179:3488–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.6.3488
- Guilliams M, De Kleer I, Henri S, Post S, Vanhoutte L, De Prijck S, et al. Alveolar macrophages develop from fetal monocytes that differentiate into

long-lived cells in the first week of life via GM-CSF. J Exp Med. (2013) 210:1977–92. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131199

- Misharin A V., Morales-Nebreda L, Reyfman PA, Cuda CM, Walter JM, McQuattie-Pimentel AC, et al. Monocyte-derived alveolar macrophages drive lung fibrosis and persist in the lung over the life span. J Exp Med. (2017) 214:2387–404. doi: 10.1084/jem.20162152
- Snelgrove RJ, Goulding J, Didierlaurent AM, Lyonga D, Vekaria S, Edwards L, et al. A critical function for CD200 in lung immune homeostasis and the severity of influenza infection. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:1074–83. doi: 10.1038/ni.1637
- 62. Narasaraju T, Ng HH, Phoon MC, Chow VTK. MCP-1 antibody treatment enhances damage and impedes repair of the alveolar epithelium in influenza pneumonitis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2010) 42:732–43. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2008-0423OC
- Shepherd VL, Hoidal JR. Clearance of neutrophil-derived myeloperoxidase by the macrophage mannose receptor. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (1990) 2:335–40. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb/2.4.335
- Upham JP, Pickett D, Irimura T, Anders EM, Reading PC. Macrophage receptors for influenza A virus: role of the macrophage galactose-type lectin and mannose receptor in viral entry. J Virol. (2010) 84:3730–37. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02148-09
- 65. Kostina E, Ofek I, Crouch E, Friedman R, Sirota L, Klinger G, et al. Noncapsulated klebsiella pneumoniae bearing mannose-containing O antigens is rapidly eradicated from mouse lung and triggers cytokine production by macrophages following opsonization with surfactant protein D. *Infect Immun.* (2005) 73:8282–90. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.12.8282
- 66. Sahly H, Keisari Y, Crouch E, Sharon N, Ofek I. Recognition of bacterial surface polysaccharides by lectins of the innate immune system and its contribution to defense against infection : the case of pulmonary pathogens. *Infect Immun.* (2008) 76:1322–32. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00910-07
- Bolger AM, Lohse M, Usadel B. Trimmomatic: A flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data. *Bioinformatics* (2014) 30:2114–20. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu170
- Bankevich A, Nurk S, Antipov D, Gurevich AA, Dvorkin M, Kulikov AS, et al. SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. J Comput Biol. (2012) 19:455–77. doi: 10.1089/cmb.2012.0021
- Kurtz S, Phillippy A, Delcher AL, Smoot M, Shumway M, Antonescu C, et al. Versatile and open software for comparing large genomes. *Genome Biol.* (2004) 5:R12.1–12.9. doi: 10.1186/gb-2004-5-2-r12
- Richter M, Rosselló-Móra R, Glöckner FO, Peplies J. JSpeciesWS: a web server for prokaryotic species circumscription based on pairwise genome comparison. *Bioinformatics* (2016) 32:929–31. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btv681

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Lee, Morris-Love, Cabral, Belenky, Opal and Jamieson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# IFNAR2 Is Required for Anti-influenza Immunity and Alters Susceptibility to Post-influenza Bacterial Superinfections

Kelly M. Shepardson, Kyle Larson, Laura L. Johns, Kayla Stanek, Hanbyul Cho, Julia Wellham, Haley Henderson and Agnieszka Rynda-Apple\*

Rynda-Apple Laboratory, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Montana State University, Bozeman, MT, United States

Influenza virus infections particularly when followed by bacterial superinfections (BSI) result in significant morbidities and mortalities especially during influenza pandemics. Type I interferons (IFNs) regulate both anti-influenza immunity and host susceptibility to subsequent BSIs. These type I IFNs consisting of, among others, 14 IFN- $\alpha$ 's and a single IFN- $\beta$ , are recognized by and signal through the heterodimeric type I IFN receptor (IFNAR) comprised of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. However, the individual receptor subunits can bind IFN- $\beta$  or IFN- $\alpha$ 's independently of each other and induce distinct signaling. The role of type I IFN signaling in regulating host susceptibility to both viral infections and BSI has been only examined with respect to IFNAR1 deficiency. Here, we demonstrate that despite some redundancies, IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 have distinct roles in regulating both anti-influenza A virus (IAV) immunity and in shaping host susceptibility to subsequent BSI caused by S. aureus. We found IFNAR2 to be critical for anti-viral immunity. In contrast to Ifnar1-/- mice, IAV-infected Ifnar2-/- mice displayed both increased and accelerated morbidity and mortality compared to WT mice. Furthermore, unlike IFNAR1, IFNAR2 was sufficient to generate protection from lethal IAV infection when stimulated with IFN- $\beta$ . With regards to BSI, unlike what we found previously in *lfnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice,  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice were not susceptible to BSI induced on day 3 post-IAV, even though absence of IFNAR2 resulted in increased viral burden and an increased inflammatory environment. The *lfnar* $2^{-/-}$  mice similar to what we previously found in *lfnar* $1^{-/-}$  mice were less susceptible than WT mice to BSI induced on day 7 post-IAV, indicating that signaling through a complete receptor increases BSI susceptibility late during clinical IAV infection. Thus, our results support a role for IFNAR2 in induction of anti-IAV immune responses that are involved in altering host susceptibility to BSI and are essential for decreasing the morbidity and mortality associated with IAV infection. These results begin to elucidate some of the mechanisms involved in how the individual IFNAR subunits shape the anti-viral immune response. Moreover, our results highlight the importance of examining the contributions of entire receptors, as individual subunits can induce distinct outcomes as shown here.

Keywords: IFNAR2, IFNAR1, Influenza, Staphylococcus aureus, superinfection

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

John F. Alcorn, University of Pittsburgh, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Irving Coy Allen, Virginia Tech, United States Howard M. Johnson, University of Florida, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Agnieszka Rynda-Apple agnieszka.rynda@montana.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 August 2018 Accepted: 22 October 2018 Published: 09 November 2018

#### Citation:

Shepardson KM, Larson K, Johns LL, Stanek K, Cho H, Wellham J, Henderson H and Rynda-Apple A (2018) IFNAR2 Is Required for Anti-influenza Immunity and Alters Susceptibility to Post-influenza Bacterial Superinfections. Front. Immunol. 9:2589. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02589

66

# INTRODUCTION

Influenza A virus (IAV) causes one of the most common respiratory infections worldwide. While infection from IAV can be detrimental on its own, more typically, anti-viral immune responses induced during IAV infection alter host susceptibility to bacterial superinfections (BSI). Over the past decades, *Staphylococcus aureus* has become one of the predominant bacteria involved in BSIs leading to increased morbidity and mortality, especially during IAV pandemics (1–3). A better understanding of the anti-viral immune factors that are involved in altering the host susceptibility to BSI is essential for decreasing the morbidity and mortality associated with post-IAV BSI.

It is well-known that type I IFNs, including a single IFN- $\beta$  and 14 IFN- $\alpha$ 's, have an established role in the anti-viral immunity to influenza and are known to regulate host susceptibility to the subsequent BSIs. Because type I IFNs are thought to require recognition by the heterodimeric IFNAR1/IFNAR2 receptor, depletion of the IFNAR1 subunit (Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>) is assumed to render mice unresponsive to type I IFN signaling. However, previous studies on the role of IFNAR1 in influenza infection and post-influenza BSI models showed conflicting results. Absence of IFNAR1 either in knockout mice or by antibody blockage resulted in a range of responses. These responses varied from increased mouse susceptibility to infection (4-7), no significant antiviral effect (8), no effect on survival from influenza disease (9), or reduced susceptibility by the means of better controlled inflammation (10). Recent reports have also demonstrated that IFN-β can ligate to either IFNAR1 or IFNAR2 individually, while IFN- $\alpha$  appeared to only ligate to IFNAR2, and that the two different IFN-B/IFNAR subunit complexes can transduce expression of distinct sets of genes (11). Additional evidence for the existence of differential signaling by IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 is supported by an absence of sepsis morbidity in  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$ mice compared to high morbidity in  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  and WT mice. These conflicting results prompted us to investigate whether the individual IFNAR subunits are sufficient for interferon signaling, and whether they have non-redundant roles in mediating host immunity to IAV infections and subsequent BSIs. Here, we report that despite some redundancies, IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 have distinct roles in regulating both anti-IAV immunity and in shaping host susceptibility to a subsequent S. aureus BSI. Importantly, these results highlight the need to understand the contribution of individual IFNAR subunits to the infections mediated by either virus or bacteria alone, or together in the context of BSI.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Mice

Male and female wild type (WT) C57BL/6 (CD45.2), *Ifnar1*<sup>-/-</sup>, and *Ifnar2*<sup>-/-</sup> (Ifnar2tm1(KOMP)Vlcg)mice (originally purchased from Jackson Laboratories or UC Davis KOMP Repository) were bred and maintained at Montana State University (Bozeman, MT) Animal Resources Center under pathogen-free conditions. All mice used in this study were between 6 and 8 weeks of age at the initiation of experiment.

Mice were weighed and monitored for signs of morbidity and mortality. All care and procedures were in accordance with the recommendations of the NIH, the USDA, and the *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* (8th ed.) (12). Animal protocols were reviewed and approved by the MSU Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). MSU is accredited by the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (AAALAC; number 713).

# **Inoculations and Challenge**

Nonsurgical intratracheal (i.t.) inoculations were performed as described previously for all inoculations and challenges (13). Virus inoculation: mice were inoculated with 100  $\mu$ L of PBS or 0.1LD<sub>50</sub> (1,500 plaque forming units [PFU]) of IAV strain A/PR8/8/34 (PR8; H1N1). Bacterial challenge: mice were inoculated with 100 µL of PBS or 108 CFU of LAC strain of S. aureus (MRSA pulsed-field type USA300; was a kind gift from Jovanka Voyich at MSU). Our previously described procedure for determining CFUs (13) and PFUs (14) was followed on lung homogenate samples. Phosphorylation of STAT3 (P-STAT3) inhibition: mice were inoculated 6 h after IAV infection with 100 µL containing 100 µg of FLLL32 [Cayman Chemical, (15)] in 10% DMSO. Control mice were inoculated with equal volume of PBS with 10% DMSO. Mouse recombinant IFN inoculation (mrIFN): mice were inoculated with either 10<sup>4</sup> IU mrIFN-β (PBLassay bioscience) or with 2.5  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> IU mrIFN- $\alpha$ A in 100 µL PBS (BioLegend) at 0, 3, and 6 h post-IAV infection.

# Preparation of BALF Samples and Cytokine Analyses

Mice were sacrificed by intraperitoneal (i.p.) administration of 90 mg/kg of body weight sodium pentobarbital. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) was performed by washing the lungs with 3 mM EDTA in PBS (16) and cellular composition was determined by hemocytometer cell counts and differential counts of cytospins after staining with Quick-Diff solution (Siemens; Medical Solutions Diagnostics, Tarrytown, NY). Cell-free BAL fluid (BALF) was used to determine levels of IL-13 (4-500 pg/ml) and IFN-a (31.3-20.00 pg/ml) using ELISA kits (Ready-SET-Go; eBioscience, San Diego, CA), and levels of IL-1a (Minimal Detectable Concentration (MDC); 1.3 pg/mL), IFNy (MDC; 0.8 pg/mL), TNFα (MDC; 1.9 pg/mL), IL-1β (MDC; 2.8 pg/mL), IL-10 (MDC; 2.1 pg/mL), IL-6 (MDC; 0.9 pg/mL), IFN-β (MDC; 4 pg/mL) using the LEGENDplex mouse inflammation panel (BioLegend, San Diego, CA). LEGENDplex panel was acquired on LSRII running FACS-Diva software (both obtained from BD Bioscience) and analyzed using BioLegend data analysis software. Results are from  $\geq$ 4 mice per group (biological replicates) and 2 technical replicates per mouse.

# qRT-PCR

Mice were inoculated with IAV or PBS as described above and euthanized 24 h after inoculation. Lungs were homogenized and RNA was extracted immediately using Trizol reagent and chloroform method per manufacturer's protocol. RNA was reverse transcribed with QuantiTect reverse transcription kit (Qiagen, USA). Primers for all murine genes of interest were designed, unless denoted, with PrimerQuest (IDT) and all were manufactured by IDT, USA. Sequences are:

STAT3 (17) Fwd: GGATCGCTGAGGTACAACCC STAT3 Rev: GTCAGGGGTCTCGACTGTCT STAT6 (18) Fwd: TCTCCACGAGCTTCACATTG STAT6 Rev: GACCACCAAGGGCAGAGAC STAT1 Fwd: GACCCTAAGCGAACTGGATAC STAT1 Rev: TGTCGCCAGAGAGAAATTCGTGT STAT2 Fwd: CGGCCAACAGGTGAAATTAAG STAT2 Rev: GGGACTTACAAAGGAGCAGAA IRF3 Fwd: CCCACAGTGCTACTGATACC IRF3 Rev: GTCACACCAGACTTAGGAATGT IRF7 Fwd: TATGCAAGGCATACCTGGAG IRF7 Rev: CGATGTCTTCGTAGAGACTGTT

rpl13a fwd: CTCTGGAGGAGAAACGGAAGGAAA, rev: GGTCTTGAGGACCTCTGTGAACTT. All reactions were performed on Roche LightCycler 96 real-time PCR detection system with iTaq universal SYBR green supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). The  $\Delta\Delta C_t$  method was used to assess changes in mRNA abundance, using rpl13a as the housekeeping gene. Results presented are the mean and standard deviation from three biological and three experimental replicates.

# Survival, Morbidity, LDH, and Albumin

Mice were weighed on a daily basis and assessed for signs of morbidity and mortality. Morbidity measures were as follow: 0, normal; 1, hunched back or ruffled fur; 2, both hunched back and ruffled fur; 3, not moving over a 5 min period. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) in the cell-free BALF was measured using the CytoTox 96<sup>®</sup> Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay (Promega) and albumin in the cell-free BALF was measured using QuantiChrom BCG Albumin Assay Kit (BioAssay Systems) following the manufacturers protocols.

### **Primary Alveolar Epithelial Cell Harvest**

After mice were euthanized, their lungs were perfused with PBS containing gentamycin (10 µg/mL) injected into the heart. Lungs were then lavaged with PBS containing 3 mM EDTA, filled with 1 mL PBS containing Dispase (50 units/mL) and Elastase (5 units/mL) to degrade extracellular matrix proteins and tied off. Lungs were incubated at 37°C while shaking for 1 h and following incubation elastase activity was terminated by addition of fetal bovine serum (FBS) and Dnase (4 units/mL) was also added to the lung homogenate samples to ensure degradation of extracellular DNA. The lungs were then dissected and aspirated through syringes to create a single cell suspension. The cell suspension was filtered (100 and 50  $\mu$ m) and separated by a discontinuous Percoll gradient consisting of a heavy layer (5.2 mL Percoll, 50  $\mu$ L FBS, 3.8 mL water, 1 mL 10 $\times$  PBS/100 mM HEPES/55 mM Glucose/pH 7.4) and a light layer (3.6 mL Percoll, 50  $\mu$ L FBS, 6 mL HBSS, 0.4 10  $\times$  PBS/100 mM HEPES/55 mM Glucose/pH 7.4) by centrifuging at 2,000 rpm for 20 min. Cells were collected, washed and non-epithelial cells were removed by incubating collected cells in a plate pre-coated with IgG (5 ug/mL) for 30 min. Epithelial cells were collected, washed and transferred to plates pre-coated with fibronectin (Calbiochem, 50 µg/mL) in DMEM/F-12 media (Hyclone) containing 1.5 g/L NAHCO<sub>3</sub>, 5 mL insulin/transferrin/sodium selenite (Gibco),  $1 \mu$ g/mL hydrocortisone (Sigma), 1 mM L-glutamine, 10% FBS, and Pen-Strep. Upon confluency, cells were passaged and expanded for use.

# Western Blot

For whole lung protein fractions, mice were euthanized 24 h after inoculation as described above, lungs were homogenized, and protein was extracted using RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 2 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Na-deoxycholate, 50 mM NaF). Primary alveolar epithelial cells were grown to  $\sim$ 80-90% confluence on T-75 flasks and were treated with IAV (MOI 1) or PBS. At 24 h after treatment cells were washed with ice-cold PBS and cytoplasmic protein fraction was extracted with Buffer A (10 mM HEPES pH 8.0, 0.5% NP-40, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM KCl, 0.5 mM DTT, and 200 mM sucrose). The tubes were incubated for 30 min on ice, and then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm at 4°C and the supernatant was collected. The pellets were resuspended in 30 µl of RIPA buffer and incubated on ice for 30 min. Then they were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm at 4°C and the supernatant was collected as the nuclear protein fraction. Proteins were quantified using BCA (Pierce). Proteins were run on a 10% SDS-Page gel, transferred to nitrocellulose, and stained for either STAT3 (Cell Signaling; D1B2), P-STAT3 (Cell Signaling; Tyr705, D3A7), or beta-actin (BioLegend; Poly6221). Protein levels were normalized to betaactin and fold change was calculated over WT PBS.

# **Statistical Analyses**

Reported results are means  $\pm$  SD of  $\geq$ 4 mice/group from a single experiment. Each experiment for which results are presented in the manuscript was independently performed at least twice with similar results. The differences between treatment groups were analyzed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) or Student's *t*-test (two-tailed) using GraphPad Prism software V.7.0d. For the differences in survival Kaplan-Meier curves were plotted and analyzed using GraphPad Prism software (Version 4.0; La Jolla, CA) using Gehan-Breslow-Wilcoxon (Logrank) test. Statistical differences with *P* < 0.05 were considered significant.

# RESULTS

# Absence of IFNAR2 Causes Increased Morbidity and Mortality in Response to IAV Infection

It is well-known that type I IFNs are involved in anti-viral immunity to influenza and involved in BSI outcome. As type I IFNs are recognized by and signal through the heterodimeric IFNAR1/IFNAR2 receptor, depletion of the IFNAR1 subunit (*Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>*) has been assumed to eliminate type I IFN signaling in mice. However, IFN- $\beta$  has recently been shown to ligate the IFNAR subunits independently resulting in distinct gene induction (11), suggesting that the individual receptors may have distinct functions following IFN recognition. Since the *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have not been characterized in terms of susceptibility to IAV or BSI, we first sought to determine the role of IFNAR2 throughout the course of IAV infection. We found that *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* 

mice were more susceptible to IAV infection than WT mice indicated by earlier weight loss (Figure 1A) and significantly reduced survival (Figure 1B). Unlike *Ifnar* $1^{-/-}$  mice, that in our hands had similar viral load to WT mice throughout influenza disease (9), Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had increased viral burden on both days 3 and 7 of IAV infection compared to WT mice (Figure 1C). These and our previously published results imply that the presence of IFNAR2 is sufficient for controlling viral infection in Ifnar $1^{-/-}$  mice (9), but the presence of IFNAR1 in *Ifnar2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice is not. Both weight loss and morbidity can be due to increased cellular recruitment into the lung, but also inflammation resulting from cellular and/or tissue damage. At day 3 post-IAV, when the virus titer is typically at its peak (19), neither the pattern of cellular recruitment into the lung (Figure 1D) nor the extent of lung damage as measured by LDH (Figure 1E) and albumin (Figure 1F) were different between If  $nar2^{-/-}$  and WT mice. This suggests that IFNAR2 deficiency does not affect cell recruitment or lung integrity early during IAV infection. At day 7 post-IAV, when mice experience the peak of body weight loss,  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice had increased overall cell numbers with significantly more neutrophils recruited to the lung compared to WT mice (Figure 1D). The increased number of neutrophils in  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice corresponded to an increase in LDH (Figure 1E), but not in albumin (Figure 1F) when compared to WT mice.

# Absence of IFNAR2 Alters the Inflammatory Environment During IAV

Due to the impaired anti-viral immune response in  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$ mice and enhanced neutrophil recruitment later during IAV infection, we sought to determine whether these mice exhibit reduced anti-viral cytokines in the lung throughout IAV infection. At day 3 post-IAV we found a decrease in IFNy and IL-6 levels in the Ifnar $2^{-/-}$  mice compared to WT mice (Figure 2A). The Ifnar $2^{-/-}$  mice at day 3 post-IAV also had about 1 log less of each IFN- $\beta$  and IFN- $\alpha$  in their lungs compared to WT mice. At day 7 post-IAV there was an increase in the inflammatory cytokines IL-1a, IFNy, and IL-6 and a decrease in the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 compared to WT mice (Figure 2B). The increase in inflammatory cytokines at day 7 post-IAV in Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT mice correlated with the increased neutrophil recruitment and cellular damage (LDH) found in these mice at that time (Figures 1D,E). These results imply that induction of a proinflammatory response early after IAV infection is reduced in the absence of IFNAR2, whereas later after IAV, lack of IFNAR2 resulted in exacerbated lung inflammation.

# Absence of IFNAR2 Signaling Limits IAV Burden, but Does Not Alter Susceptibility to BSI at Day 3 Post-IAV

Previously we found that while IFNAR1 was not required for anti-IAV immunity (9), it was important for controlling host susceptibility to *S. aureus* BSI. Specifically, we demonstrated that  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice were more susceptible to BSI than WT mice on day 3 post-IAV, but less susceptible on day 7 post-IAV (9).

Because our results thus far indicate that IFNAR2 is important for anti-viral immunity to IAV, we next sought to determine whether the increased IAV-susceptibility of  $I fnar 2^{-/-}$  mice affected their BSI susceptibility, and whether  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice exhibit a similar pattern of BSI susceptibility as  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice. To this end we found that  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice superinfected with S. aureus on day 3 post-IAV had comparable lung bacterial burden to Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup> mice infected with S. aureus alone (Figure 3A). Bacterial burden of either the BSI-*Ifnar2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice or the *Ifnar2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice infected with S. aureus alone did not significantly differ from that of S. aureus-only infected WT control mice. This suggested that IFNAR2 deficiency has no effect on host susceptibility to respiratory infection with S. aureus, whether introduced alone or as BSI on day 3 post-IAV. Because we previously found that IAVinfected *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were more susceptible to day 3 BSI than either their mock-inoculated littermates or IAV-infected WT mice (9), collectively our results indicate that presence of IFNAR1 is sufficient to protect mice from altered BSI susceptibility at day 3 post-IAV. Previously we reported that IFNAR1 deficiency had no effect on either lung viral burden or influenza disease progression both prior to and following BSI (9). In contrast to these findings in *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, here we found that lung virus burden of  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice was significantly higher than that of WT mice both prior and 24 h after BSI induced on day 3 post-IAV (Figures 1C, 3B). This suggested that despite increased IAV susceptibility of mice in the absence of IFNAR2, BSI early after IAV infection did not exacerbate IAV disease in Ifnar2-/mice. Along these lines, BSI at day 3 post-IAV did not further exacerbate body weight loss and morbidity of IAV-infected *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (**Figures 3C,F**), further indicating that IFNAR2 may be more important for viral immunity than bacterial immunity. When compared to BSI-WT mice the BSI-Ifnar2-/mice had similar levels (Figure 3D) and types (Figure 3E) of cells recruited to the lung during BSI, indicating that the Ifnar $2^{-/-}$ mice do not have a defect in cellular responses during a BSI. The superinfected  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice also did not have significantly altered LDH (Figure 3G) or albumin (Figure 3H) levels in the BALF compared to WT mice. This suggests that at day 3 BSI with S. aureus the absence of IFNAR2 did not have a substantial effect on damage, similar to what we found early during IAV infection alone (Figure 1). Importantly, although IFNAR2 is not required for protection from day 3 BSI post-IAV, our results thus far demonstrate that when examined individually, the IFNAR subunits can lead to distinct outcomes.

# *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice Have Reduced Susceptibility to Day 7 BSI Post-IAV

Unlike BSI at day 3 post-IAV, mice and humans are known to be more susceptible to BSI around day 7 post-IAV infection. Our laboratory and others have shown this susceptibility to depend on IFNAR1 with *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice being less susceptible to BSI at day 7 post-IAV compared to WT mice (7, 9, 20, 21). Thus, we next sought to determine whether IFNAR2 plays a similar role as IFNAR1 in the susceptibility to day 7 post-IAV BSI. *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, similar to what we found for *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (9), were protected from BSI at day 7 post-IAV as compared



**FIGURE 1** | *Ifnar*2<sup>-/-</sup> mice are more susceptible to IAV. WT and *Ifnar*2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected with IAV or PBS on day 0. (A) Weights were monitored daily and are represented as percent of starting body weight depicted as average/group (Significance represents WT+IAV compared to *Ifnar*2<sup>-/-</sup>+IAV). (B) Survival is represented as percent survival/group. PFUs (C) were determined on day 3 or day 7 post-IAV. (D) Differential counts were determined from cell-free BALF on day 3 or day 7 post-IAV. LDH (E) and Albumin (F) were analyzed from cell-free BALF on day 3 or day 7 post-IAV. Data shown are mean  $\pm$  SD results of  $\geq$ 4 animals per group from one representative experiment. \*\**P* > 0.01; \**P* > 0.05.



to *S. aureus-Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (**Figure 4A**). Like mice deficient in IFNAR1 signaling (9), when compared to WT mice *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice had similar levels of virus following BSI at day 7 post-IAV (**Figure 4B**). While *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* and WT mice had similar virus burden at 24 h post-BSI (**Figure 4B**), singly infected *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice at day 7 post-IAV infection showed 1 log increase in the lung viral burden when compared to IAV-only infected WT mice (**Figure 1C**). This suggests that in the absence of IFNAR2, superinfection on day 7 prevents further increases in viral burden. Although the IAV infected *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice had

increased early weight loss compared to WT mice prior to BSI on day 7 (**Figure 4C**), these mice had a similar percentage of weight loss in response to *S. aureus* challenge (**Figure 4C**). However, IAV infected *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice had increased morbidity compared to IAV infected WT mice both before and after challenge with *S. aureus* (**Figure 4F**), further suggesting that IFNAR2 signaling may be involved in regulating anti-viral immunity. At 24 h after day 7 BSI, WT, and *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice had similar numbers (**Figure 4D**) and types (**Figure 4E**) of cells in the lung. This again was interesting because at day 7 post-IAV infection,



FIGURE 3 | Absence of IFNAH2 does not alter susceptibility to day 3 BSI post-IAV. W1 and *Itnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were intected with IAV or PBS on day 0 and challenged with *S. aureus* on day 3. Lung CFUs (A) and PFUs (B) were determined 24 h post-*S.a.*-challenge. (C) Weights were monitored daily and are represented as percent of initial body weight depicted as average/group (Significance represents WT+IAV or *Itnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* compared to *Itnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* +IAV). Cell number (D) and differential counts (E) were determined from cell-free BALF 24 h post- *S.a.*-challenge. (F) Mice were monitored and scored daily for signs of morbidity as described in methods section. Average daily score for each group is depicted. LDH (G) and Albumin (H) were analyzed in the cell-free BALF collected at 24 h post- *S.a.*-challenge. Data shown are mean  $\pm$  SD results of  $\geq$ 4 animals per group from one representative experiment. \*\*\**P* >0.001; \**P* > 0.05.

*Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice showed an increase in number of neutrophils when compared to IAV-infected WT mice at that time (prior to *S. aureus* challenge; **Figure 1D**). This suggests that the increased number of neutrophils recruited during IAV and prior to BSI, may contribute to the decreased susceptibility of the *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice to BSI at day 7, as neutrophils are known to be involved in anti-*S. aureus* immunity (22, 23). Similar to BSI at day 3 post-IAV, BSI at day 7 post-IAV did not significantly increase levels of LDH (**Figure 4G**) or albumin (**Figure 4H**) in the lung. These results indicate that like IFNAR1, presence of IFNAR2 is detrimental to BSI at day 7 post-IAV. These results also suggest that response to bacterial challenge may be beneficial for the late anti-viral response in the *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice.

# *Ifnar*2<sup>-/-</sup> Mice Have Decreased Inflammatory Cytokines at Day 3 and Increased IFNγ at Day 7 Post-IAV BSI

Since IFNAR2 deficiency had no effect on numbers and types of recruited cells in response to BSI either at day 3 or day 7 post-IAV, we next sought to determine whether cytokines produced by WT and  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice after BSI contribute to differences in BSI severity. In response to day 3 BSI,  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice had less IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-6 compared to BSI-WT mice, indicating that the  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice develop a less inflammatory lung environment (**Figure 5A**). The reduction in inflammatory cytokines in response to BSI at day 3 in  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice did not correspond to less cells or less damage (**Figures 3D,G**),

suggesting there is another mechanism involved. Moreover, the reduction in inflammatory cytokines we found in day 3 BSI-*Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (**Figure 5A**) did not occur in *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice in response to single infection with *S. aureus* alone (**Supplemental Figure 1**). As it relates to interferon responses, the *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice also had increased IFN-α on day 3 BSI compared to WT mice. In response to day 7 BSI, *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice only had an increase in IFNγ compared to BSI-WT mice (**Figure 5B**). These results suggest that the decreased susceptibility of *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice to day 7 BSI is not due to an altered lung environment as there were no major changes in cytokine levels associated with anti-viral or anti-bacterial immunity. Together, these results suggest that the inflammatory environment on day 3 and day 7 may be more related to IAV outcome than the outcome of BSI or single *S. aureus* infection.

## STAT3 Contributes to the Increased Susceptibility of *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice, but Not *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* Mice to Day 3 BSI Post- IAV

IFN- $\beta$  and the IFN- $\alpha$ 's are known to have different affinities for IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 and to induce different gene expression profiles depending on their concentration and timing (11, 24). Thus, we next wanted to determine whether engagement of either IFNAR subunit by IAV resulted in induction of distinct anti-viral pathways. We found that both IFNAR subunits were required for the early expression of STAT1/2 and IRF3/7 to the levels found in WT mice (IFNAR<sup>+/+</sup>) following viral recognition


**FIGURE 4** | *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice have reduced susceptibility to day 7 BSI post-IAV. WT and *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were infected with IAV or PBS on day 0 and challenged with *S. aureus* on day 7. Lung CFUs (**A**) and PFUs (**B**) were determined 24 h post-*S.a.*-challenge. (**C**) Weights were monitored daily and are represented as percent of starting body weight depicted as average/group (Significance represents WT+IAV or *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* compared to *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>*+IAV). Cell number (**D**) and differential counts (**E**) were determined from cell-free BALF 24 h post- *S.a.*-challenge. (**F**) Morbidity was assessed and monitored daily. Average daily score for each group is depicted. LDH (**G**) and Albumin (**H**) were analyzed in the cell-free BALF collected at 24 h post- *S.a.*-challenge. Data shown are mean ± SD results of ≥4 animals per group from one representative experiment. \*\*\**P* > 0.001; \*\**P* > 0.05.



(Figure 6A). Interestingly, early IAV infection in  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice resulted in a significant increase in STAT3 expression in the lung compared to both WT and  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice. This increase in expression of STAT3 in  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice corresponded to the high level of nuclear STAT3 protein found in  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  primary pulmonary epithelial cells regardless of IAV infection (Figure 6B). This indicated that STAT3 activation in  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice may have a role in early anti-viral immunity and subsequent BSI severity at day 3 in these mice. To address this possibility, we treated the IFNAR subunit-knockout mice with a STAT3 phosphorylation inhibitor (15) 6 h after IAV infection and determined their susceptibility to BSI at day 3 post-IAV. We found that P-STAT3 inhibition in both the WT and  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice resulted in reduced susceptibility to BSI, 0.5 log and 1 log

(Figure 6C), respectively, compared to untreated littermate mice. Additionally, we found that P-STAT3 inhibition did not alter susceptibility of *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice to BSI on day 3, indicating that IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 induce disparate mechanisms in response to viral infection. Upon analyzing the cell abundances in the BALF of the WT, *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* and *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice we only found the P-STAT3-inhibited *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice to have decreased levels of neutrophils (Figure 6D). To determine whether P-STAT3 inhibition altered the anti-viral state of mice at 24 h after day 3 BSI, we analyzed their cytokine profiles. When compared to untreated littermates, the P-STAT3 inhibition did not alter cytokines produced by WT mice (Figure 6E), but resulted in decreased IFN $\gamma$  and IL-6 in *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (Figure 6E). The decreased IFN $\gamma$  and IL-6 in P-STAT3-inhibited *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice did not appear to significantly affect BSI outcome in these mice (**Figure 6C**). In *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice superinfected on day 3, P-STAT3 inhibition resulted in decreased TNF $\alpha$  and a 10-fold increase in IL-13 levels compared to untreated superinfected *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. These results are consistent with our previous findings that treatment with mrIL-13 reversed the increased day 3 BSI susceptibility and resulted in decreased neutrophil accumulation in *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (9). Therefore, our results expand our previous findings by demonstrating that STAT3 contributes to increased susceptibility of *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice to BSI at day 3 post-IAV at least in part by inhibition of IL-13 production.

## IFN-β Signaling Through *Ifnar*2 Rescued Mice From Morbidity and Mortality Upon Lethal IAV Infection

Our results thus far indicate that engagement of either IFNAR subunit individually differentially shapes both anti-IAV immunity and BSI susceptibility. These two IFNAR subunits are known to bind IFN- $\alpha$ 's and IFN- $\beta$  with different affinity inducing distinct gene profiles (11, 25). We found that IFN- $\alpha A$ , but not IFN- $\beta$  inhibited production of IL-13 resulting in increased host susceptibility to BSI and that IFN- $\alpha$ A was involved in mediating increased susceptibility to S. aureus (9). Therefore, here we sought to determine whether IFN- $\alpha$ A and IFN- $\beta$  have different effects on protection from IAV infection while signaling via distinct IFNAR subunits. IFNaA treatment of mice deficient in either IFNAR subunit (Figure 7A orange traces) had no effect on IAV-induced body weight loss when compared to either their untreated littermates or WT mice (open symbols). Treatment of mice that have functional IFNAR2 (Ifnar1-/mice) with mrIFN- $\beta$  (black triangles) protected these mice from morbidity and increased their survival compared to IAV-infected littermates (open triangle) or IAV-infected WT mice (open squares) (Figures 7A,B). Treatment of mice without functional IFNAR2 (*Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice) with mrIFN- $\beta$  (black circles) did not protect these mice from morbidity or mortality when compared to mrIFN-treated Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup> mice. The mrIFN- $\beta$  treatment of  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice however, did slightly but not significantly accelerate and worsen body weight loss when compared to untreated  $Ifnar2^{-/-}$  mice (open circles). These results indicate that presence of IFNAR2 and signaling by IFN-β are sufficient to induce a protective anti-IAV state. Our results also suggest that IFN- $\beta$  produced in the *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* and WT mice following IAV infection (Figures 2A, 6A) is not sufficient to provide protection and that the protective effects only occur when IFN- $\beta$  is present at the very beginning of viral infection (9).

## DISCUSSION

Type I IFNs play a role in determining influenza and BSI severity. While cell surface receptor for type I IFNs consists of two distinct subunits (IFNAR1 and IFNAR2), almost all research on determining the role of type I IFNs in susceptibility to influenza and subsequent BSIs has focused solely on the involvement of IFNAR1 (using *Ifnar1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice). To this end our lab and

others have shown that IFNAR1 is important in regulating timedependent susceptibility to BSI during IAV infection (4, 7, 9). In the last decade, a number of reports demonstrated the ability of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 to bind individual IFNs independent of one another, with different affinities, and subsequently causing induction of different gene (11, 24, 25). These reports alluded that the receptor subunits have distinct functions in relation to disease outcomes (25). Here, we begin to unravel how the absence of IFNAR2 affects IAV and BSI severity.

Our study revealed that IFNAR2 is required for effective anti-IAV immune responses, particularly as it relates to protection from influenza-mediated morbidity and mortality. While our results combined with work by others (5) suggest that a complete IFNAR receptor is important for protection from influenza, the accelerated morbidity and mortality, as well as increased viral burden of the *Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice indicate that IFNAR2 plays a larger role than IFNAR1 in regulating the anti-viral response. That IFNAR2 deficiency resulted in increased neutrophil recruitment and an increased level of LDH production by day 7 of IAV infection further suggests that IFNAR2 may also control damage response during viral infections. Further studies are necessary to elucidate the exact mechanism by which IFNAR2 regulates anti-IAV immunity.

As it relates to host susceptibility to post-IAV BSIs, we demonstrate that IFNAR2 has both similar and distinct roles in BSI susceptibility compared to IFNAR1. Specifically, we found that IFNAR1 signaling in the absence of IFNAR2 (Ifnar2-/mice) was sufficient to prevent the increased BSI susceptibility that we previously found to occur in  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice at day 3 post-IAV (9), suggesting that IFNAR1 alone is able to control bacterial burden more than IFNAR2 alone at day 3 post-IAV. In regards to BSI induced at day 7 post-IAV, Ifnar2-/mice shared the same decrease in susceptibility as has been previously found for *Ifnar1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice (4, 9). As WT mice are more susceptible to day 7 BSI than either IFNAR subunit knockout mice, our combined results from Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and previous results from Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup> mice (4, 7, 9) suggest that a complete IFNAR is required for the increased susceptibility phenotype and that absence of either receptor subunit is sufficient to provide protection.

Conventional type I IFN signaling utilizes STAT1/2 heterodimer (26). A side by side comparison of intracellular signaling molecules known to be engaged in type I IFN cascade revealed preferential engagement of STAT3 upon IAV infection of Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>, but not Ifnar2<sup>-/-</sup> or WT mice. We found that this engagement of STAT3 contributed to the increased BSI susceptibility of *Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice at day 3 post-IAV. Our previous work demonstrated that the Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup> day 3 BSI phenotype was at least in part due to the absence of IL-13 as increased susceptibility to BSI at that time post-IAV could be reversed by treating the Ifnar $1^{-/-}$  mice with mrIL-13, leading to a reduction in neutrophils and bacterial burden (9). Here, we found that P-STAT3 inhibition in Ifnar1<sup>-/-</sup> mice prior to day 3 BSI similarly reduced the level of neutrophil recruitment and caused a 10-fold increase in IL-13 in response to day 3 BSI. STAT3 has been previously reported to be involved in regulating inflammatory mediators and subsequent neutrophil trafficking



**FIGURE 6** STAT3 contributes to the increased susceptibility of day 3 BSI-*lfnar1*<sup>-/-</sup> mice post-IAV. (A) WT, *lfnar1*<sup>-/-</sup>, and *lfnar2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected with IAV or PBS on day 0 and gene expression from RNA isolated from the whole lung was analyzed. (B) STAT3 protein was analyzed from cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions isolated from WT, *lfnar1*<sup>-/-</sup>, and *lfnar2*<sup>-/-</sup> primary alveolar epithelial cells infected with IAV or inoculated PBS for 24 h. STAT3 was normalized to b-actin protein level and fold change over WT-PBS was calculated (Whole western blots: **Supplemental Figures 2–5**). (C–E) WT, *lfnar1*<sup>-/-</sup>, and *lfnar2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected with IAV or nday 0, inoculated with STAT3 inhibitor or PBS 6 h post-IAV, and challenged with *S. aureus* on day 3. (C) Lung CFUs, (D) differential counts from the cell-free BALF, and (E) indicated cytokines from cell-free BALF were analyzed 24 h post- *S.a.*-challenge. Data shown are mean  $\pm$  SD results of  $\geq$ 4 animals per group from one representative experiment. N.D. is not detectable. \*\*\*P >0.001; \*\*P > 0.05.



during infection, where inhibition of STAT3 reduced neutrophil chemokines and recruitment (27, 28). During viral infection, type I IFN signaling through IFNAR induces STAT1/STAT2 activity, but also leads to the induction of STAT3, which is thought to provide negative feedback keeping the IFN response under control (29). STAT3 deficiency was found to enhance anti-viral activity and gene expression in response to type I IFNs (30). Thus, it is tempting to speculate that in the presence of IFNAR2, the STAT3 activation in IAV-infected  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice does not allow for induction of an anti-IAV immune response. Our data imply that STAT3 induction in  $Ifnar1^{-/-}$  mice may be involved in preventing the increase in IL-13 that is required for controlling neutrophil recruitment and bacterial killing. How IFNAR1- or IFNAR2-induced STAT3, whether in conjunction with STAT1 or other STATs, is involved in viral and BSI susceptibility remains unknown.

Differential signaling through a single cytokine receptor is not a new concept in immunology. Results of interactions between cytokines and their cognate receptors can vary depending on the specific tissue and cellular environment, availability of the substrate and/or receptor, and affinity and avidity of the interactions (31). There are multiple examples where differential cellular processes induced by different cytokines occurs through a shared common receptor (31-33). As for type I IFNs, IFN- $\beta$ , and the IFN- $\alpha$ 's have been shown to induce distinct signaling pathways depending on their abundance, with all IFNs inducing "robust" genes (anti-viral) at low concentrations, and only IFN-β inducing "tunable" (anti-proliferative) at higher, still physiologic, concentrations (34-36). Importantly, de Weerd and colleagues established that type I IFNs are able to bind the individual IFNAR subunits independently (11). Specifically, they found that IFN-B ligates IFNAR1 independently of IFNAR2 and also the opposite, that IFN-B can ligate IFNAR2 independently of IFNAR1. However, human IFN $\alpha$ 2, which shares high homology with mouse IFN- $\alpha A$ , was only able to form a stable complex with the extracellular domain of IFNAR2, which is the highaffinity portion of the IFNAR receptor. Here, we demonstrate that the morbidity and mortality associated with IAV infection of mice lacking IFNAR1 can be rescued by the administration of mrIFN- $\beta$  at the time of IAV infection, but IFN- $\beta$  treatment did not rescue mice lacking IFNAR2. These results suggest that the presence of IFNAR2 is required to generate a protective antiviral response to IAV infection when stimulated with IFN-β, but that presence of IFNAR1 is not. Which response, whether it be the robust or tunable, and which of those genes are important for providing protection to IAV infection by IFNAR2 in the If  $nar1^{-/-}$  mice will provide insight into how these receptor subunits are regulating the immune response to IAV. A better understanding of how the IFN-β-IFNAR2 complex in the absence of IFNAR1 can lead to protection will improve our knowledge of viral immunity.

Collectively our results demonstrate that either IFNAR subunit is sufficient for interferon signaling *in vivo*. As we began to elucidate differences in how the individual subunits shape the

## REFERENCES

- Rice TW, Rubinson L, Uyeki TM, Vaughn FL, John BB, Miller RRI, et al. Critical illness from 2009 pandemic influenza A virus and bacterial coinfection in the United States. *Crit Care Med.* (2012) 40:1487–98. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182416f23
- Wong KK, Jain S, Blanton L, Dhara R, Brammer L, Fry AM, Finelli L. Influenza-associated pediatric deaths in the United States, 2004-2012. *Pediatrics* (2013) 132:796–804. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-1493

anti-viral immune response we found that IFNAR2 plays a nonredundant role in induction to anti-viral immunity. As such, we found IFNAR2 to be essential for both decreasing the morbidity and mortality associated with IAV infections and in altering subsequent host susceptibility to BSI. While further studies will determine the intracellular signaling mechanisms utilized by individual IFNAR subunits and whether these subunits have distinct outcomes in other viral and bacterial infections, results presented here set a stage for these mechanistic studies by emphasizing the importance of understanding the contributions of the entire receptor to disease outcomes.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

All animal experiments were approved by the Montana State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KMS designed and performed experiments, analyzed data, and contributed to writing of the paper. KL and LJ designed and performed experiments and analyzed data. KS, HC, JW, and HH performed experiments. AR-A designed experiments, analyzed data, and contributed to writing of the paper.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the following grants: National Institutes of Health (NIH/NIAID) R01AI04905, (NIH/NIAID) R21AI119772, (NIH/NIGMS) (P30GM110732), Francis Family Foundation: Parker B. Francis Fellowship Program, Montana State University Agricultural Experiment Station, MJ Murdock Charitable Trust, and, Montana University System Research Initiative (51040-MUSRI2015-03).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Victor Huber for valuable discussion and Diane Bimczok for valuable comments and suggestions.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02589/full#supplementary-material

- 3. Morens DM, Taubenberger JK, Fauci AS. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: implications for pandemic influenza preparedness. J Infect Dis. (2008) 198:962–70. doi: 10.1086/591708
- Shahangian A, Chow EK, Tian X, Kang JR, Ghaffari A, Liu SY, et al. Type I IFNs mediate development of postinfluenza bacterial pneumonia in mice. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:1910–20. doi: 10.1172/JCI35412
- 5. Seo S-U, Kwon H-J, Ko H-J, Byun Y-H, Seong BL, Uematsu S, et al. Type I interferon signaling regulates Ly6C(hi) monocytes and neutrophils

during acute viral pneumonia in mice. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:1001304. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001304

- Li W, Moltedo B, Moran TM. Type I interferon induction during influenza virus infection increases susceptibility to secondary *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection by negative regulation of γδ T cells. *J Virol.* (2012) 86:12304–12. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01269-12
- Lee B, Robinson KM, McHugh KJ, Scheller EV, Mandalapu S, Chen C, et al. Influenza-induced type I interferon enhances susceptibility to gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial pneumonia in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2015) 309:L158–67. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00338.2014
- Garcia-Sastre A, Durbin RK, Zheng HY, Palese P, Gertner R, Levy DE, et al. The role of interferon in influenza virus tissue tropism. J Virol. (1998) 72:8550–8.
- Shepardson KM, Larson K, Morton RV, Prigge JR, Schmidt EE, Huber VC, et al. Differential type I interferon signaling is a master regulator of susceptibility to postinfluenza bacterial superinfection. *mBio* (2016) 7:e00506– 16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00506-16
- 10. Davidson S, Crotta S, McCabe TM, Wack A. Pathogenic potential of interferon  $\alpha\beta$  in acute influenza infection. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3864. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4864
- de Weerd NA, Vivian JP, Nguyen TK, Mangan NE, Gould JA, Braniff S-J, et al. Structural basis of a unique interferon-β signaling axis mediated via the receptor IFNAR1. *Nat Immunol.* (2013) 14:901–7. doi: 10.1038/ni.2667
- 12. National Research Council. *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals*. 8th ed. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (2011).
- Rynda-Apple A, Dobrinen E, McAlpine M, Read A, Harmsen A, Richert LE, et al. Virus-like particle-induced protection against MRSA pneumonia is dependent on IL-13 and enhancement of phagocyte function. *Am J Pathol.* (2012) 181:196–210. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.03.018
- Wiley JA, Cerwenka A, Harkema JR, Dutton RW, Harmsen AG. Production of interferon-γ by influenza hemagglutinin-specific CD8 effector T cells influences the development of pulmonary immunopathology. *Am J Pathol.* (2001) 158:119–30. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63950-8
- Onimoe G-I, Liu A, Lin L, Wei C-C, Schwartz EB, Bhasin D, et al. Small molecules, LLL12 and FLLL32, inhibit STAT3 and exhibit potent growth suppressive activity in osteosarcoma cells and tumor growth in mice. *Invest New Drugs* (2012) 30:916–26. doi: 10.1007/s10637-011-9645-1
- Rynda-Apple A, Harmsen A, Erickson AS, Larson K, Morton RV, Richert LE, et al. Regulation of IFN-γ by IL-13 dictates susceptibility to secondary postinfluenza MRSA pneumonia. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:3263–72. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444582
- Zhao W, Li Q, Ayers S, Gu Y, Shi Z, Zhu Q, et al. Jmjd3 inhibits reprogramming by upregulating expression of INK4a/Arf and targeting PHF20 for ubiquitination. *Cell* (2013) 152:1037–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.006
- Hiroi M, Sakaeda Y, Yamaguchi H, Ohmori Y. Anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-4 inhibits inducible nitric oxide synthase gene expression in the mouse macrophage cell line RAW264.7 through the repression of octamer-dependent transcription. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2013) 2013:14. doi: 10.1155/2013/369693
- Baccam P, Beauchemin C, Macken CA, Hayden FG, Perelson AS. Kinetics of influenza A virus infection in humans. J Virol. (2006) 80:7590–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01623-05
- Sun K, Metzger DW. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-γ during recovery from influenza infection. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:558–64. doi: 10.1038/nm1765
- Robinson KM, Choi SM, McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Enelow RI, Kolls JK, et al. Influenza A exacerbates *Staphylococcus aureus* pneumonia by attenuating IL-1β production in mice. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:5153–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301237

- Sun K, Metzger DW. Influenza infection suppresses NADPH oxidasedependent phagocytic bacterial clearance and enhances susceptibility to secondary methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:3301–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303049
- Lekstrom-Himes JA, Gallin JI. Immunodeficiency diseases caused by defects in phagocytes. N Engl J Med. (2000) 343:1703–14. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200012073432307
- Porritt RA, Hertzog PJ. Dynamic control of type I IFN signalling by an integrated network of negative regulators. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:150–60. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.02.002
- de Weerd NA, Samarajiwa SA, Hertzog PJ. Type I interferon receptors: biochemistry and biological functions. J Biol Chem. (2007) 282:20053–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R700006200
- Au-Yeung N, Mandhana R, Horvath CM. Transcriptional regulation by STAT1 and STAT2 in the interferon JAK-STAT pathway. *JAK-STAT* (2013) 2:e23931. doi: 10.4161/jkst.23931
- Fielding CA, McLoughlin RM, McLeod L, Colmont CS, Najdovska M, Grail D, et al. IL-6 regulates neutrophil trafficking during acute inflammation via STAT3. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:2189–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.2189
- Zhang S, Hwaiz R, Luo L, Herwald H, Thorlacius H. STAT3-dependent CXC chemokine formation and neutrophil migration in streptococcal M1 proteininduced acute lung inflammation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2015) 308:L1159–67. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00324.2014
- Ho HH, Ivashkiv LB. Role of STAT3 in type I interferon responses Negative regulation of STAT1-dependent inflammatory gene activation. J Biol Chem. (2006) 281:14111–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M511797200
- Wang W-B, Levy DE, Lee C-K. STAT3 negatively regulates type I IFN-mediated antiviral response. J Immunol. (2011) 187:2578–85. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1004128
- Moraga I, Spangler J, Mendoza JL, Garcia KC. Multifarious determinants of cytokine receptor signaling specificity. *Adv Immunol.* (2014) 121:1–39. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800100-4.00001-5
- 32. Moussawi Al K, Kazmierczak BI. Distinct contributions of Interleukin (IL)-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  to innate immune recognition of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in the lung. *Infect Immun.* (2014) 82:4204–11. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02218-14
- Caffrey AK, Lehmann MM, Zickovich JM, Espinosa V, Shepardson KM, Watschke CP, et al. IL-1 alpha Signaling is critical for leukocyte recruitment after pulmonary aspergillus fumigatus challenge. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:1004625. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004625
- Levin D, Schneider WM, Hoffmann H-H, Yarden G, Busetto AG, Manor O, et al. Multifaceted activities of type I interferon are revealed by a receptor antagonist. *Sci Signal.* (2014) 7:ra50. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004998
- Levin D, Harari D, Schreiber G. Stochastic receptor expression determines cell fate upon interferon treatment. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2011) 31:3252–66. doi: 10.1128/MCB.05251-11
- Jaitin DA, Schreiber G. Upregulation of a small subset of genes drives type i interferon-induced antiviral memory. J Interferon Cytokine Res. (2007) 27:653–64. doi: 10.1089/jir.2006.0162

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Shepardson, Larson, Johns, Stanek, Cho, Wellham, Henderson and Rynda-Apple. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Contribution of Dendritic Cell Responses to Sepsis-Induced Immunosuppression and to Susceptibility to Secondary Pneumonia

### Marwan Bouras<sup>1,2</sup>, Karim Asehnoune<sup>1,2</sup> and Antoine Roquilly<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Surgical Intensive Care Unit, Hotel Dieu, University Hospital of Nantes, Nantes, France, <sup>2</sup> EA3826 Thérapeutiques Anti-Infectieuses, Institut de Recherche en Santé 2 Nantes Biotech, Medical University of Nantes, Nantes, France

Dendritic cells (DCs) are bone marrow derived cells which continuously seed in peripheral tissue. During infection, DCs play an essential interface between innate and adaptive immunity. Pneumonia is a lung inflammation triggered by pathogens and is characterized by excessive release of inflammatory cytokines that activate innate and acquired immunity. Pneumonia induces a rapid and protracted state of susceptibility to secondary infection, a state so-called sepsis-induced immunosuppression. In this review, we focus on the role of DCs in the development of this state of immunosuppression. Early during inflammation, activated DCs are characterized by decreased capacity of antigen (cross)- presentation of newly encountered antigens and decreased production of immunogenic cytokines, and sepsis-induced immunosuppression is mainly explained by a depletion of immature DCs which had all become mature. At a later stage, newly formed respiratory immature DCs are locally programmed by an immunological scare left-over by inflammation to induce tolerance. Tolerogenic Blimp1+ DCs produce suppressive cytokines such as tumor growth factor-B and participate to the maintenance of a local tolerogenic environment notably characterized by accumulation of Treg cells. In mice, the restoration of the immunogenic functions of DCs restores the mucosal immune response to pathogens. In humans, the modulation of inflammation by glucocorticoid during sepsis or trauma preserves DC immunogenic functions and is associated with resistance to secondary pneumonia. Finally, we propose that the alterations of DCs during and after inflammation can be used as biomarkers of susceptibility to secondary pneumonia and are promising therapeutic targets to enhance outcomes of patients with secondary pneumonia.

## OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

François Trottein, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France

### Reviewed by:

Marc Dalod, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France Thomas Marichal, Université de Liège, Belgium

\***Correspondence:** Antoine Roquilly antoine.roquilly@chu-nantes.Fr

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 29 June 2018 Accepted: 22 October 2018 Published: 13 November 2018

### Citation:

Bouras M, Asehnoune K and Roquilly A (2018) Contribution of Dendritic Cell Responses to Sepsis-Induced Immunosuppression and to Susceptibility to Secondary Pneumonia. Front. Immunol. 9:2590. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02590 Keywords: dendritic cells, pneumonia, inflammation, immunity, innate, mucosal immunity, steroids, intensive care units

Lung infection is a one of the main cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide (1). The overall death rate for patients with such infections was 2.6 million deaths worldwide in 2015, which is the leading infectious cause of death (2). However, the consequences of these infections cannot be reduced to the direct mortality from primary infection. Indeed, in critically ill patients recovering from a first severe sepsis (e.g., pneumonia or peritonitis), the risk for developing pneumonia reaches 30 to 50% (3)

and in critically ill patients cured from primary pneumonia the early relapse with the same pathogen is up to 20%. (4). One of the main hypothesis to explain this susceptibility to infections is that patients with severe sepsis acquire a state of immunosuppression as evidenced by different host response during community-acquired and hospital-acquired pneumonia (5).

## SEPSIS INDUCED IMMUNOSUPPRESSION

Development of severe immune defects in immune-competent septic patients, a phenomena so-called "sepsis-induced immunosuppression" (6) has been associated with the risk of secondary pneumonia. During sepsis, the production and the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines is a necessary physiological phenomenon that activates the defense against bacterial infections and ensures injured tissue healing. To limit the risk of immunopathology observed during an overwhelming systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), whose main complication is a multi-organ failure syndrome (7), innate immunity cells rapidly develop a systemic compensatory antiinflammatory response (CARS). This CARS aims to restore the state of immune homeostasis but either its prolongation or its exacerbation leads to an increased susceptibility to infections(6, 8).

So far, the main features of this sepsis-induced immunosuppression are

- 1. A decreased antigen presentation ability by antigen presenting cells (APCs). APCs, mainly Dendritic Cells (DCs) and monocytes, have a central role in the capture, in the processing and in the presentation of antigens to effector lymphocyte T cells. These functions, essential for the establishment of an inflammatory response, are altered for weeks in mice and humans cured from systemic inflammation (9, 10)
- 2. Dysregulation of the secretions of cytokines. During infection, cytokines are messengers which ensure the coordination of all the cellular families. For example, APCs shape the response of effector T cells and innate-lymphoid cells to immunity or tolerance *via* the secretion of pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., Interleukin-12 or TGF- $\beta$ ). In critically ill patients, a decreased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-12) associated with a blunt release of anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ ) have been associated with altered levels of pattern recognition receptors (11) epigenetic modifications (12) and post-transcriptional regulations.
- 3. *T cell exhaustion and apoptosis:* Exhaustion corresponds to the progressive loss of effector functions of T cells in the presence of a high antigenic load (13), while excessive inflammation results in caspase-3-dependent apoptosis (14, 15).

The capacity of DCs to detect environmental changes, to produce cytokines and present antigens to T cells suggests that they are a corner-stone of the physiopathology of the susceptibility to secondary pneumonia. Indeed, type 1 DCs (cDC1s) which are a highly potent cytokines secretion subtype of DCs, are a major

source of IL-12 and hence promote NK and NKT cell IFN- $\gamma$  production during systemic bacterial or viral infections (16). Mouse models of primary pneumonia (e.g., due to pneumococcal infection) have demonstrated a critical role for the activation of NK and iNKT in mediating the innate immune response to pulmonary infection (17) and especially in post-influenza bacterial secondary pneumonia (18, 19). In this review, we will thus focus on the fate of bona fide DCs (i.e., DCs not derived from monocytes) during and after sepsis, and will highlight the effects of glucocorticoids which are the first efficient immunotherapy in severe sepsis (20).

## DENDRITIC CELLS LIFE-CYCLE BEFORE, DURING AND AFTER ACUTE INFLAMMATION

Dendritic cells are bone marrow derived cells which play an essential interface between innate and adaptive immunity. DCs, which are the most potent antigen presenting cells (APCs), are involved in the initiation and the regulation of T cell-dependent immune response (21). According to the microenvironment and the signaling, DCs can secret pro-inflammatory cytokines to fight against infection or anti-inflammatory cytokines to maintain tolerance to self-tissue.

Before acute inflammation, DC precursors (pre-DCs) continuously leave the bone marrow as precursors and colonize peripheral tissues and lymphoid organs (e.g., spleen) where they develop into fully functional immature DCs (22). DCs are classified in different subsets: "plasmacytoid DCs" (pDCs) are the main source of type 1 interferons during many viral infections; the "conventional DCs" (cDCs), including mouse CD8+ cDCs and CD11b cDCs, have high antigen-presentation capacity and mainly produce other pro-inflammatory cytokines. In mice and human, two lineages of cDCs are clearly identified by differential expression of Xcr1 and Sirpa (23, 24) which recently allowed proposing a unified nomenclature of DCs across tissues and species, namely cDC1s and cDC2s, respectively (25). Indeed, the expression of CD141 (thrombomoduline) and CD1c (BDCA1) enable the distinction of two populations of Human DCs (26). The gene-expression profiles and functions of CD141+ cDCs and of CD1c+ cDCs resemble those of mouse cDC1 and cDC2 respectively (27, 28). cDC subsets are functionally well characterized: both cDC1s and cDC2s efficiently present extrinsic antigens on the MHC-II complex to CD4T cells, although cDC2s appear to be more efficient for that function, cDC1s excel in antigen cross-presentation (presentation of extrinsic antigens to CD8T cells on the MHC-I complex), although the other DC subsets can also exert this functions under specific conditions (29).

DCs can be further classified according to their organ localization and their migratory capacity: (1) the migratory DCs (including cDCs) are localized in peripheral tissues and migrate to the draining lymph nodes upon activation where they can exert their function of antigen presentation (for example Langerhans cells and dermal DCs), whereas (2) the resident DCs (including pDCs and cDCs) which remain in lymphoid organs where they locally collect Ag, (including from migratory DCs) to act as an amplificatory signal for T cell priming (for example thymic cDCs and splenic cDCs) (30). The classification proposed by Guilliams et al can integrate multiple layers of information in the denomination of DC subsets while still preserving a unifying nomenclature for their lineage belonging: for example, mouse spleen resident CD8a+ cDCs can be called "spleen resident CD8a+ cDC1s," and the mouse CD103+ cDCs that have migrated from the skin into the cutaneous lymph node can be called "mouse CLN migratory CD103+ cDC1s."

In steady state, the DCs have low expression of major histocompatibility complex class-II (MHC-II) and of membrane costimulatory molecules (such as CD86). DCs thus have high endocytic function for capturing Pathogen or Danger-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs or DAMPs), but are incompetent to present newly encountered antigens on MHC II molecules and to prime T-cells (31).

In the absence of infection, antigens presented by DCs silence effector T cells either by inducing apoptosis or by expanding regulatory T cells (32). This phenomenon has been recently better understood. In steady state, in contrast with DC maturation during inflammation, the maturation of migratory DCs (involving a novel NF-KB-regulated gene network) is associated with the induction of tolerance rather than T cell priming and activation (33). This process of terminal differentiation of steady state DCs is called "homeostatic maturation." Some authors suggest that the signals triggering homeostatic, tolerogenic, DC maturation are conveyed via multiple pathways, some overlapping in part with those triggering inflammation but also leading to the expression of a specific transcriptional genetic program (34, 35). This homeostatic maturation leads to tolerogenic DC which promote the expansion of regulatory T cells (Treg) and tolerance to selfantigens (36).

During infection, the maturation of DCs is induced by the detection of PAMPs (*direct* activation) and by inflammatory cytokines released by other activated immune cells (*indirect* activation) (37). Direct activation of DCs induces several conformational and functional changes: (1) DCs become efficient at presenting the antigens by transient upregulation of MHC II synthesis (38); (2) they secrete cytokines for T cell polarization. Directly activated DCs are thus competent to prime naive T cells but they lose the ability to process and to present newly encountered antigens (9).

DCs can also be indirectly activated by inflammatory cytokines produced by PAMP-stimulated immune and epithelial cells (e.g., IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  ...) (39). The levels of MHC-II and of co-stimulatory molecules are increased on the surface of indirectly activated DCs. Indirectly activated DCs can prime naive T cells like directly matured DCs, however their cytokine secretion function is altered and they retain the capacity to process new antigens (40, 41). During inflammation, directly and indirectly-activated DCs coexist and could theoretically be selectively targeted by interventions aiming to restore immune competence after inflammation.

Protracted impairment of antigen presentation and of cytokine production in DCs of mice and patients cured

from acute inflammation have been reported (42). Yet, new DCs continue to be produced after the onset of sepsis and inflammation with similar rates as in healthy conditions (43). Thus, after a few days, bodies cured from inflammation are seeded by newly formed immature DCs which are supposed to be fully functional. However, the susceptibility to infections last for weeks in critically ill patients cured from SIRS, and paralyzed DCs are still observed weeks after the cure from infections. If the paralysis of DCs lasts for weeks after inflammation, two periods can be distinguished: an early stage corresponding to the inflammatory response, and a later one lasting several weeks, probably months, after resolution of SIRS and characterized by an apparent return to non-inflammatory conditions but persistent dysfunctions of DCs. An important consideration when aiming to restore immune-competence during and after sepsis is to differentiate the mechanisms of DCs alterations during these two stages (Figure 1).

# DECREASED NUMBER OF IMMATURE DCS

The early decreased ability to present new antigens by the direct activation of DCs is not deleterious during local infections because a small number of DCs encounters the infecting pathogen and becomes activated, while the numerous remaining immature DCs can respond to new challenge. However, systemic circulation of PAMPs and of inflammatory mediators during sepsis causes systemic activation of DC, reducing the number of immature DCs capable of mounting an effective response to new threats, and limiting the ability of innate immunity to prime T cell responses (9, 44). The simultaneous activation of an excessive number of cDCs during systemic inflammation depletes the body from fully functional DCs and is thus immunosuppressive. Moreover, the total number of migratory and resident DCs is decreased following lung inflammation (45). The depletion of circulating DCs is reported in murine models of sepsis by caecal ligation and puncture (46) and the number of splenic DCs is decreased in patients dying from severe sepsis in intensive care units (15). Early after a lung infection by influenza virus, the presence of DCs in the lung was reduced (17, 47). Currently, the mechanisms of these "DC-penia" have not been fully elucidated. Some authors describe a defective de novo formation of DCs from common progenitors in the bone marrow (48) when others describe apoptotis mechanisms (46, 49, 50) or lysis by regulatory innate like lymphocytes (51). The mechanism involved in DCs apoptosis after SIRS is still unclear but a study has shown that an enzyme called acid sphingomyelinase (A-SMase), which is activated when DCs are treated with high numbers of Escherichia coli, induces apoptosis (52). The clearance of apoptotic DCs by viable DCs induces antigen-specific Tregs cells, and is thus probably beneficial to prevent auto-immune diseases (53). In addition to inducing immunosuppression by reducing the number of DCs, this phase of apoptosis could also induce a tolerogenic microenvironment maintaining this immunosuppressive state (54). The prolonged decrease in the number of circulating cDCs and pDCs has been associated with



the risk of secondary infection in septic patients (55). This critical loss of DCs, which has also been associated with secondary pneumonia in burned patients (56) and in brain-injured patients (57), is probably a mechanism common to all the critical illness-inducing immunosuppression.

cDCs are continuously renewed from bone marrow pre-DCs and have a dependence for FLT3L/FLT3 (58). In the case of IAV infection, it seems that the drop of cDC number in the lungs is due to a defective FLT3L production (47). One the other hand, some DC-like cells, such as the mo-DCs (monocytes-derived DCs), are derived from monocytes in a GM-CSF dependent mechanism. In case of inflammation, an increase in the proportion of mo-DCs, which are more susceptible to polarization toward immunosuppressive functions by the local microenvironment, is also a cause of "sepsis induced immunosuppression." Indeed, these mo-DCs have also been reported to induce TH2 and TH17 responses (59, 60). Sepsisinduced immunologic dysregulation occurs at every level of the ontogeny of each subset of DCs (61). Considering these results, several teams have hypothesized that the correction of the number of DCs after inflammation, notably by injecting FLT3L which is the DC growth factor, can restore immunecompetence and limit the susceptibility to secondary pneumonia (47, 62, 63). To the best of our knowledge, the effects of FLT3L have never been investigated in septic patients, but GM-CSF, which is not specific to DCs but accelerates DC maturation, demonstrates disappointing effects in patients with sepsis (64, 65).

Patients lacking cDC2 due to IRF-8 genetic mutations are susceptible to infections (66). It is thus likely that lack of cDCs participates to the susceptibility to secondary infections, and functional defects of newly formed DCs can be of importance when aiming to restore a DC network after sepsis.

# FUNCTIONAL ALTERATIONS OF THE NEWLY FORMED DCS

Bone-marrow released pre-DCs reach peripheral tissue where they receive final differentiation messages and become fully functional. This final tissue maturation process explains the diversity of DC populations observed in the different organs in normal conditions and is called tissue-imprinting. It was recently shown after sepsis that the newly formed DCs are modulated both in the bone-marrow at a progenitor state (67) and locally in peripheral tissue at a final differentiation state by an immunological scare left-over by a primary inflammation response (10, 68). DC-precursors exposed to this new microenvironment are deficient for their capacity to produce IL-12, due to epigenetic alterations (69), impaired antigen (cross)-presentation capacity, and preferentially drive T cellular immunity to tolerogenic functions (10).

Several mediators of this suppressive-microenvironment leftover by primary sepsis have be demonstrated to be important as will be detailed below.

## Blimp-1

B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1 (Blimp-1) is a pleiotropic transcriptional factor which represses the IFN- $\beta$  promoter and regulates functions of many immune cells, especially in lymphocytes (B and T cells). Blimp-1 is also expressed and functionally important for the myeloid lineage cells such as DCs and macrophages (70). The tolerogenic functions of Blimp-1 on DCs are well demonstrated in systemic autoimmune diseases, such as systemic lupus erythematosus. Mice with a Blimp-1ko phenotype in all CD11c-expressing cells including DCs (Blimp-1flox/flox; CD11c-CRE+) present an increased secretion of interleukin 6, an increased differentiation of effector T cells and suffer from the development of a lupus-like

syndrome (71). Likewise, Blimp-1 regulates cDC2 homeostasis by preventing the excessive production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and overwhelming expansion of cDC2s after TLR stimulation (72). Blimp-1 could also be involved in SIRS and may be partly responsible for the observed susceptibility of patients to nosocomial pneumonia. We showed that cDC2s from patients suffering of SIRS expressed a high level of Blimp1 compared with healthy donors and thus lose their ability to produce type 1 cytokines (including interleukin-12) (10). Blimp-1 expression is also increased in DCs from patient suffering of post-trauma SIRS whose physiopathology is similar to sepsis and who are also susceptible to secondary pneumonia (73). In trauma patients, the increased expression of Blimp-1 has been correlated with the trauma severity (Glasgow Coma Scale) and with respiratory complications in intensive care unit (10). The overexpression of Blimp1 in cDC2s of critically ill patients recovering from a primary pneumonia might be a marker of the severity of immunosuppression and may thus allow identifying and treating early the patients at high risk of severe secondary infections.

### Interleukin (IL)-10

Numerous cell types, including NK cells, B cells, monocytes and DCs, were shown to produce IL-10 during "sepsis induced immunosuppression" (74).

IL-10 induces the apoptosis of mature DCs during chronic viral infections (75) and decreases the number of live DCs during post-traumatic pneumonia (76). In response to IL-12 secretion by mature DCs, NK cells rapidly express IL-10 which inhibits the production of IL-12 by DCs to prevent an overwhelming and deleterious immune response (51). For example, IL-10 neutralization by anti-IL-10 mAb restores the production of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-12 and TNF- $\alpha$ , by DCs (77). During systemic infection, IL-10 inhibits the maturation of DCs and impairs the ability of cDC1s to prime a T cell response. This autocrine IL-10 regulation limits the development of new mature DCs (78) and limits the capacity of mature DCs to initiate Th1 responses. Immunosuppressive IL-10<sup>+</sup> DCs induce Th2 response by stimulating cytokine secretion like IL-4 and "regulatory DCs" secreting IL-10 are also associated with up-regulation of T regulatory cells (T-reg). This regulatory mechanism is notably involved in hyper-eosinophilic airway inflammation (79, 80). IL-10 secretion is an essential component for the protective response against airway hyper reactivity and asthma (81) and is involved in development of lung tolerogenic DCs after pneumonia (82).

## Tumor Growth Factor-Beta: TGF-β

TGF- $\beta$  molecules act as cellular switches regulating numerous physiological processes such as immunity, cell renewal and healing. TGF- $\beta$  is a pleiotropic cytokine involved in the development of Treg lymphocytes by inducing the *Foxp3* transcription factor expression in CD25<sup>-</sup> naive T cells in order to enforce the transition to Treg cells (61). TGF- $\beta$  are expressed constitutively by a wide variety of cells in the lung, including myeloid cells (DCs and alveolar macrophages), T cells and fibroblasts (83).

TGF- $\beta$  are produced as inactive proprotein composed of mature TGF- $\beta$  bound to latency-associated peptide. TGF- $\beta$ 

activation from latency is controlled by numerous pathways that include actions of proteases present in the microenvironment such as plasmin, and/or by thrombospondin 1 or selected integrins expressed at the membrane of cDCs (84, 85). The unusual temporal discontinuity of TGF-B synthesis and action is an original mechanism which allows the TGF-β/LAP complex to behave as a matrix-localized sensor. During sepsis-induced immunosuppression, DCs are thus both a source and an activator of TGF- $\beta$  in the tissue of mice cured from pneumonia (10). Our previous results indicate that cDCs of mice recovering from lung infection produce TGF- $\beta$  and induce Treg cell accumulation (10). When they are activated by TGF-B after primary pneumonia, these Treg cell decrease the pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion pattern and the upregulation of CD80 and CD86 costimulatory molecules of immature cDCs, creating a tolerogenic environment (86). This mechanism is also found in intestinal epithelium where intestinal DCs promote a tolerogenic environment via TGF-β secretion to prevent an exacerbated response against the many non-pathogenic antigens in the gut (87). The crucial role of TGF- $\beta$  in self-tolerance has long been established, with genetic deletion of TGF- $\beta$  inducing multifocal inflammatory disease (88) or with the TGF-B down-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules expression on the surface of DCs limiting the functions of T cell effectors in the epidermis (89). The DCs-Treg cells-TGF- $\beta$ loop plays a central role in the susceptibility to hospital-acquired pneumonia observed after severe infections.

## **GLUCOCORTICOIDS & DENDRITIC CELLS**

Lately after a primary lung inflammation, newly formed DCs receive tolerogenic messages during terminal differentiation in the tissue, and local imprinting drives DCs toward a new tolerogenic transcriptional programing (**Figure 1**). Tolerogenic DCs fail to develop immunogenic functions in response to subsequent infectious threats, and bacterial clearance is decreased during secondary pneumonia. Host-targeted approaches aiming to modulate the lung imprinting of DCs have the potential to restore immune competence after sepsis, and to decrease the risk of secondary pneumonia. Yet, specific interventions, such as the injection of blocking anti-IL-10 or anti-TGF $\beta$  antibody, have not been tested for the prevention of hospital-acquired infections in patients, probably because of safety concerns.

Glucocorticoids for the modulation of inflammatoryinduced immunosuppression have been extensively tested in humans. Recent randomized studies have demonstrated that glucocorticoids decrease the risk of death of patients with septic shock (20) or with community acquired pneumonia (90). Low doses of steroid also prevent hospital-acquired pneumonia in severe trauma patients (91). It can seem counterintuitive to use drugs classically considered as immunosuppressive in patients with severe infections or at high risk of sepsis. Indeed, glucocorticoids are highly anti-inflammatory molecules (92) and steroids have long been indicated for the management of patients suffering from non-septical inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis or systemic erythematous lupus (93), and for the induction of tolerance to graft (94). A reappraisal of the immunological effects of steroids during acute inflammation, and a better comprehension of the impacts of inflammation on the development of immune response to secondary infections, have provided the rational to explain these clinical observations. We propose that steroids prevent the excessive activation of DCs during the severe inflammatory stage (**Figure 1**, middle panel) and limit the alterations of DCs observed during the late stage of sepsis-induced immunosuppression (**Figure 1**, right panel).

It has been long known that the Hypothalamic-Pituitary Adrenal (HPA) axis, and in particular glucocorticoids, is a major component of the response to sepsis (95), as demonstrated by the susceptibility of adrenalectomized mice to septic shock (96). Endogenous glucocorticoid (i.e., cortisol), as well as therapeutic glucocorticoids (i.e., dexamethasone), control many essential metabolic, cardiovascular, and homeostatic functions during inflammation. These numerous effects results from the pleiotropic activity of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) on multiple gene promotors and on multiple target cells (94). Multiple GR isoforms exist (including the main GRa and  $\beta$  receptors) with distinct tissue distribution patterns and functions. The activated glucocorticoid-glucocorticoid receptoralpha (GC-GRa) complex acts at the intra-cytoplasmic level to reduce the post-transcriptional expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and to increase the transcription of anti-inflammatory and tolerogenic genes (94).

Endogenous or synthetic glucocorticoids particularly influence the innate immune cells during the inflammation period. One of the main targets of glucocorticoids are innate lymphoid cells and the neuroendocrine axis is crucial for tolerization of the innate immune system to microbial endotoxin exposure through direct corticosterone-mediated effects on innate cells (97). Glucocorticoids also modulate DCs during and after inflammation (98). In vitro, exogenous GCs at therapeutic concentrations inhibit the differentiation of DCs from their precursor cell (99), and limit their activation by PAMPs/DAMPs (100). GCs induce apoptosis of mature migratory DCs in vivo and in vitro (101). Interestingly, many studies have demonstrated that glucocorticoids suppress mature DCs but spare immature DCs via a differential expression of GR translational isoforms (102, 103) and the activation of cell survival pathways (104). Endogenous glucocorticoid elevation following pneumonia participates to the clearance of mature pro-inflammatory cDCs and to the development of tolerogenic DCs (105-107). In humans suffering from

### REFERENCES

- Troeger C, Forouzanfar M, Rao PC, Khalil I, Brown A, Swartz S et al. Estimates of the global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of lower respiratory tract infections in 195 countries: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2017) 17:1133–61. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30396-1
- Mizgerd JP. Lung Infection—A Public Health Priority. *PLoS Med.* (2006) 3: e76. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030076

septic shock, GC restores MHC-II expression on myeloid cells, suggesting a better antigen presentation by APCs during treatment (108). During viral pneumonia, the initial hypercorticism limits the inflammatory-induced lung injuries and prevents mortality during bacterial superinfection (109). This protective effect (108) is notably mediated by direct effect of GC on the cytokine production by DCs since the conditional deletion of GR in CD11c+ cells prevents mice from death upon LPS stimulation. These results suggest that glucocorticoids are necessary to control the initial inflammatory response, limiting the initial shortage on immature DCs, and limiting the local imprinting which induces the formation of tolerogenic DCs for weeks after the primary pneumonia.

### CONCLUSION

Clinical and bacterial cure failures are common in patients treated for pneumonia, and the susceptibility to secondary infection is high. These observations have been linked to the development of sepsis-induced immunosuppression. Acquired alterations in the numbers and functions of respiratory DCs are crucial in this condition. To develop targeted-host approaches, it is necessary to closely consider the timing of the interventions. A loss of immature DCs is the main mechanisms during the early phase, and alterations of the terminal maturation of newly formed DCs participate to the month-long susceptibility to secondary pneumonia. To treat the sepsis-induced immunosuppression, and limit the susceptibility to secondary pneumonia, many therapies have been tested in recent years. They aimed either to limit the initial SIRS (and thus the CARS) in particular by the use of low dose glucocorticoids (20, 91, 110) or to restore or supplement the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by the injection of IFN- $\gamma$ , GM-CSF (110) or interleukin-12 (10).

Using exogenous glucocorticoid at early phase of sepsis may limit the immune paralysis by decreasing the number of tolerogenic mature DCs and by limiting the development of a tolerogenic trained innate immunity.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MB and AR wrote the draft. KA extensively reviewed the manuscript. All the authors approved the manuscript before the submission

- van Vught LA, Klein Klouwenberg PM, Spitoni C, Scicluna BP, Wiewel MA, Horn J, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and attributable mortality of secondary infections in the intensive care unit after admission for sepsis. *JAMA* (2016) 315:1469–79. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016. 2691
- Chastre J, Wolff M, Fagon JY, Chevret S, Thomas F, Wermert D, et al. Comparison of 8 vs 15 days of antibiotic therapy for ventilator-associated pneumonia in adults: a randomized trial. *JAMA* (2003) 290:2588–98. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.19.2588

- van Vught LA, Scicluna BP, Wiewel MA, Hoogendijk AJ, Klein Klouwenberg PM, Franitza M, et al. Comparative analysis of the host response to community-acquired and hospital-acquired pneumonia in critically ill patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 194:1366–74. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201602-0368OC
- Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Sepsis-induced immunosuppression: from cellular dysfunctions to immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:862–74. doi: 10.1038/nri3552
- Smail N, Messiah A, Edouard A, Descorps-Declère A, Duranteau J, Vigué B, et al.. Role of systemic inflammatory response syndrome and infection in the occurrence of early multiple organ dysfunction syndrome following severe trauma. *Intensive Care Med.* (1995) 21:813–6. doi: 10.1007/BF01700964
- Meisel C, Schwab JM, Prass K, Meisel A, Dirnagl U. Central nervous system injury-induced immune deficiency syndrome. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2005) 6:775–86. doi: 10.1038/nrn1765
- Wilson NS, Behrens GM, Lundie RJ, Smith CM, Waithman J, Young L, et al. Systemic activation of dendritic cells by Toll-like receptor ligands or malaria infection impairs cross-presentation and antiviral immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2006) 7:165–72. doi: 10.1038/ni1300
- Roquilly A, McWilliam HEG, Jacqueline C, Tian Z, Cinotti R, Rimbert M, et al. Local modulation of antigen-presenting cell development after resolution of pneumonia induces long-term susceptibility to secondary infections. *Immunity* (2017) 47:135–47.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.021
- Adib-Conquy M, Adrie C, Moine P, Asehnoune K, Fitting C, Pinsky MR, et al NF- κ B Expression in Mononuclear Cells of Patients with Sepsis Resembles That Observed in Lipopolysaccharide Tolerance. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2000) 162:1877–83. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.162.5.2003058
- Foster SL, Hargreaves DC, Medzhitov R. Gene-specific control of inflammation by TLR-induced chromatin modifications. *Nature* (2007) 447:972–8. doi: 10.1038/nature05836
- 13. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:492–499. doi: 10.1038/ni.2035
- Hotchkiss RS, Chang KC, Swanson PE, Tinsley KW, Hui JJ, Klender P, et al. Caspase inhibitors improve survival in sepsis: a critical role of the lymphocyte. *Nat Immunol.* (2000) 1:496–501. doi: 10.1038/82741
- Boomer JS, To K, Chang KC, Takasu O, Osborne DF, Walton AH, et al. Immunosuppression in patients who die of sepsis and multiple organ failure. *JAMA* (2011) 306:2594–605. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1829
- Alexandre YO, Ghilas S, Sanchez C, Le Bon A, Crozat K, Dalod M. XCR1+ dendritic cells promote memory CD8+ T cell recall upon secondary infections with Listeria monocytogenes or certain viruses. *J Exp Med.* (2016) 213:75–92. doi: 10.1084/jem.20142350
- Barthelemy A, Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Soulard D, Bouabe H, Paget C, et al. Influenza A virus-induced release of interleukin-10 inhibits the anti-microbial activities of invariant natural killer T cells during invasive pneumococcal superinfection. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:460–9. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.49
- 18. Barthelemy A, Ivanov S, Hassane M, Fontaine J, Heurtault B, Frisch B, et al. Exogenous activation of invariant natural killer t cells by  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide reduces pneumococcal outgrowth and dissemination postinfluenza. *mBio*(2016) 7: e01440-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01440-16
- Small CL, Shaler CR, McCormick S, Jeyanathan M, Damjanovic D, Brown EG, et al. Influenza infection leads to increased susceptibility to subsequent bacterial superinfection by impairing NK cell responses in the lung. J Immunol. (2010) 184:2048–56. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902772
- Annane D, Renault A, Brun-Buisson C, Megarbane B, Quenot JP, Siami S, et al. Hydrocortisone plus fludrocortisone for adults with septic shock. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:809–18. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1705716
- Marchingo JM, Kan A, Sutherland RM, Duffy KR, Wellard CJ, Belz GT, et al. Antigen affinity, costimulation, and cytokine inputs sum linearly to amplify T cell expansion. *Science* (2014) 346:1123–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1260044
- 22. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha, A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:563–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074950
- 23. Schlitzer A, Sivakamasundari V, Chen J, Sumatoh HR, Schreuder J, Lum J, et al. Identification of cDC1- and cDC2-committed DC progenitors reveals

early lineage priming at the common DC progenitor stage in the bone marrow. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:718–28. doi: 10.1038/ni.3200

- Helft J, Ginhoux F, Bogunovic M, Merad M. Origin and functional heterogeneity of non-lymphoid tissue dendritic cells in mice. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 234:55–75. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00885.x
- Guilliams M, Ginhoux F, Jakubzick C, Naik SH, Onai N, Schraml BU, et al. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2014) 14:571–8. doi: 10.1038/nri3712
- Ziegler-Heitbrock L, Ancuta P, Crowe S, Dalod M, Grau V, Hart DN, et al. Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. *Blood* (2010) 116:e74–80. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-02-258558
- Haniffa M, Shin A, Bigley V, McGovern N, Teo P, See P, et al. Human tissues contain CD141hi cross-presenting dendritic cells with functional homology to mouse CD103+ nonlymphoid dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2012) 37:60–73. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.04.012
- Robbins SH, Walzer T, Dembélé D, Thibault C, Defays A, Bessou G, et al. Novel insights into the relationships between dendritic cell subsets in human and mouse revealed by genome-wide expression profiling. *Genome Biol.* (2008) 9:R17. doi: 10.1186/gb-2008-9-1-r17
- Vu Manh TP, Bertho N, Hosmalin A, Schwartz-Cornil I, Dalod M. Investigating evolutionary conservation of dendritic cell subset identity and functions. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:260. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00260
- Shortman K, Naik SH. Steady-state and inflammatory dendritic-cell development. Nat Rev Immunol. (2007) 7:19–30. doi: 10.1038/nri1996
- Wilson NS, El-Sukkari D, Belz GT, Smith CM, Steptoe RJ, Heath WR, et al. Most lymphoid organ dendritic cell types are phenotypically and functionally immature. *Blood* (2003) 102:2187–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-02-0513
- Steinman RM, Nussenzweig MC. Avoiding horror autotoxicus: the importance of dendritic cells in peripheral T cell tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:351–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.231606698
- Baratin M, Foray C, Demaria O, Habbeddine M, Pollet E, Maurizio J, et al. Homeostatic NF-κB signaling in steady-state migratory dendritic cells regulates immune homeostasis and tolerance. *Immunity* (2015) 42:627–39. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.03.003
- 34. Ardouin L, Luche H, Chelbi R, Carpentier S, Shawket A, Montanana Sanchis F, et al. Broad and largely concordant molecular changes characterize tolerogenic and immunogenic dendritic cell maturation in thymus and periphery. *Immunity* (2016) 45:305–18. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.07.019
- Miller JC, Brown BD, Shay T, Gautier EL, Jojic V, Cohain A, et al. Deciphering the transcriptional network of the dendritic cell lineage. *Nat Immunol.* (2012) 13:888–99. doi: 10.1038/ni.2370
- 36. Guilliams M, Crozat K, Henri S, Tamoutounour S, Grenot P, Devilard E, et al. Skin-draining lymph nodes contain dermis-derived CD103(-). dendritic cells that constitutively produce retinoic acid and induce Foxp3(+). regulatory T cells. *Blood* (2010) 115:1958–68. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-09-245274
- Vega-Ramos J, Roquilly A, Asehnoune K, Villadangos JA. Modulation of dendritic cell antigen presentation by pathogens, tissue damage and secondary inflammatory signals. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2014) 17:64–70. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2014.07.013
- Villadangos JA, Schnorrer P, Wilson NS. Control of MHC class II antigen presentation in dendritic cells: a balance between creative and destructive forces. *Immunol Rev.* (2005) 207:191–205. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00317.x
- Joffre O, Nolte MA, Spörri R, Reis e Sousa C. Inflammatory signals in dendritic cell activation and the induction of adaptive immunity. *Immunol Rev.* (2009) 227:234–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00718.x
- Vega-Ramos J, Villadangos JA. Consequences of direct and indirect activation of dendritic cells on antigen presentation: functional implications and clinical considerations. *Mol Immunol.* (2013) 55:175–8. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2012.10.034
- Spörri R, Reis e Sousa C. Inflammatory mediators are insufficient for full dendritic cell activation and promote expansion of CD4+ T cell populations lacking helper function. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:163–70. doi: 10.1038/ ni1162
- 42. Roquilly A, Villadangos JA. The role of dendritic cell alterations in susceptibility to hospital-acquired infections during criticalillness related immunosuppression. *Mol Immunol.* (2015) 68:120–3. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2015.06.030

- Kamath AT, Henri S, Battye F, Tough DF, Shortman K. Developmental kinetics and lifespan of dendritic cells in mouse lymphoid organs. *Blood* (2002) 100:1734–41.
- 44. Young LJ, Wilson NS, Schnorrer P, Mount A, Lundie RJ, La Gruta NL, et al. Dendritic cell preactivation impairs MHC class II presentation of vaccines and endogenous viral antigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:17753–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0708622104
- Hotchkiss RS, Tinsley KW, Swanson PE, Grayson MH, Osborne DF, Wagner TH, et al. Depletion of dendritic cells, but not macrophages, in patients with sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:2493–500. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.5.2493
- 46. Efron PA, Martins A, Minnich D, Tinsley K, Ungaro R, Bahjat FR, et al. Characterization of the systemic loss of dendritic cells in murine lymph nodes during polymicrobial sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2004) 173:3035–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.5.3035
- Beshara R, Sencio V, Soulard D, Barthélémy A, Fontaine J, Pinteau T, et al. Alteration of Flt3-Ligand-dependent de novo generation of conventional dendritic cells during influenza infection contributes to respiratory bacterial superinfection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2018) 14:e1007360. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007360
- Pastille E, Didovic S, Brauckmann D, Rani M, Agrawal H, Schade FU, et al. Modulation of dendritic cell differentiation in the bone marrow mediates sustained immunosuppression after polymicrobial sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:977–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001147
- Hotchkiss RS, Nicholson DW. Apoptosis and caspases regulate death and inflammation in sepsis. Nat Rev Immunol. (2006) 6:813–22. doi: 10.1038/nri1943
- Pinzon-Charry A, Woodberry T, Kienzle V, McPhun V, Minigo G, Lampah DA, et al. Apoptosis and dysfunction of blood dendritic cells in patients with falciparum and vivax malaria. *J Exp Med.* (2013) 210:1635–46. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121972
- Perona-Wright G, Mohrs K, Szaba FM, Kummer LW, Madan R, Karp CL, et al. Systemic but not local infections elicit immunosuppressive IL-10 production by natural killer cells. *Cell Host Microbe* (2009) 6:503–12. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.11.003
- 52. Falcone S, Perrotta C, De Palma C, Pisconti A, Sciorati C, Capobianco A, et al. Activation of acid sphingomyelinase and its inhibition by the nitric oxide/cyclic guanosine 3',5'-monophosphate pathway: key events in Escherichia coli-elicited apoptosis of dendritic cells. J Immunol. (2004) 173:4452–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.7.4452
- Kushwah R, Wu J, Oliver JR, Jiang G, Zhang J, Siminovitch KA, et al. Uptake of apoptotic DC converts immature DC into tolerogenic DC that induce differentiation of Foxp3+ Treg. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:1022–35. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939782
- Kushwah R, Hu J. Dendritic Cell Apoptosis: Regulation of Tolerance versus Immunity. J Immunol. (2010) 185:795–802. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000325
- 55. Grimaldi D, Louis S, Pène F, Sirgo G, Rousseau C, Claessens YE, et al. Profound and persistent decrease of circulating dendritic cells is associated with ICU-acquired infection in patients with septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2011) 37:1438–46. doi: 10.1007/s00134-011-2306-1
- D'Arpa N, Accardo-Palumbo A, Amato G, D'Amelio L, Pileri D, Cataldo V, et al. Circulating dendritic cells following burn. *Burns J Int Soc Burn Inj.* (2009) 35:513–8. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2008.05.027
- 57. Roquilly A, Braudeau C, Cinotti R, Dumonte E, Motreul R, Josien R, et al. Impaired blood dendritic cell numbers and functions after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *PLoS ONE* 8:e71639. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071639
- Liu K, Waskow C, Liu X, Yao K, Hoh J, Nussenzweig M. Origin of dendritic cells in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. *Nat Immunol.* (2007) 8:578–83. doi: 10.1038/ni1462
- Segura E, Amigorena S. Inflammatory dendritic cells in mice and humans. *Trends Immunol.* (2013) 34:440–5. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2013.06.001
- Plantinga M, Guilliams M, Vanheerswynghels M, Deswarte K, Branco-Madeira F, Toussaint W, et al. Conventional and monocyte-derived CD11b+ dendritic cells initiate and maintain T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity to house dust mite allergen. *Immunity* (2013) 38:322–35. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.10.016
- 61. Poulin LF, Lasseaux C, Chamaillard M. Understanding the cellular origin of the mononuclear phagocyte system sheds light on the

myeloid postulate of immune paralysis in sepsis. Front Immunol. 9:823. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00823

- 62. Kataoka K, Fujihashi K, Oma K, Fukuyama Y, Hollingshead SK, Sekine S, et al. The nasal dendritic cell-targeting Flt3 ligand as a safe adjuvant elicits effective protection against fatal pneumococcal pneumonia. *Infect Immun.* (2011) 79:2819–28. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01360-10
- Wysocka M, Montaner LJ, Karp CL. Flt3 ligand treatment reverses endotoxin tolerance-related immunoparalysis. J Immunol. (2005) 174:7398– 402. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.11.7398
- Bo L, Wang F, Zhu J, Li J, Deng X. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) for sepsis: a meta-analysis. *Crit Care* 15:R58. doi: 10.1186/cc10031
- Meisel C, Schefold JC, Pschowski R, Baumann T, Hetzger K, Gregor J, et al. Granulocyte–macrophage colony-stimulating factor to reverse sepsisassociated immunosuppression. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2009) 180:640– 8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200903-0363OC
- Hambleton S, Salem S, Bustamante J, Bigley V, Boisson-Dupuis S, Azevedo J, et al. IRF8 mutations and human dendritic-cell immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med. (2011) 365:127–38. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1100066
- Askenase MH, Han SJ, Byrd AL, Morais da. Fonseca D, Bouladoux N, Wilhelm C, et al. Bone-marrow-resident NK Cells Prime Monocytes for Regulatory Function during Infection. *Immunity* (2015) 42:1130–42. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.011
- Naik S, Bouladoux N, Linehan JL, Han SJ, Harrison OJ, Wilhelm C, et al. Commensal-dendritic-cell interaction specifies a unique protective skin immune signature. *Nature* (2015) 520:104–8. doi: 10.1038/nature 14052
- Wen H, Dou Y, Hogaboam CM, Kunkel SL. Epigenetic regulation of dendritic cell-derived interleukin-12 facilitates immunosuppression after a severe innate immune response. *Blood* (2008) 111:1797–804. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-08-106443
- Chang DH, Angelin-Duclos C, Calame K. BLIMP-1: trigger for differentiation of myeloid lineage. *Nat Immunol.* (2000) 1:169–76. doi: 10.1038/77861
- Kim SJ, Zou YR, Goldstein J, Reizis B, Diamond B. Tolerogenic function of Blimp-1 in dendritic cells. J Exp Med. (2011) 208:2193–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20110658
- Chan YH, Chiang MF, Tsai YC, Su ST, Chen MH, Hou MS, et al. Absence of the transcriptional repressor Blimp-1 in hematopoietic lineages reveals its role in dendritic cell homeostatic development and function. J Immunol. (2009) 183:7039–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 0901543
- Asehnoune K, Roquilly A, Abraham E. Innate immune dysfunction in trauma patients: from pathophysiology to treatment. *Anesthesiology* (2012) 117:411–6. doi: 10.1097/ALN.0b013e31825f018d
- Saraiva M, O'Garra A. Saraiva M, O'Garra A. The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2010) 10:170–81. doi: 10.1038/nri2711
- 75. Alter G, Kavanagh D, Rihn S, Luteijn R, Brooks D, Oldstone M, et al. IL-10 induces aberrant deletion of dendritic cells by natural killer cells in the context of HIV infection. *J Clin Invest.* (2010) 120:1905–13. doi: 10.1172/JCI40913
- Roquilly A, Broquet A, Jacqueline C, Masson D, Segain JP, Braudeau C, et al. Hydrocortisone prevents immunosuppression by interleukin-10+ natural killer cells after trauma-hemorrhage. *Crit Care Med.* (2014) 42:e752–761. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000658
- Corinti S, Albanesi C, la Sala A, Pastore S, Girolomoni G. Regulatory Activity of Autocrine IL-10 on Dendritic Cell Functions. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:4312–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.7.4312
- Boonstra A, Rajsbaum R, Holman M, Marques R, Asselin-Paturel C, Pereira JP, et al. Macrophages and myeloid dendritic cells, but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells, produce IL-10 in response to MyD88- and TRIF-dependent TLR signals, and TLR-independent signals. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:7551–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.7551
- Lambrecht BN, De Veerman M, Coyle AJ, Gutierrez-Ramos JC, Thielemans K, Pauwels RA. Myeloid dendritic cells induce Th2 responses to inhaled antigen, leading to eosinophilic airway inflammation. J Clin Invest. (2000) 106:551–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI8107

- 80. Stumbles PA, Thomas JA, Pimm CL, Lee PT, Venaille TJ, Proksch S, et al. Resting respiratory tract dendritic cells preferentially stimulate T helper cell type 2 (Th2). responses and require obligatory cytokine signals for induction of Th1 immunity. J Exp Med. (1998) 188:2019–31. doi: 10.1084/jem.188.11.2019
- Akbari O, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen. *Nat Immunol.* (2001) 2:725–31. doi: 10.1038/90667
- Gregori S, Tomasoni D, Pacciani V, Scirpoli M, Battaglia M, Magnani CF, et al. Differentiation of type 1 T regulatory cells (Tr1). by tolerogenic DC-10 requires the IL-10-dependent ILT4/HLA-G pathway. *Blood* (2010) 116:935–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-234872
- Sullivan DE, Ferris M, Nguyen H, Abboud E, Brody AR. TNF-alpha induces TGF-beta1 expression in lung fibroblasts at the transcriptional level via AP-1 activation. J Cell Mol Med. (2009) 13:1866–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00647.x
- Annes JP, Munger JS, Rifkin DB. Making sense of latent TGFβ activation. J Cell Sci. (2003) 116:217–24. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00229
- Travis MA, Reizis B, Melton AC, Masteller E, Tang Q, Proctor JM, et al. Loss of integrin alpha(v)beta8 on dendritic cells causes autoimmunity and colitis in mice. *Nature* (2007) 449:361–5. doi: 10.1038/nature06110
- Yamazaki S, Inaba K, Tarbell KV, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells expand antigen-specific Foxp3+ CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells including suppressors of alloreactivity. *Immunol Rev.* (2006) 212:314–29. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00422.x
- Worthington JJ, Czajkowska BI, Melton AC, Travis MA. Intestinal dendritic cells specialize to activate transforming growth factor-β and induce Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via integrin αvβ8. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 141:1802–12. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.06.057
- Shull MM, Ormsby I, Kier AB, Pawlowski S, Diebold RJ, Yin M, et al Targeted disruption of the mouse transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene results in multifocal inflammatory disease. *Nature* (1992) 359:693–9. doi: 10.1038/359693a0
- Kel JM, Girard-Madoux MJ, Reizis B, Clausen BE. TGF-beta is required to maintain the pool of immature Langerhans cells in the epidermis. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:3248–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000981
- Torres A, Sibila O, Ferrer M, Polverino E, Menendez R, Mensa J, et al. Effect of corticosteroids on treatment failure among hospitalized patients with severe community-acquired pneumonia and high inflammatory response: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 313:677. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.88
- Roquilly A, Mahe PJ, Seguin P, Guitton C, Floch H, Tellier AC, et al. Hydrocortisone therapy for patients with multiple trauma: the randomized controlled HYPOLYTE study. *JAMA* (2011) 305:1201–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.360
- Baschant U, Tuckermann J. The role of the glucocorticoid receptor in inflammation and immunity. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. (2010) 120:69–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.03.058
- Cooper GS, Stroehla BC. The epidemiology of autoimmune diseases. Autoimmun Rev. (2003) 2:119–25. doi: 10.1016/S1568-9972(03)00006-5
- Rhen T, Cidlowski JA. Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids new mechanisms for old drugs. N Engl J Med. (2005) 353:1711–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra050541
- Nicolaides NC, Kyratzi E, Lamprokostopoulou A, Chrousos GP, Charmandari E. Stress, the stress system and the role of glucocorticoids. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2015) 22:6–19. doi: 10.1159/000362736
- Bertini R, Bianchi M, Ghezzi P. Adrenalectomy sensitizes mice to the lethal effects of interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor. J Exp Med. (1988) 167:1708–12 doi: 10.1084/jem.167.5.1708
- Quatrini L, Wieduwild E, Guia S, Bernat C, Glaichenhaus N, Vivier E, et al. Host resistance to endotoxic shock requires the neuroendocrine regulation of group 1 innate lymphoid cells. *J Exp Med.* (2017) 214:3531–41. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171048
- Rea D, van Kooten C, van Meijgaarden KE, Ottenhoff TH, Melief CJ, Offringa R. Glucocorticoids transform CD40-triggering of dendritic cells

into an alternative activation pathway resulting in antigen-presenting cells that secrete IL-10. *Blood* (2000) 95:3162–7.

- 99. Woltman AM, de Fijter JW, Kamerling SW, Paul LC, Daha MR, van Kooten C. The effect of calcineurin inhibitors and corticosteroids on the differentiation of human dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2000) 30:1807–12. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200007)30:7<1807::AID-IMMU1807>3.0.CO;2-N
- 100. Matyszak MK, Citterio S, Rescigno M, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P. Differential effects of corticosteroids during different stages of dendritic cell maturation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2000) 30:1233–42. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(200004)30:4<1233::AID-IMMU1233>3.0.CO;2-F
- 101. Moser M, De Smedt T, Sornasse T, Tielemans F, Chentoufi AA, Muraille E, et al. Glucocorticoids down-regulate dendritic cell function *in vitro* and *in vivo. Eur J Immunol.* (1995) 25:2818–24. doi: 10.1002/eji.18302 51016
- 102. Cao Y, Bender IK, Konstantinidis AK, Shin SC, Jewell CM, Cidlowski JA, et al. Glucocorticoid receptor translational isoforms underlie maturational stage-specific glucocorticoid sensitivities of dendritic cells in mice and humans. *Blood* (2013) 121:1553–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-05-43 2336
- 103. Bros M, Jährling F, Renzing A, Wiechmann N, Dang NA, Sutter A, et al. A newly established murine immature dendritic cell line can be differentiated into a mature state, but exerts tolerogenic function upon maturation in the presence of glucocorticoid. *Blood* (2007) 109:3820–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-035576
- 104. Gruver-Yates AL, Cidlowski JA. Tissue-specific actions of glucocorticoids on apoptosis: a double-edged sword. *cells* (2013) 2:202–23. doi: 10.3390/cells2020202
- 105. Li CC, Munitic I, Mittelstadt PR, Castro E, Ashwell JD. Suppression of dendritic cell-derived IL-12 by endogenous glucocorticoids is protective in LPS-induced sepsis. *PLoS Biol.* 13:e1002269. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002269
- Piemonti L, Monti P, Allavena P, Sironi M, Soldini L, Leone BE, et al. Glucocorticoids affect human dendritic cell differentiation and maturation. J Immunol. (1999) 162:6473–81.
- 107. Chamorro S, García-Vallejo JJ, Unger WW, Fernandes RJ, Bruijns SC, Laban S, et al. TLR triggering on tolerogenic dendritic cells results in TLR2 up-regulation and a reduced proinflammatory immune program. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:2984–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0801155
- 108. Jamieson AM, Yu S, Annicelli CH, Medzhitov R. Influenza virusinduced glucocorticoids compromise innate host defense against a secondary bacterial infection. *Cell Host Microbe* (2010) 7:103–14. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2010.01.010
- 109. Asehnoune K, Seguin P, Allary J, Feuillet F, Lasocki S, Cook F, et al. Hydrocortisone and fludrocortisone for prevention of hospital-acquired pneumonia in patients with severe traumatic brain injury (Corti-TC): a double-blind, multicentre phase 3, randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2014) 2:706–16. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14) 70144-4
- 110. Spruijt NE, Visser T, Leenen LP.0 A systematic review of randomized controlled trials exploring the effect of immunomodulative interventions on infection, organ failure, and mortality in trauma patients. *Crit Care Lond Engl.* (2010).14:R150. doi: 10.1186/cc9218

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Bouras, Asehnoune and Roquilly. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Respiratory Viral Infection-Induced Microbiome Alterations and Secondary Bacterial Pneumonia**

Shigeo Hanada<sup>1,2</sup>, Mina Pirzadeh<sup>1,3</sup>, Kyle Y. Carver<sup>1,3</sup> and Jane C. Deng<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States, <sup>2</sup> Toranomon Hospital, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Veterans Affairs Healthcare System, Ann Arbor, MI, United States

Influenza and other respiratory viral infections are the most common type of acute respiratory infection. Viral infections predispose patients to secondary bacterial infections, which often have a more severe clinical course. The mechanisms underlying post-viral bacterial infections are complex, and include multifactorial processes mediated by interactions between viruses, bacteria, and the host immune system. Studies over the past 15 years have demonstrated that unique microbial communities reside on the mucosal surfaces of the gastrointestinal tract and the respiratory tract, which have both direct and indirect effects on host defense against viral infections. In addition, antiviral immune responses induced by acute respiratory infections such as influenza are associated with changes in microbial composition and function ("dysbiosis") in the respiratory and gastrointestinal tract, which in turn may alter subsequent immune function against secondary bacterial infection or alter the dynamics of inter-microbial interactions, thereby enhancing the proliferation of potentially pathogenic bacterial species. In this review, we summarize the literature on the interactions between host microbial communities and host defense, and how influenza, and other acute respiratory viral infections disrupt these interactions, thereby contributing to the pathogenesis of secondary bacterial infections.

**OPEN ACCESS** 

### Edited by:

John F. Alcorn, Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, United States

### Reviewed by:

Laurent Pierre Nicod, Universite de Lausanne, Switzerland Victor C. Huber, University of South Dakota, United States

> \*Correspondence: Jane C. Deng jcdeng@umich.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 04 August 2018 Accepted: 26 October 2018 Published: 16 November 2018

### Citation:

Hanada S, Pirzadeh M, Carver KY and Deng JC (2018) Respiratory Viral Infection-Induced Microbiome Alterations and Secondary Bacterial Pneumonia. Front. Immunol. 9:2640. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02640 Keywords: gut microbiome, respiratory viral infection, bacterial pneumonia, viral-bacterial interaction, influenza, host-microbe interaction

## INTRODUCTION

Influenza and bacterial pneumonia are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality from infectious diseases worldwide. Influenza and other respiratory viral infections predispose patients to secondary bacterial super-infections, which are frequently associated with a more severe clinical course. It is estimated that the so-called "Spanish Flu" pandemic of H1N1 influenza A virus from 1918 to 1919 resulted in more than 50 million deaths, with many caused by bacterial super-infection leading to secondary pneumonia (1–7). Even in the antibiotic era, over half of patients with severe infections in the 1957 H2N2 and 1968 H3N2 pandemics had bacterial complications (8–10). Bacterial co-infection was also detected in  $\sim$ 30% of cases in the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, with high mortality rates despite administration of appropriate antibiotics (11–18). Thus, it is evident that a better understanding of the pathogenesis of secondary bacterial pneumonia following viral infections is needed in order to make therapeutic strides for this devastating complication.

The mechanisms of post-viral bacterial infection are complex, comprising multifactorial processes mediated by interactions between viruses, bacteria, and the host immune system.

86

The pathogenesis of super-infection has been attributed to direct mucosal/epithelial damage by influenza virus, increased bacterial colonization of the upper and lower respiratory tracts (URT and LRT, respectively), and dysregulation of immune responses, which all lead to increased susceptibility to secondary bacterial infections. However, emerging evidence suggests that our microbial communities residing on our mucosal surfaces likely shape the rigor of our immune responses and shape the ecological relationships between host and pathogens. Over the past 10 years, intense interest has focused on examining how the microbial communities which inhabit our bodies-which some consider to be a separate "organ system" given the sheer physical bulk, number of genes, and metabolic activities-govern the balance between health and susceptibility to diseases, including infections. This raises the possibility that disruptions in the normal microbial communities by an acute viral infection might contribute to the development of post-viral bacterial pneumonia.

The recent development of culture-independent methods of microbial identification has enabled the study of microbial communities on mucosal surfaces of the human body, referred to as "microbiota." The microbial communities of mammalian hosts are diverse, comprised of bacterial, viruses, archaea, parasites, and fungi. The Human Microbiome Project (HMP) and other similar large-scale sequencing projects worldwide have characterized the distinct microbial communities that have adapted to the unique environmental niches within our bodies, such as the gut, skin, airways, genitourinary tract, and oral cavity. The gut microbiome, in particular, has been shown to play an integral role in shaping the immune system starting early in life, with continued influence on priming the nature and robustness of immune responses throughout one's lifetime. The respiratory tract also harbors distinct communities of microbes, with multiple discrete ecological niches (e.g., nasal cavity, oropharynx, upper airways) that vary in terms of temperature, pH, oxygen tension, mucus production, and other factors.

The effects of viral infections on both the gut and respiratory microbiome have recently undergone examination. Surprisingly, influenza infection has been found to result in significant changes in the gut microbiome, despite the lack of detectable virions in the GI tract. By comparison, the effects of viral infection on the respiratory microbiome appear to be relatively modest, but detectable. While the effects of these alterations on risk of secondary bacterial pneumonia have not been studied, potential mechanisms by which these changes might modulate susceptibility to secondary bacterial infections include alterations in the nature and magnitude of the immune response in the host (microbiome on host effects) and facilitating growth of pathogens in the absence of normal commensals (inter-microbial effects). In this article, we review the current understanding of how alterations in the microbiome following viral infection might alter host immune responses and increase susceptibility to secondary bacterial infections. Although the term "microbiome" encompasses all microbial communities, there is currently a paucity of studies on how the mycobiome (fungal microbiome) and the virome (viral microbiome) affect host defense against respiratory infections and vice-versa; thus, this review will focus on the bacterial microbiome literature.

## THE GUT MICROBIOME AND RESPIRATORY INFECTIONS

Of the niches in the body, the gut microbial community has been the most intensively studied, with over 20,000 publications to date. While the virome and mycobiome (fungi) are also being analyzed, the bulk of the literature has focused on the bacterial component of the microbiome, and thus most of our understanding of the relation of the gut microbiome to host immunity and pathogenesis of chronic diseases comes largely from studies of the bacterial community. During health, the human gut bacterial community is diverse, with each individual harboring over 100 trillion bacteria, comprised of over 150 different species. The gastrointestinal microbiota is dominated by Firmicutes (e.g., Lactobacillus, Bacillus, and Clostridium) and Bacteroidetes (e.g., Bacteroides), with lower abundances of Proteobacteria (e.g., Escherichia) and Actinobacteria (e.g., Bifidobacterium) (19, 20). Wild-living mice exhibit more diverse microbiomes, with significant abundance of Proteobacteria as well as Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes (21). The gut microbiome, in addition to its metabolic functions in the host, plays an integral role in the development, instruction, and priming of the immune system. Germ-free (GF) mice (which lack microbiota) have markedly underdeveloped gut-associated lymphoid tissues, decreased number and smaller-sized Peyer's patches and mesenteric lymph nodes, and defects in antibody production, compared to specific pathogen free (SPF) mice. Not surprisingly, germ-free animals exhibit increased susceptibility to multiple types of infections, including viruses, bacteria, and parasites (22-27). However, compared to free-living mice or laboratory animals exposed to gut flora from wild mice, SPF animals have a more limited microbial community and are also more susceptible to inflammatory diseases, with a reduced immune repertoire including deficits in memory responses (21, 28, 29).

Although an extensive discussion of the healthy gut microbiome and its impact on host immunity is beyond the scope of this review, we will highlight a few important aspects of how the intestinal bacterial community microbiome maintains a healthy host immune environment. First, bacterial metabolites generated by gut commensals contribute to the maintenance of intact epithelial integrity, regulatory T-cell development, and a relatively anti-inflammatory immune state. In particular, short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) such as acetate, propionate, and butyrate are fermentation products of dietary fiber and carbohydrates by large intestinal bacteria (30). In addition to being a major energy source for intestinal epithelial cells, SCFAs promote the development of naive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into regulatory T cells (31, 32), induce "tolerogenic" dendritic cells in the intestinal mucosa (33), and limit autoimmity (34, 35). At the same time, microbial metabolites are integral for promoting immune responses in the gut against pathogens, including inducing secretion of IL-18 (36) and defensins (37, 38). Thus, the products of microbiome metabolism are integral to the appropriate regulation of mucosal barrier integrity and immune homeostasis. In addition, specific members of the bacterial community have been shown to foster the proper maturation and development of the immune system. While this is still an area undergoing intense investigation, one notable example is the discovery that segmented filamentous bacteria are critical promoters of intestinal mucosal IgA production (39, 40)and Th17 cell induction (41, 42).

Dysbiosis, or an imbalance in the normal composition of the microbiome, is associated with a variety of chronic diseases, many of which are characterized by chronic inflammation or abnormal metabolism, including inflammatory bowel disease, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes. Thus, fostering appropriate levels of diversity and composition of the gut microbial community is critical for promoting health and immune homeostasis. During health, the composition of the microbiome is governed by a number of selective pressures unique to each anatomic niche, including temperature, nutrient availability, pH, oxygen tension, and the local immune environment. Shortterm perturbations in the gut microenvironment caused by illness, antibiotic usage, or dietary changes (e.g., starvation) can alter the gut microbiome and subsequently lead to transient alterations in immune responses. Thus, investigating whether influenza and other respiratory viruses alter the gastrointestinal microbiome could have mechanistic implications for viralmediated suppression of antibacterial immune responses.

# Effects of Acute Respiratory Viral Infection on Gut Microbiome

Although the composition of the gastrointestinal microbiome is largely influenced by dietary patterns, respiratory viral infections could also contribute, along with other stress inducers such as broad-spectrum antibiotics exposure and chronic inflammation. Using animal models of pulmonary infections by influenza and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), multiple groups have shown that the gut microbiome is clearly impacted by respiratory viral infections, despite the lack of detectable respiratory virus in the gut (43-47). In a murine model of influenza infection, the investigators found that although the total numbers of bacteria in the gut did not decrease, there was a reduction in the quantities of segmented filamentous bacteria (SFB) and Lactobacillus/Lactococcus, accompanied by increases in Enterobacteriaceae. Interestingly, although SFB have previously been shown to induce Th17 cells (41, 48), flu-infected mice had increased IL-17A levels and numbers of Th17 cells in the small intestine and colon, which appeared to contribute to intestinal injury (43). In this study, antibiotic treatment prior to influenza infection ameliorated the degree of intestinal injury, but not lung injury, suggesting that gut dysbiosis contributed to local but not systemic inflammation. Other groups have similarly reported increased Proteobacteria (the phylum of which Enterobacteriaceae are members) (44, 45), decreased Firmicutes (which include SFB, Lactobacillus and Lactococcus species), and increased Bacteroidetes (47) following infection by flu or RSVs but not after administration of live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV), indicating that live viral infection is required for these changes (47). The increase in Proteobacteria appears to be mediated by type I interferons (IFNs) (18), which not only depleted anaerobic bacteria but also increased susceptibility to secondary Salmonella colitis. However, caloric restriction also



FIGURE 1 | Shifts in the mouse gut microbiome in the setting of influenza infection. During an acute respiratory viral infection, changes in the bacterial composition of the gut microbiome can be observed despite the absence of detectable virus in the gastrointestinal compartment. This suggests that systemic immune signals, physiologic changes (e.g., weight loss), and other still unknown factors are disrupting the normal ecology of the gut, thereby leading to dysbiosis. However, the majority of these studies have been conducted in laboratory animals housed under SPF conditions. It remains to be determined whether human patients and mammalian hosts with more diverse baseline gut microbiota (i.e., mice in the wild), exhibit similar qualitative or quantitative changes.

results in increased relative abundance of Proteobacteria and increased Bacteroidetes to Firmicutes ratio, raising the possibility that decreased oral intake during influenza may contribute to changes in the microbiome (45, 47, 49, 50). It has also been shown that influenza infection alters intestinal microbiota composition through type II IFN produced by lung-derived T cells recruited to the intestine (43). Thus, changes in the gut microbiome appear to result not from direct viral effects but from systemic inflammatory signals that travel from the lung and trigger local inflammatory responses in the gut (**Figure 1**).

## Effects of Gut Microbiome on Host Immune Responses

Interactions between respiratory tract infections and the gut microbiome are bidirectional. While respiratory viral infections can change the gut microbiome, the gut microbiome also shapes the adaptive immune responses against respiratory pathogens. Mice pretreated with an antibiotic cocktail showed increased morbidity and mortality during influenza infection (51, 52). The severity of infection was associated with reductions in dendritic cell migration rate and the number of local T cells. Mice given a 4 week oral course of broad-spectrum antibiotics before respiratory viral infection mounted an attenuated anti-PR8 antibody response, were incapable of inducing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated IFN- $\gamma$  response to PR8 antigen, and had fewer influenza-specific CD8<sup>+</sup>T cells (51, 52). These mice also had higher viral titers in their lungs (51). Germ-free mice and antibiotic-treated mice also exhibit impaired antibody responses to seasonal influenza vaccination, which was restored by oral administration of flagellated *E. coli*, demonstrating a dependence on TLR5-mediated sensing of the host microbiota (53).

The gut microbiome is essential for priming innate immune responses against pulmonary infections as well. During viral infections, the degree of macrophage response to respiratory viruses depends on the presence of gut microbes. Macrophages from animals treated with antibiotics exhibited defective responses to type I and II IFNs and impaired capacity to limit viral replication, suggesting that intestinal microbiota provide immune stimulation that establishes an "activation threshold" for innate antiviral immune responses (52). A comparison of C57BL/6 mice from The Jackson Laboratory (which lack SFB in the stool) and Taconic Biosciences (which are SFB positive) revealed that SFB-deficient animals have increased lung bacterial burdens and more severe pneumonia when challenged with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (54), which was associated with decreased IL-17-mediated responses in the lung. Another study using broad-spectrum antibiotic treatment followed by intranasal administration of S. pneumoniae in mice demonstrated that microbiome depletion led to decreased survival, increased lung bacterial burden, and increased systemic dissemination of bacteria (55). Antibiotic-pretreated animals displayed altered cytokine profiles in the lung compared to untreated controls following S. pneumoniae infection, including significantly decreased TNF- $\alpha$  levels at 6 and 24 h after infection. Additionally, in the microbiota-depleted group, alveolar macrophages and blood neutrophils exhibited decreased phagocytic activity, and decreased inflammatory cytokine production following ex vivo stimulation by Toll-like receptor (TLR) ligands such as lipoteichoic acid (LTA) (55). These effects might be mediated in part by decreased Nod1 sensing of meso-DAP (diaminopimelic acid)-containing peptidoglycan found in gut microbiota, which previously was shown to be essential for priming innate immune responses to S. pneumoniae (56). Thus, antibiotic-induced disruptions in the normal gut microbial community alter multiple aspects of normal host defense against acute respiratory pathogens (Figure 2).

## Gut Microbiome: Therapeutic Avenues for Acute Respiratory Infections

Collectively, the studies above suggest that modulation of the gastrointestinal tract microbiome plays an important role in acute respiratory infections, but precisely how the microbiome should be manipulated to promote appropriate immune responses during acute respiratory infections is unclear. Currently, clinical studies have shown that although probiotics do not influence the incidence of respiratory tract infection, they do reduce the severity of symptoms and duration of the illness (57, 58). Pinpointing which members of the gut microbial community are essential for proper immune priming is challenging, but necessary for guiding further microbiome-based therapies. Clostridium orbiscindens, a member of the human gut microbiome, has been found to produce desaminotyrosine (DAT) from metabolism of flavonoids and amino acids. Antibiotic-treated mice exhibited markedly decreased fecal and serum DAT levels, which was associated with attenuated type I IFN responses to influenza infection and increased mortality (59). Thus, identification of DAT-producing microbiota might serve as a modality for priming type I IFN responses against viral infections. Another group demonstrated that oral administration of Lactobacillus plantarum enhanced the type I IFN response and lowered viral titers in the lungs in a murine model of influenza infection (60). Other Lactobacillus strains are known to enhance TNF-a and IFNy production by nasal lymphocytes upon influenza infection (61). Oral administration of a probiotic cocktail containing Lactobacillus restored the immune response and enhanced the activation of signaling pathways associated with recognition of single-stranded RNA virus (62). An alternative approach to administering probiotics is to alter the local metabolic environment to regulate immune responses. A recent report demonstrated that animals fed a high fiber diet had increased generation of SCFAs, leading to enhanced antiviral CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell immune responses and attenuated neutrophil-mediated lung injury during influenza infection, resulting in improved survival (63). Thus, one strategy for decreasing the incidence of post-viral bacterial infections is to limit the severity of the primary viral infection.

However, activation of antiviral immune responses, including type I and type II IFNs, have been associated with increased susceptibility to secondary bacterial pneumonia (64, 65). Thus, another strategy is to enhance immune responses against common bacterial causes of pneumonia. One group re-colonized antibiotic-treated or germ-free mice with groups of cultivatable commensal bacteria, and found that administration of Lactobacillus reuteri, Enterococcus faecalis, Lactobacillus crispatus, and Clostridium orbiscindens, which are strong stimulators of NOD2 (i.e., cytosolic receptor for muramyl dipeptide, which is found in cell walls of certain bacteria), are able to protect against bacterial pneumonia by enhancing GM-CSF production (66). Whether viral-induced changes in the gut microbiome is associated with immune defects that promote secondary bacterial pneumonia, or whether the impaired antibacterial defenses observed in virally-infected hosts can be restored by augmenting certain components of the microbiome are important areas to be investigated.

## THE RESPIRATORY TRACT MICROBIOME

The microbiome of the respiratory tract has also been investigated in the context of viral infections. Its role in the development of secondary bacterial pneumonia following influenza and other acute respiratory viral infections is unclear. The respiratory tract is the main site of continuous contact with



exogenous microbes. As is the case with the gut, immunity at the mucosal interface of the respiratory tract is a constant balance of tolerance of commensal and non-invasive microbes and immune activation against pathogens. The URT and LRT have similar microbial community compositions, although microbe densities are much higher in the former in healthy hosts. Several factors are known to influence airway microbiome composition including infection history, age, genetics, and structural lung disease.

The URT is an interconnected system consisting of the anterior nares, nasal cavity, nasopharynx, sinuses, Eustachian tube, middle ear cavity, oral cavity, oropharynx, and larvnx, each of which serve as distinct niches with their own microbial communities. In healthy adults, bacteria present in the nasal cavity are typically those associated with skin, predominantly members of the Actinobacteria (e.g., Corynebacterium spp., Propionibacterium spp.), followed by Firmicutes (e.g., Staphylococcus spp.), and Proteobacteria (67-69). The oropharynx contains members of Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes, including Streptococcus, Neisseria, Haemophilus, and Lachnospira spp. (68, 70, 71). Skin and oral cavity lineages are represented in the nasopharynxe.g., Streptococcus, Staphylococcus, Corynebacterium, and Prevotella (70, 72, 73). A limited number of pathogens including Streptococcus pneumoniae, Neisseria meningitides,

and *Haemophilus influenzae* are commensal bacteria of the URT.

In healthy individuals, the microbial community richness (i.e., the total number of bacterial taxa) is lower in the LRT than that in the URT (70, 74-76). Contrary to dogma that normal healthy lungs are a sterile environment, a distinct, and somewhat dynamic lung microbiome can be identified using sequencing technology, with microaspiration serving as the primary route of microbial immigration from the URT to the LRT (76, 77). The major phyla in healthy lungs are Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes, which mainly include Prevotella, Veillonella, and Streptococcus (78-80). Individuals with chronic airway diseases (e.g., cystic fibrosis, COPD) have increased bacterial populations in the lungs (77) and differences in the relative abundance of certain species (81). Impaired airway clearance due to intrinsic or extrinsic factors leads to the proliferation of bacterial species that can exploit this growth opportunity (82). How respiratory viral infection affects the diversity of microbial communities and whether viral-induced dysbiosis influences immune functions is being examined. Nonetheless, bacterial colonization of the URT is generally considered as the first step in the development of invasive bacterial infections (83, 84), including secondary bacterial infections following respiratory viral infection. Bacterial abundance, species diversity, and factors that shape the immune

response to subsequent infections are discussed in greater detail below.

# Studies of the URT Microbiome During Respiratory Viral Infection

Respiratory viruses enter the human body through the URT and are the most common type of acute infections of the respiratory tract. One possible mechanism by which influenza and other viral infections might predispose infected hosts to secondary bacterial pneumonia is by altering the microbial composition of the upper respiratory tract, fostering enhanced growth of pathogens, and facilitating the subsequent entry of large bacterial loads into the LRT (85). This section will examine recent literature on how acute respiratory viral infections have changed the URT microbiome.

### **Cross-Sectional Studies**

Given the effects of viruses on enhancing bacterial adherence to the epithelium (86-88), it is perhaps not surprising that multiple studies of human subjects as well as in animal models have shown that viral infections are associated with increased colonization by potentially pathogenic bacteria (known as "pathobionts"). A comparative analysis using qPCR to detect specific bacteria in adult patients with or without influenza A infection showed that Staphylococcus aureus, S. pneumoniae, and H. influenzae were present in 12, 24, and 32% of infected patients, respectively as compared to 5, 11, and 10% of uninfected patients (89). In experimental in vitro models, viral infections increase the colonization rates of various bacteria in the URT (90-95), including S. pneumoniae and H. influenzae (86-88). In children, influenza is associated with a 15-fold increase in nasopharyngeal titer of S. pneumoniae (96). Animal models have similarly confirmed that viral infection, particularly influenza, increases bacterial colonization rates in the URT, enhancing the risk of secondary bacterial infections (97-99). Higher pneumococcal colonization density has been linked to respiratory virus coinfection and invasive pneumococcal pneumonia, after adjusting for age and sex (85). Another case-control study comparing nasopharyngeal bacteria with and without pneumonia also found an association between nasopharyngeal load of S. pneumoniaebut not of H. influenza and M. catarrhalis-and viral coinfection and pneumonia (96). In addition, viral infections potentially may enhance transmission of bacteria. In a study of mice colonized with S. pneumoniae and then infected with influenza A virus 3 days after, S. pneumoniae transmission occurred only when all mice were infected with influenza and was blocked by an influenza-neutralizing antibody (95). However, while specific bacteria might gain a competitive advantage during viral infections, this does not universally translate to all bacterial taxa. A recent study of subjects with and without respiratory viral infections demonstrated lower overall bacterial reads from nasopharyngeal samples in virally-infected subjects compared with uninfected controls (100).

The relationship between acute viral infections and bacterial colonization appears to be bidirectional. Bacterial carriage or their ligands can increase or decrease viral infectivity rate, thereby positively or negatively influencing the subsequent host immune response to viral infection. Viral replication in the respiratory tract can be enhanced by exposure to S. pneumoniae (101). Patients harboring S. pneumoniae are more likely to experience subsequent acute respiratory illness episodes than those without colonization (102). In addition, bacteria present in the airways can modulate host responses against viral infection. The presence of a nasopharyngeal commensal protected mice against RSV-induced airway hyperresponsiveness. RSV-infected mice who underwent antibiotic-mediated depletion of Streptococcus viridans in the nasopharynx exhibited increases in number of inflammatory lymphocytes and airway hyperresponsiveness, and decreases in regulatory T cell number and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  production (103). Others have shown that colonization of the URT with S. aureus drastically reduced influenza-induced acute lung injury and mortality in mice by recruiting a C-C chemokine receptor type 2<sup>+</sup> cluster of differentiation (CD)11b<sup>+</sup> monocyte subset to the lungs and inducing an M2 macrophage phenotype (104).

With the availability of next-generation 16S rRNA sequencing, microbiome-based studies have attempted to discern global patterns of change in the bacterial community of each anatomic niche during viral infections, such as changes in diversity. Diversity can be assessed using a variety of indices, such as total number of unique species of the microbiome (i.e., richness) or other measures that account for both richness and the evenness of relative abundance of the members of the community (e.g., Shannon index). Results from microbiome analyses have not demonstrated consistent changes in diversity when comparing virally infected subjects with healthy controls. This is not surprising given the variability of the subjects sampled, differences in type and severity of viral infections, type and timing of sample collection, and analysis methodology. In some studies, increased bacterial diversity appeared to be associated with influenza severity. A French study of children admitted to the hospital with influenza revealed increased diversity of the nasopharyngeal microflora with increased influenza severity (105). Children with severe influenza showed decreased relative abundance of S. aureus and increased abundance of Prevotella, Streptobacillus, Porphyromonas, Granulicatella, Veillonella, Fusobacterium, and Haemophilus. A recent Chinese study in patients with H7N9 avian influenza demonstrated significantly increased diversity in the oropharyngeal microbiome of H7N9-infected patients compared to healthy controls, particularly H7N9 patients with secondary bacterial pneumonia (106). Conversely, a French study of nasopharyngeal samples and a South Korean study of oropharyngeal samples from patients with acute respiratory viral infections both displayed decreases in diversity indices during viral infections compared to healthy controls (71, 100). Both studies included subjects ranging from infants to adults >80 years of age, limiting conclusions about age-related effects. Longitudinal studies conducted in healthy volunteers who underwent experimental self-innoculation with rhinovirus also failed to demonstrate significant changes in diversity of the URT microbiome, while administration of LAIV vaccine to healthy adults led to increases in diversity measures following viral

challenge (73, 107). Thus, unlike other diseases where decreased diversity is considered deleterious to the host, the effects of viral infections on diversity *per se* are variable and not presently considered a good indicator of risk for complications, including secondary bacterial pneumonias.

Microbiome sequencing studies also enable investigators to identify changes in abundance among multiple bacterial taxa simultaneously, beyond just what can be cultured individually. This allows investigators to determine what groups of bacteria are changing in unison during viral infection and which are existing in competition with one another. This information may have implications for the development of probiotic therapies (as discussed below). A recent metagenomics-based study in France reported enrichment of S. aureus, S. pneumoniae, H. influenzae, Moraxella catarrhalis and Klebsiella pneumoniae in nasopharyngeal samples of subjects with confirmed respiratory viral infections compared to healthy controls (100). An examination of the oropharyngeal microbiome of pneumonia patients with and without 2009 influenza A H1N1 pandemic viral infection showed that Firmicutes (which include Staphylococcus and Streptococcus spp.) and Proteobacteria (mainly Pseudomonas amygdali, P. fluorescens, Pseudomonas sp. UK4, Acinetobacter baumanii and A. junii)-were significantly enriched in patients with influenza (108). Another study of patients with 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza infection revealed that the predominant phyla of the upper respiratory tract (nasal and nasopharyngeal samples) in patients harboring pandemic H1N1 were Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria although normal controls were not included; however, the authors suggested that flu is associated with an expansion of Proteobacteria (109) which is generally less abundant in healthy hosts. These findings are supported by another group who found that Moraxella and Enterobacter spp. (which are classified as Proteobacteria) were the most highly represented bacteria in nasopharyngeal samples obtained from patients with pandemic H1N1 influenza (110). However, these studies demonstrated that there was considerable inter-subject variability, highlighting the need for longitudinal studies to decipher changes following viral infection.

Investigators have also sought to determine whether specific viruses are consistently linked to enrichment of certain bacterial taxa. In the nasopharyngeal compartment of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal children in Australia, positive associations were detected between hRV and S. pneumoniae, H. influenza, and Moraxella catarrhalis carriage as well as between adenovirus and M. catarrhalis (111). Another study examining the presence of 20 respiratory viruses by PCR panel and prevalence of bacterial carriage in the nasopharynx of children found a strong positive association between S. aureus colonization and influenza virus (112). Moreover, S. pneumoniae colonization was positively associated with the presence of hRV and enteroviruses; H. influenzae was positively associated with hRV and RSV; and M. catarrhalis colonization was positively associated with coronaviruses and adenoviruses. A 16s rRNA sequencing-based study conducted in infants with acute RSV or hRV respiratory infections reported that infants with RSV had significantly higher abundance of Staphylococcus spp. compared to hRV-infected infants (113). An analysis of the URT bacterial content of 57 healthy asymptomatic individuals and 59 patients with influenza virus, parainfluenza, hRV, RSV, coronavirus, adenovirus, or metapneumovirus by culture-independent pyrosequencing revealed six distinct bacterial profiles—i.e., *Streptococcus* + *Prevotella* + *Veillonella*, *Streptococcus* + *Haemophilus* + *Neisseria*, *Streptococcus*, *Moraxella*, *Haemophilus*, and *Klebsiella*. These profiles, however, were not associated with virus type but were linked to the age of subjects (71).

Given that many human studies are cross-sectional in nature, it remains unclear whether post-viral bacterial pneumonias might be the result of viral infections enhancing bacterial colonization or acquisition, colonizing bacteria influencing host susceptibility to respiratory viral infections, or a combination of both. Another complicating factor particularly in cross-sectional studies examining the microbiome during viral infections is that the groups are not well-controlled and the sample numbers are relatively small considering the number of variables that could affect the respiratory tract microbiome-such as age, gender, oral hygiene and nose-picking habits, healthcare-based employment status, smoking status, medication use, exposure to small children, etc. The underlying type of viral infection, sampling timepoint after onset of infection, severity of infection, and concomittant antimicrobial usage are other confounding factors. This may underlie the highly variable and sometimes discrepant observations from microbiome studies in patients with viral infections.

### Longitudinal Studies

There have been few clinical studies comparing baseline pre- and post-infection microbiomes in otherwise healthy individuals with acute viral infections due to the difficulty of sampling before infection. However, the relatively few studies available provide insights into the dynamicity and stability of bacteria colonization patterns over time, and whether and how perturbations brought on by acute viral infections alter these patterns. In healthy children, the major phyla among nasopharyngeal microbiotas are Proteobacteria, Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, and Fusobacteria, with Moraxella, Haemophilus, Streptococcus, Flavobacteria, Dolosigranulum, Corynebacterium, and Neisseria as predominant genera. Changes in nasopharyngeal microbiome diversity were observed across seasons, with a predominance of Proteobacteria and Fusobacteria in fall-winter and Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes in spring; these differences were independent of recent antibiotics and viral co-infection (114). However, another analysis of two nasopharyngeal washes collected 5.5-6.5 months apart from 40 children and adolescents with asthma showed no significant differences in nasopharyngeal microbiome diversity across seasons, although mean relative abundances of Haemophilus, Moraxella, Staphylococcus, and Corynebacterium varied significantly between summer and fall samples and between age groups. Moreover, in 87.5% of patients, operational taxonomic units (OTUs) in patients varied significantly between time points (115). An investigation of the frequency and seasonal variation in bacterial and viral load in asymptomatic healthcare professionals during the winter and summer months showed that of the 100 subjects tested during the winter, 34 were colonized with at least one bacterial species and 11 tested positive for at least one virus. The most frequently detected pathogens were methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), *M. catarrhalis*, and coronavirus. In contrast, of the 100 subjects tested during the summer, 37 harbored at least one bacterium (mainly MRSA and *K. pneumoniae*) and four tested positive for one virus (116).

Several larger scale surveillance studies of mainly pediatric populations have examined the natural temporal patterns in bacterial colonization during viral infections. One clinical investigation assessed the presence and density of S. pneumoniae, H. influenzae, and M. catarrhalis in the nasopharynx of children during URT infection and in the healthy state, and reported that the proportion of children colonized with these bacteria was higher during infection than during asymptomatic surveillance visits. Mean density of all bacterial species was significantly higher at each visit when a virus was detected. Interestingly, the percentage of colonized children and bacterial density were also higher at asymptomatic visits in which virus was detected than at those in which virus was not detected (117). Another study of 31 families with small children using longitudinal nasal swab sampling demonstrated that rhinovirus infection was associated with increased acquisition of S. pneumoniae from the community as well as increased transmission of S. pneumoniae within the family (118).

Other groups have examined the effects of experimental innoculation of hRV into the URT (nares) (Figure 3). These studies reported no significant changes in total read counts or of the main phyla (e.g., Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria) over time in nasopharyngeal samples (73) or throat swabs (119). In the oropharyngeal compartment, rhinovirus infection was associated with a strong trend toward transient increases in the relative abundances of H. parainfluenzae, Neisseria subflava and a weak trend toward an increase in S. aureus (119). By 60 days, abundance of these bacteria had returned to baseline. Nasopharyngeal sampling showed completely opposite results, with decreased relative abundance of Haemophilus and Neisseria spp., but an increase in the normal nasal commensal, Propionibacterium, in subjects following hRV infection (73). No differences in Staphylococcus were observed. However, the number of subjects were small in both studies, limiting the power to detect changes over time.

Nasopharyngeal microbiota composition has been shown to be altered by influenza vaccination (**Figure 3**). Administration of live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV), which is nasally instilled, to healthy children increased the nasal colonization density of *S. pneumoniae* in subjects who harbored this bacterium at the time of vaccination, and transiently increased rates of colonization by *H. influenza* (120). In healthy adult volunteers, it was demonstrated that intranasal LAIV administration induced an increase in the diversity of the nasopharyngeal microbiome,



colonization of the upper respiratory tract by bacterial pathogens. In human subjects, live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV) and human rhinovirus (hRV) have been shown to disrupt the local host bacterial community, with increased relative abundance of potential pathogens (or pathobionts), such as Staphylococcal and Neisseria species. The major changes in the upper respiratory tract microbiome are highlighted here. as well as relative abundances of *Staphylococcus* and *Bacteroides* (107). These changes were not observed in subjects given saline nasal spray. In a mouse model, bacterial density in the nasopharynx after LAIV administration was increased as much as 100,000 times compared to influenza-naive hosts, and the duration of carriage of *S. pneumoniae* or *S. aureus* was also increased 2 to 5-fold (121). However, systemic vaccination can also alter the URT microbiome. A longitudinal study of healthy subjects found a significant association between the presence of *Lactobacillus helveticus, Prevotella melaninogenica, Streptococcus infantis, Veillonella dispar*, and *Bacteroides ovatus* and influenza-specific H1 and H3 IgA antibody response (122). Thus, it is remarkable that a relatively mild viral stimulus such as flu vaccine can lead to detectable changes in the URT microbiome.

Although the data are still preliminary, animal studies have suggested that antiviral immune activation contributes to changes in the URT microbiome and facilitate colonization by potential pathogens, such as *S. aureus*. In a mouse model of *S. aureus* nasal colonization, the absence of type I IFN receptor was associated with decreased persistence of bacteria (107). Type III IFN, which is also induced during influenza infections, led to changes in the nasal microbiome, including increased numbers of culturable bacteria. Increased upper respiratory tract persistence of *S. aureus* as well as increased risk of *S. aureus* pneumonia was observed in flu-infected wildtype mice compared to mice lacking the type III IFN receptor (123). Currently, however, is it unclear to what extent viral-induced changes in the URT microbiome alter subsequent immune responses against secondary bacterial infections.

# Studies of the LRT Microbiome During Respiratory Viral Infection

Compared to studies of the URT microbiome, studies of the LRT microbiome following viral infections are relatively scarce due to the difficulty of obtaining uncontaminated samples from the lung. Samples of convenience, such as sputum, suffer from oral contamination, but bronchoscopic samples are invasive and expensive to obtain on a regular basis. Moreover, it is unclear whether outside of patients with chronic lung disease (e.g., COPD), the lung microbial burden is of sufficient magnitude to exert robust effects on immune responses and risk of secondary bacterial infection during viral infection. Data from a mouse model of influenza infection seem to indicate that flu infection has only a modest effect on bacterial counts, diversity and composition of the lung microbiome (46). In subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) after hRV infection but not in healthy individuals, there was an increase in bacterial burden and growth of bacteria present at baseline, particularly H. influenzae (124). The researchers observed that the growth of bacteria seemed to arise from the existing community. S. pneumoniae intranasally inoculated into mice pre-infected with influenza virus first colonized the nose, followed by the trachea and lungs several days later with purulent inflammation. However, this effect was not observed in uninfected animals. This suggests that pneumococcal infection may sequentially develop from the URT to the LRT in influenza virus-infected subjects (97). Thus, it is possible that some individuals with influenza infection might develop changes in their lung microbiome as a result of changes in their URT microbial communities.

Respiratory viruses not only alter the bacterial community in the URT, but also promote bacterial colonization of the LRT by a variety of mechanisms that impair bacterial clearance. First, mucus production in the respiratory tract is increased to facilitate viral clearance during infections. However, excessive mucus production can lead to airway obstruction by impeding mucociliary clearance (125). Second, viral infections can also reduce ciliary beat frequency and the number of ciliated cells, disrupt the coordinated movement of cilia, and impede the repair of respiratory epithelial cells, further leading to reduced mucociliary clearance (126, 127). Third, respiratory viral infections impair innate immune responses against bacteria (128-130). Innate immune cells including macrophages and neutrophils are recruited to the lung by cytokines and chemokines for phagocytosis and bactericidal activity. Prior viral infections dysregulate both alveolar macrophages (64, 131-136) and neutrophils (65, 128, 129), thereby inhibiting bactericidal activity. Thus, with multiple aspects of pulmonary host defense impaired, it would not be entirely surprising if a subset of influenza infected patients developed secondary bacterial pneumonia as a result of being unable to clear aspirated pathobionts from the URT.

# INTERMICROBIAL INTERACTIONS AND POSTVIRAL SECONDARY INFECTIONS

In addition to enabling us to determine what is present during states of health, large-scale sequencing-based microbiome analyses have also revealed who is not present during disease. It has long been appreciated that mechanisms have evolved in bacteria that confer competitive advantages, permitting them to survive in an otherwise inhospitable host environment. However, interspecies competition also maintains homeostasis of the microbial community, either through their abilities to capture scare resources (e.g., iron), or targeted killing of other bacteria (e.g., bacteriocins), preventing one microbe from dominating the community. Thus, it is possible that the immune response incited by acute viral infections, changes in the host epithelial surface caused by the virus, or the virus itself might lead to elimination of a host commensal that is responsible for keeping pathobionts in check. For example, S. epidermidis and Propionibacterium acnes abundance in the nares has been shown to be negatively associated with S. aureus carriage (67). Understanding these interactions may create new avenues for therapeutic interventions aimed at reducing colonization by pathogenic bacteria during influenza epidemics or pandemics.

One group of commensals that has been examined for its role in inhibiting nasal carriage by *S. aureus* and *S. pneumoniae* is *Corynebacterium* spp. An early study in Japan reported on the effects of introducing a *Corynebacterium* strain into the nares of healthy adult hospital workers who were persistent carriers of *S. aureus*, with successful eradication in 71% of subjects (137). The mechanism appeared to be bacteriocin-independent. In comparison, S. epidermidis implantation did not have an effect. Whether the S. epidermidis strain used expressed the serine protease Esp, which inhibits biofilm formation by S. aureus and nasal colonization (138), is unknown. Subsequent studies by another group reported that C. pseudodiphtheriticum inhibited S. aureus growth, whereas C. accolens and S. aureus appeared to support each other's growth (139). Conversely, other investigators observed that Corynebacterium spp. were enriched in children who were not nasally colonized with pneumococcus, and demonstrated that C. accolens inhibit S. pneumoniae growth in vitro by expressing a lipase that releases free fatty acids from skin surface triacylglycerols, which inhibit pneumococcal growth. Thus, painstaking identification and mechanistic interrogation of interspecies competition between commensals might lead to novel insights as to how viral infections might confer competitive advantage to pathobionts, and how to exploit natural strategies employed by commensals to restore homeostasis to the host microbial niche. Interestingly, a recent preclinical study using a murine model of RSV and S. pneumoniae superinfection employed nasal priming by a C. pseudodiphtheriticum strain to augment host defense against the viral infection, which enhanced clearance of secondary bacterial challenge and reduced lung injury measures (140).

Finally, direct effects of the infecting virus on bacteria that comprise the microbiome may facilitate the transition from pathobiont to pathogen. A metagenomic analysis showed that pH1N1-associated airway microbiotas were enriched in genes associated with cell motility, transcriptional regulation, metabolism, and response to chemotaxis compared to the same bacteria in non-infected patients (108). These data imply that influenza infection perturbs the respiratory microbiome, leading to the production of secondary metabolites including immune-modulating molecules. Viruses have also been found to impair bacterial biofilm formation and disrupt existing biofilm (141–144). Influenza has been shown to affect the *S. pneumoniae* transcriptome in terms of downregulating expression of genes associated with the colonizer state and upregulations of bacteriocins (142). Thus, direct effects of viruses on bacterial transcriptional patterns might be a mechanism by which colonizing bacteria acquire invasive potential, thereby leading to bacterial superinfections.

## **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

There are several areas that must be addressed by future respiratory microbiome research. First, it is necessary to standardize protocols used to analyze the respiratory microbiome, including sampling, processing, and bioinformatics methodologies. For example, sputum may be an appropriate material for investigations of respiratory diseases since it contains components of the LRT and can be obtained easily. However, more reliable information on the LRT requires invasive samples such as BAL or protected specimen brush



or bronchial/lung biopsies. Second, most studies are limited to experiments conducted in animal models. Even in human studies, most analyses have been performed in a small number of patients and have described bacterial communities in the URT. The role of microbial communities outside of the lungs including gut, sinus, and skin should be considered in the context of airway diseases. Third, most studies on the microbiome have focused on the bacterial component, and have largely omitted fungi and viruses. The role of viruses-including the vast number of phages that infect bacteria-and fungi in respiratory diseases cannot be examined through 16S rRNA gene analyses, and there are no studies describing the composition and role of the respiratory virome due to the difficulty of comprehensive analyses for viruses. Fourth, it is not sufficient to study microbial communities based on species composition; a functional characterization through transcriptome and proteasome analyses is necessary to understand mechanistic role of microbiome on outcomes of infection. Finally, mucosal microbiome manipulations by vaccines, antibiotics, and probiotics in the gastrointestinal and respiratory tract niches represent novel approaches for the prevention, treatment, and management of acute and chronic lung diseases. However, given that antibiotic therapy could affect commensal bacteria and hasten the emergence of drug-resistant bacteria, more research is needed on the long-term effects of this therapy. Animal models should be developed to study the influence of the URT and LRT microbiomes on immune responses to respiratory viral infections; only then will it be possible to consider the clinical application of microbiome modulation strategies.

## CONCLUSION

Respiratory viral infections can initiate a cascade of host immune responses that alter microbial growth conditions in the URT, LRT, and the gut (**Supplemental Table 1**). Activation of influenzainduced antiviral interferon pathways can lead to inadequate innate immune cell responses during host defense against secondary bacterial infections, resulting in the proliferation of

## REFERENCES

- Brundage JF. Interactions between influenza and bacterial respiratory pathogens: implications for pandemic preparedness. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2006) 6:303–12. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70466-2
- Chien Y-W, Klugman KP, Morens DM. Bacterial pathogens and death during the 1918 influenza pandemic. N Engl J Med. (2009) 361:2582–3. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc0908216
- Johnson NPAS, Mueller J. Updating the accounts: global mortality of the 1918-1920 "Spanish" influenza pandemic. *Bull Hist Med.* (2002) 76:105–15. doi: 10.1353/bhm.2002.0022
- McCullers JA. Insights into the interaction between influenza virus and pneumococcus. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2006) 19:571–82. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00058-05
- Morens DM, Fauci AS. The 1918 influenza pandemic: insights for the 21st century. J Infect Dis. (2007) 195:1018–28. doi: 10.1086/ 511989
- 6. Morens DM, Taubenberger JK, Fauci AS. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: implications

potentially pathogenic bacterial species. Concomitant changes in the gut microbiome caused by the initial viral infection may also alter immune cell priming against secondary bacterial challenge, although this has not been examined to date. Although the picture is incomplete, recent microbiome literature provides additional insights into the pathogenesis of dysregulated immune responses following acute viral infections, that may promote the development of secondary bacterial pneumonias (**Figure 4**). Clarifying the differences and dynamics of respiratory microbiota in healthy subjects and chronic lung diseases during acute respiratory viral infections can elucidate pathogenesis of viralbacterial interactions and provide a basis for developing novel approaches for the prevention, treatment, or management of acute respiratory infection and exacerbation of chronic lung diseases.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SH and JD co-wrote the manuscript. SH, JD, and MP designed the figures and table. KC and MP edited and provided critical revisions of the manuscript. All authors approve the final version and agree to be accountable for the content of the manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

JD is supported by a research grant from the National Institutes of Health (grant no. R01HL108949). The views expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the position or policy of the Department of Veterans Affairs or the US government. We thank Cat Meyer for her assistance with the figures.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02640/full#supplementary-material

for pandemic influenza preparedness. J Infect Dis. (2008) 198:962–70. doi: 10.1086/591708

- Taubenberger JK. The origin and virulence of the 1918 "Spanish" influenza virus. Proc Am Philos Soc. (2006) 150:86–112. Available online at: http:// www.jstor.org/stable/4598974
- Bisno AL, Griffin JP, Van Epps KA, Niell HB, Rytel MW. Pneumonia and Hong Kong influenza: a prospective study of the 1968-1969 epidemic. *Am J Med Sci.* (1971) 261:251–63.
- 9. Hers JF, Masurel N, Mulder J. Bacteriology and histopathology of the respiratory tract and lungs in fatal Asian influenza. *Lancet* (1958) 2:1141–3.
- Oswald NC, Shooter RA, Curwen MP. Pneumonia complicating Asian influenza. Br Med J. (1958) 2: 1305–11.
- Cillóniz C, Ewig S, Menéndez R, Ferrer M, Polverino E, Reyes S, et al. Bacterial co-infection with H1N1 infection in patients admitted with community acquired pneumonia. *J Infect.* (2012) 65:223–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2012.04.009
- 12. Gill JR, Sheng Z-M, Ely SF, Guinee DG, Beasley MB, Suh J, et al. Pulmonary pathologic findings of fatal 2009 pandemic influenza

A/H1N1 viral infections. Arch Pathol Lab Med. (2010) 134:235-43. doi: 10.1043/1543-2165-134.2.235

- Jain S, Kamimoto L, Bramley AM, Schmitz AM, Benoit SR, Louie J, et al. Hospitalized patients with 2009 H1N1 influenza in the United States, April-June 2009. N Engl J Med. (2009) 361:1935–44. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0906695
- Kumar A, Zarychanski R, Pinto R, Cook DJ, Marshall J, Lacroix J, et al. Critically ill patients with 2009 influenza A(H1N1) infection in Canada. *JAMA* (2009) 302:1872–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.1496
- Martín-Loeches I, Sanchez-Corral A, Diaz E, Granada RM, Zaragoza R, Villavicencio C, et al. Community-acquired respiratory coinfection in critically ill patients with pandemic 2009 influenza A(H1N1) virus. *Chest* (2011) 139:555–62. doi: 10.1378/chest.10-1396
- Palacios G, Hornig M, Cisterna D, Savji N, Bussetti AV, Kapoor V, et al. Streptococcus pneumoniae coinfection is correlated with the severity of H1N1 pandemic influenza. *PLoS ONE* (2009) 4:e8540. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008540
- Shieh W-J, Blau DM, Denison AM, Deleon-Carnes M, Adem P, Bhatnagar J, et al. 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1): pathology and pathogenesis of 100 fatal cases in the United States. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 177:166–75. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.100115
- Domínguez-Cherit G, Lapinsky SE, Macias AE, Pinto R, Espinosa-Perez L, de la Torre A, et al. Critically Ill patients with 2009 influenza A(H1N1) in Mexico. JAMA (2009) 302:1880–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.1536
- Honda K, Littman DR. The microbiome in infectious disease and inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol. (2012) 30:759–95. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074937
- Human Microbiome Project Consortium. Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. *Nature* (2012) 486:207–14. doi: 10.1038/nature11234
- 21. Rosshart SP, Vassallo BG, Angeletti D, Hutchinson DS, Morgan AP, Takeda K, et al. Wild mouse gut microbiota promotes host fitness and improves disease resistance. *Cell* (2017) 171:1015–28.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.016
- 22. Beaman BL, Gershwin ME, Scates SS, Ohsugi Y. Immunobiology of germfree mice infected with Nocardia asteroides. *Infect Immun* (1980) 29:733–43.
- Inagaki H, Suzuki T, Nomoto K, Yoshikai Y. Increased susceptibility to primary infection with Listeria monocytogenes in germfree mice may be due to lack of accumulation of L-selectin+ CD44+ T cells in sites of inflammation. *Infect Immun.* (1996) 64:3280–7.
- Oliveira MR, Tafuri WL, Afonso LCC, Oliveira MAP, Nicoli JR, Vieira EC, et al. Germ-free mice produce high levels of interferon-gamma in response to infection with Leishmania major but fail to heal lesions. *Parasitology* (2005) 131:477–88. doi: 10.1017/S0031182005008073
- Osborne LC, Monticelli LA, Nice TJ, Sutherland TE, Siracusa MC, Hepworth MR, et al. Coinfection. Virus-helminth coinfection reveals a microbiotaindependent mechanism of immunomodulation. *Science* (2014) 345:578–82. doi: 10.1126/science.1256942
- Splichal I, Rychlik I, Gregorova D, Sebkova A, Trebichavsky I, Splichalova A, et al. Susceptibility of germ-free pigs to challenge with protease mutants of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. *Immunobiology* (2007) 212:577– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2007.05.001
- Tanaka K, Sawamura S, Satoh T, Kobayashi K, Noda S. Role of the indigenous microbiota in maintaining the virus-specific CD8 memory T cells in the lung of mice infected with murine cytomegalovirus. J Immunol. (2007) 178:5209–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.8.5209
- Reese TA, Bi K, Kambal A, Filali-Mouhim A, Beura LK, Bürger MC, et al. Sequential infection with common pathogens promotes human-like immune gene expression and altered vaccine response. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 19:713–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.04.003
- Beura LK, Hamilton SE, Bi K, Schenkel JM, Odumade OA, Casey KA, et al. Normalizing the environment recapitulates adult human immune traits in laboratory mice. *Nature* (2016) 532:512–6. doi: 10.1038/nature17655
- 30. Cummings JH. Fermentation in the human large intestine: evidence and implications for health. *Lancet* (1983) 1:1206–9.
- Smith PM, Howitt MR, Panikov N, Michaud M, Gallini CA, Bohlooly-Y M, et al. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. *Science* (2013) 341:569–73. doi: 10.1126/science.1241165

- Arpaia N, Campbell C, Fan X, Dikiy S, van der Veeken J, deRoos P, et al. Metabolites produced by commensal bacteria promote peripheral regulatory T-cell generation. *Nature* (2013) 504:451–5. doi: 10.1038/nature12726
- Goverse G, Molenaar R, Macia L, Tan J, Erkelens MN, Konijn T, et al. Diet-derived short chain fatty acids stimulate intestinal epithelial cells to induce mucosal tolerogenic dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:2172–81. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600165
- Mariño E, Richards JL, McLeod KH, Stanley D, Yap YA, Knight J, et al. Gut microbial metabolites limit the frequency of autoimmune T cells and protect against type 1 diabetes. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:552–562. doi: 10.1038/ni.3713
- Haase S, Haghikia A, Wilck N, Müller DN, Linker RA. Impacts of microbiome metabolites on immune regulation and autoimmunity. *Immunology* (2018) 154:230–8. doi: 10.1111/imm.12933
- 36. Kalina U, Koyama N, Hosoda T, Nuernberger H, Sato K, Hoelzer D, et al. Enhanced production of IL-18 in butyrate-treated intestinal epithelium by stimulation of the proximal promoter region. *Eur J Immunol.* (2002) 32:2635–43. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200209)32:9<2635::AID-IMMU2635>3.0.CO;2-N
- Schauber J, Svanholm C, Termén S, Iffland K, Menzel T, Scheppach W, et al. Expression of the cathelicidin LL-37 is modulated by short chain fatty acids in colonocytes: relevance of signalling pathways. *Gut* (2003) 52:735–41. doi: 10.1136/gut.52.5.735
- Schauber J, Iffland K, Frisch S, Kudlich T, Schmausser B, Eck M, et al. Histone-deacetylase inhibitors induce the cathelicidin LL-37 in gastrointestinal cells. *Mol Immunol.* (2004) 41:847–54. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2004.05.005
- Klaasen HL, Van der Heijden PJ, Stok W, Poelma FG, Koopman JP, Van den Brink ME, et al. Apathogenic, intestinal, segmented, filamentous bacteria stimulate the mucosal immune system of mice. *Infect Immun.* (1993) 61:303–6.
- Talham GL, Jiang HQ, Bos NA, Cebra JJ. Segmented filamentous bacteria are potent stimuli of a physiologically normal state of the murine gut mucosal immune system. *Infect Immun.* (1999) 67:1992–2000.
- Ivanov II, Atarashi K, Manel N, Brodie EL, Shima T, Karaoz U, et al. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. *Cell* (2009) 139:485–98. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.09.033
- Gaboriau-Routhiau V, Rakotobe S, Lécuyer E, Mulder I, Lan A, Bridonneau C, et al. The key role of segmented filamentous bacteria in the coordinated maturation of gut helper T cell responses. *Immunity* (2009) 31:677–89. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.020
- Wang J, Li F, Wei H, Lian Z-X, Sun R, Tian Z. Respiratory influenza virus infection induces intestinal immune injury via microbiota-mediated Th17 cell-dependent inflammation. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:2397–410. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140625
- 44. Deriu E, Boxx GM, He X, Pan C, Benavidez SD, Cen L. Influenza Virus Affects Intestinal Microbiota and Secondary Salmonella Infection in the Gut through Type I Interferons. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:e1005572. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005572
- 45. Bartley JM, Zhou X, Kuchel GA, Weinstock GM, Haynes L. Impact of age, caloric restriction, and influenza infection on mouse gut microbiome: an exploratory study of the role of age-related microbiome changes on influenza responses. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1164. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01164
- Yildiz S, Mazel-Sanchez B, Kandasamy M, Manicassamy B, Schmolke M. Influenza A virus infection impacts systemic microbiota dynamics and causes quantitative enteric dysbiosis. *Microbiome* (2018) 6:9. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0386-z
- Groves HT, Cuthbertson L, James P, Moffatt MF, Cox MJ, Tregoning JS. Respiratory disease following viral lung infection alters the murine gut microbiota. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:182. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00182
- Wu J, Meng Z, Jiang M, Zhang E, Trippler M, Broering R, et al. Tolllike receptor-induced innate immune responses in non-parenchymal liver cells are cell type-specific. *Immunology* (2010) 129:363–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03179.x
- Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI. Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. *Nature* (2006) 444:1022–3. doi: 10.1038/4441022a

- Ruiz A, Cerdó T, Jáuregui R, Pieper DH, Marcos A, Clemente A, et al. One-year calorie restriction impacts gut microbial composition but not its metabolic performance in obese adolescents. *Environ Microbiol.* (2017) 19:1536–51. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.13713
- Ichinohe T, Pang IK, Kumamoto Y, Peaper DR, Ho JH, Murray TS, et al. Microbiota regulates immune defense against respiratory tract influenza A virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:5354–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1019378108
- Abt MC, Osborne LC, Monticelli LA, Doering TA, Alenghat T, Sonnenberg GF, et al. Commensal bacteria calibrate the activation threshold of innate antiviral immunity. *Immunity* (2012) 37:158–70. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.04.011
- Oh JZ, Ravindran R, Chassaing B, Carvalho FA, Maddur MS, Bower M, et al. TLR5-mediated sensing of gut microbiota is necessary for antibody responses to seasonal influenza vaccination. *Immunity* (2014) 41:478–92. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.08.009
- Gauguet S, D'Ortona S, Ahnger-Pier K, Duan B, Surana NK, Lu R, et al. Intestinal Microbiota of Mice Influences Resistance to Staphylococcus aureus Pneumonia. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:4003–14. doi: 10.1128/IAI. 00037-15
- 55. Schuijt TJ, Lankelma JM, Scicluna BP, de Sousa e Melo F, Roelofs JJTH, de Boer JD, et al. The gut microbiota plays a protective role in the host defence against pneumococcal pneumonia. *Gut* (2016) 65:575–83. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309728
- Clarke TB, Davis KM, Lysenko ES, Zhou AY, Yu Y, Weiser JN. Recognition of peptidoglycan from the microbiota by Nod1 enhances systemic innate immunity. *Nat Med.* (2010) 16:228–31. doi: 10.1038/nm.2087
- 57. de Vrese M, Winkler P, Rautenberg P, Harder T, Noah C, Laue C, et al. Probiotic bacteria reduced duration and severity but not the incidence of common cold episodes in a double blind, randomized, controlled trial. *Vaccine* (2006) 24:6670–4. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.05.048
- Vouloumanou EK, Makris GC, Karageorgopoulos DE, Falagas ME. Probiotics for the prevention of respiratory tract infections: a systematic review. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* (2009) 34:197.e1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2008.11.005
- Steed AL, Christophi GP, Kaiko GE, Sun L, Goodwin VM, Jain U, et al. The microbial metabolite desaminotyrosine protects from influenza through type I interferon. *Science* (2017) 357:498–502. doi: 10.1126/science.aam5336
- Maeda N, Nakamura R, Hirose Y, Murosaki S, Yamamoto Y, Kase T, et al. Oral administration of heat-killed Lactobacillus plantarum L-137 enhances protection against influenza virus infection by stimulation of type I interferon production in mice. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2009) 9:1122–5. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2009.04.015
- Hori T, Kiyoshima J, Shida K, Yasui H. Augmentation of cellular immunity and reduction of influenza virus titer in aged mice fed Lactobacillus casei strain Shirota. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* (2002) 9:105–8. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.9.1.105-108.2002
- 62. Wu S, Jiang Z-Y, Sun Y-F, Yu B, Chen J, Dai C-Q, et al. Microbiota regulates the TLR7 signaling pathway against respiratory tract influenza A virus infection. *Curr Microbiol.* (2013) 67:414–22. doi: 10.1007/s00284-013-0380-z
- Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Pattaroni C, Lopez-Mejia IC, Riva E, Pernot J, et al. Dietary fiber confers protection against flu by shaping Ly6c- patrolling monocyte hematopoiesis and CD8+ T cell metabolism. *Immunity* (2018) 48:992–1005.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.04.022
- Sun K, Metzger DW. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-gamma during recovery from influenza infection. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:558–64. doi: 10.1038/nm1765
- 65. Shahangian A, Chow EK, Tian X, Kang JR, Ghaffari A, Liu SY, et al. Type I IFNs mediate development of postinfluenza bacterial pneumonia in mice. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:1910–20. doi: 10.1172/JCI35412
- Brown RL, Sequeira RP, Clarke TB. The microbiota protects against respiratory infection via GM-CSF signaling. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:1512. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01803-x
- Frank DN, Feazel LM, Bessesen MT, Price CS, Janoff EN, Pace NR. The human nasal microbiota and Staphylococcus aureus carriage. *PLoS ONE* (2010) 5:e10598. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010598

- Lemon KP, Klepac-Ceraj V, Schiffer HK, Brodie EL, Lynch SV, Kolter R. Comparative analyses of the bacterial microbiota of the human nostril and oropharynx. *MBio* (2010) 1:e00129–10. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00129-10
- Bassis CM, Tang AL, Young VB, Pynnonen MA. The nasal cavity microbiota of healthy adults. *Microbiome* (2014) 2:27. doi: 10.1186/2049-26 18-2-27
- Charlson ES, Bittinger K, Haas AR, Fitzgerald AS, Frank I, Yadav A, et al. Topographical continuity of bacterial populations in the healthy human respiratory tract. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 184:957–63. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201104-0655OC
- Yi H, Yong D, Lee K, Cho Y-J, Chun J. Profiling bacterial community in upper respiratory tracts. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2014) 14:583. doi: 10.1186/s12879-014-0583-3
- Ling Z, Liu X, Luo Y, Yuan L, Nelson KE, Wang Y, et al. Pyrosequencing analysis of the human microbiota of healthy Chinese undergraduates. *BMC Genomics* (2013) 14:390. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-14-390
- 73. Allen EK, Koeppel AF, Hendley JO, Turner SD, Winther B, Sale MM. Characterization of the nasopharyngeal microbiota in health and during rhinovirus challenge. *Microbiome* (2014) 2:22. doi: 10.1186/2049-2618-2-22
- Dickson RP, Erb-Downward JR, Freeman CM, McCloskey L, Falkowski NR, Huffnagle GB, et al. Bacterial topography of the healthy human lower respiratory tract. *MBio* (2017) 8:e02287–16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02287-16
- Abreu NA, Nagalingam NA, Song Y, Roediger FC, Pletcher SD, Goldberg AN, et al. Sinus microbiome diversity depletion and Corynebacterium tuberculostearicum enrichment mediates rhinosinusitis. *Sci Transl Med.* (2012) 4:151ra124. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003783
- Bassis CM, Erb-Downward JR, Dickson RP, Freeman CM, Schmidt TM, Young VB, et al. Analysis of the upper respiratory tract microbiotas as the source of the lung and gastric microbiotas in healthy individuals. *MBio* (2015) 6:e00037. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00037-15
- Venkataraman A, Bassis CM, Beck JM, Young VB, Curtis JL, Huffnagle GB, et al. Application of a neutral community model to assess structuring of the human lung microbiome. *MBio* (2015) 6:e02284–14. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02284-14
- Morris A, Beck JM, Schloss PD, Campbell TB, Crothers K, Curtis JL, et al. Comparison of the respiratory microbiome in healthy nonsmokers and smokers. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 187:1067–75. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201210-1913OC
- Segal LN, Alekseyenko AV, Clemente JC, Kulkarni R, Wu B, Gao Z, et al. Enrichment of lung microbiome with supraglottic taxa is associated with increased pulmonary inflammation. *Microbiome* (2013) 1:19. doi: 10.1186/2049-2618-1-19
- Dickson RP, Erb-Downward JR, Freeman CM, McCloskey L, Beck JM, Huffnagle GB, Curtis JL. Spatial variation in the healthy human lung microbiome and the adapted island model of lung biogeography. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2015) 12:821–30. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201501-029OC
- Rogers GB, Shaw D, Marsh RL, Carroll MP, Serisier DJ, Bruce KD. Respiratory microbiota: addressing clinical questions, informing clinical practice. *Thorax* (2015) 70:74–81. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-205826
- Rogers GB, Hoffman LR, Carroll MP, Bruce KD. Interpreting infective microbiota: the importance of an ecological perspective. *Trends Microbiol*. (2013) 21:271–6. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2013.03.004
- Wertheim HFL, Melles DC, Vos MC, van Leeuwen W, van Belkum A, Verbrugh HA, et al. The role of nasal carriage in Staphylococcus aureus infections. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2005) 5:751–62. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(05)70295-4
- Bogaert D, De Groot R, Hermans PWM. Streptococcus pneumoniae colonisation: the key to pneumococcal disease. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2004) 4:144–54. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(04)00938-7
- Wolter N, Tempia S, Cohen C, Madhi SA, Venter M, Moyes J, et al. High nasopharyngeal pneumococcal density, increased by viral coinfection, is associated with invasive pneumococcal pneumonia. J Infect Dis. (2014) 210:1649–57. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu326
- Ishizuka S, Yamaya M, Suzuki T, Takahashi H, Ida S, Sasaki T, et al. Effects of rhinovirus infection on the adherence of Streptococcus pneumoniae to cultured human airway epithelial cells. J Infect Dis. (2003) 188:1928–39. doi: 10.1086/379833

- Avadhanula V, Rodriguez CA, Devincenzo JP, Wang Y, Webby RJ, Ulett GC, et al. Respiratory viruses augment the adhesion of bacterial pathogens to respiratory epithelium in a viral species- and cell type-dependent manner. *J Virol.* (2006) 80:1629–36. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.4.1629-1636.2006
- Wang JH, Kwon HJ, Jang YJ. Rhinovirus enhances various bacterial adhesions to nasal epithelial cells simultaneously. *Laryngoscope* (2009) 119:1406–11. doi: 10.1002/lary.20498
- Safaeyan F, Nahaei MR, Seifi SJ, Kafil HS, Sadeghi J. Quantitative detection of Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenzae in patients with new influenza A (H1N1)/2009 and influenza A/2010 virus infection. GMS Hyg Infect Control (2015) 10:Doc06. doi: 10.3205/dgkh000249
- Hirano T, Kurono Y, Ichimiya I, Suzuki M, Mogi G. Effects of influenza A virus on lectin-binding patterns in murine nasopharyngeal mucosa and on bacterial colonization. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* (1999) 121:616–21. doi: 10.1016/S0194-5998(99)70068-9
- McCullers JA, McAuley JL, Browall S, Iverson AR, Boyd KL, Henriques Normark B. Influenza enhances susceptibility to natural acquisition of and disease due to Streptococcus pneumoniae in ferrets. *J Infect Dis.* (2010) 202:1287–95. doi: 10.1086/656333
- Wadowsky RM, Mietzner SM, Skoner DP, Doyle WJ, Fireman P. Effect of experimental influenza A virus infection on isolation of Streptococcus pneumoniae and other aerobic bacteria from the oropharynges of allergic and nonallergic adult subjects. *Infect Immun.* (1995) 63:1153–7.
- Wren JT, Blevins LK, Pang B, King LB, Perez AC, Murrah KA, et al. Influenza A virus alters pneumococcal nasal colonization and middle ear infection independently of phase variation. *Infect Immun.* (2014) 82:4802– 12. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01856-14
- Nakamura S, Davis KM, Weiser JN. Synergistic stimulation of type I interferons during influenza virus coinfection promotes Streptococcus pneumoniae colonization in mice. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:3657–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI57762
- Diavatopoulos DA, Short KR, Price JT, Wilksch JJ, Brown LE, Briles DE, et al. Influenza A virus facilitates Streptococcus pneumoniae transmission and disease. FASEB J. (2010) 24:1789–98. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-146779
- 96. Vu HTT, Yoshida LM, Suzuki M, Nguyen HAT, Nguyen CDL, Nguyen ATT, et al. Association between nasopharyngeal load of Streptococcus pneumoniae, viral coinfection, and radiologically confirmed pneumonia in Vietnamese children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2011) 30:11–8. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e3181f111a2
- Takase H, Nitanai H, Yamamura E, Otani T. Facilitated expansion of pneumococcal colonization from the nose to the lower respiratory tract in mice preinfected with influenza virus. *Microbiol Immunol.* (1999) 43:905–7.
- Tong HH, Fisher LM, Kosunick GM, DeMaria TF. Effect of adenovirus type 1 and influenza A virus on Streptococcus pneumoniae nasopharyngeal colonization and otitis media in the chinchilla. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol.* (2000) 109:1021–7. doi: 10.1177/000348940010901106
- Peltola VT, Boyd KL, McAuley JL, Rehg JE, McCullers JA. Bacterial sinusitis and otitis media following influenza virus infection in ferrets. *Infect Immun.* (2006) 74:2562–7. doi: 10.1128/IAI.74.5.2562-2567.2006
- 100. Edouard S, Million M, Bachar D, Dubourg G, Michelle C, Ninove L, et al. The nasopharyngeal microbiota in patients with viral respiratory tract infections is enriched in bacterial pathogens. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2018) 37:172533. doi: 10.1007/s10096-018-3305-8
- 101. Verkaik NJ, Nguyen DT, de Vogel CP, Moll HA, Verbrugh HA, Jaddoe VWV, et al. Streptococcus pneumoniae exposure is associated with human metapneumovirus seroconversion and increased susceptibility to *in vitro* HMPV infection. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2011) 17:1840–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03480.x
- 102. DE Lastours V, Malosh R, Ramadugu K, Srinivasan U, Dawid S, Ohmit S, et al. Co-colonization by Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus in the throat during acute respiratory illnesses. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2016) 144:1–13. doi: 10.1017/S0950268816001473
- 103. Ni K, Li S, Xia Q, Zang N, Deng Y, Xie X, et al. Pharyngeal microflora disruption by antibiotics promotes airway hyperresponsiveness after respiratory syncytial virus infection. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e41104. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041104

- Wang J, Li F, Sun R, Gao X, Wei H, Li L-J, et al. Bacterial colonization dampens influenza-mediated acute lung injury via induction of M2 alveolar macrophages. *Nat Commun.* (2013) 4:2106. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3106
- 105. Langevin S, Pichon M, Smith E, Morrison J, Bent Z, Green R, et al. Early nasopharyngeal microbial signature associated with severe influenza in children: a retrospective pilot study. J Gen Virol. (2017) 98:2425–37. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.000920
- 106. Lu H-F, Li A, Zhang T, Ren Z-G, He K-X, Zhang H, et al. Disordered oropharyngeal microbial communities in H7N9 patients with or without secondary bacterial lung infection. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2017) 6:e112. doi: 10.1038/emi.2017.101
- 107. Tarabichi Y, Li K, Hu S, Nguyen C, Wang X, Elashoff D, et al. The administration of intranasal live attenuated influenza vaccine induces changes in the nasal microbiota and nasal epithelium gene expression profiles. *Microbiome* (2015) 3:74. doi: 10.1186/s40168-015-0133-2
- Leung RK-K, Zhou J-W, Guan W, Li S-K, Yang Z-F, Tsui SK-W. Modulation of potential respiratory pathogens by pH1N1 viral infection. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2013) 19:930–5. doi: 10.1111/1469-0691.12054
- Chaban B, Albert A, Links MG, Gardy J, Tang P, Hill JE. Characterization of the upper respiratory tract microbiomes of patients with pandemic H1N1 influenza. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e69559. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069559
- 110. Greninger AL, Chen EC, Sittler T, Scheinerman A, Roubinian N, Yu G, et al. A metagenomic analysis of pandemic influenza A (2009 H1N1) infection in patients from North America. *PLoS ONE* (2010) 5:e13381. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013381
- 111. Jacoby P, Watson K, Bowman J, Taylor A, Riley TV, Smith DW, et al. Kalgoorlie Otitis Media Research Project Team. Modelling the cooccurrence of Streptococcus pneumoniae with other bacterial and viral pathogens in the upper respiratory tract. *Vaccine* (2007) 25:2458–64. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.09.020
- 112. van den Bergh MR, Biesbroek G, Rossen JWA, de Steenhuijsen Piters WAA, Bosch AATM, van Gils EJM, et al. Associations between pathogens in the upper respiratory tract of young children: interplay between viruses and bacteria. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e47711. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047711
- 113. Rosas-Salazar C, Shilts MH, Tovchigrechko A, Schobel S, Chappell JD, Larkin EK, et al. Differences in the nasopharyngeal microbiome during acute respiratory tract infection with human rhinovirus and respiratory syncytial virus in infancy. J Infect Dis. (2016) 214:1924–8. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiw456
- 114. Bogaert D, Keijser B, Huse S, Rossen J, Veenhoven R, van Gils E, et al. Variability and diversity of nasopharyngeal microbiota in children: a metagenomic analysis. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e17035. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017035
- 115. Pérez-Losada M, Alamri L, Crandall KA, Freishtat RJ. Nasopharyngeal microbiome diversity changes over time in children with asthma. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0170543. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170543
- 116. Hassoun A, Huff MD, Weisman D, Chahal K, Asis E, Stalons D, et al. Seasonal variation of respiratory pathogen colonization in asymptomatic health care professionals: A single-center, cross-sectional, 2-season observational study. *Am J Infect Control* (2015) 43:865–70. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2015.04.195
- 117. DeMuri GP, Gern JE, Eickhoff JC, Lynch SV, Wald ER. Dynamics of bacterial colonization with streptococcus pneumoniae, haemophilus influenzae, and moraxella catarrhalis during symptomatic and asymptomatic viral upper respiratory tract infection. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2018) 66:1045–53. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix941
- 118. Karppinen S, Teräsjärvi J, Auranen K, Schuez-Havupalo L, Siira L, He Q, et al. Acquisition and transmission of streptococcus pneumoniae are facilitated during rhinovirus infection in families with children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 196:1172–80. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201702-0357OC
- 119. Hofstra JJ, Matamoros S, van de Pol MA, de Wever B, Tanck MW, Wendt-Knol H, et al. Changes in microbiota during experimental human Rhinovirus infection. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2015) 15:336. doi: 10.1186/s12879-015-1081-y
- 120. Thors V, Christensen H, Morales-Aza B, Vipond I, Muir P, Finn A. The effects of live attenuated influenza vaccine on nasopharyngeal bacteria in healthy 2 to 4 year olds. a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 193:1401–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201510-2000OC
- 121. Mina MJ, McCullers JA, Klugman KP. Live attenuated influenza vaccine enhances colonization of Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus in mice. *MBio* (2014) 5:e01040–13. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01040-13

- 122. Salk HM, Simon WL, Lambert ND, Kennedy RB, Grill DE, Kabat BFet al. Taxa of the nasal microbiome are associated with influenza-specific IgA response to live attenuated influenza vaccine. *PLoS ONE* (2016) 11:e0162803. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0162803
- 123. Planet PJ, Parker D, Cohen TS, Smith H, Leon JD, Ryan C, et al. Lambda interferon restructures the nasal microbiome and increases susceptibility to staphylococcus aureus superinfection. *MBio* (2016) 7:e01939–01915. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01939-15
- 124. Molyneaux PL, Mallia P, Cox MJ, Footitt J, Willis-Owen SAG, Homola D, et al. Outgrowth of the bacterial airway microbiome after rhinovirus exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 188:1224–31. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201302-0341OC
- Vareille M, Kieninger E, Edwards MR, Regamey N. The airway epithelium: soldier in the fight against respiratory viruses. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2011) 24:210–29. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00014-10
- 126. Pittet LA, Hall-Stoodley L, Rutkowski MR, Harmsen AG. Influenza virus infection decreases tracheal mucociliary velocity and clearance of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2010) 42:450–60. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2007-0417OC
- 127. Smith CM, Kulkarni H, Radhakrishnan P, Rutman A, Bankart MJ, Williams G, et al. Ciliary dyskinesia is an early feature of respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 43:485–96. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00205312
- Abramson JS, Mills EL, Giebink GS, Quie PG. Depression of monocyte and polymorphonuclear leukocyte oxidative metabolism and bactericidal capacity by influenza A virus. *Infect Immun.* (1982) 35:350–5.
- 129. Didierlaurent A, Goulding J, Patel S, Snelgrove R, Low L, Bebien M, et al. Sustained desensitization to bacterial Toll-like receptor ligands after resolution of respiratory influenza infection. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:323–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20070891
- 130. McNamee LA, Harmsen AG. Both influenza-induced neutrophil dysfunction and neutrophil-independent mechanisms contribute to increased susceptibility to a secondary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. *Infect Immun.* (2006) 74:6707–21. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00789-06
- 131. Astry CL, Jakab GJ. Influenza virus-induced immune complexes suppress alveolar macrophage phagocytosis. J Virol. (1984) 50:287–292.
- Franke-Ullmann G, Pförtner C, Walter P, Steinmüller C, Lohmann-Matthes ML, Kobzik L, et al. Alteration of pulmonary macrophage function by respiratory syncytial virus infection *in vitro*. *J Immunol*. (1995) 154:268–80.
- Ghoneim HE, Thomas PG, McCullers JA. Depletion of alveolar macrophages during influenza infection facilitates bacterial superinfections. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:1250–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300014
- 134. Jakab GJ. Immune impairment of alveolar macrophage phagocytosis during influenza virus pneumonia. Am Rev Respir Dis. (1982) 126:778–82. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1982.126.5.778
- 135. Kleinerman ES, Daniels CA, Polisson RP, Snyderman R. Effect of virus infection on the inflammatory response. Depression of macrophage accumulation in influenza-infected mice. *Am J Pathol.* (1976) 85:373–82.
- 136. Nickerson CL, Jakab GJ. Pulmonary antibacterial defenses during mild and severe influenza virus infection. *Infect Immun*. (1990) 58:2809–14.

- 137. Uehara Y, Nakama H, Agematsu K, Uchida M, Kawakami Y, Abdul Fattah AS, et al. Bacterial interference among nasal inhabitants: eradication of Staphylococcus aureus from nasal cavities by artificial implantation of Corynebacterium sp. *J Hosp Infect.* (2000) 44:127–33. doi: 10.1053/jhin.1999.0680
- Iwase T, Uehara Y, Shinji H, Tajima A, Seo H, Takada K, et al. Staphylococcus epidermidis Esp inhibits Staphylococcus aureus biofilm formation and nasal colonization. *Nature* (2010) 465:346–9. doi: 10.1038/nature 09074
- 139. Yan M, Pamp SJ, Fukuyama J, Hwang PH, Cho D-Y, Holmes S, et al. Nasal microenvironments and interspecific interactions influence nasal microbiota complexity and S. aureus carriage. *Cell Host Microbe* (2013) 14:631–40. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.11.005
- 140. Kanmani P, Clua P, Vizoso-Pinto MG, Rodriguez C, Alvarez S, Melnikov V, et al. Respiratory commensal bacteria corynebacterium pseudodiphtheriticum improves resistance of infant mice to respiratory syncytial virus and streptococcus pneumoniae superinfection. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:1613. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017. 01613
- 141. Reddinger RM, Luke-Marshall NR, Hakansson AP, Campagnari AA. Host physiologic changes induced by influenza a virus lead to staphylococcus aureus biofilm dispersion and transition from asymptomatic colonization to invasive disease. *MBio* (2016) 7:CD007087. doi: 10.1128/mBio. 01235-16
- 142. Pettigrew MM, Marks LR, Kong Y, Gent JF, Roche-Hakansson H, Hakansson AP. Dynamic changes in the Streptococcus pneumoniae transcriptome during transition from biofilm formation to invasive disease upon influenza A virus infection. *Infect Immun.* (2014) 82:4607–19. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02225-14
- 143. Marks LR, Davidson BA, Knight PR, Hakansson AP. Interkingdom signaling induces Streptococcus pneumoniae biofilm dispersion and transition from asymptomatic colonization to disease. *MBio* (2013) 4:e00438–13. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00438-13
- 144. Reddinger RM, Luke-Marshall NR, Sauberan SL, Hakansson AP, Campagnari AA. Streptococcus pneumoniae modulates staphylococcus aureus biofilm dispersion and the transition from colonization to invasive disease. *MBio* (2018) 9:e02089–17. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02089-17

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hanada, Pirzadeh, Carver and Deng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Innate Immune Cell Suppression and the Link With Secondary Lung Bacterial Pneumonia

David J. Morgan<sup>†</sup>, Joshua Casulli<sup>†</sup>, Christine Chew<sup>†</sup>, Emma Connolly, Sylvia Lui, Oliver J. Brand, Rizwana Rahman, Christopher Jagger and Tracy Hussell<sup>\*</sup>

Manchester Collaborative Centre for Inflammation Research, The Lydia Becker Institute of Immunology and Inflammation, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

François Trottein, Centre National de la Recherché Scientifique (CNRS), France

### Reviewed by:

Dennis Metzger, Albany Medical College, United States John F. Alcorn, University of Pittsburgh, United States

> \*Correspondence: Tracy Hussell tracy.hussell@manchester.ac.uk

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 02 August 2018 Accepted: 30 November 2018 Published: 14 December 2018

#### Citation:

Morgan DJ, Casulli J, Chew C, Connolly E, Lui S, Brand OJ, Rahman R, Jagger C and Hussell T (2018) Innate Immune Cell Suppression and the Link With Secondary Lung Bacterial Pneumonia. Front. Immunol. 9:2943. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02943 Secondary infections arise as a consequence of previous or concurrent conditions and occur in the community or in the hospital setting. The events allowing secondary infections to gain a foothold have been studied for many years and include poor nutrition, anxiety, mental health issues, underlying chronic diseases, resolution of acute inflammation, primary immune deficiencies, and immune suppression by infection or medication. Children, the elderly and the ill are particularly susceptible. This review is concerned with secondary bacterial infections of the lung that occur following viral infection. Using influenza virus infection, we will update and review defective bacterial innate immunity and also highlight areas for potential new investigation. It is currently estimated that one in 16 National Health Service (NHS) hospital patients develop an infection, the most common being pneumonia, lower respiratory tract infections, urinary tract infections and infection of surgical sites. The continued drive to understand the mechanisms of why secondary infections arise is therefore of key importance.

Keywords: lung, macrophage, innate immunity, bacteria, virus, matrix, apoptotic cells, training

## INTRODUCTION

It has been appreciated for a long time that infections following surgical cases are caused by a breach of skin barrier integrity. This breach of barrier tissue (e.g. the skin or epithelial surfaces lining the lung, gastro-intestinal or urogenital tract) however, is common during non-surgical infection and was one of the first causes identified to enhance bacterial outgrowth in the lung, by providing different substrates for adhesion and access to additional proteins for bacteria to metabolize. In this review we will discuss the changes in immunity that lead to dysregulation of responses and how prior viral infection in the lung suppresses cellular innate immunity facilitating bacterial outgrowth to occur. Though we assume that cellular innate immunity is adequate before viral infection, it is important to consider that patients most at risk of developing secondary bacterial complications may have a complex inflammatory history, medications, co-morbidities or mental-health history that has already influenced innate immunity. We will not cover the more soluble innate elements such as anti-microbial peptides or surfactant proteins, as these have been covered extensively elsewhere (1).

## Innate Immunity in the Healthy Lung

Innate immunity in the lung is important since it can facilitate the elimination of many pathogens in the absence of adaptive immunity and without immunopathological side effects. The actual location of some innate immune cell subsets is unclear due to the changing environment within the branching structure of the lung. A general rule however is that the density of immune cells gets lower the further down the respiratory tract you look, which facilitates optimal gaseous exchange.

As will be described for macrophages later, the immune components present in a healthy lung are specialized and sparse. Innate lymphoid cells exist in the naïve mouse lung at a low frequency of 0.4-1%. Their precise lung location in health however, has not been determined (2, 3), though they do expand during lung inflammation [for a review see (4)]. Gamma delta ( $\gamma\delta$ ) T cells are also present and rare, accounting for  $\sim$ 1–5% of blood (5) and 8-10% of lung lymphocytes. They display a restricted profile of variable genes (V $\gamma$ 4, V $\delta$ 1, and V $\delta$ 6) (6) in their T cell receptor, which changes with age to become predominantly  $V\gamma 4^+$  (7, 8). NK cells constitute 10% of resident lymphocytes in the lung (9) and it is thought their survival depends on IL-15 production by bronchial epithelial cells (10). NK cells detect an absence of MHC class I molecules using a variety of cell surface receptors and are induced to kill target cells by an activating receptor that binds stress ligands (11). In this way, NK cells present in the interstitial compartment are poised to recognize abnormality.

Dendritic cells (DCs) are present in the lung interstitial spaces (12) and the pulmonary epithelium (13), but are absent from the airspaces. In mice, DCs in the epithelium (CD103<sup>+</sup> CD11b<sup>lo</sup>) require Batf3, IRF8, and Flt3 ligand for development, whereas those in the lung parenchyma require M-CSF (14). Either population may derive from bone marrow or a local precursor cell population (15). In the steady state, the DCs present in the epithelium may be important for sampling luminal content and/or clearing apoptotic cell turnover (16). As with other innate immune cells, the density of dendritic cells will depend on the position in the respiratory tree with more being present in bronchi than alveoli. Dendritic cells and follicular dendritic cells are also located in sparse B cell follicles. Though typically absent in naïve mice and humans, aggregates of B and T cells may be located next to the major bronchi and include follicular dendritic, dendritic, and stromal, cells (17).

### Macrophage Subsets in the Lung

Generally, an absence in any of the innate immune cells described above has little affect in healthy lungs. However, lung macrophages have a unique role in health by performing general housekeeping duties, as exemplified by the build-up of proteinaceous material due to an absence of macrophages in mice lacking granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (18). In rodents and humans, the lungs are home to two distinct macrophage subsets: airway macrophages and interstitial macrophages (19). We refer to airway, rather than alveolar macrophages since bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) samples the whole airway. This procedure typically elutes 90–95% macrophages in health, the majority of which will be derived from

the alveoli, in addition to a small number of lymphocytes (20, 21). Alveolar macrophages are remarkably long-lived and selfrenewing and therefore do not require continuous replenishment from bone marrow-derived precursors in health (22–24). In contrast, interstitial macrophages have a higher turnover rate and are shorter lived in the steady state (25). Interstitial macrophages are located in the interstitial space between the alveoli and capillaries and are less abundant than alveolar macrophages (26).

Alveolar macrophages are initially derived from fetal monocytes and their development is reliant on GM-CSF, of which there is an abundance of in the airspaces shortly after birth (27, 28). GM-CSF drives production of alveolar macrophages through induction of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-y (PPARy) expression (27, 29, 30). Mice lacking GM-CSF (or its receptor), and patients with defects in GM-CSF signaling, develop pulmonary alveolar proteinosis due to a build-up of surfactant in the airways because of a lack of clearance by macrophages (31, 32). Following irradiation (27) or influenza infection (22) airway macrophages become depleted and are replenished from the periphery or the interstitial lung macrophage pool, respectively. On the other hand, interstitial macrophages originate from bone marrow derived-monocytes and are preferentially replenished by this population during inflammation (33). A recent study has identified 3 populations of interstitial macrophages based on phenotypic and transcriptomic studies, which are different to airway macrophages (34).

### The Function of Airway Macrophages

The mechanisms leading to bacterial outgrowth following lung viral infection are, to a large extent, driven by the attempt to return the lung to health. Understanding the role of innate immune cells in lung health therefore, may provide clues to why complications can occur. Due to their location, macrophages in the airways display phenotypic and functional differences to other macrophage populations. Alveolar macrophages reside in the alveolar lumen and are surrounded by surfactant, which contains proteins that dampen macrophage activity (35). This allows alveolar macrophages to be tolerant to cellular debris and innocuous antigens, thereby preventing excessive tissue damage, while setting an activation threshold that needs to be overcome to efficiently clear more pathogenic microorganisms (21). On the other hand, interstitial macrophages are in close contact with the extracellular matrix (ECM) and, as such, have a more prominent role in modulating tissue fibrosis, as well as being better equipped for antigen presentation (36, 37). Moreover, alveolar macrophages have reduced phagocytic activity and respiratory burst in comparison to interstitial macrophages (38, 39). Both subsets of macrophages inhibit T cell activation and subsequent onset of adaptive immunity via the suppression of DC activation; a process dependent on the anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-10 (IL-10), transforming growth factor-β (TGF<sub>β</sub>) and prostaglandins (40, 41). Alveolar macrophages are poor at presenting antigen to T cells (42), although they are capable of transporting antigens to the lung-draining lymph nodes (43). Likewise, human alveolar macrophages induce T cell antigen-specific unresponsiveness as a result of poor antigen presentation and a lack of expression of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD86 (44); which in itself promotes tolerance to innocuous antigens.

## Regulation of Alveolar Macrophages by the Airway Epithelium

With respect to bacterial complications following viral infection, it is important to appreciate the role of the epithelium in regulating airway macrophage activity. Due to their direct exposure to environmental challenges in the alveolar lumen, strategies need to be in place for alveolar macrophages to discern a harmless antigen from a serious pathogenic threat. For this reason, alveolar macrophages are tightly regulated in order to prevent an inflammatory response against cellular debris and innocuous antigens, whilst still providing protection against harmful pathogens by propelling an inflammatory response (35). For example, alveolar macrophages are hypo-responsive to low levels of endotoxins, which are present in ambient air (21), thereby preventing an inappropriate innate immune response to innocuous antigens. A number of mechanisms are in place to suppress the activity of alveolar macrophages, including their interaction with the airway epithelium. The airway epithelium, through both direct contact and secreted products, negatively regulates alveolar macrophage activity. These factors include CD200, TGF-B, IL-10 and surfactant proteins (SP-A and SP-D), which act to suppress macrophage phagocytic ability and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (45-47) (Figure 1). Though beneficial in some instances, these pathways can slow immediate immune activity. For example, knockout of IL-10 is beneficial as it allows immediate protection against acute influenza with better survival at lethal infection levels (48, 49). However, inhibiting IL-10 after acute influenza infection results in tissue inflammation and damage, with decreased survival (49, 50), similar to IL-10 knockout S.pneumoniae bacterial models (51). For an in-depth discussion on this see (48–51).

In addition, these mechanisms set a threshold of activation that needs to be overcome in order for an inflammatory response to be triggered. Activation of toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling, through recognition of an invading pathogen, elicits a strong enough immune response to exceed the inhibitory regulation of alveolar macrophages and causes up-regulation of TLR coreceptors including CD14 and triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1 (TREM1) (52). Furthermore, loss of epithelial integrity during inflammation reduces the level of regulatory factors, releasing alveolar macrophages from epithelial-induced inhibition. This increases their phagocytic capabilities and initiates the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (37, 53). The inhibitory factors that are important in maintaining airway homeostasis are also crucial in resolving inflammation after elimination of the microbial pathogen. Both CD200 and TGF- $\beta$ assist in the suppression of inflammation, promote resolution and restore homeostasis (47).

### **Dominant Viral Infections in the Lung**

Human respiratory syncytial virus (hRSV), human rhinovirus (hRV), human parainfluenza virus (hPIV) and human metapneumovirus (hMPV), are the major types of viruses



**FIGURE 1** | Inhibitory regulation of alveolar macrophages by the airway epithelium. Strict regulation of macrophage activation is required for homeostatic control of the general lung environment. As alveolar macrophages are under constant exposure to airborne endotoxins hypo-responsiveness is required for normal airway macrophage function. This is contributed through a number of downstream pathways triggered by airway epithelial cells production of IL-10, TGF $\beta$ , CD200, and surfactant proteins (SPA and SPD) and these reduce pro-inflammatory signaling and phagocytosis in airway macrophages via their respective cell surface receptors. The cascade of downstream inhibitory pathways to suppress macrophage activation are summarized elsewhere. Adapted from (35).

responsible for acute infections of the upper and lower respiratory tract (54). These respiratory viruses represent a significant burden on global public health, with acute respiratory tract infections (ARTIs) being the fourth highest cause of global mortality (55).

Influenza virus is a member of the orthomyxovirus family and a negative sense, single stranded RNA virus (56). The viral envelope of influenza virus is composed of haemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) (57), which are used as identifiers of virus subtypes (58, 59). There are four genera of influenza virus; A, B, C, and D, with the influenza A subtypes H1N1 and H3N2 causing the largest proportion of influenza cases (60). Influenza virus infection is one of the leading causes of respiratory tract infections worldwide, with  $\sim$ 5-20% of the global population infected and a mortality rate of up to 650,000 patients annually<sup>1</sup> (61). The influenza virus predominantly invades human upper airway epithelial cells by binding to  $\alpha$ -2,6 or  $\alpha$ -2,3-linked sialy glycans expressed on their surface (62-64). The influenza virus can effectively evade detection by the host immune system. Genetic changes due to the error-prone nature of the viral RNA polymerase, that result in antigenic drift or recombination events between influenza viruses, can give rise to new subtypes of influenza that can lead to epidemic or pandemic outbreaks (65-67). Currently, our best options to combat influenza are by prevention using vaccines and treatment with antiviral medications. However, the variable nature of the virus limits the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.who.int/influenza/en/

efficacy of both approaches as they need to be updated annually to keep up with the evolution of new subtypes (68).

hRSV is the main cause of acute lower respiratory tract infection (ALTRI) in infants, young children and older adults (aged  $\geq$ 65 years) (69). hRSV is an enveloped negative-sense single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the Pneumoviridae family, Orthopneumovirus genus (69, 70). There are 2 major antigenic groups of hRSV, A and B, which can be further subdivided into 10 A genotypes and 13 B genotypes (71). The highly contagious nature of the virus means nearly all children will have been infected with hRSV by the age of 2 years old (72). Bronchiolitis or pneumonia caused by hRSV infection is the major cause of hospitalisations in children under the age of 2 years old. Additionally, hRSV infection has been implicated in the development of childhood asthma and recurrent wheezing (72-75). The global public health burden of hRSV is significant, with  $\sim 10\%$  of all hospital admissions for severe bronchiolitis or pneumonia due to the virus, representing an annual cost of about 394 million USD (76-78). The severity of hRSV infection and associated clinical symptoms can be controlled by the use of palivizumab, a neutralizing monoclonal antibody to the fusion glycoprotein (F protein), which is a transmembrane surface protein in the viral envelope of hRSV (79-82). However, an effective vaccine against hRSV has yet to be developed.

The development of childhood asthma and recurrent wheezing is not only closely linked with infant hRSV-induced bronchiolitis, but is also associated with wheezing illnesses due to hRV infection in infancy (83-86). A member of the Picornaviridae, genus Enterovirus, hRV is a non-enveloped positive single-stranded virus (87, 88). hRVs can be classified into three species, with RV-A and RV-C, causing more severe respiratory illness, when compared to RV-B (88, 89). The species can be further categorized into genotypes, of which there are over 100 (87, 90). hRVs circulate throughout the year, are transmitted through direct contact or aerosol particles and are capable of infecting both the lower and upper respiratory tracts (87, 91, 92). Symptoms following infection are generally that of the common cold, including sore throat, cough, nasal congestion, sneezing and rhinorrhoea. However, in infants, the elderly, immunocompromised adults or those suffering from chronic respiratory illnesses, infection with hRV can be more severe. For example, hRV is responsible for 20-40% of all hospitalisations due to wheezing in infants aged 12 months or less (93, 94). Development of a vaccine and antivirals against hRV has been hindered by the vast quantity of genetically distinct genotypes (90, 95).

hPIV is second most common cause of ALTRI in children, after hRSV (96). hPIV, like hRSV, is an enveloped negativesense single-stranded RNA virus of the Paramyxoviridae family (97–99). hPIV consists of four major serotypes—hPIV-1 and hPIV-3, genus Respirovirus and hPIV-2 and hPIV-4, genus Rubulavirus (100). By the age of 2 years old 60% of children have been infected by hPIV-3 and at the age of 5 years the majority have been infected by hPIV-1, hPIV-2 and hPIV-3 (97, 101). Although hPIV has been predominantly viewed as a cause of respiratory illness in pediatric patients, both immunocompromised and older adults are also susceptible to infection (97, 100). Clinical manifestations of infection by hPIV include the common cold, croup (laryngotracheobronchitis), tracheobronchitis, bronchiolitis and pneumonia (100). However, as of yet there is no effective antiviral treatment or vaccine available for hPIV.

Since its discovery in 2001, hMPV has been identified as one of the major causes of upper and lower respiratory tract infection in children, immunocompromised patients and the elderly, being detected in 4–16% of patients with ARTIS (102–108). hMPV, a negative-sense single stranded RNA virus, is a member of the Paramyxoviridae family, genus Metapneumovirus, and is closely related to hRSV and parainfluenza (108). Most infections with hMPV elicit mild to moderate clinical symptoms, although 5–10% of cases result in admission to pediatric intensive care (102, 107, 109).

## Bacterial Outgrowths in the Lung Following Viral Infection

A significant contributor to morbidity and mortality in respiratory viral infections is bacterial invasion. Given the colonization of the upper respiratory tract with common pathogens including Streptococcus (S) pneumoniae, Haemophilus (H) influenzae and most of the Staphylococcus species, a shift in immunological balance and the airway environment can undoubtedly cause severe secondary bacterial infection in the host. The most famous reports of bacterial colonization after lung viral infection stem from the 1918 influenza pandemic where between 20 and 60 million deaths were due to bacterial co-infection (110). It is estimated that  $\sim$ 25% of all influenza-related deaths are associated with coinfections, particularly during seasonal outbreaks (111, 112). Viral respiratory infections elevate nasopharyngeal bacterial density (113, 114), which may promote their colonization in the lower airways, though the precise mechanisms are unclear.

Bacterial co-infection is not limited to influenza virus. A retrospective cohort study of 6,000 hospitalized neonates in China showed that 94% had RSV infection, with the remainder having parainfluenza, influenza virus or adenovirus. The dominant co-infections in RSV infected neonates were E. coli, Klebsiella (K) pneumoniae, S. aureus, and Enterobacter cloacae (115). The high frequency of RSV and pneumococci co-infection in hospitalized children is reduced by prior pneumococcal conjugate vaccination and has led to the suggestion that treatment for secondary bacterial infections should be considered for pneumonia cases even if a child tests positive for RSV (116). The choice of antibacterial strategy may be critical since RSV can increase S. pneumoniae virulence by binding to penicillin binding protein 1a (117) and so penicillin derivatives may be ineffective. Experimental studies on human Rhinovirus 16 infection enhances H. parainfluenzae, Neisseria subflava, and to a lesser extent S. aureus in throat swabs (118). One study in adults revealed that rhinovirus was the most common (23.6%), then parainfluenza virus (20.8%), hMPV (18.1%), influenza (16.7%), and RSV (13.9%). However, virus strain occurrence may also be influenced by co-infections as RSV was significantly more common in those that also had community-associated pneumonia (119).

Bacterial and viral infections co-exist, and the post-viral bacterial outgrowths are often co-infections made up of different species of bacteria. In a recent meta-analysis, 28–35% of patients demonstrated positive laboratory culture with the co-infective species, *S. aureus* and *S. pneumoniae*, respectively (120). *S. pneumoniae* is the most common pathogen that causes community-acquired pneumonia and potential overwhelming sepsis, and is associated with high mortality and morbidity during influenza epidemics and pandemics (121, 122).

S. aureus, a gram-positive cocci and a common commensal in the nose and skin, is a major cause of bacteraemia (123). It is unclear why S. aureus has become a major cause of concern particularly in the pediatric population, of which a study of the 2003-4 season in the USA found that this organism not only dominated influenza-associated childhood mortalities, but was also found to be the most common causative bacterial agent in 46% of isolates, whereby more than 50% were methicillin-resistant strains (111). A rare and severe complication of community-acquired pneumonia is necrotising pneumonia, characterized by pulmonary consolidation, inflammation, necrosis, and ultimately gangrene, which is caused by methicillin-resistant S. aureus, a major public health concern due to its resistance to antimicrobials. Prior or co-infection with influenza infection and the presence of Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL) are both significantly associated with the necrotising pneumonia (124).

## Mechanisms of Bacterial Susceptibility After Lung Viral Infection

Other than a breach of the epithelial barrier, there are a number of modifications to cellular innate immunity in the lung that contribute to secondary bacterial infection.

### The Role of Apoptotic Cell Clearance Following Viral Infection in Susceptibility to Secondary Bacterial Infections

Cellular turnover by apoptosis features in health and inflammation. Airway macrophages play an important function in clearing apoptotic cells, a process known as efferocytosis, which is essential in maintaining airway homeostasis (125). Inefficient clearance of apoptotic cells leads to secondary necrosis and the release of damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that subsequently promote an inflammatory response (126). Efferocytosis is mediated by a plethora of receptors that recognize externalized proteins on the cell surface of apoptotic cells. One of the most commonly studied proteins mediating efferocytosis is phosphatidylserine (PtdSer). PtdSer is present on the inner plasma membrane in living cells, but is externalized upon induction of apoptosis (127) by caspase inactivation of flippase (ATP11C) that is required to "flip" PtdSer back into the plasma membrane (128). Caspases also activate scramblases that "scramble" phospholipids in the plasma membrane; promoting exposure of PtdSer on apoptotic cells (129). Other proteins that flag up the presence of an apoptotic cell include oxidized low-density lipoprotein, calreticulin, annexin A1, ICAM-3, C1q, and thrombospondin (130). In parallel there are a number of receptors that recognize these proteins on apoptotic cells, including many that bind PtdSer: Triggering receptor expressed by myeloid cells-2 (TREM2) (131), CD300 (132), receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) (133), Stabilin-2 (134), brain-specific angiogenesis inhibitor-1 (BAI1) (135) and TIM family members (T cell/transmembrane, immunoglobulin, and mucin) (136, 137) (**Figure 2**). For a review of other receptors recognizing externalized molecules on apoptotic cells see (130).

One PtdSer recognizing receptor family pertinent to the lung and its susceptibility to bacterial complications is the TAM receptor family (Tyro3, Axl, and Mertk receptors). These engulfment receptors require bridging molecules to link them to externalized PtdSer; protein S or growth arrest specific 6 (Gas6) (138). MerTK is ubiquitously expressed on macrophages, and even used as a defining marker for them. Axl, however, shows a more restricted distribution and is constitutively expressed on airway macrophages driven by GM-CSF and up-regulated during viral infection (139). Ligation of TAM receptors, in the presence of type 1 interferons (IFNs) enhances the expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) 1 and SOCS3, which reduce TLR and cytokine receptor signaling pathways (140-142). Furthermore, signaling via TAM receptors also induces TGFβ, IL-10 and prostaglandin production (143-146). This anti-inflammatory airway macrophage state is important to tolerate self-cells (125) but also reduces responses to subsequent coinfections (see Figure 2). Expression of IL-10 is raised following secondary bacterial coinfection after influenza virus exposure (147, 148). This is likely designed to prevent further tissue damage and to allow a return to homeostasis.

Lung viral infection enhances the apoptotic load due to cytopathology of infected cells and also the requirement to clear the large recruited immune cell infiltrate (149, 150). An absence of the TAM receptor Axl leads to excessive weight loss upon influenza infection in mice (139) that is likely linked to heightened secondary necrosis, which liberates DAMPS (151) recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as RAGE and ST2 (151-153). Axl knockout mice display increased nucleosome release in the airways corroborating the idea of enhanced secondary necrosis. This propagation of severe inflammation is likely to damage the lungs further and enhance the likelihood of secondary bacterial infections. Supporting this idea, prior exposure of mouse airway macrophages to apoptotic cells results in suppression of FcR-mediated phagocytosis and killing of bacteria. Furthermore, intrapulmonary administration of apoptotic cells impairs S. pneumoniae clearance from the infected lung (154). Also, suppression of antimicrobial responses of airway macrophages is enhanced by glucocorticoids, which promote efferocytosis, and treatment of mice with apoptotic cells in the presence of glucocorticoids is associated with elevated bacterial burden in the infected lungs (155).

Therefore, the normal process of clearing dying cells can have long term consequences and is particularly evident in chronic lung diseases (156) [for a review see: (157)]. However, further studies are required to determine the importance of this process, including analysis of the redundancy



FIGURE 2 [ Clearance of apoptotic cells impairs anti-bacterial immunity. Removal of apoptotic cells requires their recognition by specialized receptors on phagocytic cells, including macrophages. In the presence of healthy cells (top left) Phosphatidylserine (PtdSer) is on the inner leaflet of the membrane. Local macrophages do not recognize them and therefore are able to signal through Toll-like receptors (TLR) unimpeded, resulting in the proinflammatory cytokine response. This optimal response is able to contain and clear bacterial infections (shown in red ovals). However, upon programmed cell death, PtdSer and a variety of other proteins are translocated to the outside of the cell membrane (top right). Macrophages recognize these exposed proteins via specific receptors (bottom right). These receptors facilitate apoptotic cell recognition and engulfment (known as efferocytosis) however, during efferocytosis macrophages are unable to respond to bacteria leading to their outgrowth (bottom right).

between apoptotic recognition receptors and the long term outcome of their manipulation. Efficient clearance of apoptotic cells may therefore provide an opportunity for therapeutic manipulation to lessen the severity of lung viral infections and prevent bacterial complications. In addition to the clearance of apoptotic cells by phagocytes, the phagocytes themselves (neutrophils and macrophages) may also undergo apoptosis.

## Reduced Responsiveness of PRRs Following Viral Infection

Another natural process that occurs following viral infection is the cessation of inflammation. This is particularly important to allow efficient repair. Therefore, a prolonged inhibition of innate immunity is a common occurrence. However, a timely response to bacterial infection is critical to limit the pathogen load. Any delay in early immunity results in logarithmically higher bacterial loads that are difficult to clear and cause extensive bystander tissue damage. PRRs are important in this regard, but may be impaired by previous or concurrent inflammatory conditions. PRRs are widely expressed in the lungs on airway epithelial cells, alveolar macrophages and DCs and their ligation leads to the release of cytokines, chemokines, eicosanoids and type I IFNs into the airspaces (158, 159). The kinetics of this initial inflammatory wave limits early pathogen replication (159) by recruitment of monocytes, neutrophils and natural killer (NK) cells. NK cells target infected airway epithelial cells that have lost or reduced MHC class I expression (160), whereas monocytes and neutrophils aid alveolar macrophages in removing infected dead cells (161) and co-existing bacteria. Furthermore, type I IFNs stimulate the production of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs), leading to cell-intrinsic and extrinsic antiviral activity (162). However, many studies have observed that subsequent stimulation via PRRs is defective following lung viral infection. This effect is not restricted to PRRs as defects in multiple processes employed by the mononuclear phagocyte system have been observed (69).

Following an acute viral infection, mouse airway macrophages display a similar phenotype to those in health (CD11c, CD11b, F4/80, and Siglec F). However, their responsiveness to TLR agonists is significantly dampened (163). We called this "innate imprinting" in 2004 (164), which is similar to the concept of "trained immunity" described by others in which monocytes acquire a tolerant phenotype after stimulation (165–167). This

un-responsive state has recently been described as "immune paralysis" (168). In addition to influenza virus, human rhinovirus infection also predisposes to bacterial infection via degradation of IRAK-1 (interleukin 1 receptor associated kinase) leading to enhanced infection of respiratory epithelial cells by H. influenza (169). Defective TLR signaling would clearly lead to a reduction in many aspects of inflammation. With respect to subsequent bacterial infections, however, the most damaging consequences are the IFNy induced impairment of macrophage phagocytosis (170, 171) and the reduction in neutrophil recruitment due to suppressed IL-8 production. In addition to reduced recruitment, neutrophil function also appears impaired following viral infection with reported reductions in myeloperoxidase, reactive oxygen species and the bactericidal properties of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) [for a review see (172)]. Reduced recruitment of neutrophils would also impact on airway macrophage NLRP3 inflammasome activation that is important for the production of IL-1 $\beta$  (173–176).

Reduced TLR signaling during viral infection may contribute to the impairment of the IL-17 response required for bacterial containment. Th17 cells produce IL-17 and IL-22 and are regulated by IL-23 (177, 178). These cytokines are crucial for lung epithelial production of neutrophil recruiting chemokines and anti-microbial peptides (179). Influenza virus induced type 1 IFNs reduce IL-17, IL-22, and IL-23 and impair the clearance of *S. aureus*; an outcome that can be rescued by adenoviral delivery of IL-23 (180). Type 1 IFNs also impair IL-17 production from  $\gamma$ 8 T cells (180).

The anti-inflammatory state that occurs following lung viral infection creates some confusion as patients and mice that succumb to secondary bacterial infection ultimately display enhanced inflammation (147, 181–183). However, a sluggish immune response will ultimately lead to enhanced inflammation due to an exponentially higher bacterial load.

## The Impact of Viral Infection on Other Airway Innate Immune Cells

In addition to viral induced modification of airway macrophages, other innate immune cells are also affected. Type-2 innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) increase during influenza virus infection and secrete IL-13 (3), which although important for wound repair, are not useful during bacterial infection. A similar population of Lin<sup>-</sup> CD127<sup>+</sup> ST2<sup>+</sup> CRTH2<sup>+</sup> ILC2s have also been identified in human lung tissue and BAL and are known to produce IL-13. In mice, methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus induces IL-13 up to 3 days after influenza virus infection and impairs viral clearance. Later infection of MRSA after influenza however, exacerbates bacterial replication due to inhibition of IL-13 and an upregulation of IFNy (184). A detrimental impact of IL-13 is also evident following chlamydia (185) and tuberculosis (186). IL-13 also promotes Mycoplasma pneumoniae and non-typeable H. influenza adhesion in cultured bronchial epithelial cells by increasing MUC18 (187) and overcomes the enhanced bactericidal effects on epithelial cells of beta-2 agonists (188). Collectively, these studies suggest that ILC2s can be beneficial or harmful depending on their kinetics.

Viral infection induces the early recruitment of NK cells to the lungs where they promote anti-viral immune cells through the release of cytokines and limit viral replication by removing infected cells that have down-regulated MHC class I. If NK cells are depleted, adaptive immunity is not optimal, which could lead to prolonged viral infection (189, 190). NK cells also influence dendritic cells to support Th17 and Th1 cells that are important in anti-bacterial immunity (191) and NK cell production of IL-22 is protective against Klebsiella lung infection (192). However, NK cells appear early in the antiviral response to lung viral infection. Indeed influenza virus is reported to decrease NK cells, which reduces clearance of *S. aureus* in a process dependent on TNF-mediated enhancement of macrophage phagocytosis (193).

IL-10 is upregulated by viral infection and dampens the activation of invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells by inhibiting the production of IL-12 by lung monocyte-derived dendritic cells, which contributes to *S. pneumoniae* outgrowth (194). IFN $\gamma$  increases susceptibility to secondary bacterial infection by promoting inflammation and damage in the upper respiratory tract through both the ligand IFN $\gamma$  and IFN $\gamma$  receptor (245). Though IFN $\gamma$  stimulates a pro-inflammatory phenotype in alveolar macrophages, it inhibits bacterial phagocytosis (49)

Neutrophils are critical components of anti-bacterial immunity. In addition to their reduced recruitment due to impaired chemokine production, influenza virus also inhibits their activity by inhibiting Th17 cell induction of anti-microbial peptides (195). Viral induction of Setdb2 (a protein lysine methyltransferase) also represses the expression of the CXCL1 gene that recruits neutrophils (196) and defective G-CSF production impairs neutrophil digestion and/or killing of phagocytized bacteria via myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity (197).

 $\gamma\delta$  T cells are also important in susceptibility to secondary bacterial infections. These rare T cells directly recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), express a range of cytokine receptors that modulate their function, mediate cell cytolysis via FAS and TRAIL and release anti-microbial peptides and cytotoxic molecules. They also produce IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17.  $\gamma\delta$  T cell IL-17 production is impaired during influenza infection by type I IFNs causing susceptibility to *S. pneumoniae* infection (198). The role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in the extent of lung inflammation during viral infection depends, however, on whether other underlying conditions are present. For example,  $\gamma\delta$  T cell depletion in murine models of rhinovirus infection in asthmatic mice enhances airway hyper-reactivity (199).

Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells (200, 201) are a recently studied population that are important in mucosal tissues for anti-bacterial immunity. They express cytotoxic markers such as CD107a and granzyme B via synergistic actions of IL-12 and IL-7 (202) and produce IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17A (203). Their role in the lung is beginning to emerge. Lower numbers of peripheral blood CD161(+)V $\alpha$ 7.2(+) MAIT cells are associated with fatality in hospitalized patients with avian H7N9 influenza (204). However, it is not currently known whether defects in this population may predispose to bacteria following virus infections in the lung.
# Wound Repair and Bacterial Susceptibility in the Airways

In addition to reduced neutrophil chemoattractants, the postviral lung may be skewed toward wound repair that will not be conducive for bacterial recognition and clearance. The molecules mediating wound repair are often immune suppressive. IL-10 is enhanced following influenza infection and promotes bacterial replication in the post-influenza virus infected lung (148) by inhibiting multiple facets of immunity; a process that may be driven by the upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (205). Furthermore, regulatory T cells and TGFB are raised post-viral infection to dampen inflammation and facilitate processes of wound repair; for example by inducing the synthesis of collagen (206). However, TGF<sup>β</sup> is also anti-inflammatory and is required to limit the activity of dendritic cells (168). A recent study by the Schulz-Cherry group showed that knockout of the  $\beta$ 6 integrin prevents the activation of latent TGF $\beta$  leading to the presence of constitutively activated airway macrophages (207). Wound repair therefore represents a double edged sword where anti-inflammatory components limit inflammation and promote repair, but at the same time leave hosts susceptible to bacterial infection.

A few studies have described that epithelial cell proliferation and the expression of lung repair genes are reduced following respiratory viral infection (208, 209). This implies that barrier repair is delayed, which may prolong the access to alternative adhesion and nutrition sources for bacteria.

The importance of the repair process in the outcome of viral and bacterial infection of the respiratory tract is elegantly illustrated by the administration of amphiregulin, which decreases inflammation and lung damage to influenza virus (3) and prevents mortality to a secondary bacterial infection in the absence of any discernible influence on bacterial load (208).

# Matrix, Innate Immunity, and Bacterial Adhesion in the Lung

Extracellular matrix is a highly organized structure containing precise patterning of 43 different types of collagen, 200 glycoproteins and 40 proteoglycans (210). These components combine to form the interstitial matrix and the basement membrane. Alterations in both of these impacts on the cellular content of the lung and airways, and the adhesion, growth and location of bacterial species.

The basement membrane contributes to tissue architecture and is a highly organized structure made up of collagen IV, laminins, proteoglycans (decorin, biglycan, aggrecan and versican), heparan sulfate proteoglycans (perlecan and agrin), and nidogen (211). Some of these components can bind to other proteins that have immune modulatory properties. Decorin and biglycan for example, bind TGF- $\beta$ 1 (212) and so any alteration of their density or position will impact on lung inflammation and tissue repair. Similarly, fibrillar collagens type I and III of the interstitial matrix, in addition to binding other collagens and ECM components, also interact with inflammatory cell surface receptors particularly integrins. VLA-1, for example, is expressed on influenza-specific lung CD8+ T cells and binds  $\alpha 1\beta 1$  on interstitial matrix facilitating retention of memory CD8+ T cells in the lung (213). It is not hard to imagine that matrix re-modeling due to viral infection will have numerous consequences, such as the retention of a higher immune cell burden (214). Those retained immune cells, however, may not be optimal for subsequent bacterial infections and may even hinder the early migration of anti-bacterial immunity. For a recent review on immune cell:matrix interactions in the lung see (215).

The degradation of matrix can also liberate bioactive fragments now called matrikines which have immune modulatory properties. For example, the proteolytic processing by matrix metalloproteinases, MMP8 and MMP9, of interstitial collagens liberates the bioactive fragment, acetylated tripeptide Pro-Gly-Pro (acetyl-PGP) which promotes lung neutrophil recruitment (216, 217).

Accumulation of extracellular matrix components requires additional effort from interstitial and alveolar macrophages to clear them. This renders them hypo-responsive to subsequent bacteria. Recently we have found that excess hyaluronan induces adverse events in this way (218). Hyaluronan is a glycosaminoglycan that is abundant in the lung interstitial matrix. It is extruded from cells by hyaluronan synthases forming long cable-like polysaccharide structures. Degradation of hyaluronan is mediated by hyaluronidases. High- and -low molecular weight hyaluronan is reported to be anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory, respectively (219). Furthermore, hyaluronan can be sampled in sputum and by bronchoalveolar lavage, suggesting accumulation in the airways (220, 221). We have recently reported that hyauronan continues to accumulate in the lung and airway long after resolution of acute influenza virus infection in mice due to excess production via HA synthase 2. Furthermore, this excess hyaluronan is cross-linked with inter-a-inhibitor heavy chains due to elevated TNF-stimulated gene 6 expression. IaI is a proteoglycan containing two heavy chains of  $\sim$ 80 kDa, and a light chain (bikunin) of  $\sim$ 25 kDa that confers protease inhibitory properties (222, 223). Circulating IαI leaks into tissues during inflammation. Its synthesis has also been described in lung epithelia where it mediates repair after lung injury (224). In our study, administration of intranasal hyaluronidase completely restored lung function without any deleterious side effects (218).

There are other examples of matrix alterations contributing to the pathogenesis of lung viral infections (225). Influenza infection induces the recruitment of myeloid cells expressing membrane type I matrix metalloprotease (MT1-MMP/MMP-14) that is important in lung development and homeostasis (226). MT1-MMP inhibition rescues tissue damage and mortality in influenza-infected mice and combined with the anti-viral, oseltamivir, affords complete recovery. Furthermore, MT1-MMP inhibition also prevents outgrowth of S. pneumoniae following influenza infection (227). The modulation of extracellular matrix may depend on the viral strain. Analysis of RNA datasets from patients infected with pandemic associated influenza strains shows that H5N1 and H7N9 infection are enriched for genes involved with the extracellular matrix pathway (228). The importance of lung recovery and resilience is also demonstrated in mice lacking endophilin B2 that display improved mechanosensing and collagen and elastin ECM remodeling compared to wild-type mice (229). There are many other examples where matrix and associated components impact on lung immunity, which have been comprehensively reviewed elsewhere (230).

In addition to viruses directly promoting bacterial adherence (e.g., the neuraminidase in influenza virus exposes bacterial attachment sites by cleaving sialic acids, which are also metabolized by bacteria as a food source (231)), viral induced changes in extracellular matrix will change the lung microbiome. Dysbiosis of microbial commensalism can significantly impact on the overall health and progression of disease. Bacteria and bacterial products induce phenotypic and functional changes in immune pro-inflammatory gene expression, cellular adhesion and migration, and cell death (232). Binding to the ECM allows bacteria to adhere to, and colonize, host tissue. In addition, bacteria demonstrate affinity for different matrix substrates and changes in ECM components may increase host-pathogen accessibility and increase of bacterial virulence (233).

A number of microbes have elastase activity and/or express binding proteins for elastin that aid their pathogenicity (234). *S aureus* binds to elastin rich sites and expresses elastin binding proteins (EbpS) which bind to soluble, but not structurally intact chains of elastin (234). The expression of EbpS is also associated with greater bacterial cell growth, promoting cell proliferation and colonization (234, 235) and evasion of phagocytosis (234). In addition, elastin proteolytic products induce MMP activity and a number of bacteria express elastases (234, 235) further promoting elastin availability and consequently bacterial binding.

*S. aureus* encodes the fibronectin binding proteins (FnBPs), MSCRAMM (microbial surface component recognizing adhesive matrix molecule) that adhere to fibronectin and fibrinogen (236). Since components of fibronectin influence TLR4 receptor signaling, FnBPs may also promote immune regulation (237). Bacteria express collagen receptors and their binding appears to depend on collagen fiber tensile strength, conformation and structural dynamics. In an *in vitro* model, applying increasing high tensile forces to collagen peptides restricts receptor binding, suggesting that structurally normal collagen fibers decrease available sites for bacterial adhesion. Injured states, where collagen fibers are cleaved by high MMP activity, may increase susceptibility toward bacterial colonization with reduced structural strength and increased accessibility for more bacterial binding capacity (238).

Von Willebrand factor (vWF) is a large multimeric adhesion molecule and stimulates adhesion of bacteria. In bacteria such as *S aureus*, adherence to host can also be mediated via vWF and bacterial binding protein staphylococcal protein A (SPA). SPA binds to soluble and insoluble forms of vWF, promoting bacterial attachment and enhancing virulence in the absence of immune cell detection and clearance (239).

Glycosaminoglycan (GAG) interactions are ubiquitously used for cellular and extracellular signaling in all biological processes. Microbes utilize this universal process of the host for binding, and colonization of the host environment. Bacteria express GAG species and different binding domains across their entire surface. Studies blocking, removing or decreasing expression of these GAG binding domains decrease bacterial virulence (attachment, colonization and infection) in a number of bacterial strains (240). Bacterial communities have different affinities for GAG species (240). A large study manipulating GAG binding domains showed that the removal of heparin sulfate in S. aureus and S. pneumoniae decreases bacterial attachment to lung epithelial cells and fibroblasts and the inhibition of synthesis produced the same effect (240). The normal GAG interactions of the host are also used by microbes to prevent immune detection and clearance. Bacteria such as Streptococcus coat their surface with soluble high molecular weight hyaluronan, inhibiting detection and clearance by macrophages (241). Degradation of hyaluronan from the host tissues or bacteria into the low molecular weight protein stimulates phagocytosis, demonstrating bacterial colonization and infection can be influenced by the processing of GAGs from both the bacterium and host (241).

# **Fast Inflammation Is Good**

Interestingly, a time limited burst of inflammation from the outset is beneficial during influenza infection in mice, which results in faster clearance and less collateral damage (**Figure 3**). The evidence to support this comes from detailed studies on IL-10 knockout mice and the response to pathogen clearance discussed earlier, and our studies with CD200 or CD200R knockout mice. CD200R signaling on myeloid cells limits inflammatory activity (242). Mice lacking CD200 or CD200R show heightened weight loss during influenza infection due to raised levels of inflammation (47). However, when these mice are next exposed to *S. pneumoniae*, they do not show susceptibility, because the first inflammatory event to influenza was quicker, thus causing less collateral damage (243). The benefit of a short



**FIGURE 3** | Fast and limited immunity is good. A time limited burst of inflammation limits bystander tissue damage, which in turn limits the extent of tissue repair. This leads to less impairment of anti-bacterial immunity and so a secondary bacterial infection is cleared. A virulent pathogen, or one that isn't cleared quickly, causes prolonged bystander tissue damage leading to a lengthy period of repair; the processes of which are anti-inflammatory. A subsequent bacterial infection is ignored and grows exponentially. Ultimately, innate immunity is activated when the bacterial load is excessive causing deleterious consequences.

burst of inflammation has recently been supported by data from the Metzger group where mice lacking SOCS-1 or IFNy cleared influenza virus faster than littermate controls due to a rapid induction of immunity. By contrast, in the presence of SOCS-1, inflammation was prolonged and collateral damage increased (171). It would be interesting to test the impact of subsequent respiratory bacterial infection in the SOCS1 and IFN $\gamma$  deficient model. Such studies might suggest that patients experiencing severe disease do so because their immune system is too sluggish. However, upon presentation at care facilities it would be too late to consider boosting immunity. The speed of immunity could possibly be specifically tackled in patients with other underlying conditions that render their innate immune system suppressed, as in the case of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, or of the wrong phenotype to limit viral replication, as in the case of asthma. These patient groups are known to be at risk of severe viral infections [for example see (244, 245)].

The benefits of rapid induction of immunity to viral infection are also supported by research on IL-22. IL-22 is an interesting cytokine that is produced by innate immune cells and is critical for host protective immunity to lung K. pneumoniae (246), and S. aureus (183), but not to Mycobacterium tuberculosis or M. avium infection (164). IL-22 is upregulated during lung infection, but its neutralization has no effect on the kinetics of the disease or viral clearance. Rather it seems to function by promoting epithelial integrity and limiting lung damage (3, 247-249), which in turn prevents secondary lung infections by S. pneumoniae in mice (250). Interestingly, progesterone treatment of female mice also induces heightened IL-22 (and TGF $\beta$  and IL-6) and promotes faster recovery from influenza infection in female mice via epithelial production of amphiregulin. The resultant improvement of pulmonary function and reduced protein leakage is likely to diminish the risk of bacterial outgrowth, though this was not tested (251). In murine models of influenza infection, administration of GM-CSF promotes resistance to S. pneumoniae by promoting neutrophil recruitment and reactive oxygen species production from macrophages (252).

Another study that supports stimulation of immunity to prevent bacterial super-infections showed that the TLR-2 agonist, macrophage-activating lipopeptide 2 (MALP-2), reduces pneumococcal outgrowth in influenza virus infected mice (253). Also administration of nanoparticles containing the coat protein of a plant virus (papaya mosaic virus) and a singlestranded RNA causes the rapid recruitment of neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages and lymphocytes with beneficial effects on influenza virus and subsequent *S. pneumoniae* infection (254).

#### Creating a Debate in Matrix Modulation

Matrix modulation research is a field with great potential in restoring immune function via alternative key mechanisms. Extracellular matrix production is elevated following severe acute viral infection, which could have consequences on cell retention, immune paralysis of phagocytic cells and the physical properties of the airspaces into which it leaks. Respiratory fluids from COPD patients for example, contain higher levels of hyaluronan (HA) than healthy controls (59, 218) and we have recently shown this is exacerbated further by viral infection in COPD patients. Hyaluronidase treatment of mice after resolution of influenza virus infection restores lung function suggesting that the consequences of increased airway and lung hyaluronan is an impaired lung physiology (218). Airway hyper-reactivity is also improved during ozone-induced airway disease in CD44 or IaI deficient mice (60, 255) that bind HA or cross-link it, respectively. TNF-stimulated gene 6 catalyzes the transfer of IaI heavy chains onto HA (256) and TSG-6 null mice are resistant to airway hyporesponsiveness (257). Also TSG-6 promotes anti-inflammatory macrophages, (258) and inhibits neutrophil recruitment (259–262) and NF $\kappa$ B nuclear translocation. Just considering one matrix protein such as hyaluronan, the method of its production and degradation and the proteins that cross link it, provides multiple avenues for modulation. Therapeutic development in this area, to our knowledge, is poor with most focus on neutralizing enzymes that degrade matrix to prevent the liberation of small chemotactic matrix products. However, recombinant human hyaluronidase is licensed for therapeutic use in humans to increase barrier permeability, and although it is currently approved to enhance delivery and absorption of subcutaneous anesthetics, increase uptake of fluids, and to improve resorption of radiopaque agents (263, 264), it has the potential to be used to improve inflammatory diseases by immune-matrix modulation.

# CONCLUSION

Bacterial susceptibility following lung viral infection has been recognized for over a century and yet treatment options have not really altered since the introduction of antibiotics. It is now clear that long term suppression of innate immune mechanisms occurs following severe acute or chronic inflammation. In contrast to the clinical susceptibility toward bacterial infection that can occur in the 7 days following a viral infection, there are multiple long term modifications in immune mechanisms long after severe viral infections. These changes re-set the inflammatory tone of various immune cells by processes now known as trained immunity, innate imprinting or immune paralysis (164-166, 168). These molecular changes are evident during peak infection, but not in naïve un-infected lungs. This modified, tardy innate immunity immune response contributes to dysregulation of immune mechanisms to secondary bacterial exposure, rather than the clearance of the initial pathogen, and hence may explain the higher risk of long term bacterial outgrowth and chronic infection that cumulatively leads to excessive inflammatory disease. The majority of pathways leading to bacterial complications following viral infection have been discovered in single mouse strain studies. A recent report from the Metzger group shows that different mouse strains (BALB/C and C57BL/6) react differently to alveolar macrophage depletion following acute influenza infection. BALB/c mice respond to an acute influenza insult via IFNy dependent alveolar macrophage depletion, whereas C57BL/6 mice do not. However, both are susceptible to post-viral bacterial coinfection (265). The precise combination of changes leading to bacterial super-infection may therefore be slightly different depending on genetic background.

Another area that requires development is that the known "at risk" patient groups currently identified for priority influenza vaccination (the elderly, asthmatic, pregnant etc.) do not account for the vast hospitalization numbers over the winter seasons. This suggests there may be other "at risk" groups.

This as exemplified by the rise of bacterial pneumonias in those experiencing low mood, stress, anxiety or mental health issues (266, 267). A mucosal barrier breach cannot explain all infectious complications. A population-based Danish study of 976,398 individuals, including 142,169 with a history of depression, onset of depression was associated with increased respiratory viral or bacterial complications (IRR = 1.58; CI =1.36–1.85; p = 0.000) (268). Depression and stress are linked to suppression of multiple arms of innate and adaptive immunity [see (269) and references within], including a reduction of neutrophils (270) that are important for bacterial clearance. The link between mental health and infection is an area that will gain momentum in the next few years. Another area of concern that will likely garner research effort in the future is the influence of polypharmacy on respiratory infectious risk. In elderly patients hospitalized for pneumonia in Canada, 45% were taking 5 or more medications prior to hospital admission (271). A number of these medications may also modulate the immune system, though research in this area is sparse.

### REFERENCES

- Seiler F, Lepper PM, Bals R, Beisswenger C. Regulation and function of antimicrobial peptides in immunity and diseases of the lung. *Protein Pept Lett.* (2014) 21 341–51. doi: 10.2174/09298665113206660100
- Bartemes KR, Iijima K, Kobayashi T, Kephart GM, McKenzie AN, Kita H. IL-33-responsive lineage- CD25+ CD44(hi) lymphoid cells mediate innate type 2 immunity and allergic inflammation in the lungs. *J Immunol.* (2012) 88:1503–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102832
- Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, Abt MC, Alenghat T, Ziegler CG, Doering TA, et al. Innate lymphoid cells promote lung-tissue homeostasis after infection with influenza virus. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:1045–54. doi: 10.1038/ni.2131
- Walker JA, McKenzie A, Innate lymphoid cells in the airways. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:1368–74. doi: 10.1002/eji.201242425
- Cheng M, Hu S. Lung-resident gammadelta T cells and their roles in lung diseases. *Immunology* (2017) 151:375–384. doi: 10.1111/imm.12764
- Augustin A, Kubo RT, Sim G. K. Resident pulmonary lymphocytes expressing the gamma/delta T-cell receptor. *Nature* (1989) 340:239–41.
- Sim G. K., Rajaserkar R, Dessing M, and Augustin A. Homing and in situ differentiation of resident pulmonary lymphocytes. *Int Immunol.* (1994) 6:1287–95.
- Wands JM, Roark CL, Aydintug MK, Jin N, Hahn YS, Cook L, et al. Distribution and leukocyte contacts of gammadelta T cells in the lung. J Leukoc Biol. (2005) 78:1086–96. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0505244
- Culley FJ. Natural killer cells in infection and inflammation of the lung. Immunology (2009) 128:151–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03167.x
- Ge N, Nishioka Y, Nakamura Y, Okano Y, Yoneda K, Ogawa H, et al. Synthesis and secretion of interleukin-15 by freshly isolated human bronchial epithelial cells. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2004) 135:235–42. doi: 10.1159/000081309
- Curtis JL. Cell-mediated adaptive immune defense of the lungs. Proc Am Thorac Soc. (2005) 2:412–6. doi: 10.1513/pats.200507-070JS
- 12. Guilliams M, Lambrecht B. N., Hammad H. Division of labor between lung dendritic cells and macrophages in the defense against pulmonary

There is a window of opportunity between recovery from viral infection and the onset of bacterial outgrowth where innate immunity could be primed to react quicker. This may involve removal of immune suppressive pathways (CD200R, IL-10, and TGF $\beta$ ), facilitation of apoptotic cell clearance (as apoptotic cell recognition receptors switch off innate immunity) or timely removal of high molecular weight matrix components from the airways. To identify these, studies are required that take into account other comorbidities, mental health status and the impact of polypharmacy on outcome.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EC, DM, CC, OB, SL, and TH drafted the manuscript. SL, OB, CJ, JC, and RR provided critical revisions and conceptual diagrams. All the authors made substantial contributions to the conception and design of the work, approved the submitted version of the manuscript, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

### FUNDING

This work was supported in part by grants from the Wellcome Trust (202865/Z/16/Z) (TH, DM, EC, OB, SL, and CJ) and Arthritis UK (CC).

infections. Mucosal Immunol. (2013) 6:464-73. doi: 10.1038/mi. 2013.14

- 13. Sung SS, Fu SM, Rose CE Jr, Gaskin F, Ju ST, Beaty SR. A major lung CD103 ( $\alpha$ E)- $\beta$ 7 integrin-positive epithelial dendritic cell population expressing Langerin and tight junction proteins. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:2161–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.4.2161
- Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:563–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074950
- von Garnier C, Blank F, Rothen-Rutishauser B, Goethert JR, Holt PG, Stumbles PA, et al. Identification and characterization of a dendritic cell precursor in parenchymal lung tissue. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2017) 56:353–361. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0058OC
- Desch AN, Randolph GJ, Murphy K, Gautier EL, Kedl RM, Lahoud MH, et al. CD103+ pulmonary dendritic cells preferentially acquire and present apoptotic cell-associated antigen. J Exp Med. (2011) 208:1789–97. doi: 10.1084/jem.20110538
- Randall T. D. Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (BALT) structure and function. *Adv Immunol.* (2010) 107:187–241. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-381300-8.00007-1
- Kumar A, Abdelmalak B, Inoue Y, Culver DA. Pulmonary alveolar proteinosis in adults: pathophysiology and clinical approach. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2018) 6:554–65. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30043-2
- Schyns J, Bureau F, and Marichal T, (2018). Lung Interstitial Macrophages: Past, Present, and Future. J Immunol Res 2018:5160794.
- Ely KH, Cookenham T, Roberts AD, Woodland D. L. Memory T cell populations in the lung airways are maintained by continual recruitment. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:537–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176. 1.537
- Snelgrove R. J., Godlee A, and Hussell T. Airway immune homeostasis and implications for influenza-induced inflammation. *Trends Immunol.* (2011) 32:328–34. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2011.04.006
- 22. Hashimoto D, Chow A, Noizat C, Teo P, Beasley MB, Leboeuf M, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages self-maintain locally throughout adult life with

minimal contribution from circulating monocytes. *Immunity* (2013) 38:792–804. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.004

- Janssen WJ, Barthel L, Muldrow A, Oberley-Deegan RE, Kearns MT, Jakubzick C, et al. Fas determines differential fates of resident and recruited macrophages during resolution of acute lung injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 184:547–60. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201011-1891OC
- Murphy J, Summer R, Wilson AA, Kotton D. N., Fine A. The prolonged lifespan of alveolar macrophages. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2008) 38:380–5. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2007-0224RC
- Cai Y, Sugimoto C, Arainga M, Alvarez X, Didier ES, Kuroda M. J. In vivo characterization of alveolar and interstitial lung macrophages in rhesus macaques: implications for understanding lung disease in humans. J Immunol. (2014) 192:2821–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302269
- Duan M, Hibbs M. L., Chen W. The contributions of lung macrophage and monocyte heterogeneity to influenza pathogenesis. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2017) 95:225–35. doi: 10.1038/icb.2016.97
- Guilliams M, De Kleer I, Henri S, Post S, Vanhoutte L, De Prijck S, et al. Alveolar macrophages develop from fetal monocytes that differentiate into long-lived cells in the first week of life via GM-CSF. J Exp Med. (2013) 210:1977–92. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131199
- Yona S, Kim KW, Wolf Y, Mildner A, Varol D, Breker M, et al. Fate mapping reveals origins and dynamics of monocytes and tissue macrophages under homeostasis. *Immunity* (2013) 38:79–91. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012. 12.001
- Bonfield TL, Farver CF, Barna BP, Malur A, Abraham S, Raychaudhuri B, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma is deficient in alveolar macrophages from patients with alveolar proteinosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2003) 29:677–82. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2003-0 148OC
- Schneider C, Nobs S. P., Kurrer M, Rehrauer H, Thiele C, Kopf M. Induction of the nuclear receptor PPAR-gamma by the cytokine GM-CSF is critical for the differentiation of fetal monocytes into alveolar macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:1026–37. doi: 10.1038/ni.3005
- Dranoff G, Crawford AD, Sadelain M, Ream B, Rashid A, Bronson RT, et al., Involvement of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in pulmonary homeostasis. *Science* (1994) 264:713–6. doi: 10.1126/science.8171324
- 32. Trapnell BC, Whitsett J. A. Gm-CSF regulates pulmonary surfactant homeostasis and alveolar macrophage-mediated innate host defense. Annu Rev Physiol. (2002) 64:775–802. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.64.090601.113847
- Landsman L, Jung S. Lung macrophages serve as obligatory intermediate between blood monocytes and alveolar macrophages. J Immunol. (2007) 179:3488–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.6.3488
- 34. Gibbings SL, Thomas SM, Atif SM, McCubbrey AL, Desch AN, Danhorn T, et al. Three unique interstitial macrophages in the murine lung at steady state. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (2017) 57:66–76. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0361OC
- Hussell T, Bell T. J. Alveolar macrophages: plasticity in a tissue-specific context. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:81–93. doi: 10.1038/nri3600
- Schneberger D, Aharonson-Raz K, Singh B. Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity and Toll-like receptors in the lung. *Cell Tissue Res.* (2011) 343:97–106. doi: 10.1007/s00441-010-1032-2
- 37. Steinmuller C, Franke-Ullmann G, Lohmann-Matthes ML, Emmendorffer A. Local activation of nonspecific defense against a respiratory model infection by application of interferon-gamma: comparison between rat alveolar and interstitial lung macrophages. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2000) 22:481–90. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.22.4.3336
- Hoidal JR, Schmeling D, Peterson PK. Phagocytosis, bacterial killing, and metabolism by purified human lung phagocytes. J Infect Dis. (1981) 144:61–71.
- Holt PG, Inhibitory activity of unstimulated alveolar macrophages on Tlymphocyte blastogenic response. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1978) 118:791–3. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1978.118.4.791
- Bedoret D, Wallemacq H, Marichal T, Desmet C, Quesada Calvo F, Henry E, et al. Lung interstitial macrophages alter dendritic cell functions to prevent airway allergy in mice. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:3723–38. doi: 10.1172/JCI39717

- Roth MD, Golub SH. Human pulmonary macrophages utilize prostaglandins and transforming growth factor beta 1 to suppress lymphocyte activation. J Leukoc Biol. (1993) 53:366–71.
- 42. Lipscomb MF, Lyons CR, Nunez G, Ball EJ, Stastny P, Vial W, et al. Human alveolar macrophages: HLA-DR-positive macrophages that are poor stimulators of a primary mixed leukocyte reaction. *J Immunol.* (1986) 136:497–504.
- Kirby AC, Coles MC, Kaye PM. Alveolar macrophages transport pathogens to lung draining lymph nodes. J Immunol. (2009) 183:1983–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901089
- 44. Blumenthal RL, Campbell DE, Hwang P, DeKruyff RH, Frankel LR, Umetsu DT. Human alveolar macrophages induce functional inactivation in antigen-specific CD4 T cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2001) 107:258–64. doi: 10.1067/mai.2001.112845
- Bonfield TL, Panuska JR, Konstan MW, Hilliard KA, Hilliard JB, Ghnaim H, et al. Inflammatory cytokines in cystic fibrosis lungs. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1995) 152:2111–8. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.152.6.8520783
- 46. Munger JS, Huang X, Kawakatsu H, Griffiths MJ, Dalton SL, Wu J, et al. The integrin alpha v beta 6 binds and activates latent TGF beta 1: a mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. *Cell* (1999) 96:319–28. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80545-0
- Snelgrove RJ, Goulding J, Didierlaurent AM, Lyonga D, Vekaria S, Edwards L, et al. A critical function for CD200 in lung immune homeostasis and the severity of influenza infection. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:1074–83. doi: 10.1038/ni.1637
- Sun K, Torres L, Metzger DW. A detrimental effect of interleukin-10 on protective pulmonary humoral immunity during primary influenza A virus infection. J Virol. (2010) 84:5007–14. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02408-09
- Sun K, Metzger DW. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-gamma during recovery from influenza infection. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:558–64. doi: 10.1038/nm1765
- Wainwright NW, Surtees PG, Gilks WR. Diagnostic boundaries, reasoning and depressive disorder, I Development of a probabilistic morbidity model for public health psychiatry *Psychol Med.* (1997) 27:835–45.
- Penaloza HF, Nieto PA, Munoz-Durango N, Salazar-Echegarai FJ, Torres J, Parga MJ, et al. Interleukin-10 plays a key role in the modulation of neutrophils recruitment and lung inflammation during infection by Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Immunology* (2015) 146:100–12. doi: 10.1111/imm.12486
- Klesney-Tait J, Turnbull I. R., and Colonna M. The TREM receptor family and signal integration. *Nat Immunol.* (2006) 7:1266–73. doi: 10.1038/ni1411
- Lohmann-Matthes ML, Steinmuller C, Franke-Ullmann G. Pulmonary macrophages. *Eur Respir J.* (1994) 7:1678–89. doi: 10.1183/09031936.94.07091678
- Lessler J, Reich NG, Brookmeyer R, Perl TM, Nelson KE, Cummings DA. Incubation periods of acute respiratory viral infections: a systematic review. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2009) 9:291–300. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(09)70069-6
- 55. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al., Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* (2012) 380:2095–128. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0
- Lamb RA, Choppin PW. The gene structure and replication of influenza virus. Annu Rev Biochem. (1983) 52:467–506.
- Hsu AC. Influenza virus: a master tactician in innate immune evasion and novel therapeutic interventions. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:743. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00743
- Souquette A, Thomas PG. Past life and future effects-how heterologous infections alter immunity to influenza viruses. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1071. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01071
- Zhou F, Trieu MC, Davies R, Cox RJ. Improving influenza vaccines: challenges to effective implementation. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 53:88– 95. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2018.04.010
- Parrish CR, Murcia PR, Holmes EC. Influenza virus reservoirs and intermediate hosts: dogs, horses, and new possibilities for influenza virus exposure of humans. J Virol. (2015) 89:2990–4. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03146-14
- Kwong JC, Stukel TA, Lim J, McGeer AJ, Upshur RE, Johansen H, et al. The effect of universal influenza immunization on mortality and health care use. *PLoS Med.* (2008) 5:e211. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050211

- Ito T, Suzuki Y, Mitnaul L, Vines A, Kida H, Kawaoka Y. Receptor specificity of influenza A viruses correlates with the agglutination of erythrocytes from different animal species. *Virology* (1997) 227:493–9.
- Ito T, Suzuki Y, Suzuki T, Takada A, Horimoto T, Wells K, et al. Recognition of N-glycolylneuraminic acid linked to galactose by the alpha2,3 linkage is associated with intestinal replication of influenza A virus in ducks. *J Virol.* (2000) 74:9300–5. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.19.9300-9305.2000
- Ryan-Poirier K, Suzuki Y, Bean WJ, Kobasa D, Takada A, Ito T, et al. Changes in H3 influenza A virus receptor specificity during replication in humans. *Virus Res.* (1998) 56:169–76. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1702(98)00067-7
- Kim H, Webster RG, Webby RJ. Influenza Virus: Dealing with a Drifting and Shifting Pathogen. Viral Immunol. (2018) 31:174–83. doi: 10.1089/vim.2017.0141
- 66. Simonsen L, Spreeuwenberg P, Lustig R, Taylor RJ, Fleming DM, Kroneman M, et al. Global mortality estimates for the 2009 Influenza Pandemic from the GLaMOR project: a modeling study. *PLoS Med.* (2013) 10:e1001558. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001558
- Thompson WW, Shay DK, Weintraub E, Brammer L, Cox N, Anderson LJ, et al. Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. *JAMA* (2003) 289:179–86. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.2.179
- Krammer F, Palese P. Advances in the development of influenza virus vaccines. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2015) 14:167–82. doi: 10.1038/nrd4529
- Bohmwald K, Espinoza JA, Pulgar RA, Jara EL, and Kalergis AM. Functional impairment of mononuclear phagocyte system by the human respiratory syncytial virus. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1643. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01643
- Afonso CL, Amarasinghe GK, Banyai K, Bao Y, Basler CF, Bavari S, et al. Taxonomy of the order Mononegavirales: update 2016. Arch Virol. (2016) 161:2351-60. doi: 10.1007/s00705-016-2880-1
- Hotard AL, Laikhter E, Brooks K, Hartert TV, Moore ML. Functional analysis of the 60-nucleotide duplication in the respiratory syncytial virus buenos aires strain attachment glycoprotein. J Virol. (2015) 89:8258–66. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01045-15
- Henderson J, Hilliard TN, Sherriff A, Stalker D, Al Shammari N, Thomas HM. Hospitalization for RSV bronchiolitis before 12 months of age and subsequent asthma, atopy and wheeze: a longitudinal birth cohort study. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2005) 16:386–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2005.00298.x
- Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Iwane MK, Blumkin AK, Edwards KM, Staat MA, et al. The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. *N Engl J Med.* (2009) 360:588–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0804877
- Sweetman LL, Ng YT, Butler IJ, Bodensteiner JB. Neurologic complications associated with respiratory syncytial virus. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2005) 32:307–10. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2005.01.010
- Tripp RA. Pathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus infection. Viral Immunol. (2004) 17:165–81. doi: 10.1089/0882824041310513
- Bohmwald K, Espinoza JA, Rey-Jurado E, Gomez RS, Gonzalez PA, Bueno SM, et al. Human respiratory syncytial virus: infection and pathology. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 37:522–37. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1584799
- Nair H, Simoes EA, Rudan I, Gessner BD, Azziz-Baumgartner E, Zhang JS, et al. Global and regional burden of hospital admissions for severe acute lower respiratory infections in young children in 2010: a systematic analysis. *Lancet* (2013) 381:1380–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61901-1
- Paramore LC, Ciuryla V, Ciesla G, Liu L. Economic impact of respiratory syncytial virus-related illness in the US: an analysis of national databases. *Pharmacoeconomics* (2004) 22:275–84. doi: 10.2165/00019053-200422050-00001
- 79. Fonseca W, Ozawa M, Hatta M, Orozco E, Martinez MB, Kawaoka Y. A recombinant influenza virus vaccine expressing the F protein of respiratory syncytial virus. *Arch Virol.* (2014) 159:1067–77. doi: 10.1007/s00705-013-1932-z
- Graham BS. Vaccine development for respiratory syncytial virus. Curr Opin Virol. (2017) 23:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2017.03.012
- Hu J, Robinson JL. Treatment of respiratory syncytial virus with palivizumab: a systematic review. World J Pediatr. (2010) 6:296–300. doi: 10.1007/s12519-010-0230-z
- 82. Mazur NI, Martinon-Torres F, Baraldi E, Fauroux B, Greenough A, Heikkinen T, et al. Lower respiratory tract infection caused by respiratory

syncytial virus: current management and new therapeutics. Lancet Respir Med. (2015) 3:888-900. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(15)00255-6

- Jackson DJ, Gangnon RE, Evans MD, Roberg KA, Anderson EL, Pappas TE, et al. Wheezing rhinovirus illnesses in early life predict asthma development in high-risk children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2008) 178:667–72. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200802-309OC
- Kotaniemi-Syrjanen A, Vainionpaa R, Reijonen T. M., Waris M, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Rhinovirus-induced wheezing in infancy-the first sign of childhood asthma? *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2003) 111:66–71. doi: 10.1067/mai.2003.33
- Lukkarinen M, Koistinen A, Turunen R, Lehtinen P, Vuorinen T, Jartti T. Rhinovirus-induced first wheezing episode predicts atopic but not nonatopic asthma at school age. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2017) 140:988–995. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.12.991
- Ruotsalainen M, Hyvarinen MK, Piippo-Savolainen E, Korppi M. Adolescent asthma after rhinovirus and respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2013) 48:633–9. doi: 10.1002/ppul.22692
- Drysdale SB, Mejias A, Ramilo O. Rhinovirus not just the common cold. J Infect. (2017) 74(Suppl. 1):S41–6. doi: 10.1016/S0163-4453(17)30190-1
- McIntyre CL, Knowles NJ, Simmonds P. Proposals for the classification of human rhinovirus species A, B and C into genotypically assigned types. J Gen Virol. (2013) 94:1791–806. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.053686-0
- Lee WM, Lemanske RF Jr, Evans MD, Vang F, Pappas T, Gangnon R, et al. Human rhinovirus species and season of infection determine illness severity. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2012) 186:886–91. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201202-0330OC
- Jartti T, Gern JE. Role of viral infections in the development and exacerbation of asthma in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 140:895–906. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.003
- Mosser AG, Vrtis R, Burchell L, Lee WM, Dick CR, Weisshaar E, et al. Quantitative and qualitative analysis of rhinovirus infection in bronchial tissues. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2005) 171:645–51. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200407-970OC
- Stenberg-Hammar K, Hedlin G, Soderhall C. Rhinovirus and preschool wheeze. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2017) 28:513–520. doi: 10.1111/pai.12740
- Marguet C, Lubrano M, Gueudin M, Le Roux P, Deschildre A, Forget C, et al. In very young infants severity of acute bronchiolitis depends on carried viruses. *PLoS ONE* (2009) 4:e4596. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004596
- 94. Midulla F, Scagnolari C, Bonci E, Pierangeli A, Antonelli G, De Angelis D, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus, human bocavirus and rhinovirus bronchiolitis in infants. *Arch Dis Child.* (2010) 95:35–41. doi: 10.1136/adc.2008.153361
- Lambkin-Williams R, Noulin N, Mann A, Catchpole A, Gilbert AS. The human viral challenge model: accelerating the evaluation of respiratory antivirals, vaccines and novel diagnostics. *Respir Res.* (2018) 19:123. . doi: 10.1186/s12931-018-0784-1
- 96. Reed G, Jewett PH, Thompson J, Tollefson S, Wright PF. Epidemiology and clinical impact of parainfluenza virus infections in otherwise healthy infants and young children < 5 years old. *J Infect Dis.* (1997) 175:807–13.
- Hall CB. Respiratory syncytial virus and parainfluenza virus. N Engl J Med. (2001) 344:1917–28. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200106213442507
- Pawelczyk M, Kowalski ML. The role of human parainfluenza virus infections in the immunopathology of the respiratory tract. *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep.* (2017) 17:16. doi: 10.1007/s11882-017-0685-2
- Russell E, Ison MG. Parainfluenza Virus in the Hospitalized Adult. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2017) 65:1570–6. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix528
- Henrickson KJ. Parainfluenza viruses. Clin Microbiol Rev. (2003) 16:242–64. doi: 10.1128/CMR.16.2.242-264.2003
- 101. Tsukagoshi H, Ishioka T, Noda M, Kozawa K, Kimura H. Molecular epidemiology of respiratory viruses in virus-induced asthma. *Front Microbiol.* (2013) 4:278. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2013.00278
- Edwards KM, Zhu Y, Griffin MR, Weinberg GA, Hall CB, Szilagyi PG, et al. Burden of human metapneumovirus infection in young children. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:633–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1204630
- 103. Englund JA, Boeckh M, Kuypers J, Nichols WG, Hackman RC, Morrow RA, et al. Brief communication: fatal human metapneumovirus infection in stem-cell transplant recipients. *Ann Intern Med.* (2006) 144:344–9. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-144-5-200603070-00010

- 104. Esper F, Martinello RA, Boucher D, Weibel C, Ferguson D, Landry ML, et al. A 1-year experience with human metapneumovirus in children aged <5 years. J Infect Dis. (2004) 189:1388–96. doi: 10.1086/382482
- Falsey AR, Erdman D, Anderson LJ, Walsh EE. Human metapneumovirus infections in young and elderly adults. J Infect Dis. (2003) 187:785–90. doi: 10.1086/367901
- Panda S, Mohakud NK, Pena L, Kumar S. Human metapneumovirus: review of an important respiratory pathogen. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2014) 25:45–52. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2014.03.1394
- 107. Principi N, Esposito S. Paediatric human metapneumovirus infection: epidemiology, prevention and therapy. J Clin Virol. (2014) 59:141–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2014.01.003
- 108. van den Hoogen BG, de Jong JC, Groen J, Kuiken T, de Groot R, Fouchier RA, et al. A newly discovered human pneumovirus isolated from young children with respiratory tract disease. *Nat Med.* (2001) 7:719–24. doi: 10.1038/89098
- 109. Williams JV, Harris PA, Tollefson SJ, Halburnt-Rush LL, Pingsterhaus JM, Edwards KM, et al. Human metapneumovirus and lower respiratory tract disease in otherwise healthy infants and children. N Engl J Med. (2004) 350:443–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa025472
- 110. Morens DM, Taubenberger JK, Fauci AS. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: implications for pandemic influenza preparedness. J Infect Dis. (2008) 198:962–70. doi: 10.1086/591708
- 111. Bhat N, Wright JG, Broder KR, Murray EL, Greenberg ME, Glover MJ, et al. Influenza-associated deaths among children in the United States, 2003-2004. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 353:2559–67. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa051721
- 112. Simonsen L. The global impact of influenza on morbidity and mortality. *Vaccine* (1999) 17(Suppl.) 1:S3–10.
- 113. Bisgaard H, Hermansen MN, Buchvald F, Loland L, Halkjaer LB, Bonnelykke K, et al. Childhood asthma after bacterial colonization of the airway in neonates. N Engl J Med. (2007) 357:1487–95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0 52632
- 114. Wolter N, Tempia S, Cohen C, Madhi SA, Venter M, Moyes J, et al. High nasopharyngeal pneumococcal density, increased by viral coinfection, is associated with invasive pneumococcal pneumonia. *J Infect Dis.* (2014) 210:1649–57. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu326
- 115. Zhong Q, Feng H, Lu Q, Liu X, Zhao Q, Du Y, et al. Recurrent wheezing in neonatal pneumonia is associated with combined infection with Respiratory Syncytial Virus and Staphylococcus aureus or Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:995. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19386-y
- 116. Weinberger DM, Klugman KP, Steiner CA, Simonsen L, Viboud C. Association between respiratory syncytial virus activity and pneumococcal disease in infants: a time series analysis of US hospitalization data. *PLoS Med.* (2015) 12:e1001776. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001776
- 117. Smith CM, Sandrini S, Datta S, Freestone P, Shafeeq S, Radhakrishnan P, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus increases the virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae by binding to penicillin binding protein 1a. A new paradigm in respiratory infection. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2014) 190:196–207. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201311-2110OC
- Hofstra JJ, Matamoros S, van de Pol MA, de Wever B, Tanck MW, Wendt-Knol H, et al. Changes in microbiota during experimental human Rhinovirus infection. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2015) 15:336. doi: 10.1186/s12879-015-1081-y
- 119. Choi SH, Hong SB, Ko GB, Lee Y, Park HJ, Park SY, et al. Viral infection in patients with severe pneumonia requiring intensive care unit admission. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2012) 186:325–32. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201112-2240OC
- 120. Klein EY, Monteforte B, Gupta A, Jiang W, May L, Hsieh YH, et al. The frequency of influenza and bacterial coinfection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* (2016) 10:394–403. doi: 10.1111/irv.12398
- 121. Brundage JF. Cases and deaths during influenza pandemics in the United States. Am J Prev Med. (2006) 31:252–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2006.04.005
- Joseph C, Togawa Y, Shindo N. Bacterial and viral infections associated with influenza. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* (2013) 7(Suppl. 2):105–13. doi: 10.1111/irv.12089
- 123. Wertheim HF, Melles DC, Vos MC, van Leeuwen W, van Belkum A, Verbrugh HA, et al. The role of nasal carriage in

Staphylococcus aureus infections. Lancet Infect Dis. (2005) 5:751-62. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(05)70295-4

- 124. DeLeo FR, Musser JM. Axis of coinfection evil. J Infect Dis. (2010) 201:488– 90. doi: 10.1086/650304
- Krysko DV, D'Herde K, Vandenabeele P. Clearance of apoptotic and necrotic cells and its immunological consequences. *Apoptosis* (2006) 11:1709–26. doi: 10.1007/s10495-006-9527-8
- Lauber K, Blumenthal SG, Waibel M, Wesselborg S. Clearance of apoptotic cells: getting rid of the corpses. *Mol Cell* (2004) 14:277–87. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(04)00237-0
- Leventis PA, Grinstein S. The distribution and function of phosphatidylserine in cellular membranes. *Annu Rev Biophys.* (2010) 39:407–27. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biophys.093008.131234
- 128. Segawa K, Kurata S, Yanagihashi Y, Brummelkamp TR, Matsuda F, Nagata S. Caspase-mediated cleavage of phospholipid flippase for apoptotic phosphatidylserine exposure. *Science* (2014) 344:1164–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1252809
- 129. Suzuki J, Denning DP, Imanishi E, Horvitz HR, Nagata S. Xk-related protein 8 and CED-8 promote phosphatidylserine exposure in apoptotic cells. *Science* (2013) 341:403–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1236758
- Arandjelovic S, Ravichandran KS. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in homeostasis. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:907–17. doi: 10.1038/ni.3253
- Takahashi K, Rochford CD, Neumann H. Clearance of apoptotic neurons without inflammation by microglial triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2. J Exp Med. (2005) 201:647–57. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041611
- 132. Murakami Y, Tian L, Voss OH, Margulies DH, Krzewski K, Coligan JE. CD300b regulates the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells via phosphatidylserine recognition. *Cell Death Differ*. (2014) 21:1746–57. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.86
- 133. Friggeri A, Banerjee S, Biswas S, de Freitas A, Liu G, Bierhaus A, et al. Participation of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in efferocytosis. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:6191–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1004134
- Park SY, Jung MY, Kim HJ, Lee SJ, Kim SY, Lee BH, et al. Rapid cell corpse clearance by stabilin-2, a membrane phosphatidylserine receptor. *Cell Death Differ*. (2008) 15:192–201. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402242
- 135. Park D, Tosello-Trampont AC, Elliott MR, Lu M, Haney LB, Ma Z, et al. BAI1 is an engulfment receptor for apoptotic cells upstream of the ELMO/Dock180/Rac module. *Nature* (2007) 450:430–4. doi: 10.1038/nature06329
- 136. Kobayashi N, Karisola P, Pena-Cruz V, Dorfman DM, Jinushi M, Umetsu SE, et al. TIM-1 and TIM-4 glycoproteins bind phosphatidylserine and mediate uptake of apoptotic cells. *Immunity* (2007) 27:927–40. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.11.011
- 137. Miyanishi M, Tada K, Koike M, Uchiyama Y, Kitamura T, Nagata S. Identification of Tim4 as a phosphatidylserine receptor. *Nature* (2007) 450:435–9. doi: 10.1038/nature06307
- Lemke G. Biology of the TAM receptors. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2013) 5:a009076. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009076
- 139. Fujimori T, Grabiec AM, Kaur M, Bell TJ, Fujino N, Cook PC, et al. The Axl receptor tyrosine kinase is a discriminator of macrophage function in the inflamed lung. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2015) 8:1021–30. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.129
- Lemke G, Rothlin CV. Immunobiology of the TAM receptors. Nat Rev Immunol. (2008) 8:327–36. doi: 10.1038/nri2303
- Rothlin CV, Ghosh S, Zuniga EI, Oldstone MB, Lemke G. TAM receptors are pleiotropic inhibitors of the innate immune response. *Cell* (2007) 131:1124– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.034
- 142. Sharif MN, Sosic D, Rothlin CV, Kelly E, Lemke G, Olson EN, et al. Twist mediates suppression of inflammation by type I IFNs and Axl. J Exp Med. (2006) 203:1891–901. doi: 10.1084/jem.20051725
- 143. Chung EY, Liu J, Homma Y, Zhang Y, Brendolan A, Saggese M, et al. Interleukin-10 expression in macrophages during phagocytosis of apoptotic cells is mediated by homeodomain proteins Pbx1 and Prep-1. *Immunity* (2007) 27:952–64. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.11.014
- 144. Korns D, Frasch SC, Fernandez-Boyanapalli R, Henson PM, Bratton DL. Modulation of macrophage efferocytosis in inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2011) 2:57. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00057
- 145. Voll RE, Herrmann M, Roth EA, Stach C, Kalden JR, Girkontaite I. Immunosuppressive effects of apoptotic cells. *Nature* (1997) 390:350–1.

- 146. Xiao YQ, Freire-de-Lima, CG, Schiemann WP, Bratton DL, Vandivier RW, Henson PM. Transcriptional and translational regulation of TGF-beta production in response to apoptotic cells. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:3575–85. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.5.3575
- 147. Smith MW, Schmidt JE, Rehg JE, Orihuela CJ, McCullers JA. Induction of pro- and anti-inflammatory molecules in a mouse model of pneumococcal pneumonia after influenza. *Comp Med.* (2007) 57:82–9.
- 148. van der Sluijs KF, van Elden LJ, Nijhuis M, Schuurman R, Pater JM, Florquin S, et al. IL-10 is an important mediator of the enhanced susceptibility to pneumococcal pneumonia after influenza infection. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:7603–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7603
- 149. Kosai K, Seki M, Tanaka A, Morinaga Y, Imamura Y, Izumikawa K, et al. Increase of apoptosis in a murine model for severe pneumococcal pneumonia during influenza A virus infection. *Jpn J Infect Dis.* (2011) 64:451–7.
- McCullers JA. Insights into the interaction between influenza virus and pneumococcus. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2006) 19:571–82. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00058-05
- Poon IK, Lucas CD, Rossi AG, Ravichandran KS. Apoptotic cell clearance: basic biology and therapeutic potential. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2014) 14:166–80. doi: 10.1038/nri3607
- Bonilla WV, Frohlich A, Senn K, Kallert S, Fernandez M, Johnson S, et al. The alarmin interleukin-33 drives protective antiviral CD8(+) T cell responses. *Science* (2012) 335:984–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1215418
- Kono H, Rock KL. How dying cells alert the immune system to danger. Nat Rev Immunol. (2008) 8:279–89. doi: 10.1038/nri2215
- 154. Medeiros AI, Serezani CH, Lee SP, Peters-Golden M. Efferocytosis impairs pulmonary macrophage and lung antibacterial function via PGE2/EP2 signaling. J Exp Med. (2009) 206:61–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082058
- 155. Stolberg VR, McCubbrey AL, Freeman CM, Brown JP, Crudgington SW, Taitano SH, et al. Glucocorticoid-augmented efferocytosis inhibits pulmonary pneumococcal clearance in mice by reducing alveolar macrophage bactericidal function. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:174–84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402217
- 156. Grabiec AM, Denny N, Doherty JA, Happonen KE, Hankinson J, Connolly E, et al. Diminished airway macrophage expression of the Axl receptor tyrosine kinase is associated with defective efferocytosis in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2017) 140:1144–6.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.03.024
- 157. Grabiec AM, Hussell T. The role of airway macrophages in apoptotic cell clearance following acute and chronic lung inflammation. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2016) 38:409–23. doi: 10.1007/s00281-016-0555-3
- Iwasaki A, Foxman EF, Molony RD. Early local immune defences in the respiratory tract. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:7–20. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.117
- Iwasaki A, Pillai PS. Innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:315–28. doi: 10.1038/nri3665
- 160. Gazit R, Gruda R, Elboim M, Arnon TI, Katz G, Achdout H, et al. Lethal influenza infection in the absence of the natural killer cell receptor gene Ncr1. *Nat Immunol.* (2006) 7:517–23. doi: 10.1038/ni1322
- 161. Hashimoto S, Kawado M, Murakami Y, Izumida M, Ohta A, Tada Y, et al. Epidemics of vector-borne diseases observed in infectious disease surveillance in Japan, 2000-2005. J Epidemiol. (2007) 17(Suppl.) S48–55. doi: 10.2188/jea.17.S48
- Chen K, Liu J, Cao X. Regulation of type I interferon signaling in immunity and inflammation: a comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. (2017) 83:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.03.008
- 163. Didierlaurent A, Goulding J, Patel S, Snelgrove R, Low L, Bebien M, et al. Sustained desensitization to bacterial Toll-like receptor ligands after resolution of respiratory influenza infection. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:323–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20070891
- 164. Williams AE, Edwards L, Humphreys IR, Snelgrove R, Rae A, Rappuoli R, et al. Innate imprinting by the modified heat-labile toxin of Escherichia coli (LTK63) provides generic protection against lung infectious disease. J Immunol. (2004) 173:7435–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.12. 7435
- Bordon Y. Macrophages: innate memory training. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:713. doi: 10.1038/nri3759

- 166. Cheng SC, Quintin J, Cramer RA, Shepardson KM, Saeed S, Kumar V, et al. mTOR- and HIF-1alpha-mediated aerobic glycolysis as metabolic basis for trained immunity. *Science* (2014) 345:1250684. doi: 10.1126/science.1250684
- 167. Saeed S, Quintin J, Kerstens HH, Rao NA, Aghajanirefah A, Matarese F, et al. Epigenetic programming of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and trained innate immunity. *Science* (2014) 345:1251086. doi: 10.1126/science.1251086
- 168. Roquilly A, McWilliam HEG, Jacqueline C, Tian Z, Cinotti R, Rimbert M, et al. Local modulation of antigen-presenting cell development after resolution of pneumonia induces long-term susceptibility to secondary infections. *Immunity* (2017) 47:135–47.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.021
- 169. Unger BL, Faris AN, Ganesan S, Comstock AT, Hershenson MB, Sajjan US. Rhinovirus attenuates non-typeable Hemophilus influenzae-stimulated IL-8 responses via TLR2-dependent degradation of IRAK-1. *PLoS Pathog.* (2012) 8:e1002969. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002969
- 170. Sun K, Metzger DW. Influenza infection suppresses NADPH oxidasedependent phagocytic bacterial clearance and enhances susceptibility to secondary methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:3301–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303049
- 171. Sun K, Salmon S, Yajjala VK, Bauer C, Metzger DW. Expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1) impairs viral clearance and exacerbates lung injury during influenza infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2014) 10:e1004560. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004560
- Bellinghausen C, Rohde GGU, Savelkoul PHM, Wouters EFM, Stassen FRM. Viral-bacterial interactions in the respiratory tract. J Gen Virol. (2016) 97:3089–102. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.000627
- 173. Allen IC, Scull MA, Moore CB, Holl EK, McElvania-TeKippe E, Taxman DJ, et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome mediates *in vivo* innate immunity to influenza A virus through recognition of viral RNA. *Immunity* (2009) 30:556–65. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.02.005
- Ichinohe T, Pang IK, Iwasaki A. Influenza virus activates inflammasomes via its intracellular M2 ion channel. *Nat Immunol.* (2010) 11:404–10. doi: 10.1038/ni.1861
- 175. Peiro T, Patel DF, Akthar S, Gregory LG, Pyle CJ, Harker JA, et al. Neutrophils drive alveolar macrophage IL-1beta release during respiratory viral infection. *Thorax* (2018) 73:546–56. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-210010
- 176. Pirhonen J, Sareneva T, Kurimoto M, Julkunen I, Matikainen S. Virus infection activates IL-1 beta and IL-18 production in human macrophages by a caspase-1-dependent pathway. *J Immunol.* (1999) 162:7322–9.
- McGeachy MJ, Cua DJ. Th17 cell differentiation: the long and winding road. Immunity (2008) 28:445–53. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.001
- 178. Yang XO, Panopoulos AD, Nurieva R, Chang SH, Wang D, Watowich SS, et al. STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. *J Biol Chem.* (2007) 282:9358–63. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C600321200
- 179. Minegishi Y, Saito M, Nagasawa M, Takada H, Hara T, Tsuchiya S, et al. Molecular explanation for the contradiction between systemic Th17 defect and localized bacterial infection in hyper-IgE syndrome. *J Exp Med.* (2009) 206:1291–301. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082767
- 180. Kudva A, Scheller EV, Robinson KM, Crowe CR, Choi SM, Slight SR, et al. Influenza A inhibits Th17-mediated host defense against bacterial pneumonia in mice. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:1666–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002194
- 181. Huber VC, McKeon RM, Brackin MN, Miller LA, Keating R, Brown SA, et al. Distinct contributions of vaccine-induced immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) and IgG2a antibodies to protective immunity against influenza. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2006) 13:981–90. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00156-06
- 182. Kuri T, Sorensen AS, Thomas S, Karlsson Hedestam GB, Normark S, Henriques-Normark B, et al. Influenza A virus-mediated priming enhances cytokine secretion by human dendritic cells infected with Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Cell Microbiol.* (2013) 15:1385–400. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12122
- 183. Wu Y, Mao H, Ling MT, Chow KH, Ho PL, Tu W, Lau YL. Successive influenza virus infection and Streptococcus pneumoniae stimulation alter human dendritic cell function. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2011) 11:201. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-11-201
- 184. Rynda-Apple A, Harmsen A, Erickson AS, Larson K, Morton RV, Richert LE, et al. Regulation of IFN-gamma by IL-13 dictates susceptibility to

secondary postinfluenza MRSA pneumonia. Eur J Immunol. (2014) 44:3263–72. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444582

- 185. Asquith KL, Horvat JC, Kaiko GE, Carey AJ, Beagley KW, Hansbro PM, et al. Interleukin-13 promotes susceptibility to chlamydial infection of the respiratory and genital tracts. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:e1001339. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001339
- Heitmann L, Abad Dar M, Schreiber T, Erdmann H, Behrends J, McKenzie AN, et al. The IL-13/IL-4Ralpha axis is involved in tuberculosis-associated pathology. J Pathol. (2014) 234:338–50. doi: 10.1002/path.4399
- 187. Simon GC, Martin RJ, Smith S, Thaikoottathil J, Bowler RP, Barenkamp SJ, et al. Up-regulation of MUC18 in airway epithelial cells by IL-13: implications in bacterial adherence. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2011) 44:606–13. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2010-0384OC
- 188. Gross CA, Bowler RP, Green RM, Weinberger AR, Schnell C, Chu HW. Beta2-agonists promote host defense against bacterial infection in primary human bronchial epithelial cells. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2010) 10:30. doi: 10.1186/1471-2466-10-30
- 189. Graham MB, Dalton DK, Giltinan D, Braciale VL, Stewart TA, Braciale TJ. Response to influenza infection in mice with a targeted disruption in the interferon gamma gene. J Exp Med. (1993) 178:1725–32. doi: 10.1084/jem.178.5.1725
- Hussell T, Openshaw PJ. Intracellular IFN-gamma expression in natural killer cells precedes lung CD8+ T cell recruitment during respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Gen Virol. (1998) 79(Pt 11):2593–601.
- 191. Shekhar S, Peng Y, Gao X, Joyee AG, Wang S, Bai H, et al. NK cells modulate the lung dendritic cell-mediated Th1/Th17 immunity during intracellular bacterial infection. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:2810–20. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445390
- 192. Xu X, Weiss ID, Zhang HH, Singh SP, Wynn TA, Wilson MS, et al. Conventional NK cells can produce IL-22 and promote host defense in Klebsiella pneumoniae pneumonia. J Immunol. (2014) 192:1778–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300039
- 193. Small CL, Shaler CR, McCormick S, Jeyanathan M, Damjanovic D, Brown EG, et al. Influenza infection leads to increased susceptibility to subsequent bacterial superinfection by impairing NK cell responses in the lung. J Immunol. (2010) 184:2048–56. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902772
- 194. Barthelemy A, Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Soulard D, Bouabe H, Paget C, et al. Influenza A virus-induced release of interleukin-10 inhibits the anti-microbial activities of invariant natural killer T cells during invasive pneumococcal superinfection. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:460–9. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.49
- 195. Robinson KM, McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Clay ME, Lee B, Scheller EV, et al. Influenza A virus exacerbates Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia in mice by attenuating antimicrobial peptide production. J Infect Dis. (2014) 209:865–75. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit527
- 196. Schliehe C, Flynn EK, Vilagos B, Richson U, Swaminanthan S, Bosnjak B, et al. The methyltransferase Setdb2 mediates virus-induced susceptibility to bacterial superinfection. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:67–74. doi: 10.1038/ni.3046
- 197. Ishikawa H, Fukui T, Ino S, Sasaki H, Awano N, Kohda C, and Tanaka K, Influenza virus infection causes neutrophil dysfunction through reduced G-CSF production and an increased risk of secondary bacteria infection in the lung. *Virology* (2016) 499:23–9. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2016. 08.025
- 198. Li W, Moltedo B, Moran TM. Type I interferon induction during influenza virus infection increases susceptibility to secondary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection by negative regulation of gammadelta T cells. *J Virol.* (2012) 86:12304–12. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01269-12
- 199. Glanville N, Message SD, Walton RP, Pearson RM, Parker HL, Laza-Stanca V, et al. gammadeltaT cells suppress inflammation and disease during rhinovirus-induced asthma exacerbations. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2013) 6:1091–100. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.3
- 200. Meermeier EW, Harriff MJ, Karamooz E, Lewinsohn DM. MAIT cells and microbial immunity. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2018) 96:607–17. doi: 10.1111/imcb.12022
- 201. van Wilgenburg B, Scherwitzl I, Hutchinson EC, Leng T, Kurioka A, Kulicke C, et al. MAIT cells are activated during human viral infections. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:11653. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11653
- Wallington JC, Williams AP, Staples KJ, T.Wilkinson MA. IL-12 and IL-7 synergize to control mucosal-associated invariant T-cell cytotoxic responses

to bacterial infection. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:2182–95.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.009

- Meierovics A, Yankelevich WJ, Cowley SC. MAIT cells are critical for optimal mucosal immune responses during *in vivo* pulmonary bacterial infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:E3119–28. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1302799110
- 204. Loh L, Wang Z, Sant S, Koutsakos M, Jegaskanda S, Corbett AJ, et al. Human mucosal-associated invariant T cells contribute to antiviral influenza immunity via IL-18-dependent activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:10133–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610750113
- 205. van der Sluijs KF, Nijhuis M, Levels JH, Florquin S, Mellor AL, Jansen HM, et al. Influenza-induced expression of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase enhances interleukin-10 production and bacterial outgrowth during secondary pneumococcal pneumonia. *J Infect Dis.* (2006) 193:214–22. doi: 10.1086/498911
- 206. Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Assoian RK, Smith JM, Roche NS, Wakefield LM, et al., Transforming growth factor type beta: rapid induction of fibrosis and angiogenesis *in vivo* and stimulation of collagen formation *in vitro*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1986) 83:4167–71. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.12.4167
- 207. Meliopoulos VA, Van de Velde LA, Van de Velde NC, Karlsson EA, Neale G, Vogel P, et al. An epithelial integrin regulates the amplitude of protective lung interferon responses against multiple respiratory pathogens. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:e1005804. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005804
- Jamieson AM, Pasman L, Yu S, Gamradt P, Homer RJ, Decker T, Medzhitov R. Role of tissue protection in lethal respiratory viral-bacterial coinfection. *Science* (2013) 340:1230–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1233632
- 209. Kash JC, Walters KA, Davis AS, Sandouk A, Schwartzman LM, Jagger BW, et al. Lethal synergism of 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus and Streptococcus pneumoniae coinfection is associated with loss of murine lung repair responses. *MBio* (2011) 2:e00172-11. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00172-11
- 210. Naba A, Hoersch S, Hynes RO. Towards definition of an ECM parts list: an advance on GO categories. *Matrix Biol.* (2012) 31:371–2. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2012.11.008
- 211. Burgstaller G, Oehrle B, Gerckens M, White ES, Schiller HB, Eickelberg O. The instructive extracellular matrix of the lung: basic composition and alterations in chronic lung disease. *Eur Respir J.* (2017) 50:1601805. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01805-2016
- 212. Kolb M, Margetts PJ, Sime PJ, Gauldie J. Proteoglycans decorin and biglycan differentially modulate TGF-beta-mediated fibrotic responses in the lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2001) 280:L1327–34. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.2001.280.6.L1327
- 213. Ray SJ, Franki SN, Pierce RH, Dimitrova S, Koteliansky V, Sprague AG, et al. The collagen binding alpha1beta1 integrin VLA-1 regulates CD8 T cell-mediated immune protection against heterologous influenza infection. *Immunity* (2004) 20:167–79. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(04)00021-4
- Tighe RM, Garantziotis S. Hyaluronan interactions with innate immunity in lung biology. *Matrix Biol.* (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2018.01.027. [Epub ahead of print].
- O'Dwyer DN, Gurczynski SJ, Moore BB. Pulmonary immunity and extracellular matrix interactions. *Matrix Biol.* (2018). 73:122–34. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2018.04.003
- 216. Akthar S, Patel DF, Beale RC, Peiro T, Xu X, Gaggar A, et al. Matrikines are key regulators in modulating the amplitude of lung inflammation in acute pulmonary infection. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:8423. doi: 10.1038/ncomms9423
- 217. Snelgrove RJ, Jackson PL, Hardison MT, Noerager BD, Kinloch A, Gaggar A, et al. A critical role for LTA4H in limiting chronic pulmonary neutrophilic inflammation. *Science* (2010) 330:90–4. doi: 10.1126/science.11 90594
- 218. Bell TJ, Brand OJ, Morgan DJ, Salek-Ardakani S, Jagger C, Fujimori T, et al. Defective lung function following influenza virus is due to prolonged, reversible hyaluronan synthesis. *Matrix Biol.* (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2018.06.006. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lauer ME, Dweik RA, Garantziotis S, Aronica MA. The Rise and fall of hyaluronan in respiratory diseases. *Int J Cell Biol.* (2015) 2015:712507. doi: 10.1155/2015/712507
- 220. Dentener MA, Vernooy JH, Hendriks S, Wouters EF. Enhanced levels of hyaluronan in lungs of patients with COPD: relationship with lung function and local inflammation. *Thorax* (2005) 60:114–9. doi: 10.1136/thx.2003.020842

- 221. Eurlings IM, Dentener MA, Cleutjens JP, Peutz CJ, Rohde GG, et al. Similar matrix alterations in alveolar and small airway walls of COPD patients. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2014) 14:90. doi: 10.1186/1471-2466-14-90
- 222. Forteza R, Casalino-Matsuda SM, Monzon ME, Fries E, Rugg MS, Milner CM, et al. TSG-6 potentiates the antitissue kallikrein activity of inter-alphainhibitor through bikunin release. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2007) 36:20–31. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2006-0018OC
- 223. Ishiura S. Proteolytic cleavage of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 precursor protein. J Neurochem. (1991) 56:363–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1991.tb08160.x
- 224. Adair JE, Stober V, Sobhany M, Zhuo L, Roberts JD, Negishi M, et al. Inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor promotes bronchial epithelial repair after injury through vitronectin binding. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:16922–30. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M808560200
- 225. Pociask DA, Robinson KM, Chen K, McHugh KJ, Clay ME, Huang GT, et al. Epigenetic and transcriptomic regulation of lung repair during recovery from influenza infection. *Am J Pathol.* (2017) 187:851–63. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.12.012
- Greenlee KJ, Werb Z, Kheradmand F. Matrix metalloproteinases in lung: multiple, multifarious, and multifaceted. *Physiol Rev.* (2007) 87:69–98. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00022.2006
- 227. Talmi-Frank D, Altboum Z, Solomonov I, Udi Y, Jaitin DA, Klepfish M, et al. Extracellular matrix proteolysis by MT1-MMP contributes to influenzarelated tissue damage and mortality. *Cell Host Microbe* (2016) 20:458–470. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.09.005
- 228. Wen F, Guo J, Tong G, Bi D, Wang Q, Liu X, et al. A meta-analysis of transcriptomic characterization revealed extracellular matrix pathway involved in the H5N1 and H7N9 infections. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:62561–72. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19315
- 229. Fino KK, Yang L, Silveyra P, Hu S, Umstead TM, DiAngelo S, et al. SH3GLB2/endophilin B2 regulates lung homeostasis and recovery from severe influenza A virus infection. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:7262. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-07724-5
- Wight TN, Frevert CW, Debley JS, Reeves SR, Parks WC, Ziegler SF. Interplay of extracellular matrix and leukocytes in lung inflammation. *Cell Immunol.* (2017) 312:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2016.12.003
- 231. Siegel SJ, Roche AM, Weiser JN. Influenza promotes pneumococcal growth during coinfection by providing host sialylated substrates as a nutrient source. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 16:55–67. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.06.005
- Dickson RP, Huffnagle GB. The lung microbiome: new principles for respiratory bacteriology in health and disease. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004923. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004923
- 233. Singh B, Fleury C, Jalalvand F, Riesbeck K. Human pathogens utilize host extracellular matrix proteins laminin and collagen for adhesion and invasion of the host. *FEMS Microbiol Rev.* (2012) 36:1122–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2012.00340.x
- 234. Downer R, Roche F, Park PW, Mecham RP, Foster TJ. The elastin-binding protein of *Staphylococcus aureus* (EbpS) is expressed at the cell surface as an integral membrane protein and not as a cell wall-associated protein. *J Biol Chem.* (2002) 277:243–50. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M107621200
- Nakakido M, Aikawa C, Nakagawa I, Tsumoto K. The staphylococcal elastin-binding protein regulates zinc-dependent growth/biofilm formation. *J Biochem* (2014) 156:155–62. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvu027
- 236. Westerlund B, Korhonen TK. Bacterial proteins binding to the mammalian extracellular matrix. *Mol Microbiol.* (1993) 9:687–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1993.tb01729.x
- Sandig H, McDonald J, Gilmour J, Arno M, Lee TH, Cousins DJ. Fibronectin is a TH1-specific molecule in human subjects. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2009) 124:528–35:535.e1-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.04.036
- Madani A, Garakani K, M.Mofrad RK. Molecular mechanics of *Staphylococcus aureus* adhesin, CNA, and the inhibition of bacterial adhesion by stretching collagen. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0179601. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179601
- Hartleib J, Kohler N, Dickinson RB, Chhatwal GS, Sixma JJ, Hartford OM, et al. Protein A is the von Willebrand factor binding protein on *Staphylococcus aureus. Blood* (2000) 96:2149–56.
- 240. Rajas O, Quiros LM, Ortega M, Vazquez-Espinosa E, Merayo-Lloves J, Vazquez F, et al. Glycosaminoglycans are involved in bacterial adherence

to lung cells. BMC Infect Dis. (2017) 17:319. doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2 418-5

- Schommer NN, Muto J, Nizet V, Gallo RL. Hyaluronan breakdown contributes to immune defense against group A Streptococcus. J Biol Chem. (2014) 289:26914–21. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.575621
- 242. Holmannova D, Kolackova M, Kondelkova K, Kunes P, Krejsek J, Andrys C. CD200/CD200R paired potent inhibitory molecules regulating immune and inflammatory responses; Part I: CD200/CD200R structure, activation, and function. *Acta Medica (Hradec Kralove)* (2012) 55:12–7. doi: 10.14712/18059694.2015.68
- 243. Goulding J, Godlee A, Vekaria S, Hilty M, Snelgrove R, Hussell T. Lowering the threshold of lung innate immune cell activation alters susceptibility to secondary bacterial superinfection. J Infect Dis. (2011) 204:1086–94. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jir467
- Kopsaftis Z, Wood-Baker R, Poole P. Influenza vaccine for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 6:Cd002733. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002733.pub3
- Matsumoto K, Inoue H. Viral infections in asthma and COPD. Respir Investig. (2014) 52:92–100. doi: 10.1016/j.resinv.2013.08.005
- 246. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, et al. IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:275–81. doi: 10.1038/nm1710
- 247. Guo H, Topham DJ, Interleukin-22 (IL-22) production by pulmonary Natural Killer cells and the potential role of IL-22 during primary influenza virus infection. *J Virol.* (2010) 84:7750–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00187-10
- 248. Paget C, Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Renneson J, Blanc F, Pichavant M, et al. Interleukin-22 is produced by invariant natural killer T lymphocytes during influenza A virus infection: potential role in protection against lung epithelial damages. J Biol Chem. (2012) 287:8816–29. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.304758
- 249. Pociask DA, Scheller EV, Mandalapu S, McHugh KJ, Enelow RI, Fattman CL, et al. IL-22 is essential for lung epithelial repair following influenza infection. *Am J Pathol.* (2013) 182:1286–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.12.007
- 250. Ivanov S, Renneson J, Fontaine J, Barthelemy A, Paget C, Fernandez EM, et al. Interleukin-22 reduces lung inflammation during influenza A virus infection and protects against secondary bacterial infection. *J Virol.* (2013) 87:6911–24. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02943-12
- 251. Hall OJ, Limjunyawong N, Vermillion MS, Robinson DP, Wohlgemuth N, Pekosz A, et al. Progesterone-based therapy protects against influenza by promoting lung repair and recovery in females. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:e1005840. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005840
- 252. Subramaniam R, Barnes PF, Fletcher K, Boggaram V, Hillberry Z, Neuenschwander P, et al. Protecting against post-influenza bacterial pneumonia by increasing phagocyte recruitment and ROS production. J Infect Dis. (2014) 209:1827–36. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit830
- 253. Reppe K, Radunzel P, Dietert K, Tschernig T, Wolff T, Hammerschmidt S, et al. Pulmonary immunostimulation with MALP-2 in influenza virusinfected mice increases survival after pneumococcal superinfection. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:4617–29. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00948-15
- 254. Mathieu C, Rioux G, Dumas MC, Leclerc D. Induction of innate immunity in lungs with virus-like nanoparticles leads to protection against influenza and Streptococcus pneumoniae challenge. *Nanomedicine* (2013) 9:839–48. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2013.02.009
- 255. Li Z, Potts-Kant EN, Garantziotis S, Foster WM, Hollingsworth JW. Hyaluronan signaling during ozone-induced lung injury requires TLR4, MyD88, and TIRAP. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e27137. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027137
- 256. Stober VP, Johnson CG, Majors A, Lauer ME, Cali V, Midura RJ, et al. TNF-stimulated gene 6 promotes formation of hyaluronan-interalpha-inhibitor heavy chain complexes necessary for ozone-induced airway hyperresponsiveness. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:20845–58. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.756627
- 257. Swaidani S, Cheng G, Lauer ME, Sharma M, Mikecz K, Hascall VC, et al. TSG-6 protein is crucial for the development of pulmonary hyaluronan deposition, eosinophilia, and airway hyperresponsiveness in a murine model of asthma. *J Biol Chem.* (2013) 288:412–22. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.3 89874
- 258. Mittal M, Tiruppathi C, Nepal S, Zhao YY, Grzych D, Soni D, et al. TNFalphastimulated gene-6 (TSG6) activates macrophage phenotype transition

to prevent inflammatory lung injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2016) 113:E8151-8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1614935113

- 259. Cao TV, La M, Getting SJ, Day AJ, Perretti M, Inhibitory effects of TSG-6 Link module on leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Microcirculation* (2004) 11:615–24. doi: 10.1080/10739680490503438
- 260. Dyer DP, Thomson JM, Hermant A, Jowitt TA, Handel TM, Proudfoot AE, et al. TSG-6 inhibits neutrophil migration via direct interaction with the chemokine CXCL8. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:2177–85. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300194
- 261. Getting SJ, Mahoney DJ, Cao T, Rugg MS, Fries E, Milner CM, et al. The link module from human TSG-6 inhibits neutrophil migration in a hyaluronan- and inter-alpha -inhibitor-independent manner. J Biol Chem. (2002) 277:51068–76. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M205121200
- 262. Wisniewski HG, Hua JC, Poppers DM, Naime D, Vilcek J, Cronstein BN. TNF/IL-1-inducible protein TSG-6 potentiates plasmin inhibition by interalpha-inhibitor and exerts a strong anti-inflammatory effect *in vivo. J Immunol.* (1996) 156:1609–15.
- 263. Frost GI, Recombinant human hyaluronidase (rHuPH20): an enabling platform for subcutaneous drug and fluid administration. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. (2007) 4:427–40. doi: 10.1517/17425247.4.427
- 264. van Bon AC, Bode BW, Sert-Langeron C, DeVries JH, Charpentier G. Insulin glulisine compared to insulin aspart and to insulin lispro administered by continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion in patients with type 1 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* (2011) 13:607–14. doi: 10.1089/dia.2010.0224
- Califano D, Furuya Y, Metzger DW. Effects of influenza on alveolar macrophage viability are dependent on mouse genetic strain. J Immunol. (2018) 201:134–44. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701406
- 266. Baran S, Teul-Swiniarska I, Dzieciolowska-Baran E, Lorkowski J, Gawlikowska-Sroka A. Mental health of Polish students and the occurrence

of respiratory tract infections. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2013) 755:275–81. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-4546-9\_35

- 267. Maxwell L, Barrett B, Chase J, Brown R, Ewers T. Self-reported mental health predicts acute respiratory infection. *WMJ* (2015) 114:100–4.
- 268. Andersson NW, Goodwin RD, Okkels N, Gustafsson LN, Taha F, Cole SW, et al. Depression and the risk of severe infections: prospective analyses on a nationwide representative sample. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2016) 45:131–9. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyv333
- 269. Rudzki L, Pawlak D, Pawlak K, Waszkiewicz N, Malus A, Konarzewska B, et al. Immune suppression of IgG response against dairy proteins in major depression. *BMC Psychiatry* (2017) 17:268. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1431-y
- 270. Duggal NA, Upton J, Phillips AC, Hampson P, Lord JM. Depressive symptoms are associated with reduced neutrophil function in hip fracture patients. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2013) 33:173–82. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.07.004
- 271. Gamble JM, Hall JJ, Marrie TJ, Sadowski CA, Majumdar SR, Eurich DT. Medication transitionspolypharmacy in older adults following acute care. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2014) 10:189–96. doi: 10.2147/TCRM.S58707

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Morgan, Casulli, Chew, Connolly, Lui, Brand, Rahman, Jagger and Hussell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# HRV16 Impairs Macrophages Cytokine Response to a Secondary Bacterial Trigger

Jamil Jubrail<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Kshanti Africano-Gomez<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Floriane Herit<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Engin Baturcam<sup>4</sup>, Gaell Mayer<sup>5</sup>, Danen Mootoosamy Cunoosamy<sup>4</sup>, Nisha Kurian<sup>6</sup> and Florence Niedergang<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institut Cochin, Inserm U1016, Paris, France, <sup>2</sup> CNRS, UMR 8104, Paris, France, <sup>3</sup> Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France, <sup>4</sup> IMED Biotech Unit, Target and Translational Science, Respiratory, Inflammation & Autoimmunity, AstraZeneca, Gothenburg, Sweden, <sup>5</sup> Clinical Development, Respiratory Inhalation & Oral Development, GMD, AstraZeneca, Gothenburg, Sweden, <sup>6</sup> Precision Medicine & Genomics, IMED Biotech Unit, AstraZeneca, Gothenburg, Sweden

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

François Trottein, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France

### Reviewed by:

Matthew Dale Woolard, LSU Health Sciences Center New Orleans, United States Marisa Mariel Fernandez, Instituto de Estudios de la Inmunidad Humoral (IDEHU), Argentina

#### \*Correspondence:

Florence Niedergang florence.niedergang@inserm.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 06 July 2018 Accepted: 27 November 2018 Published: 18 December 2018

#### Citation:

Jubrail J, Africano-Gomez K, Herit F, Baturcam E, Mayer G, Cunoosamy DM, Kurian N and Niedergang F (2018) HRV16 Impairs Macrophages Cytokine Response to a Secondary Bacterial Trigger. Front. Immunol. 9:2908. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02908 Human rhinovirus is frequently seen as an upper respiratory tract infection but growing evidence proves the virus can cause lower respiratory tract infections in patients with chronic inflammatory lung diseases including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). In addition to airway epithelial cells, macrophages are crucial for regulating inflammatory responses to viral infections. However, the response of macrophages to HRV has not been analyzed in detail. We used *in vitro* monocyte-derived human macrophages to study the cytokine secretion of macrophages in response to the virus. Our results showed that macrophages were competent at responding to HRV, as a robust cytokine response was detected. However, after subsequent exposure to non-typeable *Haemophilus influenzae* (NTHi) or to LPS, HRV-treated macrophages secreted reduced levels of pro-inflammatory or regulatory cytokines. This "paralyzed" phenotype was not mimicked if the macrophages were pre-treated with LPS or CpG instead of the virus. These results begin to deepen our understanding into why patients with COPD show HRV-induced exacerbations and why they mount a defective response toward NTHi.

Keywords: macrophage, rhinovirus, phagocytosis, cytokine, bacteria

# INTRODUCTION

In chronic airway inflammatory diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) viral infections are considered a key driver for disease exacerbations. Human rhinovirus (HRV) is frequently isolated from COPD patients during exacerbations (1, 2). Although exacerbations are likely multifactorial (3), experimental rhinoviral infections in patients with COPD have been successfully utilized to understand the impact of experimental "single" infections to clinical outcomes. Patients with inflammatory airway diseases experience increased lower respiratory tract symptoms and associated fall in lung function parameters in comparison to similarly infected healthy volunteers (4, 5). Recent work in COPD patients has highlighted an increase in infections, bacterial burden and outgrowth of pathogenic bacterial species in viral infected patients (6, 7). More recently, a 2-year longitudinal follow up study (AERIS) of well-characterized COPD patients at stable state and at exacerbations reported a large increase in bacterial and viral coinfections during exacerbations (2), suggesting a possible role for viruses in regulating host defense response to bacterial infections.

Epithelial cells and innate immune cells resident in the airway lumen are key regulators of inflammation and clearance following infections. Viral infection of these cells results in abundant cytokine and chemokine release (8–13). Although epithelial cells are the primary site for HRV infections, airway macrophages are also permissive to rhinoviruses (14, 15) and

regulate inflammatory responses to HRV. Furthermore, there are numerous reports of dysfunction of airway macrophages in COPD, as reviewed by Jubrail et al. (16). The emerging clinical literature of co-infections coupled with the reported bacterial clearance defects highlight the importance of dissecting cellular responses in macrophages to multi-pathogen infections and





the regulation of inflammatory responses in these cells. This work therefore addresses the hypothesis that viral infections can regulate inflammatory cytokine release on subsequent bacterial infections in human macrophages.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Cell Culture**

Human primary monocytes were isolated from the blood of healthy donors (Etablissement Français du Sang, Ile de France, Site Trinité) with the appropriate ethics prior approval as stated in the EFS/ Inserm agreement #15/EFS/012 and #18/EFS/030, ensuring that all donors gave a written informed consent, and providing anonymized samples. Density gradient sedimentation in Ficoll (GE Healthcare) was followed by adhesion on plastic at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 2 h and culture in the presence of macrophage medium (RPMI 1640 (Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) (Eurobio), 100 µg/ml penicillin/streptomycin and 2 mM L-glutamine (Invitrogen/Gibco). Monocyte-derived

macrophages were then obtained as described previously (17). HeLa Ohio cells were purchased from the European Collection of Authenticated Cell Cultures (ECACC) and were cultured in DMEM GlutaMax containing 25 mM D-glucose and 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% FCS, 100  $\mu$ g/ml penicillin/streptomycin and 2 mM L-glutamine. They were passaged every 3 days.

# Preparation of Human Rhinovirus 16 and Non-typeable *Haemophilus Influenzae*

Human rhinovirus 16 (HRV16) (VR-283, strain 11757, lot 62342987) was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) and stocks were produced by infecting HeLa Ohio cells as described previously (18). Briefly, supernatants from infected or mock-infected (MI) cells were collected after 48 h and clarified. In certain experimental conditions, HRV16 was inactivated with UV light (1000 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>) for 20 min. Inactivation was confirmed by adding the inactivated virus to HeLa Ohio cells and checking for cytopathic effects.





NTHi strain RdKW20 (19) was purchased from the ATCC (51907). It was grown on chocolate agar plates (Biomerieux) at  $37^{\circ}$ C overnight. Bacteria were grown in LB medium supplemented with 10 µg/ml hemoglobin and 2 µg/ml β-NAD.

### Quantification of the Tissue Culture Infective Dose 50 (TCID<sub>50</sub>) of HRV16

HeLa Ohio cells were cultivated in 96 well plates at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/well for 24 h. HRV16 was diluted 10-fold from undiluted to  $10^{-9}$  in virus medium (DMEM GlutaMax containing 25 mM D-glucose and 1 mM sodium pyruvate supplemented with 10% FCS and 2 mM L-glutamine). Fifty microliter of each dilution was added to the cells in 8 replicate wells. Fifty microliter of virus medium was added to 2 groups of control wells in 8 replicate wells per group. Cultures were incubated for 4 days at  $37^{\circ}$ C until cytopathic effect was observed in 50% of wells. TCID<sub>50</sub> was calculated using the Spearman-Karber formula as previously outlined (18).

# HRV16 and NTHi/LPS Infection of Human Macrophages

Macrophages were washed once in PBS and rested in virus medium. HRV16, HRV16<sup>UV</sup> or MI supernatants were added to the macrophages and placed at room temperature for 1 h with agitation to achieve a TCID<sub>50</sub> of  $1 \times 10^7$ /ml. Cultures were then washed with virus medium and rested in macrophage medium for 24, 48 or 72 h. Prior to bacterial infection or LPS (Sigma) treatment, culture supernatants were collected and stored at  $-80^\circ$ C for further analysis.

NTHi was grown until mid-log growth phase, centrifuged at 1692 *x g* for 5 min and resuspended in 1 ml phagocytosis medium (RPMI supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine). NTHi was added to macrophages pre-treated with HRV16, HRV16<sup>UV</sup> or MI to achieve a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10/cell. Cultures were then centrifuged at 602 *x g* for 2 min and placed at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 2 h. Alternatively, LPS was added to





macrophages at a concentration of 10 ng/ml. After centrifugation, cultures were placed at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 2 h. At this time point, supernatants were collected and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for further analysis.

# Lipopolysaccharide and CpG Stimulation of Human Macrophages

Macrophages were washed once in PBS and stimulated with 10 ng/ml LPS or  $0.6\,\mu$ M CpG in macrophage complete medium for 24, 48 or 72 h. At each time point cultures were washed with PBS and stimulated with NTHi as listed above.

# **Cytotoxicity Assay**

Cytotoxicity has been measured by detection of Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) released in the cell supernatant with the Cytotoxicity Assay Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Pierce).

# Analysis of Cytokine Production Using Meso Scale Discovery<sup>®</sup>

Cytokine production by macrophages was analyzed using the Meso Scale  $\mathsf{Discovery}^{\mathbb{R}}$  technology according to the manufacturer's instructions.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical tests were performed using Graphpad prism<sup>®</sup> version 6 software. All statistical tests are listed in the figure legends and significance was determined if p < 0.05.

# RESULTS

# HRV16 Infection Induces Robust Cytokine Production From Human Macrophages

In order to assess the ability of macrophages to respond to HRV, we challenged them with HRV16, HRV16<sup>UV</sup> or MI as controls, for 1 h at room temperature followed by an overnight rest. Supernatants from virus-treated or control macrophages were analyzed by MSD to detect cytokine secretion (**Figure 1A**).



**FIGURE 4** | Cytokine response of human macrophages exposed to HRV16 or TLR agonists for 24 h and then challenged with NTHi or LPS. Human macrophages were exposed to HRV16 (red bars), LPS (blue bars), CpG (orange bars) or MI (black bars) for 1 h and rested overnight. Then they were exposed to NTHi or LPS for 2 h and supernatants were collected and analyzed by MSD. MSD results for (A) IFN<sub>Y</sub>, (B) IL10, (C) IL12p70, (D) IL13, (E) IL4, (F) IL6, (G) IL8, (H) TNF $\alpha$ . \**p* < 0.05 Kruskal Wallis Test with Dunn's Post Test vs. NTHi or MI + LPS. (I) Relative fold changes for cytokine production in HRV16, LPS or CpG exposed human macrophages. \**p* < 0.05, \*\**p* < 0.01 Two Way Anova with Dunnett's Post Test vs. NTHi or MI + LPS. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (SEM). *n* = 4 independent experiments on different donors.

We found that HRV16 infected macrophages produced proinflammatory and regulatory cytokines at 24 h (**Figures 1B–J**). When we analyzed the fold changes in comparison to the MI control (**Figure 1J**), we observed that IFN $\gamma$ , IL12p70, IL4, IL6, and IL8 were produced to a similar level by HRV16 and HRV16<sup>UV</sup>. For IL10, IL1 $\beta$ , and TNF $\alpha$ , however, there was a trend toward more secretion after treatment with HRV16 vs. HRV16<sup>UV</sup> and significantly more secretion vs. MI (**Figure 1J**). These results demonstrate that macrophages are competent to respond to HRV16 and effectively secrete cytokines in response to HRV.

We next wanted to compare cytokine secretion in response to HRV16 to other known stimuli such as the TLR agonists LPS and CpG. For this, macrophages were treated with HRV16, LPS or CpG for 1 h and then rested overnight. We found that LPS stimulation led to increased production of all cytokines tested (**Figures 2A-I**), with a significant difference for IL10, IL1 $\beta$ , IL6, and TNF $\alpha$  compared to control (MI) macrophages (**Figure 2I**). CpG stimulation also led to cytokine production with the exception of IL10 and IL6 (**Figure 2A-I**). These results demonstrate that the HRV16 induced cytokine responses are similar to potent TLR macrophages activators.

# HRV16 Infection Impairs Cytokine Secretion From Human Macrophages in Response to NTHi

We next assessed the ability of macrophages to respond to a secondary bacterial trigger. Macrophages were first treated with HRV16 or controls and were challenged 24 h later with NTHi for 2h. Supernatants were collected and analyzed for cytokine secretion by the MSD technology (Figure 1A). We found that HRV16 exposed macrophages were unable to secrete pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines in response to NTHi (Figures 3A-I). There was a diminished production of all cytokines analyzed in macrophages exposed to HRV16 (Figure 3A-I) as compared with HRV16<sup>UV</sup> or MI, with the greatest decreases seen for IL1B and IL6 (Figures 3D,F,I). It is interesting to note that for all cytokines analyzed, HRV16<sup>UV</sup> + NTHi and MI + NTHi exposed macrophages had a similar response (Figures 3A-I). Analysis of the fold changes as compared with MI in these experiments more clearly demonstrated that HRV16 infected macrophages showed significantly diminished cytokine production in response to NTHi (Figure 3I). In contrast, despite HRV16 and HRV16<sup>UV</sup>





exposed macrophages showing slightly similar results for some cytokines in **Figure 1** (IFN $\gamma$ , IL12p70, IL6, and IL8) (**Figure 1I**), HRV16 exposed macrophages showed a significant reduction in all cytokine secretion in response to the bacteria (**Figure 3I**). This suggests that there is some regulation by the live virus and that HRV16 exposed macrophages are unable to mount an efficient response toward secondary bacterial targets.

# LPS and CpG Stimulation of Human Macrophages Does Not Impair Secondary Responses to NTHi

We next assessed if the inability to secrete cytokines in response to NTHi after HRV16 treatment was limited to viral infection or could be observed with different pre-activation triggers. Macrophages were first treated with HRV16, LPS, CpG or MI supernatants and then challenged 24 h later with NTHi for 2 h. Supernatants were collected and analyzed for cytokine secretion by the MSD technology (**Figure 4**). We found that HRV16 exposed macrophages were unable to secrete pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines in response to NTHi as seen above (**Figures 4A–I**). This was not observed if the cells were preactivated with LPS or CpG (**Figures 4A–I**), demonstrating that the defective response to a second trigger was specific to viral pre-treatment.

# HRV16 Infection Impairs Cytokine Secretion From Human Macrophages in Response to LPS

We next analyzed if the diminished secondary response was restricted to NTHi or extended to bacterial products such as LPS that is a potent stimulator of macrophages. Macrophages were first treated with HRV16 or MI supernatants and were challenged 24 h later with LPS for 2 h. Supernatants were collected and analyzed for cytokine secretion by the MSD technology (**Figure 4**). There was a diminished production of all cytokines analyzed in macrophages exposed to LPS when





the cells had been pre-treated with HRV16 compared to MI (Figures 4A-I). This shows that the defect caused by HRV16 extends beyond NTHi infection.

# **HRV16** Impairment of Secondary **Responses to NTHi Is Still Present at 48** and 72 h

To address whether the inhibitory effect of HRV16 would last more than 24 h, macrophages were first treated with HRV16, LPS, CpG or MI supernatants and then challenged 48 h or 72 h later with NTHi for 2h (Figures 5, 6, respectively). We found that the diminished secretory response remained at 48 and 72 h for IL10, IL6, IL8, IL1β, and TNFα (Figures 5, 6B,D,F-I). The response triggering IL4, IL12p70 and IFNy secretion appeared to be restored at these later time points (Figures 5, 6A,C,E), but we noted that the MI controls were secreting progressively less of these cytokines at later time points (Figures 5, 6A,I). Further, if we challenged macrophages with LPS 48 or 72 h after HRV16 exposure, we found that the production of IL10, IL6, IL8, IL1β, and TNFα were still diminished (Figures 5, 6B,D,F-I). This demonstrates that macrophages still present inhibited responses toward second triggers following HRV16 exposure beyond 24 h.

Finally, to confirm that the failure of HRV16 exposed macrophages to secrete cytokines was not due to enhanced cell death, we performed a lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) using the presence of this enzyme in cell supernatants to monitor cell permeability and death, as compared with the activity measured after total cell lysis (Figure 7). We observed no increase in cytotoxicity in HRV16 exposed macrophages +/- NTHi or LPS, compared to control conditions over 72 h (Figure 7).

Together, these results demonstrate that HRV16 exposed macrophages are unable to mount an efficient response toward secondary targets, in this case bacteria or LPS, and that the defective response persists in part for at least 72 h.

# DISCUSSION

In this study, we demonstrate that macrophages respond to HRV16 by secreting inflammatory cytokines, but this response is altered upon secondary challenge with live bacteria or bacterial compound such as LPS. This is important, because HRV is routinely isolated at COPD exacerbations (20, 21) and thought to contribute to the dysregulated microbiome seen in these patients (6).

We found that macrophages exposed to HRV16 produced elevated levels of cytokines compared to uninfected control conditions. We detected robust production of TNFa, IL10 and IL1β in response to HRV16. Modest increases in IFNγ, IL4, IL6, and IL12p70 were also observed. Furthermore, in these cells comparable secretion of most cytokines, except IL10, was noted with CpG activation. LPS challenge of these cells also resulted in cytokine secretion in a range higher or similar to that obtained with HRV16 challenge. These results fit with other studies showing that HRV leads to a robust cytokine response (22-28) and specifically in monocytes/macrophages (29-32). HRV is known to cause robust IFN $\alpha$  and IFN $\beta$  production



(A) 24h, (B) 24h + 2h NTHi or LPS, (C) 48h, (D) 48h + 2h NTHi or LPS, (E) 72 h, (F) 72 h + 2 h NTHi or LPS. All results are expressed relative to total lysis (purple bars). n = 4 independent experiments on different donors.

(33, 34). In our experiments, we could not detect IFN $\beta$  secretion despite elevated mRNA levels (data not shown). In agreement with our observations, other studies have shown no detectable IFN $\beta$  secretion in response to HRV (26, 35, 36). It has also been reported that different HRV strains induce different cytokine responses (37, 38) with clinical strains inducing more release of IL6, IP10, IFN $\gamma$  and IFN $\beta$  (28).

Our second major finding was that macrophages infected with HRV16 and subsequently with NTHi or LPS produce less pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines compared to control cells. In addition, this phenotype lasts for at least 72 h toward the majority of cytokines tested. Importantly, the diminished

cytokine responses in HRV16 exposed macrophages were not due to increased cytotoxicity. Of note, our observations do not indicate any trend toward a macrophage polarization, but rather a "paralyzed" phenotype that was not mimicked when cells were pre-activated with agonists like LPS or CpG instead of the virus. This was observed even toward those cytokines that showed modest increases in response to HRV16. The same altered response was not seen with HRV16<sup>UV</sup>, suggesting that it is specific to live HRV16. How the virus precisely regulates the cytokine secretion in response to a secondary challenge, however, still requires further investigation. This is critical, because it has been shown that viruses from clade A of the HRV group, including HRV16, are frequently associated with severe COPD exacerbations (39). They are associated with increased possibility of bacterial detection and postulated to be related to secondary effects on the outgrowth of bacteria.

How HRV affects the cytokine response toward bacteria has received limited attention in macrophages. Lung macrophages challenged with HRV showed reduced IL8 and TNF $\alpha$  production in response to LPS and LTA (15). In epithelial cells, HRV and then NTHi exposure led to decreased production of IL8 (40). Combined with our data, these results suggest that HRV can specifically shutdown macrophage responses and cytokine secretion in response to bacterial infection. Our *in vitro* data is

### REFERENCES

- Wilkinson TM, Hurst JR, Perera WR, Wilks M, Donaldson GC, Wedzicha JA. Effect of interactions between lower airway bacterial and rhinoviral infection in exacerbations of COPD. *Chest* (2006) 129:317–24. doi: 10.1378/chest.129.2.317
- Wilkinson TMA, Aris E, Bourne S, Clarke SC, Peeters M, Pascal TG, et al. A prospective, observational cohort study of the seasonal dynamics of airway pathogens in the aetiology of exacerbations in COPD. *Thorax* (2017) 72:919– 27. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209023
- Bafadhel M, McKenna S, Terry S, Mistry V, Reid C, Haldar P, et al. Acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: identification of biologic clusters and their biomarkers. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med.* (2011) 184:662–71. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201104-0597OC
- Mallia P, Contoli M, Caramori G, Pandit A, Johnston SL, Papi A. Exacerbations of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): focus on virus induced exacerbations. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2007) 13:73–97. doi: 10.2174/138161207779313777
- Message SD, Laza-Stanca V, Mallia P, Parker HL, Zhu J, Kebadze T, et al. Rhinovirus-induced lower respiratory illness is increased in asthma and related to virus load and Th1/2 cytokine and IL-10 production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:13562–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804181105
- Mallia P, Footitt J, Sotero R, Jepson A, Contoli M, Trujillo-Torralbo MB, et al. Rhinovirus infection induces degradation of antimicrobial peptides and secondary bacterial infection in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med.* (2012) 186:1117–24. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201205-0806OC
- Molyneaux PL, Mallia P, Cox MJ, Footitt J, Willis-Owen SA, Homola D, et al. Outgrowth of the bacterial airway microbiome after rhinovirus exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Resp Crit Care Med.* (2013) 188:1224–31. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201302-0341OC
- Baines KJ, Hsu AC, Tooze M, Gunawardhana LP, Gibson PG, Wark PA. Novel immune genes associated with excessive inflammatory and antiviral responses to rhinovirus in COPD. *Resp. Res.* (2013) 14:15. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-14-15
- Johnston SL, Papi A, Bates PJ, Mastronarde JG, Monick MM, Hunninghake GW. Low grade rhinovirus infection induces a prolonged release of IL-8 in pulmonary epithelium. *J Immunol.* (1998) 160:6172–81.

not reflective of the entire lung environment where a complete microbiome is present, but our findings could nevertheless contribute to explain how HRV hijacks macrophage functions within the lung and potentially explain why co-infections are increasingly documented in COPD exacerbations.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FN, NK, and GM conceived and designed the study. JJ, KA-G, FH, and EB designed and performed experiments and collected data. GM, DC, NK, and FN contributed to design experiments. All authors analyzed the data. JJ, EB, GM, DC, NK, and FN contributed to writing the manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Lisa Parker for providing tables to calculate human rhinovirus TCID50 and for guidance on human rhinovirus culture. Thanks, is also extended to Karine Bailly and Céline Bertholle of the CYBIO flow cytometry platform at Institut Cochin for help running the MSD experiment. Work in the FN laboratory was supported by CNRS, Inserm, Université Paris Descartes, and a collaborative grant with AstraZeneca.

- Korpi-Steiner NL, Bates ME, Lee WM, Hall DJ, Bertics PJ. Human rhinovirus induces robust IP-10 release by monocytic cells, which is independent of viral replication but linked to type I interferon receptor ligation and STAT1 activation. J Leukoc Biol. (2006) 80:1364–74. doi: 10.1189/jlb. 0606412
- Korpi-Steiner NL, Valkenaar SM, Bates ME, Evans MD, Gern JE, Bertics PJ. Human monocytic cells direct the robust release of CXCL10 by bronchial epithelial cells during rhinovirus infection. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2010) 40:1203– 13. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2010.03546.x
- Papadopoulos NG, Papi A, Meyer J, Stanciu LA, Salvi S, Holgate ST, et al. Rhinovirus infection up-regulates eotaxin and eotaxin-2 expression in bronchial epithelial cells. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2001) 31:1060–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2222.2001.01112.x
- Schroth MK, Grimm E, Frindt P, Galagan DM, Konno SI, Love R, et al. Rhinovirus replication causes RANTES production in primary bronchial epithelial cells. *Am J Resp Cell Mol Biol.* (1999) 20:1220–8. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.20.6.3261
- Gern JE, Dick EC, Lee WM, Murray S, Meyer K, Handzel ZT, et al. Rhinovirus enters but does not replicate inside monocytes and airway macrophages. J Immunol. (1996) 156:621–7.
- Oliver BG, Lim S, Wark P, Laza-Stanca V, King N, Black JL, et al. Rhinovirus exposure impairs immune responses to bacterial products in human alveolar macrophages. *Thorax* (2008) 63:519–25. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.081752
- Jubrail J, Kurian N, Niedergang F. Macrophage phagocytosis cracking the defect code in COPD. *Biomed J.* (2017) 40:305–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2017.09.004
- Jubrail J, Morris P, Bewley MA, Stoneham S, Johnston SA, Foster SJ, et al. Inability to sustain intraphagolysosomal killing of Staphylococcus aureus predisposes to bacterial persistence in macrophages. *Cell Microbiol.* (2016) 18:80–96. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12485
- Bennett JA, Prince LR, Parker LC, Stokes CA, de Bruin HG, van den Berge M, et al. Pellino-1 selectively regulates epithelial cell responses to rhinovirus. J Virol. (2012) 86:6595–604. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06755-11
- Daines DA, Cohn LA, Coleman HN, Kim KS, Smith AL. Haemophilus influenzae Rd KW20 has virulence properties. *J Med Microbiol.* (2003) 52(Pt 4):277–82. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.05025-0

- De Serres G, Lampron N, La Forge J, Rouleau I, Bourbeau J, Weiss K, et al. Importance of viral and bacterial infections in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations. *J Clin Virol.* (2009) 46:129–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2009.07.010
- 21. Mohan A, Chandra S, Agarwal D, Guleria R, Broor S, Gaur B, et al. Prevalence of viral infection detected by PCR and RT-PCR in patients with acute exacerbation of COPD: a systematic review. *Respirology* (2010) 15:536–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1843.2010.01722.x
- Avila PC, Abisheganaden JA, Wong H, Liu J, Yagi S, Schnurr D, et al. Effects of allergic inflammation of the nasal mucosa on the severity of rhinovirus 16 cold. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2000) 105:923–32. doi: 10.1067/mai.2000.106214
- Doyle WJ, Gentile DA, Cohen S. Emotional style, nasal cytokines, and illness expression after experimental rhinovirus exposure. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2006) 20:175–81. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2005.05.005
- Jarjour NN, Gern JE, Kelly EA, Swenson CA, Dick CR, Busse WW. The effect of an experimental rhinovirus 16 infection on bronchial lavage neutrophils. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2000) 105(6 Pt 1):1169–77. doi: 10.1067/mai.2000.1063
- Koetzler R, Zaheer RS, Newton R, Proud D. Nitric oxide inhibits IFN regulatory factor 1 and nuclear factor-kappaB pathways in rhinovirusinfected epithelial cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2009) 124:551–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.04.041
- Spurrell JC, Wiehler S, Zaheer RS, Sanders SP, Proud D. Human airway epithelial cells produce IP-10 (CXCL10) *in vitro* and *in vivo* upon rhinovirus infection. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2005) 289:L85–95. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00397.2004
- Subauste MC, Jacoby DB, Richards SM, Proud D. Infection of a human respiratory epithelial cell line with rhinovirus. Induction of cytokine release and modulation of susceptibility to infection by cytokine exposure. J Clin Invest. (1995) 96:549–57. doi: 10.1172/JCI118067
- Wark PA, Grissell T, Davies B, See H, Gibson PG. Diversity in the bronchial epithelial cell response to infection with different rhinovirus strains. *Respirology* (2009) 14:180–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1843.2009.01480.x
- Hall DJ, Bates ME, Guar L, Cronan M, Korpi N, Bertics PJ. The role of p38 MAPK in rhinovirus-induced monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 production by monocytic-lineage cells. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:8056–63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.12.8056
- Johnston SL, Papi A, Monick MM, Hunninghake GW. Rhinoviruses induce interleukin-8 mRNA and protein production in human monocytes. J Infect Dis. (1997) 175:323–9.
- Stockl J, Vetr H, Majdic O, Zlabinger G, Kuechler E, Knapp W. Human major group rhinoviruses downmodulate the accessory function of monocytes by inducing IL-10. J Clin Invest. (1999) 104:957–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI7255
- Laza-Stanca V, Stanciu LA, Message SD, Edwards MR, Gern JE, Johnston SL. Rhinovirus replication in human macrophages induces NF-kappaBdependent tumor necrosis factor alpha production. J. Virol. (2006) 80:8248– 58. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00162-06
- Fahy JV, Kim KW, Liu J, Boushey HA. Prominent neutrophilic inflammation in sputum from subjects with asthma exacerbation. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (1995) 95:843–52.

- Kelly JT, Busse WW. Host immune responses to rhinovirus: mechanisms in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2008) 122:671–82; quiz 83-4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.08.013
- 35. Gulraiz F, Bellinghausen C, Dentener MA, Reynaert NL, Gaajetaan GR, Beuken EV, et al. Efficacy of IFN-lambda1 to protect human airway epithelial cells against human rhinovirus 1B infection. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e95134. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0095134
- 36. Schneider D, Ganesan S, Comstock AT, Meldrum CA, Mahidhara R, Goldsmith AM, et al. Increased cytokine response of rhinovirus-infected airway epithelial cells in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Resp Crit Care Med. (2010) 182:332–40. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200911-1 673OC
- Rajan D, Gaston KA, McCracken CE, Erdman DD, Anderson LJ. Response to rhinovirus infection by human airway epithelial cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells in an *in vitro* two-chamber tissue culture system. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e66600. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0066600
- Rajan D, McCracken CE, Kopleman HB, Kyu SY, Lee FE, Lu X, et al. Human rhinovirus induced cytokine/chemokine responses in human airway epithelial and immune cells. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e114322. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114322
- Bashir H, Grindle K, Vrtis R, Vang F, Kang T, Salazar L, et al. Association of rhinovirus species with common cold and asthma symptoms and bacterial pathogens. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141:822–4 e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.09.027
- Unger BL, Faris AN, Ganesan S, Comstock AT, Hershenson MB, Sajjan US. Rhinovirus attenuates non-typeable Hemophilus influenzaestimulated IL-8 responses via TLR2-dependent degradation of IRAK-1. *PLoS Pathog.* (2012) 8:e1002969. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.10 02969

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** NK, DC, GM, and EB are employed by the commercial company "AstraZeneca" and AstraZeneca supported salaries for JJ and KA-G as part of a collaborative grant with FN. EB is a fellow of the AstraZeneca postdoc programme.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with one of the authors FN.

Copyright © 2018 Jubrail, Africano-Gomez, Herit, Baturcam, Mayer, Cunoosamy, Kurian and Niedergang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Viral-Bacterial Co-infections in the Cystic Fibrosis Respiratory Tract

#### Megan R. Kiedrowski and Jennifer M. Bomberger\*

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

A majority of the morbidity and mortality associated with the genetic disease Cystic Fibrosis (CF) is due to lung disease resulting from chronic respiratory infections. The CF airways become chronically colonized with bacteria in childhood, and over time commensal lung microbes are displaced by bacterial pathogens, leading to a decrease in microbial diversity that correlates with declining patient health. Infection with the pathogen Pseudomonas aeruginosa is a major predictor of morbidity and mortality in CF, with CF individuals often becoming chronically colonized with P. aeruginosa in early adulthood and thereafter having an increased risk of hospitalization. Progression of CF respiratory disease is also influenced by infection with respiratory viruses. Children and adults with CF experience frequent respiratory viral infections with respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), rhinovirus, influenza, parainfluenza, and adenovirus, with RSV and influenza infection linked to the greatest decreases in lung function. Along with directly causing severe respiratory symptoms in CF populations, the impact of respiratory virus infections may be more far-reaching, indirectly promoting bacterial persistence and pathogenesis in the CF respiratory tract. Acquisition of P. aeruginosa in CF patients correlates with seasonal respiratory virus infections, and CF patients colonized with P. aeruginosa experience increased severe exacerbations and declines in lung function during respiratory viral co-infection. In light of such observations, efforts to better understand the impact of viral-bacterial co-infections in the CF airways have been a focus of clinical and basic research in recent years. This review summarizes what has been learned about the interactions between viruses and bacteria in the CF upper and lower respiratory tract and how co-infections impact the health of individuals with CF.

# OPEN ACCESS

### Edited by:

François Trottein, Center for the National Scientific Research (CNRS), France

#### Reviewed by:

Mark Ambrose, University of Tasmania, Australia Isabelle Couillin, Center for the National Scientific Research (CNRS), France

> \*Correspondence: Jennifer M. Bomberger jbomb@pitt.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 02 August 2018 Accepted: 11 December 2018 Published: 20 December 2018

#### Citation:

Kiedrowski MR and Bomberger JM (2018) Viral-Bacterial Co-infections in the Cystic Fibrosis Respiratory Tract. Front. Immunol. 9:3067. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03067 Keywords: cystic fibrosis, coinfection, polymicrobial, respiratory infection, biofilm, chronic disease

# FACTORS PROMOTING RESPIRATORY INFECTIONS IN CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a lethal genetic disease caused by mutations in the Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Conductance Regulator (CFTR) gene (1) that result in dysfunction of the CFTR anion channel (2). To date, close to 2,000 individual mutations in the CFTR gene have been identified (3), and these mutations are further sub-divided into five classes based on how they lead to defective production of CFTR protein, resulting in deficiencies in protein folding, intracellular trafficking, and/or gating reviewed in-depth by Rowntree and Harris (4). While CFTR mutations affect most cell types and all mucosal surfaces in the body, manifesting in different types of disease, respiratory disease remains the most heavily-studied pathology of CF.

129

Chronic respiratory infections and the resulting robust but ineffective inflammatory response, culminating in respiratory failure, are the primary causes of death in CF patients.

In the CF respiratory tract, numerous factors resulting from dysfunctional CFTR combine to create an environment that promotes chronic bacterial and recurring viral infections. A dysfunctional CFTR alters the osmolarity of the airway surface liquid (ASL) layer, resulting in dehydrated ASL, and facilitating the buildup of a thick mucus layer. Diminished ASL hydration and thick mucus at the airway epithelial surface leads to failure of mucociliary clearance in the CF respiratory tract due to collapse of airway cilia, thereby preventing ciliary beat that normally clears debris, and infectious agents from the lungs. This allows microorganisms to repeatedly infect, eliciting robust inflammatory responses dominated by elevated proinflammatory cytokines, and continued accumulation of neutrophils in the CF airway (5). However, these inflammatory responses are ineffective at clearing pathogens in the CF lung, instead creating a hyperinflammatory cycle that leads to host tissue damage, respiratory failure, lung transplant or eventually, death (6). Additionally, the dysregulated conductance of bicarbonate anions by the CFTR channel in CF results in improper mucus formation and an altered ASL pH, which impacts the function of secreted antimicrobial peptides, disrupting a first line of defense against invading bacterial pathogens (7-9). Together, these deficiencies in CF respiratory tract physiology prevent efficient clearance of pathogens from the airways, allowing for the establishment of a robust community of microbes.

# THE CF RESPIRATORY MICROBIOME

# Identification of Bacterial Species in the CF Microbiome

The microbial community in the CF lung is complex, and lung health is affected by the presence and interactions of bacteria, fungi, and respiratory viruses (10, 11). Identification of bacterial species in the CF airways has traditionally relied on culture of bacteria by clinical microbiology laboratories from expectorated sputum samples, respiratory swabs, or samples obtained through bronchoscopy (referred to as culture-dependent methods) (12). Advances in next-generation sequencing have made it possible to identify populations of bacteria residing in the airways without culturing through the isolation of genomic DNA from CF patient samples and sequencing of the gene encoding the bacterial 16S ribosomal subunit. The 16S ribosomal subunit contains variable regions whose sequences can be assigned to bacteria at the species level (termed culture-independent methods) (13). Because culture-dependent methods require knowledge of which bacterial species to target for identification and how to isolate them, known bacterial pathogens were the main species identified from CF respiratory samples prior to culture-independent methods. With the advent of cultureindependent methods, it became appreciated that in addition to traditional pathogens, many other bacterial species often associated with the oral cavity or upper respiratory tract, and considered commensal or colonizing organisms were present in the CF lung at high abundance (14). These newly recognized populations included many species of anaerobic bacteria, which previously were not identified, as clinical laboratories did not use culture methods that would allow anaerobic growth (15). It remains a debated issue in the field as to whether all bacterial species identified via culture-independent methods are truly established in the CF lower airways, or if presence of these species is due to contamination of samples by oral or upper respiratory tract microbes during the collection process (11, 16).

### **Commensal Microbiome Members**

Focusing on bacterial members of the CF microbiome, from culture-independent studies we find that before chronic infections are established by pathogens, the CF lung is colonized by several genera of commensal bacteria. Studies have identified core bacterial airway microbiome members as belonging to the genera Streptococcus, Prevotella, Veillonella, Rothia, Granulicatella, Gemella, and Fusobacterium (14, 17, 18). Many factors can impact individual patients' respiratory microbiomes, most notably age and antibiotic exposures. Studies of longitudinal samples collected from patients over time have found distinct bacterial community profiles exist for younger vs. older CF patients, with pediatric CF patients possessing a greater abundance of core/commensal bacterial species, and a more diverse bacterial microbiome than CF adults (19). It is thought that these core species are displaced over time as patients age and pathogens are introduced and become established in the airways (10, 18). Multiple studies have found that a higher diversity of species in the lung correlates with better patient outcomes, and decreased diversity correlates with an overabundance of CF pathogens and declines in patient health (10, 17, 18). Like microbiomes associated with other organ systems in healthy adults, the microbiome in the CF airways has ultimately been found to change minimally upon exposure to antibiotics, exhibiting an altered community structure or decrease in overall abundance during treatment but rebounding to the original community structure after treatment ends (20, 21). Roles for interspecies interactions occurring between commensal and pathogenic bacteria in the CF airways are just beginning to be elucidated. Species of commensal streptococci have been found to have direct protective effects toward the lung by inhibiting pathogens such as P. aeruginosa (22-24). We have only recently begun to recognize the complexity of the microbial ecology in the CF airways and how dynamics of microbial communities, and not solely presence of pathogens, can contribute to disease outcomes (25). It is likely that many as yet unknown interspecies interactions exist that impact bacterial populations in the CF airways at a given time, and future studies will pinpoint specific mechanisms mediating bacterial crosstalk that may be targeted to alter the abundance of distinct species.

# **Bacterial Respiratory Pathogens in CF**

A number of bacterial species have been identified as major respiratory pathogens in CF, including *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Haemophilus influenzae*, *P. aeruginosa*, and *Burkholderia* complex (3, 26). *S. aureus* is the most frequently isolated bacterial

pathogen in CF pediatric populations, whereas P. aeruginosa becomes established as CF patients age (3). S. aureus is regarded as a commensal species of the nares and upper respiratory tract but is recognized as a pathogen when identified in other body sites, such as the lower airways, and is cultured from over 70% of CF patients (3). P. aeruginosa is the dominant pathogen in endstage CF lung disease, and chronic infection with P. aeruginosa is correlated with more severe reductions in pulmonary function measures (27) and mortality in CF patients. Methicillinresistant (MRSA) and methicillin-sensitive (MSSA) S. aureus and P. aeruginosa that display enhanced antibiotic resistance during chronic infection pose significant challenges to treatment efforts (28). Non-traditional bacterial pathogens, including Achromobacter xylosoxidans, Stenotrophomonas maltophilia, and non-tuberculosis Mycobacterium (NTM), also contribute to respiratory infections in CF patients and have been associated with worsening lung function (26, 29). A mechanism common to most CF bacterial pathogens for evasion of host immune defenses in the CF lung, despite its hyperinflammatory state, is growth in bacterial aggregates or biofilms. During the transition from acute to chronic infection, P. aeruginosa, S. aureus, and other bacterial pathogens exhibit altered metabolism, decreased growth rate and up-regulated expression of antibiotic resistance genes, and these changes, together with increased production of polymeric matrix materials, protect organisms within biofilms from the hostile environment in the CF lung (30 - 32).

### **RESPIRATORY VIRUSES IN CF**

### **Acute Respiratory Viral Infections in CF**

Pediatric and adult CF patients experience frequent acute respiratory virus infections. Specific respiratory viruses responsible for infections are identified when patients present with symptoms indicative of a viral infection, leading physicians to take a viral swab from which genetic material is extracted for PCR, and a viral panel is performed consisting of primer sets specific to common viral culprits. The true incidence of viral infections is likely under-reported for several reasons, including infrequent use of viral swabs and incomplete PCR panels to detect viral infections, as well as the fact that not all patients present with symptoms during a viral infection (33, 34). The most commonly identified viral pathogens in CF populations are respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), human rhinovirus (RV), Influenza types A and B, and parainfluenza, all belonging to families of RNA viruses (34-36). It has been reported that close to 40% of children with CF are hospitalized at some point for severe respiratory infections, and of these hospitalizations, respiratory viruses were identified in 50% of patients, with RSV predominating (33). While in non-CF populations RSV is thought to be almost exclusively a pediatric pathogen, RSV infections are frequent in both adult and pediatric CF patients, and can result in severe symptoms. RSV infection may result in upper respiratory disease, including rhinitis, cough, fever, and acute otitis media, or progress to the lower respiratory tract, resulting in bronchiolitis or pneumonia in children, and exacerbate existing chronic airway disease in adults (37). RSV infection is especially aggressive in young infants with CF, leading to significant respiratory morbidity (38).

# Links Between Viral Infections and Exacerbations

CF patients frequently experience periods of rapidly worsening respiratory symptoms, termed pulmonary exacerbations (39). Pulmonary exacerbations are typically defined by a decrease in lung function or increases in patient symptoms, however symptoms and severity of exacerbations vary from patient to patient and can be triggered by a multitude of causes (40). Exacerbations are often treated by initiating courses of additional antibiotics, increasing airway clearance therapies, or hospitalization in severe cases (41). Many clinical studies have now linked viral infections with pulmonary exacerbations (33, 35, 36, 42). Respiratory viral infections account for at least 40% of pulmonary exacerbations of CF adults (38, 43) and are linked to pulmonary function decline, antibiotic use, prolonged hospitalizations, and increased respiratory symptoms in CF patients (44-46). Respiratory viruses most frequently cultured during periods of exacerbation include the major viral pathogens appreciated in CF: influenza A and B, RSV, and RV (47-50).

# Severity of Viral Infections in CF

CF patients are known to be pre-disposed to chronic bacterial infections, and several groups have examined whether CF disease also leads to more severe respiratory viral infections. In vitro studies evaluating CF vs. non-CF primary human bronchial epithelial cells in culture found that RV replication was increased in CF cells (51). Enhancement of viral infection could be attributed to a diminished innate antiviral response in CF cells, which showed weaker induction of interferon and expression of some interferon-stimulated genes, as compared to non-CF controls (52). A clinical study evaluating severity of RV infections in CF children compared to non-CF pediatric patients with asthma, non-CF bronchiectasis or healthy controls found CF patients had a higher prevalence of RV, and higher viral load in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), both when patients were stable and at even higher levels during pulmonary exacerbations (53). Higher RV load correlated with worse lung function scores in CF children, and RV infection in CF resulted in lower levels of inflammatory markers than in non-CF children, again indicating a dysregulated innate immune response in CF patients could be responsible for increased severity of viral infections (53). A longitudinal study reported that RV was identified more frequently in CF children than non-CF subjects, and RV infections in CF children persisted longer (54). These studies suggest inherent properties of CF airway cells may make the CF airway epithelium more prone to viral infection, and together with what is known regarding links between airway physiology and bacterial respiratory infection in CF, these factors could have important implications in cases of viral-bacterial co-infections.

# **VIRAL-BACTERIAL CO-INFECTIONS IN CF**

CF patients are commonly chronically infected with bacterial pathogens and maintain a high abundance of microbes in the respiratory tract, including pathogens, and commensal organisms. These same patient populations also experience frequent acute respiratory viral infections. There are numerous ways in which infection with a viral pathogen can alter the host response, impacting previously existing chronic bacterial infections and microbial communities, potentiating secondary bacterial infections, and/or permitting the acquisition of new bacterial species in the airways (summarized in **Figure 1**). In this section, we evaluate insights from clinical studies of CF patient populations and mechanistic *in vitro* studies that inform us of viral-bacterial interactions occurring in CF during co-infections.

# Impact of Virus Infection on the CF Microbiome

Temporal changes in microbiome composition could result from a variety of disturbances that alter the environment in the CF airways, including initiation of antimicrobial therapies, mechanical or airway clearance treatments, or an altered host response. Respiratory viral infections can promote the onset of respiratory symptoms, as well as trigger the innate antiviral response in the CF airway epithelium, resulting in induction of antiviral signaling, and inflammation. From non-CF studies, respiratory viral infection is known to skew the immune status of the respiratory tract to be predisposed to secondary bacterial infection, which has been most studied for influenza (55). The altered host immune status following viral infection reduces antibacterial effector functions, like phagocyte recruitment (56), antimicrobial peptide production (57, 58), and protective adaptive immune responses (59-61), increasing susceptibility to bacterial infections. Specifically, interferonmediated antiviral responses following influenza infection in mice (62) and vaccination with live attenuated influenza in humans (63) have been shown to shift the composition of the upper respiratory microbiome and increase the potential for emergence of S. aureus infections. An altered immune status resulting from respiratory viral infection likely also alters the microbial composition of the CF airways, potentially leading to shifts in bacterial populations comprising the microbiome and promoting infection by specific bacterial pathogens.

How respiratory viral infections impact the CF airway microbiome can be evaluated by observing changes in overall bacterial burden (or bacterial load), community composition, or dominant taxa. In non-viral-associated pulmonary exacerbations, the overall bacterial burden in the CF airways rarely changes in the time leading up to an exacerbation or during exacerbations (64–66). Studies evaluating bacterial burden during acute respiratory viral-associated pulmonary exacerbations have produced conflicting results. In one prospective study of CF adults, *P. aeruginosa* density in sputum was not found to increase during exacerbation, compared to patients' stable states in either the presence or absence of a respiratory virus co-infection (67). A similar study design by another group found the opposite to be true:

in adult CF patients evaluated, a significantly higher load of *P. aeruginosa* was observed during respiratory-virus associated exacerbations (48). An observational study of CF children found *P. aeruginosa* density was not significantly different between patients experiencing viral- or non-viral-associated exacerbations (47). Additional prospective studies with larger patient cohorts are needed to gain a more definitive understanding of the effects of virus co-infection on overall bacterial burden and burden of specific organisms, like *P. aeruginosa*, in pediatric and adult CF populations.

While the relationship between respiratory virus co-infection and bacterial burden remains unclear, more efforts have been made toward investigating associations between viral infection and culture of specific bacterial pathogens from the CF airways. Findings from multiple studies indicate approximately 15-25% of CF patients undergoing a respiratory viral infection also culture positive for a known CF bacterial pathogen (68-70). Previously uncolonized CF patients have been reported to undergo new acquisition of *P. aeruginosa* following seasonal respiratory virus infections (44). Regarding roles for specific respiratory viruses, both RSV and RV are linked in clinical studies to development of P. aeruginosa co-infections and conversion from intermittent to chronic P. aeruginosa colonization in CF patients (33, 35, 43, 44, 71). Similarly, other known bacterial respiratory pathogens, including H. influenzae, Moraxella catarrhalis, and Streptococcus pneumoniae, were cultured more frequently from CF patients experiencing a RV co-infection (68). A separate pediatric study also found that in a cohort of CF children experiencing viralbacterial co-infections, RV and S. aureus were co-cultured more frequently than any other viral-bacterial pair (69). Together, these studies present strong clinical evidence for association of respiratory viral co-infection with presence of bacterial pathogens in the airways and suggest associations between specific species of viruses and bacteria co-cultured that may vary with age.

# Toward Mechanisms Underlying Viral-Bacterial Interactions

Mechanistic studies evaluating the outcomes of viral-bacterial co-infections have been made possible through the availability of isogenic immortalized CF airway epithelial cell lines (72) and access to well-differentiated primary airway epithelial cells cultured from CF lung tissue following lung transplant (73). In cell culture experiments by our group and others, simultaneous inoculation of CF and non-CF airway cells with RSV and P. aeruginosa increased adherence of both mucoid and nonmucoid P. aeruginosa strains (74, 75). This effect could be blocked by pre-treating non-polarized airway cells with heparin prior to inoculation with RSV and P. aeruginosa (75). A recent study from our group found no significant difference in P. aeruginosa adherence to polarized CF airway cells with a preceding RSV infection (24-72 h) compared to control CF cells; however, co-infection with RSV, RV, and adenovirus each promoted the growth of P. aeruginosa biofilms (74). Treatment of CF airway cells with exogenous type I or type III interferon prior to P. aeruginosa inoculation also stimulated biofilm growth,



suggesting *P. aeruginosa* benefits from the innate antiviral response in CF airway cells. Together, these studies suggest physical binding of RSV to *P. aeruginosa* or the CF airway cell surface may facilitate initial adherence of *P. aeruginosa* to the epithelium, whereas progression of viral infections and activation of interferon-stimulated innate antiviral signaling pathways may play a role in promoting chronic *P. aeruginosa* growth in biofilms. New work from our group finds co-infection with RSV and RV also promotes *S. aureus* biofilm growth on CF airway cells through as yet unidentified mechanisms (76).

Bacteria depend largely on nutrients and metabolites supplied by the host during infection, and virus co-infection has been shown to alter nutritional availability, thereby influencing bacterial responses. Iron is known to be a key nutrient required for growth and pathogenesis of many pathogens (see the Frontiers Research Topic, "Role of Iron in Bacterial Pathogenesis"). The host normally sequesters iron and other essential metals from invading microbes through a process termed nutritional immunity (77), but these mechanisms have been found to be dysregulated during virus infection. In CF airway cell studies, it was discovered that RSV infection promoted increased secretion of iron-bound host transferrin protein, which stimulated *P. aeruginosa* biofilm growth (74). Lipocalin-2, a host antimicrobial protein that sequesters iron (78), was found to be reduced during influenza A infection through virus-mediated suppression of NF-kB activation and IL-1B expression, exacerbating *S. aureus* acute pneumonia in mice (58). Other potential nutrient sources in the airways, such as surfactant proteins (79–81), and mucins (82–84), are known to change during virus co-infections, and there is evidence that CF bacterial pathogens can utilize these nutrient sources (85–88), but specific links between these nutrient shifts and viral-bacterial co-infections CF have not yet been confirmed.

Conversely, bacterial interactions with the CF airway epithelium can also alter subsequent virus infection. In one study, pre-infection of CF human bronchial cells with P. aeruginosa was found to diminish the interferon response to RV infection and resulted in a higher RV load than RV infection alone (89). As CF cells showed increased generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) at baseline compared to non-CF cells, treatment of CF cells with antioxidants prior to P. aeruginosa infection helped to restore the IFN response, and it was observed that while RV infection alone acted through PI-3 kinase to induce Akt phosphorylation, this was prevented by pre-infection of CF airway cells with P. aeruginosa. A later study evaluating the effects of P. aeruginosa secreted factors on primary CF and non-CF airway cells observed no effect of pre-treatment on RV load or antiviral gene expression; however, pre-exposure of cells to P. aeruginosa secreted factors did potentiate IL-8 production upon subsequent RV infection (90). Another secreted *P. aeruginosa* protein, Cif, also potentiated virus infections in CF airway epithelial cells by preventing MHC class I antigen presentation and CD8T cell-mediated clearance of influenza A-infected cells (91). Taken together, these findings suggest a complex interplay between bacterial pathogens, respiratory viruses, and the innate immune response in the CF airway epithelium, where an appropriate immune response to one pathogen may alter secondary infection by another pathogen. The effects of virus co-infection on many prominent CF bacterial pathogens has yet to be evaluated, and relationships between respiratory viruses and bacteria in multi-species polymicrobial infections representative of the complex communities existing in the CF airways is also an underexplored area.

# IMPACT OF THERAPEUTICS ON CO-INFECTIONS

# Antimicrobial Treatments for Viral and Bacterial Infections

As we've observed with the host immune response, attempts to clear one type of pathogen may have unintended effects on other microbes in the CF airways. The same may be true for cases of antiviral or antibacterial treatments administered to CF patients. It is appreciated that despite intense antibiotic therapy and even with alternating antibiotic courses, chronic infections with bacterial pathogens established as biofilms in the CF airways resist clearance through multiple mechanisms reviewed in Høiby et al. (92) and Lambert (93). Several therapies are now shown to impact both viral and bacterial pathogens, potentially leading to new therapeutic options for polymicrobial infections. We recently reported that an engineered antimicrobial peptide therapy, WLBU2, reduced both bacterial biofilm, and RSV titers in a mixed infection model in vitro (94). In addition, members of the macrolide class of antibiotics, including erythromycin, azithromycin, and bafilomycin, which are known to effect antibacterial activity by binding to bacterial ribosomal subunits to inhibit protein synthesis (95) were also found to have anti-inflammatory effects. By blocking production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8, macrolide antibiotics reduced neutrophil recruitment to sites of injury, and infection (96). In non-CF bronchial epithelial cells, azithromycin (97), bafilomycin (98), and clarithromycin (99) treatments were found to reduce RV replication by increasing induction of interferonstimulated antiviral genes, demonstrating that in addition to its anti-inflammatory, and anti-bacterial properties, azithromycin has anti-viral activity. In CF airway cells, azithromycin also reduced RV replication and increased RV-induced expression of interferon and interferon-stimulated antiviral genes; however, azithromycin did not prevent induction of IL-6 or IL-8 during RV infection, suggesting that the anti-inflammatory effects of azithromycin are diminished during a virus infection (51). Administration of azithromycin as an antiviral or antiinflammatory agent could provide a potential therapeutic option for CF patients, yet as macrolide resistance is known to be widespread in clinical isolates from chronic airway infections (100), it is important to keep in mind the broader effects antibiotic administration may have on the CF microbiome.

As viral infections can lead to severe respiratory morbidity and are linked to exacerbations in CF populations, there is a demand for effective anti-viral therapies, especially for major CF pathogens like RV and RSV for which no successful vaccine exists. RSV immunotherapy was shown to be effective at preventing lower respiratory tract infections and reducing symptom severity in high-risk infants, and young children (101). A humanized monocolonal antibody treatment for RSV, palivizumab, was developed (102) and prophylactic treatment with palivizumab significantly reduced hospitalizations (103), and incidences of respiratory-related illness (104) in CF children compared to untreated control groups. While potentially effective at preventing RSV infection, palivizumab prophylaxis is costly and has shown limited benefits for populations that do not regularly have high incidence of RSV-related hospitalizations (105), leading some to propose that anti-RSV therapy would be best-reserved for treatment during infections, not as prophylaxis, or for fall, and winter seasons when probability of virus-related illnesses and hospitalizations typically increases (106). As it has been observed that virus co-infection promotes P. aeruginosa colonization, a secondary benefit of antiviral therapies could be a delay in acquisition of bacterial pathogens in CF children. However, a recent study found that prophylactic treatment of CF infants with palivizumab to prevent RSV infection did not delay acquisition of either P. aeruginosa or S. aureus (107). A separate retrospective study found that although palivizumab reduced RSV-related hospitalizations and overall P. aeruginosa chronic colonization rates did not differ between treatment and control groups, the time to first P. aeruginosa isolate was significantly earlier in palivizumab-treated CF children (108). Many factors could have affected these outcomes, including patients' genetics, environmental exposures, and differences in clinical care quality and access. Broader studies evaluating the impact of palivizumab on the CF microbiome, including changes in abundance of commensal and pathogenic bacterial species, could shed light on how anti-viral therapies affect viral-bacterial-host interactions.

# **CFTR Modulators and Impact on Infections**

In the field of CF research and patient care, there is great excitement surrounding the promise of CFTR modulating drugs that improve mutated CFTR rescue to the cell surface (correctors) or modulate activity of dysfunctional CFTR protein channels (potentiators). Three drugs have undergone clinical trials and are now options for CF patients with specific CFTR mutations: the potentiator ivacaftor and correctors lumacaftor and tezacaftor (109, 110). Trials showed CF patients treated with CFTR modulators had improved lung function and decreased rates of pulmonary exacerbations, hospitalization, and IV antibiotic use, and the first studies on how these treatments impact respiratory microbiology in CF patients are now becoming available. During clinical trials, CF patients receiving ivacaftor, and lumacaftor were still found to experience adverse events, including upper respiratory infections (usually attributed to acute respiratory viral infection), at rates similar to placebo groups (111-113), and CF patients experiencing acute upper or lower respiratory infections have also been excluded from trials on the basis that this could confound results, although this practice may limit knowledge of the impact of these drugs during infection (113).

In vitro studies of ivacaftor, whose structure resembles that of quinolone antibiotics, found that ivacaftor has dose-dependent antibacterial activity against *S. aureus* and *S. pneumoniae* clinical isolates, and synergy of ivacaftor and the anti-Gram positive antibiotic vancomycin was observed (114). Ivacaftor was also observed to have a milder antimicrobial effect toward *P. aeruginosa* that was improved in combination with the anti-pseudomonal antibiotic ciprofloxacin. These results suggest that in addition to the intended ability of CFTR modulators to improve CFTR production and function, these treatments could have the added benefit of helping to reduce certain bacterial populations in the CF airways.

Studies evaluating changes in the airway microbiome of CF patients undergoing CFTR modulator therapies can begin to inform us if the above observed properties of CFTR modulators translate to the clinic. A small study using quantitative PCR and 16S sequencing to evaluate the microbiome of three CF children undergoing ivacaftor treatment found no significance in overall bacterial burden or bacterial genera represented prior to and following treatment, and individual patients' microbiomes pre- and post-treatment were found to be more similar than treated vs. non-treated microbiomes across all patients (115). Recent work evaluating CF adults showed that ivacaftor treatment reduced P. aeruginosa and overall bacterial density in sputum samples, yet despite immediate effects, the same clonal isolates of P. aeruginosa sampled prior to treatment persisted in the airways of CF patients after ivacaftor (116). Inflammatory markers in patient sputum were found to be decreased in patients through mass spectrometry analysis of sputum proteins, and a separate study unexpectedly found that ivacaftor treatment dampened the interferongamma response and impaired monocyte recruitment, effects that modulate immune responses in the respiratory tract and could potentially influence disease outcome (117). Trials conducted in adult populations, many of whom are already chronically colonized with P. aeruginosa, do not allow for evaluation of the potential impact of CFTR modulators in preventing P. aeruginosa acquisition. Initiating new studies in younger patient populations following modulator treatment and following patients that begin treatment culturing P. aeruginosanegative for longer periods of time post-treatment will be important to address the question of whether CFTR modulators impact P. aeruginosa acquisition. No specific effects of CFTR modulators on viral-bacterial co-infections have been reported to date, and valuable information could be gained from testing for the presence of specific respiratory viruses in patients undergoing modulator therapy, along with measuring changes in bacterial microbiome constituents. The above described effects of CFTR modulators on specific bacterial pathogens and the host immune response suggest co-infections will likely be impacted by such therapies and warrant further study.

# NEW TECHNIQUES FOR EVALUATION OF VIRAL-BACTERIAL CO-INFECTIONS

Traditional means of diagnosing viral and bacterial infections through specific PCR panels or culture-based techniques, respectively, have provided the majority of our current knowledge regarding which microbes comprise the CF respiratory microbiome and can be considered pathogens in the CF airways. However, as previously mentioned, these methods of identification are limited, as each requires prior knowledge of which viruses to screen for or which bacteria to culture, and therefore we may be underestimating the number of species that exist in the airway environment and the impact they have on CF respiratory disease. The recent trend toward 16S studies has identified additional members of the bacterial microbial community, and the application of new techniques such as metagenomics, metatranscriptomics, and metabolomics to the study of the CF microbiome may begin to reveal previously unknown roles for new microbial species and offer unprecedented insight into their functions in the CF respiratory tract.

### Metagenomics and Metatranscriptomics

Metagenomic studies evaluating the total genomic content of samples have great potential to identify a broader range of viruses and other microbes in CF, in addition to bacterial species. Such evaluations are technically challenging from a computational standpoint, and to date, few metagenomic studies have been published applying this technique to the study of viromes in CF populations. While RNA viruses have been the most appreciated viruses in causing acute respiratory infections in CF, a metagenomic study evaluating DNA viruses identified genomes of herpesviruses, and retroviruses in CF sputum and found overall eukaryotic viral diversity was low in both CF and non-CF individuals (118). The majority of viral diversity in airway microbial communities was found to be derived from populations of bacteriophage, with CF phage communities being more similar to one another than non-CF phage, and indicative of the dominant bacterial species residing in the CF airways that comprise the host range of the phage (118, 119). Although phage are not traditionally thought of as viruses that impact human health, recent work has shown that phage affect P. aeruginosa biofilm assembly and promote survival of bacteria in biofilms by enhancing adhesion and tolerance to antibiotics (120), and the role of phage in promoting a healthy microbiome in other organ systems, namely the gastrointestinal tract, has been a rapidly growing area of research outside of CF (121, 122). Going further, functional genomic analyses that consider the predicted functions of all genes present in the total DNA from a sample predicted the viromes of CF patients had a separate set of core metabolic functions compared to healthy subjects (118), with enrichment of genes for metabolizing aromatic amino acids. This suggests the host organisms of these phage have a specialized metabolism specific to CF disease, and the genes carried by phage represent factors necessary for survival in the CF airways.

Similar to metagenomics, metatranscriptomics is the analysis of the total RNA content of a sample and can thus account

for changes in expression of host and microbial genes. To date, limited metatranscriptomics studies have been performed evaluating both host and pathogen gene expression in the same sample. In a mouse model of acute P. aeruginosa infection, metatranscriptomics revealed genes related to P. aeruginosa outer membrane vesicle production, and iron uptake and utilization were significantly upregulated, indicating the importance of iron-mediated regulation and scavenging in vivo (123). In infected mice, expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines associated with toll-like receptor signaling were induced. Recent dual-RNA sequencing experiments from our group show polarized CF airway cells and S. aureus exhibit altered transcriptional profiles during co-culture in the presence of RSV co-infection (76). In CF cells, differences in innate immune and inflammatory signaling were observed in the presence of RSV, S. aureus or viral-bacterial co-infection, and S. aureus exhibited an altered metabolic transcriptional profile during virus co-infection, with upregulation of genes for cofactor biosynthesis and amino acid utilization, perhaps reflecting altered availability of protein substrates in the airway surface liquid of virus-infected CF cells. The use of next-generation sequencing approaches is expanding, and these techniques as applied to CF in future studies will no doubt expand our view of viruses and other underappreciated microbes that exist in the CF airways.

### **Metabolomics**

Supplementing metagenomic studies that identify which microbial species are present in the airways, metabolomics studies can account for microbial and host-derived metabolites and proteins. For studies of biological samples, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) is often used to identify small molecules, and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) can be applied to identify sequences of individual peptides for proteomic analysis in complex samples (124).

A novel application of MS techniques is analysis of volatile compounds found in breath to diagnose infections. Volatile compounds produced during microbial metabolism can provide species-specific signatures based on knowledge of individual species' metabolic capabilities from genome sequences, and variation in volatile compound production can be an indicator of compounds available for use in the environment. Early studies in CF utilized the knowledge that P. aeruginosa produces cyanide, and using cyanide as a biomarker, selected ion flow mass spectrometry (SIFT-MS) was able to identify the presence of P. aeruginosa in the airways by sampling the breath of infected CF patients (125, 126). Later studies showed that beyond identifying presence of a specific molecule, groups of P. aeruginosa-colonized CF patients could be differentiated from non-colonized CF patients based on overall volatile breath profiles (127). Using genomic data available for other CF-related bacterial species to predict organisms capable of producing specific volatile compounds, high levels of acetaldehyde, ethanol, and methanol in CF subjects' breath were linked to Lactococcus, Escherichia and Rothia species, respectively (128), confirming that metabolic predictions based on genetic sequence could translate to positive identification in patient samples for species other than *P. aeruginosa*.

Translating breath detection to bench studies, a volatile fingerprint could be identified for CF airway cells co-cultured with P. aeruginosa (129). Evaluating RSV-P. aeruginosa coinfections in CF airway cells, different levels of volatile compounds were found to be produced during co-infection rather than infection with either P. aeruginosa or RSV alone, and predictive models were able to discriminate P. aeruginosainfected cells, but not cells undergoing only RSV infection (129). Breath diagnosis could prove to be a quick, non-invasive, and culture-independent means for diagnosing the presence of CF pathogens, and with additional knowledge of the links between overall metabolic state and respiratory function, breath testing could serve as an indicator of a stable or exacerbating CF airway environment. The prospect of using breath analysis to identify a virus co-infection is intriguing, and in vitro studies require further investigation and translation into CF patients undergoing respiratory viral infections to confirm specific volatile signatures for co-infections.

In summary, the individual roles of bacterial and viral infections in CF respiratory disease have long been appreciated, and independently, viral infections, and chronic bacterial infections are known to influence pulmonary exacerbations and progression of respiratory function decline. Now, advances in sequencing technology have facilitated our understanding of the complexity of the microbial communities in the CF airways, bringing to light new interactions between bacteria and viruses in the airways that suggest microbial population dynamics and interplay between microbes and the host, and not just the presence of known pathogens, could be the true drivers of CF respiratory disease. While metabolomics has not vet been used to evaluate differences in metabolite profiles in CF patients with respiratory viral infections or viral-bacterial coinfections, the technology used in the above described studies provide an exciting window into potential host- and bacterialassociated changes in metabolism that likely accompany coinfections. Expanding the use of such new technologies in clinical and basic CF research will undoubtedly allow us to better understand these microbe-microbe and microbe-host interactions, improving our ability to more accurately diagnose and treat respiratory infections in CF patients and informing us of underlying mechanisms of microbial pathogenesis in the CF respiratory tract.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MK and JB conceptualized and wrote the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work was provided by NIH R01HL123771, NIH R61HL137077, and CFF BOMBER14G0 to JB, and CFF KIEDR01F5, CFF KIEDR017F0, and NIH T32AI049820 to MK.

# REFERENCES

- Rommens JM, Iannuzzi MC, Kerem B, Drumm ML, Melmer G, Dean M, et al. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: chromosome walking and jumping. *Science* (1989) 245:1059–65. doi: 10.1126/science.2772657
- Welsh MJ, Smith AE. Molecular mechanisms of CFTR chloride channel dysfunction in cystic fibrosis. *Cell* (1993) 73:1251–4. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90353-R
- Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. 2015 CFF Patient Registry Annual Data Report. (2016). 1–94.
- Rowntree RK, Harris A. The phenotypic consequences of CFTR mutations. *Ann Hum Genet.* (2003) 67:471–85. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-1809.2003.00028.x
- Nichols D, Chmiel J, Berger M. Chronic inflammation in the cystic fibrosis lung: alterations in inter- and intracellular signaling. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2008) 34:146–62. doi: 10.1007/s12016-007-8039-9
- Gifford AM, Chalmers JD. The role of neutrophils in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Hematol. (2014) 21:16–22. doi: 10.1097/MOH.00000000000009
- Pezzulo AA, Tang XX, Hoegger MJ, Alaiwa MHA, Ramachandran S, Moninger TO, et al. Reduced airway surface pH impairs bacterial killing in the porcine cystic fibrosis lung. *Nature* (2012) 487:109–13. doi: 10.1038/nature11130
- Quinton PM. Role of epithelial HCO3? transport in mucin secretion: lessons from cystic fibrosis. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* (2010) 299:C1222–33. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00362.2010
- Singh PK, Tack BF, McCray PB, Welsh MJ. Synergistic and additive killing by antimicrobial factors found in human airway surface liquid. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2000) 279:L799–805. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.2000.279.5.L799
- Nguyen LDN, Viscogliosi E, Delhaes L. The lung mycobiome: an emerging field of the human respiratory microbiome. *Front Microbiol.* (2015) 6:89. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00089
- 11. Surette MG. The cystic fibrosis lung microbiome. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2014) 11 (Suppl. 1):S61–5. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201306-159MG
- Recommendations of the Clinical Subcommittee of the Medical/Scientific Advisory Committee of the Canadian Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Microbiological processing of respiratory specimens from patients with cystic fibrosis. *Can J Infect Dis.* (1993) 4:166–9. doi: 10.1155/1993/9 89086
- Muyzer G, de Waal EC, Uitterlinden AG. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. *Appli Environ Microbiol.* (1993) 59:695–700.
- Mahboubi MA, Carmody LA, Foster BK, Kalikin LM, VanDevanter DR, LiPuma JJ. Culture-based and culture-independent bacteriologic analysis of cystic fibrosis respiratory specimens. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2016) 54:613–9. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02299-15
- Sibley CD, Grinwis ME, Field TR, Eshaghurshan CS, Faria MM, Dowd SE, et al. Culture enriched molecular profiling of the cystic fibrosis airway microbiome. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e22702. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022702
- Zemanick ET, Sagel SD, Harris JK. The airway microbiome in cystic fibrosis and implications for treatment. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2011) 23:319–24. doi: 10.1097/MOP.0b013e32834604f2
- Coburn B, Wang PW, Diaz Caballero J, Clark ST, Brahma V, Donaldson S, et al. Lung microbiota across age and disease stage in cystic fibrosis. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:10241. doi: 10.1038/srep10241
- Filkins LM, Hampton TH, Gifford AH, Gross MJ, Hogan DA, Sogin ML, et al. Prevalence of streptococci and increased polymicrobial diversity associated with cystic fibrosis patient stability. *J Bacteriol.* (2012) 194:4709– 17. doi: 10.1128/JB.00566-12
- Cox MJ, Allgaier M, Taylor B, Baek MS, Huang YJ, Daly RA, et al. Airway microbiota and pathogen abundance in age-stratified cystic fibrosis patients. *PLoS ONE* (2010) 5:e11044. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011044
- Fodor AA, Klem ER, Gilpin DF, Elborn JS, Boucher RC, Tunney MM, et al. The adult cystic fibrosis airway microbiota is stable over time and infection type, and highly resilient to antibiotic treatment of exacerbations. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e45001. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0045001
- 21. Smith DJ, Badrick AC, Zakrzewski M, Krause L, Bell SC, Anderson GJ, et al. Pyrosequencing reveals transient cystic fibrosis lung microbiome

changes with intravenous antibiotics. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 44:922–30. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00203013

- Scoffield JA, Wu H. Oral streptococci and nitrite-mediated interference of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Infect Immun*. (2015) 83:101–7. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02396-14
- Scoffield JA, Wu H. Nitrite reductase is critical for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* survival during co-infection with the oral commensal *Streptococcus parasanguinis*. *Microbiology* (2016) 162:376–83. doi: 10.1099/mic.0. 000226
- Scoffield JA, Duan D, Zhu F, Wu H. A commensal streptococcus hijacks a *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* exopolysaccharide to promote biofilm formation. *PLoS Pathog.* (2017) 13:e1006300. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006300
- Conrad D, Haynes M, Salamon P, Rainey PB, Youle M, Rohwer F. Cystic fibrosis therapy: a community ecology perspective. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2013) 48:150–6. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2012-0059PS
- Sherrard LJ, Tunney MM, Elborn JS. Antimicrobial resistance in the respiratory microbiota of people with cystic fibrosis. *Lancet* (2014) 384:703– 13. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61137-5
- Kerem E, Viviani L, Zolin A, MacNeill S, Hatziagorou E, Ellemunter H, et al. Factors associated with FEV1 decline in cystic fibrosis: analysis of the data of the ECFS patient registry. *Eur Respir J.* (2013) 43:125–33. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00166412
- Goss CH, Muhlebach MS. Review: Staphylococcus aureus and MRSA in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. (2011) 10:298–306. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2011.06.002
- Dalbøge CS, Hansen CR, Pressler T, Høiby N, Johansen HK. Chronic pulmonary infection with *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* and lung function in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. (2011) 10:318–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2011.03.006
- Costerton JW. Cystic fibrosis pathogenesis and the role of biofilms in persistent infection. *Trends Microbiol.* (2001) 9:50–2. doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(00)01918-1
- Heijerman H. Infection and inflammation in cystic fibrosis: a short review. J Cyst Fibros. (2005) 4 (Suppl. 2):3–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2005.05.005
- Lyczak JB, Cannon CL, Pier GB. Lung infections associated with cystic fibrosis. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2002) 15:194–222. doi: 10.1128/CMR.15.2.194-222.2002
- Armstrong D, Grimwood K, Carlin JB, Carzino R, Hull J, Olinsky A, et al. Severe viral respiratory infections in infants with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (1998) 26:371–9.
- Wat D, Doull I. Respiratory virus infections in cystic fibrosis. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* (2003) 4:172–7. doi: 10.1016/S1526-0542(03)00059-9
- Collinson J, Nicholson KG, Cancio E, Ashman J, Ireland DC, Hammersley V, et al. Effects of upper respiratory tract infections in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* (1996) 51:1115–22. doi: 10.1136/thx.51.11.1115
- Smyth AR, Smyth RL, Tong CY, Hart CA, Heaf DP. Effect of respiratory virus infections including rhinovirus on clinical status in cystic fibrosis. *Arch Dis Child*. (1995) 73:117–20. doi: 10.1136/adc.73.2.117
- Simoes EA. Respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Lancet* (1999) 354:847–52. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(99)80040-3
- Abman SH, Ogle JW, Butler-Simon N, Rumack CM, Accurso FJ. Role of respiratory syncytial virus in early hospitalizations for respiratory distress of young infants with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. (1988) 113:826–30. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(88)80008-8
- Rosenfeld M, Emerson J, Williams-Warren J, Pepe M, Smith A, Montgomery AB, et al. Defining a pulmonary exacerbation in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr. (2001) 139:359–65. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2001.117288
- 40. Goss CH, Burns JL. Exacerbations in cystic fibrosis. 1: Epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Thorax* (2007) 62:360–7. doi: 10.1136/thx.2006.060889
- Smyth A, Elborn JS. Exacerbations in cystic fibrosis: 3 management. *Thorax* (2008) 63:180–4. doi: 10.1136/thx.2006.060905
- Hiatt PW, Grace SC, Kozinetz CA, Raboudi SH, Treece DG, Taber LH, et al. Effects of viral lower respiratory tract infection on lung function in infants with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatrics* (1999) 103:619–26. doi: 10.1542/peds.103.3.619
- Wang EE, Prober CG, Manson B, Corey M, Levison H. Association of respiratory viral infections with pulmonary deterioration in patients with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med. (1984) 311:1653–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198412273112602

- Johansen HK, Høiby N. Seasonal onset of initial colonisation and chronic infection with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in patients with cystic fibrosis in Denmark. *Thorax* (1992) 47:109–11. doi: 10.1136/thx.47.2.109
- van Ewijk BE, van der Zalm MM, Wolfs TFW, van der Ent CK. Viral respiratory infections in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. (2005) 4:31–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2005.05.011
- 46. van Ewijk BE, van der Zalm MM, Wolfs TFW, Fleer A, Kimpen JLL, Wilbrink B, et al. Prevalence and impact of respiratory viral infections in young children with cystic fibrosis: prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics* (2008) 122:1171–6. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-3139
- Asner S, Waters V, Solomon M, Yau Y, Richardson SE, Grasemann H, et al. Role of respiratory viruses in pulmonary exacerbations in children with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. (2012) 11:433–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2012.04.006
- Wark PAB, Tooze M, Cheese L, Whitehead B, Gibson PG, Wark KF, et al. Viral infections trigger exacerbations of cystic fibrosis in adults and children. *Eur Respir J.* (2012) 40:510–2. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00202311
- Flight WG, Bright-Thomas RJ, Tilston P, Mutton KJ, Guiver M, Morris J, et al. Incidence and clinical impact of respiratory viruses in adults with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* (2014) 69:247–53. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204000
- Goffard A, Lambert V, Salleron J, Herwegh S, Engelmann I, Pinel C, et al. Virus and cystic fibrosis: rhinoviruses are associated with exacerbations in adult patients. *J Clin Virol.* (2014) 60:147–53. doi:10.1016/j.jcv.2014.02.005
- 51. Schögler A, Kopf BS, Edwards MR, Johnston SL, Casaulta C, Kieninger E, et al. Novel antiviral properties of azithromycin in cystic fibrosis airway epithelial cells. *Eur Respir J.* (2015) 45:428–39. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00102014
- Schögler A, Stokes AB, Casaulta C, Regamey N, Edwards MR, Johnston SL, et al. Interferon response of the cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelium to major and minor group rhinovirus infection. *J Cyst Fibros.* (2016) 15:332–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2015.10.013
- Kieninger E, Singer F, Tapparel C, Alves MP, Latzin P, Tan H-L, et al. High rhinovirus burden in lower airways of children with cystic fibrosis. *Chest* (2013) 143:782–90. doi: 10.1378/chest.12-0954
- Dijkema JS, van Ewijk BE, Wilbrink B, Wolfs TFW, Kimpen JLL, van der Ent CK. Frequency and duration of rhinovirus infections in children with cystic fibrosis and healthy controls: a longitudinal cohort study. *Pediatr Infect Dis* J. (2016) 35:379–83. doi: 10.1097/INF.000000000001014
- Rynda-Apple A, Robinson KM, Alcorn JF. Influenza and bacterial superinfection: illuminating the immunologic mechanisms of disease. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:3764–70. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00298-15
- Shahangian A, Chow EK, Tian X, Kang JR, Ghaffari A, Liu SY, et al. Type I IFNs mediate development of postinfluenza bacterial pneumonia in mice. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:1910–20. doi: 10.1172/JCI35412
- 57. Lee B, Robinson KM, McHugh KJ, Scheller EV, Mandalapu S, Chen C, et al. Influenza-induced type I interferon enhances susceptibility to gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial pneumonia in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2015) 309:L158–67. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00338.2014
- Robinson KM, Choi S-M, McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Enelow RI, Kolls JK, et al. Influenza A exacerbates *Staphylococcus aureus* pneumonia by attenuating IL-1β production in mice. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:5153–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301237
- Kudva A, Scheller EV, Robinson KM, Crowe CR, Choi S-M, Slight SR, et al. Influenza A inhibits Th17-mediated host defense against bacterial pneumonia in mice. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:1666–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002194
- 60. McCullers JA. The co-pathogenesis of influenza viruses with bacteria in the lung. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2014) 12:252–62. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3231
- Sun K, Metzger DW. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-gamma during recovery from influenza infection. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:558–64. doi: 10.1038/nm1765
- Planet PJ, Parker D, Cohen TS, Smith H, Leon JD, Ryan C, et al. Lambda interferon restructures the nasal microbiome and increases susceptibility to *Staphylococcus aureus* superinfection. *mBio* (2016) 7:e01939–15. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01939-15
- 63. Tarabichi Y, Li K, Hu S, Nguyen C, Wang X, Elashoff D, et al. The administration of intranasal live attenuated influenza vaccine induces changes in the nasal microbiota and nasal epithelium gene expression profiles. *Microbiome* (2015) 3:74. doi: 10.1186/s40168-015-0133-2

- Carmody LA, Zhao J, Schloss PD, Petrosino JF, Murray S, Young VB, et al. Changes in cystic fibrosis airway microbiota at pulmonary exacerbation. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2013) 10:179–87. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201211-107OC
- Price KE, Hampton TH, Gifford AH, Dolben EL, Hogan DA, Morrison HG, et al. Unique microbial communities persist in individual cystic fibrosis patients throughout a clinical exacerbation. *Microbiome* (2013) 1:27. doi: 10.1186/2049-2618-1-27
- 66. Stressmann FA, Rogers GB, Marsh P, Lilley AK, Daniels TWV, Carroll MP, et al. Does bacterial density in cystic fibrosis sputum increase prior to pulmonary exacerbation? *J Cyst Fibros.* (2011) 10:357–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2011.05.002
- Chin M, De Zoysa M, Slinger R, Gaudet E, Vandemheen KL, Chan F, et al. Acute effects of viral respiratory tract infections on sputum bacterial density during CF pulmonary exacerbations. *J Cyst Fibros*. (2015) 14:482–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2014.11.009
- Esther CR, Lin FC, Kerr A, Miller MB, Gilligan PH. Respiratory viruses are associated with common respiratory pathogens in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2014) 49:926–31. doi: 10.1002/ppul.22917
- Miró-Cañís S, Capilla-Rubio S, Marzo-Checa L, Fontanals-Aymerich D, Sanfeliu-Sala I, Espasa-Soley M, et al. Multiplex PCR reveals that viruses are more frequent than bacteria in children with cystic fibrosis. *J Clin Virol.* (2017) 86:1–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2016.11.004
- Wat D, Gelder C, Hibbitts S, Cafferty F, Bowler I, Pierrepoint M, et al. The role of respiratory viruses in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros. (2008) 7:320–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2007.12.002
- Petersen NT, Høiby N, Mordhorst CH, Lind K, Flensborg EW, Bruun B. Respiratory infections in cystic fibrosis patients caused by virus, chlamydia and mycoplasma-possible synergism with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Acta Paediatr Scand. (1981) 70:623–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1981.tb05757.x
- Gruenert DC, Willems M, Cassiman JJ, Frizzell RA. Established cell lines used in cystic fibrosis research. J Cyst Fibros. (2004) 3 (Suppl 2):191–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2004.05.040
- Randell SH, Fulcher ML, O'Neal W, Olsen JC. Primary epithelial cell models for cystic fibrosis research. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2011) 742:285–310. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-120-8\_18
- 74. Hendricks MR, Lashua LP, Fischer DK, Flitter BA, Eichinger KM, Durbin JE, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection enhances *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm growth through dysregulation of nutritional immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:1642–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1516979113
- 75. van Ewijk BE, Wolfs TFW, Aerts PC, Van Kessel KPM, Fleer A, Kimpen JLL, et al. RSV mediates *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* binding to cystic fibrosis and normal epithelial cells. *Pediatr Res.* (2007) 61:398–403. doi: 10.1203/pdr.0b013e3180332d1c
- Kiedrowski MR, Gaston JR, Kocak BR, Coburn SL, Lee S, Pilewski JM, et al. *Staphylococcus* aureus biofilm growth on Cystic Fibrosis airway epithelial cells is enhanced during respiratory syncytial virus co-infection. *mSphere* (2018) 3:e00341–18. doi: 10.1128/mSphere.00341-18
- Hood MI, Skaar EP. Nutritional immunity: transition metals at the pathogen-host interface. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2012) 10:525–37. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2836
- Flo TH, Smith KD, Sato S, Rodriguez DJ, Holmes MA, Strong RK, et al. Lipocalin 2 mediates an innate immune response to bacterial infection by sequestrating iron. *Nature* (2004) 432:917–21. doi: 10.1038/nature03104
- Bruce SR, Atkins CL, Colasurdo GN, Alcorn JL. Respiratory syncytial virus infection alters surfactant protein A expression in human pulmonary epithelial cells by reducing translation efficiency. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2009) 297:L559–67. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.90507.2008
- Griese M. Respiratory syncytial virus and pulmonary surfactant. Viral Immunol. (2002) 15:357–63. doi: 10.1089/08828240260066279
- Numata M, Chu HW, Dakhama A, Voelker DR. Pulmonary surfactant phosphatidylglycerol inhibits respiratory syncytial virus-induced inflammation and infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:320–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0909361107
- Siegel SJ, Roche AM, Weiser JN. Influenza promotes pneumococcal growth during coinfection by providing host sialylated substrates as a nutrient source. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 16:55–67. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.06.005
- 83. Baños-Lara MDR, Piao B, Guerrero-Plata A. Differential mucin expression by respiratory syncytial virus and human metapneumovirus infection

in human epithelial cells. Mediators Inflamm. (2015) 2015:347292. doi: 10.1155/2015/347292

- 84. Currier MG, Lee S, Stobart CC, Hotard AL, Villenave R, Meng J, et al. EGFR interacts with the fusion protein of respiratory syncytial virus strain 2–20 and mediates infection and mucin expression. *PLoS Pathog* (2016) 12:e1005622. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005622
- Aristoteli LP, Willcox MDP. Mucin degradation mechanisms by distinct *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolates in vitro. Infect Immun. (2003) 71:5565–75. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.10.5565-5575.2003
- Flynn JM, Niccum D, Dunitz JM, Hunter RC. Evidence and role for bacterial mucin degradation in cystic fibrosis airway disease. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:e1005846. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005846
- Son MS, Matthews WJ, Kang Y, Nguyen DT, Hoang TT. In vivo evidence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa nutrient acquisition and pathogenesis in the lungs of cystic fibrosis patients. Infect Immun. (2007). 75:5313–24. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01807-06
- 88. Sun Z, Kang Y, Norris MH, Troyer RM, Son MS, Schweizer HP, et al. Blocking phosphatidylcholine utilization in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, via mutagenesis of fatty acid, glycerol and choline degradation pathways, confirms the importance of this nutrient source *in vivo*. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e103778. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0103778
- Chattoraj SS, Ganesan S, Faris A, Comstock A, Lee WM, Sajjan US. Pseudomonas aeruginosa suppresses interferon response to rhinovirus infection in Cystic fibrosis, but not in normal bronchial epithelial cells. Infect Immun. (2011) 79:4131–45. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05120-11
- 90. Dauletbaev N, Das M, Cammisano M, Chen H, Singh S, Kooi C, et al. Rhinovirus load is high despite preserved interferon-β response in cystic fibrosis bronchial epithelial cells. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0143129. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143129
- 91. Bomberger JM, Ely KH, Bangia N, Ye S, Green KA, Green WR, et al. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* Cif protein enhances the ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) and reduces major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I antigen presentation. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:152–62. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.459271
- Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Givskov M, Molin S, Ciofu O. Antibiotic resistance of bacterial biofilms. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* (2010) 35:322–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2009.12.011
- Lambert PA. Mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa. J R Soc Med. (2002) 95 (Suppl. 41):22–6.
- Melvin JA, Lashua LP, Kiedrowski MR, Yang G, Deslouches B, Montelaro RC, et al. Simultaneous antibiofilm and antiviral activities of an engineered antimicrobial peptide during virus-bacterium coinfection. *mSphere* (2016) 1:e00083–16. doi: 10.1128/mSphere.00083-16
- Champney WS, Burdine R. Macrolide antibiotics inhibit 50S ribosomal subunit assembly in *Bacillus subtilis* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (1995) 39:2141–4. doi: 10.1128/AAC.39.9.2141
- Amsden GW. Anti-inflammatory effects of macrolides–an underappreciated benefit in the treatment of community-acquired respiratory tract infections and chronic inflammatory pulmonary conditions? J Antimicrob Chemother. (2005) 55:10–21. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkh519
- Gielen V, Johnston SL, Edwards MR. Azithromycin induces anti-viral responses in bronchial epithelial cells. *Eur Respir J.* (2010) 36:646–54. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00095809
- Suzuki T, Yamaya M, Sekizawa K, Hosoda M, Yamada N, Ishizuka S, et al. Bafilomycin A1 inhibits rhinovirus infection in human airway epithelium: effects on endosome and ICAM-1. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2001) 280:L1115–27. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.2001.280.6.L1115
- 99. Jang YJ, Kwon H-J, Lee B-J. Effect of clarithromycin on rhinovirus-16 infection in A549 cells. *Eur Respir J.* (2006) 27:12–9. doi: 10.1183/09031936.06.00008005
- Phaff SJ, Tiddens HAWM, Verbrugh HA, Ott A. Macrolide resistance of Staphylococcus aureus and Haemophilus species associated with long-term azithromycin use in cystic fibrosis. J Antimicrob Chemother. (2006) 57:741–6. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkl014
- 101. Groothuis JR, Simoes EA, Levin MJ, Hall CB, Long CE, Rodriguez WJ, et al. Prophylactic administration of respiratory syncytial virus immune globulin to high-risk infants and young children. *The respiratory syncytial*

virus immune globulin study group. N Engl J Med. (1993) 329:1524–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199311183292102

- 102. Null DM, Bimle C, Weisman LE, Johnson K, Steichen J, Singh S, et al. Palivizumab, a humanized respiratory syncytial virus monoclonal antibody, reduces hospitalization from respiratory syncytial virus infection in high-risk infants. *Pediatrics* (1998) 102:531–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.102.3.531
- 103. Giebels K, Marcotte JE, Podoba J, Rousseau C, Denis MH, Fauvel V, et al. Prophylaxis against respiratory syncytial virus in young children with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2008) 43:169–74. doi: 10.1002/ppul.20751
- 104. Bjornson C, Chan P, Li A, Paes B, Lanctôt KL, Mitchell I. Palivizumab prophylaxis for respiratory syncytial virus in infants with cystic fibrosis: is there a need? *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2018) 37:1113–8. doi: 10.1007/s10096-018-3225-7
- 105. Linnane B, Kiernan MG, O'Connell NH, Kearse L, Dunne CP. Anti-RSV prophylaxis efficacy for infants and young children with cystic fibrosis in Ireland. *Multidiscip Respir Med.* (2015) 10:32. doi: 10.1186/s40248-015-0029-9
- 106. McGirr AA, Schwartz KL, Allen U, Solomon M, Sander B. The costeffectiveness of palivizumab in infants with cystic fibrosis in the Canadian setting: a decision analysis model *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2017) 13:599– 606. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2016.1235670
- 107. Buchs C, Dalphin M-L, Sanchez S, Perceval M, Coutier L, Mainguy C, et al. Palivizumab prophylaxis in infants with cystic fibrosis does not delay first isolation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* or *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2017) 176:891–7. doi: 10.1007/s00431-017-2926-8
- 108. Groves HE, Jenkins L, Macfarlane M, Reid A, Lynn F, Shields MD. Efficacy and long-term outcomes of palivizumab prophylaxis to prevent respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants with cystic fibrosis in Northern Ireland. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2016) 51:379–85. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23376
- 109. Wainwright CE, Elborn JS, Ramsey BW, Marigowda G, Huang X, Cipolli M, et al. Lumacaftor-ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for Phe508del CFTR. N Engl J Med. (2015) 373:220–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1409547
- 110. Taylor-Cousar JL, Munck A, McKone EF, van der Ent CK, Moeller A, Simard C, et al. Tezacaftor-ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis homozygous for Phe508del. N Engl J Med. (2017) 377:2013–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709846
- 111. Boyle MP, Bell SC, Konstan MW, McColley SA, Rowe SM, Rietschel E, et al. A CFTR corrector (lumacaftor) and a CFTR potentiator (ivacaftor) for treatment of patients with cystic fibrosis who have a phe508del CFTR mutation: a phase 2 randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2014) 2:527–38. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70132-8
- 112. Clancy JP, Rowe SM, Accurso FJ, Aitken ML, Amin RS, Ashlock MA, et al. Results of a phase IIa study of VX-809, an investigational CFTR corrector compound, in subjects with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Thorax* (2012) 67:12–8. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-200393
- 113. Ratjen F, Hug C, Marigowda G, Tian S, Huang X, Stanojevic S, et al. Efficacy and safety of lumacaftor and ivacaftor in patients aged 6-11 years with cystic fibrosis homozygous for F508del-CFTR: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2017) 5:557–67. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(17)30215-1
- 114. Reznikov LR, Abou Alaiwa MH, Dohrn CL, Gansemer ND, Diekema DJ, Stoltz DA, et al. Antibacterial properties of the CFTR potentiator ivacaftor. J Cyst Fibros. (2014) 13:515–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2014.02.004
- 115. Bernarde C, Keravec M, Mounier J, Gouriou S, Rault G, Férec C, et al. Impact of the CFTR-potentiator ivacaftor on airway microbiota in cystic fibrosis patients carrying a G551D Mutation. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0124124. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124124
- 116. Hisert KB, Heltshe SL, Pope C, Jorth P, Wu X, Edwards RM, et al. Restoring cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator function reduces airway bacteria and inflammation in people with cystic fibrosis and chronic lung infections. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 195:1617–28. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201609-1954OC
- 117. Hisert KB, Schoenfelt KQ, Cooke G, Grogan B, Launspach JL, Gallagher CG, et al. Ivacaftor-induced proteomic changes suggest monocyte defects may contribute to the pathogenesis of cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 54:594–7. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2015-0322LE

- 118. Willner D, Furlan M, Haynes M, Schmieder R, Angly FE, Silva J, et al. Metagenomic analysis of respiratory tract DNA viral communities in cystic fibrosis and non-cystic fibrosis individuals. *PLoS ONE* (2009) 4:e7370. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007370
- 119. Lim YW, Schmieder R, Haynes M, Willner D, Furlan M, Youle M, et al. Metagenomics and metatranscriptomics: windows on CF-associated viral and microbial communities. J Cyst Fibros. (2013) 12:154–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2012.07.009
- 120. Secor PR, Sweere JM, Michaels LA, Malkovskiy AV, Lazzareschi D, Katznelson E, et al. Filamentous bacteriophage promote biofilm assembly and function. *Cell Host Microbe* (2015) 18:549–59. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.10.013
- 121. Manrique P, Bolduc B, Walk ST, van der Oost J, de Vos WM, Young MJ. Healthy human gut phageome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:10400–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1601060113
- 122. Manrique P, Dills M, Young M. The human gut phage community and its implications for health and disease. *Viruses* (2017) 9:141. doi: 10.3390/v9060141
- 123. Damron FH, Oglesby-Sherrouse AG, Wilks A, Barbier M. Dual-seq transcriptomics reveals the battle for iron during *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* acute murine pneumonia. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:39172. doi: 10.1038/srep39172
- 124. Zhou B, Xiao JF, Tuli L, Ressom HW. LC-MS-based metabolomics. *Mol BioSyst.* (2012) 8:470-81. doi: 10.1039/C1MB05350G
- 125. Gilchrist FJ, Bright-Thomas RJ, Jones AM, Smith D, Španěl P, Webb AK, et al. Hydrogen cyanide concentrations in the breath of adult cystic fibrosis patients with and without *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. J Breath Res. (2013) 7:026010. doi: 10.1088/1752-7155/7/2/ 026010

- 126. Gilchrist FJ, Belcher J, Jones AM, Smith D, Smyth AR, Southern KW, et al. Exhaled breath hydrogen cyanide as a marker of early *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa infection in children with cystic fibrosis. *ERJ Open Res.* (2015) 1:00044–2015. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00044-2015
- 127. Pabary R, Huang J, Kumar S, Alton EWFW, Bush A, Hanna GB, et al. Does mass spectrometric breath analysis detect *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in cystic fibrosis? *Eur Respir J.* (2016) 47:994–7. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00944 -2015
- 128. Bos LDJ, Meinardi S, Blake D, Whiteson K. Bacteria in the airways of patients with cystic fibrosis are genetically capable of producing VOCs in breath. J Breath Res. (2016) 10:047103. doi: 10.1088/1752-7163/10/4/ 047103
- 129. Purcaro G, Rees CA, Melvin JA, Bomberger JM, Hill JE. Volatile fingerprinting of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and respiratory syncytial virus infection in an *in vitro* cystic fibrosis co-infection model. *J Breath Res.* (2018) 12:046001. doi: 10.1088/1752-7163/aac2f1

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Kiedrowski and Bomberger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Using Lung Organoids to Investigate Epithelial Barrier Complexity and IL-17 Signaling During Respiratory Infection

Giuseppe Paolicelli<sup>1</sup>, Antonella De Luca<sup>1</sup>, Shyam S. Jose<sup>2</sup>, Martina Antonini<sup>1</sup>, Irene Teloni<sup>1</sup>, Jan Fric<sup>2†</sup> and Teresa Zelante<sup>2\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Center for Translational Medicine, International Clinical Research Centre, St. Anne's University Hospital Brno, Brno, Czechia

Keywords: IL-17 immunity, epithelial barrier, lung infection, Aspergillus fumigatus, lung organoids

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

François Trottein, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), France

### Reviewed by:

Nicolas Riteau, UMR7355 Immunologie et Neurogénétique Expérimentales et Moléculaires (INEM), France

> \*Correspondence: Teresa Zelante teresa.zelante@unipg.it

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 31 August 2018 Accepted: 07 February 2019 Published: 28 February 2019

#### Citation:

Paolicelli G, Luca AD, Jose SS, Antonini M, Teloni I, Fric J and Zelante T (2019) Using Lung Organoids to Investigate Epithelial Barrier Complexity and IL-17 Signaling During Respiratory Infection. Front. Immunol. 10:323. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00323 MICROBIAL CAUSES OF RESPIRATORY TRACT INFECTIONS

The respiratory system is the first point of contact with airborne microbial compounds. Consequently, lung mucosal immunity has been extensively studied to understand the mechanisms of host resistance to respiratory infections. The lungs exhibit highly active innate and adaptive mucosal immune mechanisms: they are infiltrated with a wide spectrum of immune cells in steady state and possess the capacity to recruit vast numbers of infiltrating cells upon infection or encounter with inflammatory stimuli. Despite the existence of such protective mechanisms, respiratory tract infections (RTIs) with epidemic and pandemic potential are one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide. In recent years, studies using new lung culture systems, such as air liquid interface (ALI), spheroids, tissue explants and advances in DNA sequencing technology have helped identify that the upper and lower respiratory tracts represent distinct biomes in terms of their commensal microorganism colonization, immune barriers and host defense mechanisms (1-3). Most lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs) cause bronchitis, bronchiolitis and pneumonia as a result of Streptococcus pneumonia or Haemophilus Influenzae infection. In children, respiratory viruses are responsible for an enormous amount of serious LRTIs (4, 5). In addition, most upper respiratory tract infections are of viral etiology (6). Fungal infections of the lower respiratory tract are also typically caused by pathogenic dimorphic fungi (7). In addition, opportunistic fungi as Aspergillus fumigatus commonly cause pneumonia. There is an extraordinary need to better understand human respiratory tract infections, as LRTI represent one of the ten most common causes of death in the world (8).

Technical limitations are inherent with pneumonia animal models and *in vitro* lung infections modeled using immortalized cell lines. In particular, for *in vivo* models, lung anatomy, namely the distribution of the bronchial glands, differs between rodents and humans, and complex processes such as mucus production, or organization of the epithelial barrier are not accurately reproduced experimentally. For *in vitro* lung infections, it is not possible to reproduce *in vivo*-like architecture, the microenvironment, the pulmonary cell complexity in composition. Moreover, bronchial epithelial cells lack cilia and tight junctions. Although lung epithelial barrier cell signaling is today more deeply understood, it has still not been fully evaluated in reproducible lung infection models.

Recent advances in the stem-cell field, including the generation of protocols allowing tissue differentiation from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), have provided new opportunities to study host-pathogen interactions in a human experimental system that maintains controlled tissue complexity. For this reason, recently developed techniques now allow for innovative and more

141

meaningful investigations of 3D human lung tissue. Here we outline the complexity of the epithelial barrier to opportunistic microbes and the new 2D and 3D lung models of infection, and explain how these models may be used to improve our knowledge on epithelial cell signaling events upon infection.

# COMPLEXITY OF THE LUNG EPITHELIAL BARRIER

Epithelial cells represent the first point of contact for opportunistic microbes or pathogens in the respiratory tract (9). The lung mucosa senses infection through pattern recognition receptors expressed by the airway epithelia (10-12), alveolar cells (13, 14), and mesenchymal stem cells (15, 16). Several cell types then orchestrate mucosal barrier immunity: club cells, ciliated cells, basal cells, goblet cells and neuroendocrine cells as tuft cells decorate the proximal airways, while type-1 and type-2 alveolar cells populate the distal epithelium. The lungs can also be divided into a conducting zone and a respiratory zone, which are populated by different progenitor cell types. The conducting zone is abundant in basal cells (17, 18), airway secretory club cells and lineage-negative epithelial cells (18). The respiratory zone is mainly populated by alveolar type II cells (AEC II) that can proliferate and act as progenitor cells, replacing AECII and AECI cells (19).

The complex barrier functions executed by the lung epithelial layer, including mucociliary clearance and antimicrobial production, cooperate to clear inhaled pathogens. Unsurprisingly, gaining a clear understanding of the lung epithelial barrier has been restrained by this described complexity of the lung organization and its underlying cell types. Early research strategies based on immortalized airway epithelial cells or lung primary cells thus may not replicate the conditions where inhaled microorganisms become pathogens that trigger infections.

# DEVELOPING 2D AND 3D TOOLS TO MIMIC LUNG STRUCTURE

In vivo lung epithelial barrier experiments are challenging: dissecting the roles of individual cell types is complex due to the heterogeneity of the lung and the lack of specific cell markers. Much research has thus utilized the 2D ALI system and immortalized, lung cancer-derived cell culture approaches to study airway epithelial barrier-pathogen interactions in vitro (20, 21). The ALI system has been successfully used to differentiate progenitor cells, such as primary bronchial epithelial cells, into the corresponding airway tract upon exposure to the appropriate culture conditions (22). For example, basal cells cultured in an ALI system, can differentiate into a pseudo-stratified epithelium containing ciliated, goblet and basal cells (23). So far, this method has helped elucidate the transcriptomic profile of basal cells (24) and the impact of virus-infected basal cells on epithelium development (25). The limits of these "conventional" approaches, however, are namely the lack of tissue architecture; indeed, they are not able to faithfully recapitulate the phenotypic and morphological characteristics of the native epithelium (**Table 1**).

To overcome such limitations of the ALI 2D system, an ALI 3D culture system has been developed, in which human bronchial epithelial cells are cultured on a permeable membrane submerged in media supplemented with stromal cells or growth factors (26).

A precursor to lung organoid culture was the development of a "Lung-on-a-Chip": a microphysciological device that replicates on a chip the functional unit of the breathing lung. This system is based on communication between alveolar and endothelial cells through a microporous elastomeric membrane. The alveolar cells located in the upper chamber, are exposed to air and fed by endothelial cells grown in the bottom layer. Although this Lung-on-a-Chip system has been used for drug discovery and toxicology studies (27), it is not possible to recreate the lung architecture, which has a central role in various physiological functions (**Table 1**) (28).

Over the past 15 years, new in vitro strategies have facilitated the production of miniature 3D structures, known as "mini organs" or organoids. Organoids are multi-cellular, stem-cellderived systems in which cells spontaneously self-organize into properly differentiated, functional cell types that resemble in vivo counterparts and recapitulate the key features of the entire organ (Table 1). Organoids can help dissecting the role of individual cell types because are deprived of immune cells and endothelial cells. The overall approach is based on using hydrogels containing a gelatinous mixture, such as laminin and collagen, to mimic the extracellular matrix and self-organizing iPSCs. The human adult lung stem cells that are essential for epithelial renewal and tissue repair have proven capable of generating such 3D human lung organoids when cultured in the appropriate differentiating conditions. Adult stem cells, once isolated from the peripheral tissue, are usually cultured in enriched medium in the presence of a hydrogel scaffold that provides structural support and mediates instructive signaling for cell polarization, retention and mobilization. This organoid medium needs to be changed every 4 days, and the organoids must be passaged every 2 weeks. After 3 weeks of culture, starting from adult stem cells, the first small organoids reproduce the faithful microanatomy of the lung and recapitulate some specific lung functions (Figure 1) (29). The protocols using human tissue stem cells and iPSCs have been developed further to study organ-related pathologies and ontogeny (30-32). Over the past decade, although lung organoids have been used for much translational research, such as lung engraftment (33), the main application has been in vitro disease modeling.

# **USING ORGANOIDS TO MODEL RTIS**

Access to the organoid lumen for experimental perturbation is challenging; thus, many researchers add bacteria to the supernatants of organoid-derived 2D cultures to monitor host-pathogen interactions. Cutting-edge technologies, however, now permit microinjection of microbes into the organoid lumen (34), allowing host-microbiota interplay within the 3D structure. More recently, a high-throughtput organoid microinjector system has been developed that can deliver microbial communities into the organoid lumen (35).

The first tissue 3D organoid models used to study hostpathogen interactions were intestinal organoids (36). To date, lung organoids have been used in microbial infection studies to understand the molecular mechanisms of epithelial renewal upon viral infection (37) and to study the cytokine profile released in response to pattern recognition receptor activation by Pseudomonas aeruginosa (38). Here, wild-type and transgenic lung organoids were treated with bacterial flagellar hook proteins eliciting IL-1B and IL-6 release (38). Another study using organoids infected with Cryptosporidium oocytes provided deep understanding of the microbial life cycle and showed that the parasite is able to infect secretory and non-secretory cells, triggering the Type I interferon release from epithelial cells (39). Of note, even though organoids have reproduced the 3D lung architecture during infection, a role for immune cells has not yet been evaluated.

While the above-mentioned studies have been based on the use of 3D organoids differentiated from murine adult stem cells, several efforts are ongoing to generate organoids from immature lung epithelial and iPSCs. iPSCs are obtained by transfecting and reprogramming adult somatic cells with pluripotency transcription factors (40).

As well as studying host-pathogen interactions, lung organoids have proven valuable in understanding cystic fibrosis pathology (41, 42). Here, major breakthroughs have been achieved through using iPSCs derived from patients carrying genetic mutations to generate organoids. These organoids modeling cystic fibrosis have permitted drug testing directly on patient cells with affected organ properties (43). Further studies that aim to elucidate the molecular nature of the protective immune barriers in the lower and upper respiratory tracts will rapidly advance the rational design of novel therapeutics targeting such important diseases. Future studies using patient-specific organoids may permit bio-banking and the development of personalized medicines and targeted therapies for opportunistic pulmonary infections.

# USING LUNG ORGANOIDS TO DELINEATE IL-17R SIGNALING IN EPITHELIAL LUNG CELLS

Recent studies have identified the importance and complexity of interleukin-17 receptor (IL-17R) signaling by lung epithelial cells and highlighted the need for deeper investigations into the regulatory network activated by IL-17 cytokines in acute or chronic inflammation. Thus far, studies have shown that high IL-17R expression on lung epithelial cells has a prominent role in the innate immune defense against pulmonary fungal pathogens, including Blastomyces dermatitidis (44) and Aspergillus fumigatus (45). These epithelial cells may orchestrate innate antifungal immunity by first up-regulating the number of lymphocytes that secrete interleukin-17A (IL-17A) and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (44). They then respond to secreted IL-17 via the IL-17R, which regulates the secretion of antimicrobial peptides and chemokines that recruit neutrophils. IL-17R expressed on lung club cells orchestrates neutrophil recruitment and Klebsiella pneumonia resistance (46).

IL-17A and IL-17F homodimers both bind the IL-17R subunits IL-17RA and IL-17RC (47–49).

Also, the human IL-17A/F heterodimer may bind the complex IL-17R (50) since it may mimic the IL-17A as well as IL-17F behaving as a two-face cytokine. During *Aspergillus* fungal infection, the fungus increases IL-17F expression, which subsequently induces IL-33 and IL-17RC expression on lung epithelial cells, especially in the context of IL-17RA deficiency (45).

A polarized lung epithelium is required for IL-17R expression and innate immune functions, such as mucus production (51). Because organoid cultures recapitulate tissue polarity, they thus provide an exciting possibility of using lung organoids to comprehensively investigate IL-17R signaling in the lung. Improving our understanding of IL-17R signaling by lung epithelial cells is likely to offer new opportunities to develop and test therapeutics for inflammatory diseases and identify new molecular targets to improve resistance to infections. Such

TABLE T Companison between advanced cen culture techniques for long intection studies.		
Tecnique	Advantage	Disadvantage
Air Liquid Interface	Easy to use protocol	Not <i>in vivo</i> -like architecture
	High reproducibility	Lack of morphological characteristics of the native epithelium
	Compliant with high-troughtput screening (HTS)/ High Content Screening (HCS)	
	Patient specific	
	Low cost system	
Lung-on-a-Chip	Physiological environment (perfusion, stretch)	Not adaptable to HTS
	Alveolar-capillary interface	High cost
	Surfactant production and electrical resistance	Difficult to manufacture
Lung organoids	in vivo-like complexity and architecture	Lack of vascolature and immune cells
	Histological structures and function of native tissue	Require meticulous maintenance
	Scalable to different plate format	
	High reproducibility	
	Compliant with HTS/HCS	
	Patient specific	

 TABLE 1 | Comparison between advanced cell culture techniques for lung infection studies.


**FIGURE 1** | Models of 3D lung organoid infections. Lung organoids can be developed from iPSCs or adult stem cells (upper panel). (**A**) iPSCs derived lung organoids: cells are differentiated into endoderm by Activin A and further to anterior foregut followed by lung progenitor spheroids through the activation and inhibition of several signaling pathways. The progenitor spheroids are further embedded in matrigel to develop 3D lung organoids when supplemented with appropriate growth factors, which resemble lung tissue in morphology and function. They form the bronchial and alveolar like domains of the lungs and has both functional (epithelial cells) and supportive (basal mesenchymal cells) pulmonary tissue. (**B**) Adult lung progenitor cells can form spheroids, which can be further cultured on ALI to mimic lung environment. Spheroids do not form the exact morphology and lack some of the functional cell types. They can either form alveolar or bronchial branch based on various protocols, some of them require co-culture with support cells. (**C**) In the lower panel, the description of an experimental model of RTIs where lung organoids derived from different genotypes may be injected with Aspergillus fumigatus. The model may be used to study IL-17R signaling pathways in 3D system where the complex role of IL-17F may be studied. FGF-4 (Fibroblast growth factor 4); GSK3 (Glycogen synthase kinase 3); TGF-β (Transforming growth factor beta 1).

work is important given that human studies have demonstrated the importance of IL-17-driven immunity in LRTI infections, with mutations in IL-17RA or IL-17RC conferring increased susceptibility to RTIs (52, 53). In addition, the immune-free organoid microenvironment favors IL-17RC signaling studies, as epithelial cells express high levels of IL-17RC compared to immune cells; furthermore, the best characterized IL-17Atargeted cells are non-immune cells, including epithelial cells and mesenchymal cells of the lung (51).

Another important area of research in which lung organoids are anticipated to be of value is in deciphering IL-17F function in asthma. It is produced by multiple cell types including bronchial epithelial cells. IL-17F mediates asthma *via* IL-17R binding on bronchial epithelial cells, eosinophils, fibroblasts and airway smooth muscle cells (54). A certain extent of pulmonary IL-17F, however, is also released by immune cells, which are not differentiated in 3D-organoids. This limitation may be compensated by using exogenous IL-17F or by coculturing organoids with IL-17F-producing cells. It would be interesting to study the independent role of epithelial IL-17F in modulating airway remodeling, asthma and steroid resistance in 3D cultures. In addition, transgenic lung organoids for IL-17R subunits expression may be useful to better disentangle IL-17F receptor signaling (**Figure 1**). The need to elucidate the function of the receptor subunits comes from the evidence that IL-17RA or IL-17RC mutations have been also described in human fungal infections (52, 53). Clearly, there is a need to recapitulate the 3D structure of lung organoids with the appropriate cell mixture in order to properly investigate pulmonary intercellular networks and immune receptor signaling pathways as IL-17R.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GP, AL, MA, IT, and SSJ critically read, analyzed, and discussed the literature and conceived the outline of the manuscript. JF and TZ wrote the manuscript. All the authors edited the manuscript and provided valuable discussions and criticisms.

#### FUNDING

This research was supported by European Social Fund and European Regional Development Fund—Project MAGNET

#### REFERENCES

- Dickson RP. The microbiome and critical illness. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2016) 4:59–72. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(15)00427-0
- Zscheppang K, Berg J, Hedtrich S, Verheyen L, Wagner DE, Suttorp N, et al. Human pulmonary 3D models for translational research. *Biotechnol J.* (2018) 13:1700341. doi: 10.1002/biot.201700341
- Moffatt MF, Cookson WO. The lung microbiome in health and disease. *Clin* Med. (2017) 17:525–9. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.17-6-525
- Pavia AT. Viral infections of the lower respiratory tract: old viruses, new viruses, and the role of diagnosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2011) 52(Suppl. 4):S284–9. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir043
- de Benedictis FM, Bush A. Recurrent lower respiratory tract infections in children. *BMJ*. (2018) 362:k2698. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k2698
- Hijano DR, Maron G, Hayden RT. Respiratory viral infections in patients with cancer or undergoing hematopoietic cell transplant. *Front Microbiol.* (2018) 9:3097. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.03097
- Nemecek JC, Wüthrich M, Klein BS. Global control of dimorphism and virulence in fungi. Science. (2006) 312:583–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1124105
- 8. Reddy KS. Global burden of disease study 2015 provides GPS for global health 2030. *Lancet.* (2016) 388:1448–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31743-3
- 9. Whitsett JA, Alenghat T. Respiratory epithelial cells orchestrate pulmonary innate immunity. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:27–35. doi: 10.1038/ni.3045
- Hauber HP, Tulic MK, Tsicopoulos A, Wallaert B, Olivenstein R, Daigneault P, et al. Toll-like receptors 4 and 2 expression in the bronchial mucosa of patients with cystic fibrosis. *Can Respir J.* (2005) 12:13–8. doi: 10.1155/2005/648984
- Muir A, Soong G, Sokol S, Reddy B, Gomez MI, Van Heeckeren A, et al. Tolllike receptors in normal and cystic fibrosis airway epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2004) 30:777–83. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2003-0329OC
- Sha Q, Truong-Tran AQ, Plitt JR, Beck LA, Schleimer RP. Activation of airway epithelial cells by toll-like receptor agonists. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2004) 31:358–64. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2003-03880C
- Armstrong L, Medford AR, Uppington KM, Robertson J, Witherden IR, Tetley TD, et al. Expression of functional toll-like receptor-2 and-4 on alveolar epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2004) 31:241–5. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2004-0078OC
- Ritter M, Mennerich D, Weith A, Seither P. Characterization of Toll-like receptors in primary lung epithelial cells: strong impact of the TLR3 ligand poly(I:C) on the regulation of Toll-like receptors, adaptor proteins and inflammatory response. *J Inflamm.* (2005) 2:16. doi: 10.1186/1476-9255-2-16
- Cheung MB, Sampayo-Escobar V, Green R, Moore ML, Mohapatra S, Mohapatra SS. Respiratory syncytial virus-infected mesenchymal stem cells regulate immunity via interferon beta and indoleamine-2,3-Dioxygenase. *PloS One.* (2016) 11:e0163709. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163709
- Zhou P, Liu Z, Li X, Zhang B, Wang X, Lan J, et al. Migration ability and Toll-like receptor expression of human mesenchymal stem cells improves significantly after three-dimensional culture. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2017) 491:323–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.07.102
- Rock JR, Onaitis MW, Rawlins EL, Lu Y, Clark CP, Xue Y, et al. Basal cells as stem cells of the mouse trachea and human airway epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:12771–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906 850106

(No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/15\_003/0000492), by Ministry of Health of the Czechia, grant no. NV18-06-00529 to JF and by the Italian Grant Programma per Giovani Ricercatori— Rita Levi Montalcini 2013 PGR13XNIDJ to TZ. All rights reserved.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Insight Editing London for his assistance in the preparation of the text and Dr. Cristina Massi-Benedetti for digital art and editorial assistance.

- Lee JH, Bhang DH, Beede A, Huang TL, Stripp BR, Bloch KD, et al. Lung stem cell differentiation in mice directed by endothelial cells via a BMP4-NFATc1-thrombospondin-1 axis. *Cell.* (2014) 156:440–55. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.039
- Rawlins EL, Ostrowski LE, Randell SH, Hogan BL. Lung development and repair: contribution of the ciliated lineage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:410–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0610770104
- Kesimer M, Kirkham S, Pickles RJ, Henderson AG, Alexis NE, Demaria G, et al. Tracheobronchial air-liquid interface cell culture: a model for innate mucosal defense of the upper airways? *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2009) 296:L92–100. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.90388.2008
- Lee MK, Yoo JW, Lin H, Kim YS, Kim DD, Choi YM, et al. Airliquid interface culture of serially passaged human nasal epithelial cell monolayer for *in vitro* drug transport studies. *Drug Deliv.* (2005) 12:305–11. doi: 10.1080/10717540500177009
- Prytherch Z, Job C, Marshall H, Oreffo V, Foster M, BéruBé K. Tissue-specific stem cell differentiation in an *in vitro* airway model. *Macromol Biosci.* (2011) 11:1467–77. doi: 10.1002/mabi.201100181
- Walters MS, Gomi K, Ashbridge B, Moore MA, Arbelaez V, Heldrich J, et al. Generation of a human airway epithelium derived basal cell line with multipotent differentiation capacity. *Respir Res.* (2013) 14:135. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-14-135
- Hackett NR, Shaykhiev R, Walters MS, Wang R, Zwick RK, Ferris B, et al. The human airway epithelial basal cell transcriptome. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e18378. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018378
- Persson BD, Jaffe AB, Fearns R, Danahay H. Respiratory syncytial virus can infect basal cells and alter human airway epithelial differentiation. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e102368. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0102368
- Whitcutt MJ, Adler KB, Wu R. A biphasic chamber system for maintaining polarity of differentiation of cultured respiratory tract epithelial cells. *Vitro Cell Dev Biol.* (1988) 24:420–8. doi: 10.1007/BF026 28493
- Huh D, Leslie DC, Matthews BD, Fraser JP, Jurek S, Hamilton GA, et al. A human disease model of drug toxicity-induced pulmonary edema in a lung-on-a-chip microdevice. *Sci Transl Med.* (2012) 4:159ra147. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3004249
- Huh DD. A human breathing lung-on-a-chip. Ann Am Thorac Soc. (2015) 12(Suppl. 1):S42-44. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201410-442MG
- Huang SX, Islam MN, O'Neill J, Hu Z, Yang YG, Chen YW, et al. Efficient generation of lung and airway epithelial cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2014) 32:84–91. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2754
- Pollard BS, Pollard HB. Induced pluripotent stem cells for treating cystic fibrosis: State of the science. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2018) 53:S12–29. doi: 10.1002/ppul.24118
- Chen YW, Huang SX, de Carvalho ALRT, Ho SH, Islam MN, Volpi S, et al. A three-dimensional model of human lung development and disease from pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2017) 19:542–9. doi: 10.1038/ncb3510
- Dye BR, Hill DR, Ferguson MA, Tsai YH, Nagy MS, Dyal R, et al. *In vitro* generation of human pluripotent stem cell derived lung organoids. *Elife*. (2015) 4:e05098. doi: 10.7554/eLife.05098
- 33. Dye BR, Dedhia PH, Miller AJ, Nagy MS, White ES, Shea LD, et al. A bioengineered niche promotes *in vivo* engraftment and maturation of

pluripotent stem cell derived human lung organoids. *Elife.* (2016) 5:e19732. doi: 10.7554/eLife.19732

- Bertaux-Skeirik N, Feng R, Schumacher MA, Li J, Mahe MM, Engevik AC, et al. CD44 plays a functional role in Helicobacter pyloriinduced epithelial cell proliferation. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004663. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004663
- Williamson IA, Arnold JW, Samsa LA, Gaynor L, DiSalvo M, Cocchiaro JL, et al. A high-throughput organoid microinjection platform to study gastrointestinal microbiota and luminal physiology. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2018) 6:301–19. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018. 05.004
- Bartfeld S. Modeling infectious diseases and host-microbe interactions in gastrointestinal organoids. *Dev Biol.* (2016) 420:262–70. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.09.014
- Quantius J, Schmoldt C, Vazquez-Armendariz AI, Becker C, El Agha E, Wilhelm J, et al. Influenza virus infects epithelial stem/progenitor cells of the distal lung: impact on Fgfr2b-driven epithelial repair. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:e1005544. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005544
- 38. Shen Y, Chen L, Wang M, Lin D, Liang Z, Song P, et al. Flagellar hooks and hook protein FlgE participate in host microbe interactions at immunological level. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:1433. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01619-1
- Heo I, Dutta D, Schaefer DA, Iakobachvili N, Artegiani B, Sachs N, et al. Modelling Cryptosporidium infection in human small intestinal and lung organoids. *Nat Microbiol.* (2018) 3:814–23. doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0177-8
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell.* (2006) 126:663–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024
- Ikpa PT, Bijvelds MJ, de Jonge HR. Cystic fibrosis: toward personalized therapies. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. (2014) 52:192–200. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2014.02.008
- 42. Mou H, Zhao R, Sherwood R, Ahfeldt T, Lapey A, Wain J, et al. Generation of multipotent lung and airway progenitors from mouse ESCs and patient-specific cystic fibrosis iPSCs. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2012) 10:385–97. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.01.018
- 43. Wong AP, Bear CE, Chin S, Pasceri P, Thompson TO, Huan LJ, et al. Directed differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into mature airway epithelia expressing functional CFTR protein. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2012) 30:876– 82. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2328
- 44. Hernández-Santos N, Wiesner DL, Fites JS, McDermott AJ, Warner T, Wüthrich M, et al. Lung epithelial cells coordinate innate lymphocytes and immunity against pulmonary fungal infection. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2018) 23:511–22 e515. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2018.02.011

- De Luca A, Pariano M, Cellini B, Costantini C, Villella VR, Jose SS, et al. The IL-17F/IL-17RC axis promotes respiratory allergy in the proximal airways. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 20:1667–80. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.07.063
- 46. Chen K, Eddens T, Trevejo-Nunez G, Way EE, Elsegeiny W, Ricks DM, et al. IL-17 Receptor signaling in the lung epithelium is required for mucosal chemokine gradients and pulmonary host defense against *K. pneumoniae. Cell Host Microbe.* (2016) 20:596–605. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.10.003
- Aggarwal S, Gurney AL. IL-17: prototype member of an emerging cytokine family. J Leukoc Biol. (2002) 71:1–8. doi: 10.1189/jlb.71.1.1
- Ely LK, Fischer S, Garcia KC. Structural basis of receptor sharing by interleukin 17 cytokines. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:1245–51. doi: 10.1038/ni.1813
- Toy D, Kugler D, Wolfson M, Vanden Bos T, Gurgel J, Derry J, et al. Cutting edge: interleukin 17 signals through a heteromeric receptor complex. *J Immunol.* (2006) 177:36–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.1.36
- Goepfert A, Lehmann S, Wirth E, Rondeau JM. The human IL-17A/F heterodimer: a two-faced cytokine with unique receptor recognition properties. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:8906. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-08360-9
- Tsai HC, Velichko S, Hung LY, Wu R. IL-17A and Th17 cells in lung inflammation: an update on the role of Th17 cell differentiation and IL-17R signaling in host defense against infection. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2013) 2013:267971. doi: 10.1155/2013/267971
- Ling Y, Cypowyj S, Aytekin C, Galicchio M, Camcioglu Y, Nepesov S, et al. Inherited IL-17RC deficiency in patients with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. J Exp Med. (2015) 212:619–31. doi: 10.1084/jem.20141065
- Puel A, Cypowyj S, Bustamante J, Wright JF, Liu L, Lim HK, et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in humans with inborn errors of interleukin-17 immunity. *Science*. (2011) 332:65–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1200439
- Ota K, Kawaguchi M, Matsukura S, Kurokawa M, Kokubu F, Fujita J, et al. Potential involvement of IL-17F in asthma. J Immunol Res. (2014) 2014:602846. doi: 10.1155/2014/602846

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Paolicelli, Luca, Jose, Antonini, Teloni, Fric and Zelante. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Mechanisms of Bacterial Superinfection Post-influenza: A Role for Unconventional T Cells

Christophe Paget <sup>1,2</sup> and François Trottein <sup>3,4,5,6,7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Centre d'Etude des Pathologies Respiratoires, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale U1100, Tours, France, <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Medicine, Université de Tours, Tours, France, <sup>3</sup> U1019-UMR 8204-CIIL-Centre d'Infection et d'Immunité de Lille, Université de Lille, Lille, France, <sup>4</sup> Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, UMR 8204, Lille, France, <sup>5</sup> Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale U1019, Lille, France, <sup>6</sup> Centre Hospitalier, Universitaire de Lille, Lille, France, <sup>7</sup> Institut Pasteur de Lille, Lille, France

Despite the widespread application of vaccination programs and antiviral drug treatments, influenza viruses are still among the most harmful human pathogens. Indeed, influenza results in significant seasonal and pandemic morbidity and mortality. Furthermore, severe bacterial infections can occur in the aftermath of influenza virus infection, and contribute substantially to the excess morbidity and mortality associated with influenza. Here, we review the main features of influenza viruses and current knowledge about the mechanical and immune mechanisms that underlie post-influenza secondary bacterial infections. We present the emerging literature describing the role of "innate-like" unconventional T cells in post-influenza bacterial superinfection. Unconventional T cell populations span the border between the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system, and are prevalent in mucosal tissues (including the airways). They mainly comprise Natural Killer T cells, mucosal-associated invariant T cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. We provide an overview of the principal functions that these cells play in pulmonary barrier functions and immunity, highlighting their unique ability to sense environmental factors and promote protection against respiratory bacterial infections. We focus on two major opportunistic pathogens involved in superinfections, namely Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus. We discuss mechanisms through which influenza viruses alter the antibacterial activity of unconventional T cells. Lastly, we discuss recent fundamental advances and possible therapeutic approaches in which unconventional T cells would be targeted to prevent post-influenza bacterial superinfections.

Keywords: unconventional T cells, influenza A virus, secondary bacterial infection, *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, immune suppression, barrier function, immunotherapy

## INFLUENZA VIRUS INFECTION AND BACTERIAL SUPERINFECTION

Respiratory infections are one the biggest health concerns worldwide. They account for a substantial rate of morbidity and mortality in Western and developing countries (1). Amongst respiratory pathogens, influenza viruses, commonly known as "the flu," represent one the most important concern despite ongoing vaccine campaigns and anti-viral drugs. Each year, seasonal influenza infection affects 5 to 15% of the population and is a major contributor of

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

David Lewinsohn, Oregon Health & Science University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Siobhan Cowley, State Food and Drug Administration, China Shilpi Chandra, La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology (LJI), United States

> \*Correspondence: François Trottein francois.trottein@pasteur-lille.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 05 October 2018 Accepted: 08 February 2019 Published: 01 March 2019

#### Citation:

Paget C and Trottein F (2019) Mechanisms of Bacterial Superinfection Post-influenza: A Role for Unconventional T Cells. Front. Immunol. 10:336. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00336

pneumonia-related death worldwide (500,000 deaths per year) (2). Seasonal influenza is due to two main subtypes in humans, H1N1, and H3N2. Antigenic variations due to mutation in the hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) genes, a phenomenon known as the antigenic drift, occur every year, and result in the circulation of new strains with sometime enhanced virulence and lethality potential. In parallel, in general every 10 to 20 years, new influenza subtypes distinct from circulating seasonal strains can emerge (due to antigenic shift) and provoke pandemic waves with sometime devastating consequences (3). Relative to seasonal influenza, pandemics exhibit a higher transmissibility and a higher rate of mortality, particularly among younger people who lack specific immunity against these new strains. Mortality attributed to influenza infection can be of high incidence during pandemics. During the Spanish flu (1918-1919), more than 40 million people died from influenza infection (4, 5). During the 2009 pandemic, influenza infection had a substantial impact on human mortality (3, 6). As discussed below, viralbacteria pneumonia contribute significantly to morbidity and mortality during influenza epidemics and pandemics (5). Due to medical and economical burdens, and considering the threat of new pandemics and the emergence of antibiotic resistance, it is urgent to find novel options to fight against influenza infections and their complications, including secondary bacterial infections.

#### Influenza a Virus: Main Characteristics

The influenza viruses (types A, B, and C) are negative sense single-stranded RNA viruses (7). These enveloped viruses belong to the family of Orthomyxoviridae. In humans, the most common cause of respiratory illness is influenza A virus (IAV) (8). To reach successful replication, sense messenger RNAs must be generated from the viral genome, a process due to the viral RNA polymerase. Sense messengers comprise eight RNA segments encoding eleven proteins (9, 10). The mature virion contains eight of these proteins surrounded by a protein envelope, which mainly includes two viral antigenic determinants: HA, which binds to terminal sialic acids expressed by airway and alveolar epithelial cells and NA, a critical enzyme necessary for releasing the viral progeny from infected cells. Eighteen HA subtypes and 11 NA subtypes have been identified to date. Two IAV subtypes (H1N1 and H3N2) along with one or two influenza B viruses co-circulate annually causing influenza epidemics. The primary targets (and site of replication) of IAV are airway and alveolar epithelial cells. Shortly after infection, the viral machinery, with the unintentionally help of host factors, is at work and generate the release of virions (11). Productive replication in epithelial cells results in cell death and to epithelial/endothelial damages leading to barrier rupture and exudation of fluids and proteins into the airways and alveolar spaces, greatly impairing gas exchanges (12). Meanwhile, an intense infiltration of immune cells (neutrophils, monocytes) occurs. Clinically, severe IAV infection can lead to acute respiratory distress syndrome, a severe form of respiratory failure associated with 40 % of mortality (5).

## **IMMUNE RESPONSE TO IAV**

Innate immune response is rapidly triggered after IAV infection (13-18). This relies on the presence of viral RNA in the cytosol of infected cells and on different and complementary innate sensors including Toll-like receptors (TLRs; primarily TLR3 and TLR7), retinoic acid inducible gene-1 and inflammasomes. Activation of these innate sensors results on the production of massive amounts of type I and type III interferons (IFNs) as well as interleukin (IL)-1ß and IL-18. Type I and type III IFNs, though autocrine and paracrine (myeloid cells) effects, elicit the production of a myriad of IFN-stimulated genes that strongly participate in virus clearance. Meanwhile, activation of inflammasomes and NF- kB promotes the release of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines and the subsequent recruitment and activation of numerous immune cells such as monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils. These events limit and/or prevent viral entry and replication and attenuate the severity of the disease. All of these responses however contribute to tissue injury. For instance, inflammatory monocytes greatly participate in epithelial cell damage and death (19, 20). On the other hand, although they participate in virus clearance, neutrophils are also strong contributors of lung damage and lethality (21). While epithelial cells are critical to initiate innate immunity, other resident sentinel cells also play a role in virus clearance. Alveolar macrophages promote the elimination of viruses through the phagocytosis of collectin-opsonised viral particles or infected apoptotic cells (efferocytosis) and production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (22, 23). In parallel, other resident and/or recruited innate immune cells, including natural killer cells, unconventional T cells, and innate lymphoid cells play a part in disease outcomes (mouse model of influenza), an effect associated-or not-with effector functions (24-33). On the other hand, depending on the infectious dose, some of them (e.g., NK cells) may also participate in immunopathology (34, 35). Several days after IAV entry and elicitation of innate immunity, a strong antigen (Ag)-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response develops in the lungs. In this phenomenon, the migration of antigen-loaded CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells to the draining lymph nodes is critical. Even though Ag-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are sufficient to contain viruses (e.g., through lysis of infected cells), they also contribute to alveolar epithelium and endothelium damage (36, 37).

# RESOLUTION OF INFLAMMATION AND SECONDARY BACTERIAL INFECTION

After the inflammatory burst and pulmonary tissue damage, a resolving/repair phase takes place, in general 7 to 14 days after the primary IAV infection. It leads to resolution of infiltrates and regeneration of damaged lung tissue thus restoring gas exchange. In this setting, murine studies of influenza infection suggested that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, by producing the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, are important to resolve inflammation (38). Activated macrophages can also promote the

expansion of Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells to suppress the deleterious production of inflammatory cytokines by neutrophils (39). By suppressing IL-17, a cytokine involved in neutrophil recruitment, type I IFNs also contribute to resolution of inflammation post-influenza. Recent data also indicate a role for M2 macrophages in this process (40). Unconventional T cells may also play a critical role in recovery from influenza infection (27, 33, 41, 42). Finally, through amphiregulin production, innate lymphoid cells restore airway epithelial integrity and tissue homeostasis during IAV infection (25). Resolution of inflammation during influenza infection is critical for lung resiliency and restoration of physiological functions (which can take several weeks). This regenerating response corresponds to a period of enhanced susceptibility to respiratory bacterial (particularly Gram-positive) infections. Indeed, this process creates a favorable environment to the emergence of opportunistic pathogens that can eventually result in bacterial superinfection, bacterial pneumonia and bacterial dissemination from the lungs. The two later are major contributors to lethality. Post-mortem examination of autopsy specimens collected during the last pandemic (as well as the 1918 pandemic) suggests that a substantial proportion of patients died from bacterial infections once the virus was cleared (5, 43). The most common bacteria found in autopsied individuals were Streptococcus pneumoniae (the pneumococcus) and Staphylococcus aureus, two major ubiquitous upper respiratory opportunistic pathogens. Two main mechanisms (mechanical and immunological) explain bacterial superinfection post-influenza: loss of the epithelial barrier function and altered innate immune defense. Before reviewing the role of "innate-like" unconventional T cells in this setting, we summarize the main mechanisms by which IAV favors secondary bacterial infection.

#### MECHANICAL AND IMMUNOLOGICAL MECHANISMS LEADING TO SUPERINFECTION

Several excellent reviews have described the current mechanistic understanding of how IAV enhances susceptibility to secondary bacterial infections (44-49). Current data, mostly derived from experimental (mouse) models, point toward a multifactorial mechanism. Briefly, IAV disrupts the functions of the respiratory barrier by inducing, in a direct or indirect (through inflammatory monocytes) fashion, epithelial cell death, and by degrading mucins (20, 50). This alteration leads to exposure of new attachment sites for bacteria and allows bacterial translocation (51-53). Influenza A virus can also alter respiratory ciliary function, thereby impairing the clearance of aspirated bacteria from the lungs (54). As stated above, alteration of the innate immune response is critical in post-influenza bacterial superinfections. In particular, poor bacterial control in the context of prior IAV infection is due to the loss and/or dysfunction of macrophages and neutrophils (55-59). For these later, their ability to sense and clear (phagocytosis and killing activity) bacteria is profoundly altered (60-62). Along with these effector cells, dysfunction of natural killer cells also depresses

host's antibacterial capabilities (63). Some cytokines are critical in bacterial superinfection. The immune-suppressive cytokine IL-10 inhibits the functions of macrophages and neutrophils (64, 65). IL-27, another immunosuppressive cytokine downstream of type I interferon receptor (IFNAR) signaling pathway also impairs innate immune response against secondary bacterial challenge (66, 67). Type I interferons, which are massively produced during IAV infection to limit viral replication, are also detrimental in bacterial superinfection. Mechanistically, they inhibit the production of chemokines (CXCL1 and CXCL2) important for the recruitment of macrophages and neutrophils to the lung and impair their phagocytic responses (57, 68, 69). Of note, type III IFNs (which share similarities with type I IFNs) favor bacterial superinfection post-influenza by disrupting the nasal microbiome, which often includes potential pathogens (70). The underlying mechanisms are still elusive but may depend on altered barrier functions of the nasal epithelium and dysfunctional innate defense. Although IFN-y is critical in host defense against respiratory bacterial infections, it might favor secondary bacterial infection, for instance by decreasing the expression of the scavenger receptor MARCO on macrophages (56). In fact, the role of IFN- $\gamma$  in bacterial superinfection is controversial since a protective role has also been suggested (71). Finally, IAV infection reduces, through signal transducer of activation and transcription-1 (STAT-1), the production of Th17related cytokines, a critical family of cytokines involved in the control of respiratory bacterial infections (66, 72-75). Hence, the accumulating literature (experimental models) provides a clearer understanding of mechanisms leading to bacterial superinfection and suggests several targets to prevent it. In humans, impairment of innate immunity by pre-existing viral (IAV) infections has also been shown to hamper the control of carriage load and clearance of upper respiratory bacteria such as S. pneumoniae (76). This, along with mechanical defects (respiratory ciliary and barrier functions), may favor bacterial superinfection and secondary bacterial pneumonia. While some progresses have been made recently, much remains to be learned about the way that the virus alters pulmonary barrier functions and undermines protective antibacterial immunity during IAV-bacterial (co)infection. As outlined below, recent evidences suggest that unconventional T cell functions are targeted during IAV infection, a process that may be important in secondary bacterial infections.

## **UNCONVENTIONAL T LYMPHOCYTES**

#### Natural Killer T Cells

Natural killer T (NKT) cells represent a subset of lipid-reactive  $\alpha\beta$ T cells. In response to lipid Ags presented by the monomorphic Ag presenting molecule CD1d, NKT cells swiftly produce a large amount of cytokines, thus promoting and orientating immune responses (77). Lipid recognition by NKT cells is mediated by a conserved T cell receptor (TCR) repertoire. Natural killer T cells can be divided into two major populations: type I NKT cells and type II NKT cells. Type I NKT cells express a semiinvariant TCR  $\alpha$ -chain (V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18 in mice and V $\alpha$ 24-J $\alpha$ 18 in humans) paired with a limited set of TCR  $\beta$ -chains (77, 78). These cells respond strongly to alpha-galactosylceramide ( $\alpha$ -GalCer),

a glycolipid under clinical development, particularly in cancer settings (79). Type I NKT cells also recognize endogenous lipids which are necessary for their selection in the thymus and for their activation at peripheral sites. Type I NKT cells can also react to microbial-derived lipids (80). Of importance, type I NKT cells also activate in response to a wide array of cytokines, including IL-12 and IL-23. Despite a relatively conserved TCR, type I NKT cells are heterogeneous and can be further divided into distinct subsets (81, 82). NKT cells produce a wide range of cytokines, with sometime opposite functions, a property that depends on the cell subset activated and on the nature of the stimulation (e.g., lipids and/or activating cytokines). Through this unique property, type I NKT cells can influence different types of immune responses ranging from T helper (Th)1-like, Th2-like, Th17-like, or T regulatory-like responses (83). This property is critical in pathological situations during which type I NKT cells can either exert positive or negative functions. Of note, type I NKT cells not only produce cytokines and display cytotoxic functions toward transformed cells and virally-infected cells (84). Type II NKT cells represent a much broader family of CD1drestricted  $\alpha\beta$  T cells that react to lipids, but not to  $\alpha$ -GalCer. They express a more diverse TCR repertoire that recognizes lipid Ags of various nature and origin (mammalian and microbial) (85). Due to the lack of specific tools, the functions of type II NKT cells have mainly been proposed indirectly by comparing the phenotypes observed in Ja18-deficient (which lack type I NKT cells) vs. CD1d-deficient (which lack both type I and type II NKT cells) mice in various settings. Type II NKT cells appear to share conserved phenotypic and functional features with type I NKT cells including an effector memory phenotype, cytotoxic potential and secretion of numerous cytokines/chemokines (85). Akin to type I NKT cells, type II NKT cells play important functions during (bacterial) infections. NKT cells, which are more abundant in mice relative to humans, populate both lymphoid tissues and mucosal sites, including the lungs (86, 87).

#### **Mucosal-Associated Invariant T cells**

Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells present many common features with NKT cells and y8 T cells including the capacity to rapidly react to non-peptide Ags. MAIT cells are defined by their restriction to the major histocompatibility complex class I-related molecule 1 (MR1) (88, 89). The majority of MAIT cells (referred to as classical MAIT cells) (90) express a semi-invariant TCR composed of a canonical TCRa-chain (V $\alpha$ 19-J $\alpha$ 33 in mice and V $\alpha$ 7.2-J $\alpha$ 33 in humans) associated with a restricted set of V $\beta$  segments (88, 89, 91, 92). Through their TCR, MAIT cells recognize small intermediate metabolites from the riboflavin (vitamin B2) pathway of bacteria, mycobacteria and yeast (93-95). They can react to products derived from the non-enzymatic reaction between a riboflavin precursor and small aldehydes of both microbial and host origin. The high instability of these ligands has so far limited their use in the clinics. Reminiscent with NKT cells, MAIT cells can respond to TCR signals and/or to various activating cytokines, including IL-12 and IL-18 (96-98). Upon activation, MAIT cells produce large amounts of Th1- and Th17-related cytokines (99). Additionally, MAIT cells can kill bacteria-infected cells (100). Unlike NKT cells, MAIT cells are abundant in the blood (up to 10% of the T cell compartment) in humans. They are also present at mucosal sites, including the lungs (10% of respiratory mucosal T cells) (101), where they sense the environment and exert a role of sentinels of the immune system. Due to their scarce representation in common laboratory mouse strains (unlike NKT cells), understanding MAIT cell biology is challenging even using  $Mr1^{-/-}$  mice. To better assess their role in preclinical models, transgenic mice ( $V\alpha 19i$ Tg x C $\alpha^{-/-}$ ) displaying high content of MAIT cells have been developed (102). Given their cytokine profile and cytotoxic potential, MAIT cells intuitively emerged as a specialized cell population in host defense against bacteria.

#### $\gamma\delta$ T Cells

γδ T cells represent approximately 1-10% of peripheral blood T cells in humans and are important components of both innate and adaptive immunity. They display vast effector and immune regulatory functions (103). Akin to other members of the unconventional T cell family, yo T cells display a preactivated status that allows rapid induction of effector functions following the detection of tissue stress (104-106). Another important feature of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells is their tropism for epithelial surfaces including lungs, to where they migrate shortly after development and persist as resident cells. They frequently express invariant or closely related γδ TCRs in a given tissue site (e.g., Vy1, Vy4, and Vy6 in the mouse lung tissue), which confer them specific Ag recognition capabilities from one tissue to another (103). Reminiscent to other unconventional T cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells can kill infected cells and initiate adaptive immune responses through the release of substantial amounts of Th1and Th17-related cytokines (103). Thus,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have emerged as essential constituents of the antimicrobial immunity in both preclinical and clinical settings (107). While the Ags for mouse  $\gamma\delta$  TCRs have not been reported yet, human  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subsets (e.g.,  $V\gamma 9V\delta 2^+$  cells) can recognize both natural (of microbial and mammalian origins) and synthetic phosphoantigens (108). However, it is now clear that the phosphoantigens are not directly sensed by the  $\gamma\delta$  TCRs but rather require the involvement of butyrophilin BTN3A as an intermediate. The precise molecular mechanisms involved in this TCR-dependent  $\gamma\delta$  T cell activation are still a matter of debate (109). Whatever the mechanisms involved, phosphoantigens have been shown to strongly activate (in vivo and ex vivo) human Vy9V82 y8T cells to induce their proliferation and to increase their cytotoxic capacities as well as their cytokine secretion including IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ . Given this, harnessing  $\gamma \delta$  T cell functions in therapeutic protocols is currently highly considered by clinicians especially in the context of cancer (110).

## ROLE OF UNCONVENTIONAL T CELLS IN RESPIRATORY PNEUMOCOCCAL AND STAPHYLOCOCCAL INFECTIONS

Evidence in both preclinical and clinical settings have suggested a key role for unconventional T cells in host response against lung bacterial pathogens. Here, we compared their mode of activation and functions during respiratory bacterial infections with a focus on the two major opportunistic pathogen bacteria implicated in bacterial superinfection post-influenza, namely *S. pneumoniae*, and *S. aureus*.

#### Streptococcus pneumoniae

*Streptococcus pneumoniae* (also referred to as the pneumococcus) is the leading cause of community-acquired bacterial pneumonia worldwide (2 million deaths per year), with infants and the elderly exhibiting higher susceptibility. This Gram-positive bacterium, which comprises a group of more than 90 serotypes, colonizes asymptomatically nasopharynx of healthy individuals. However, when the immune equilibrium is broken, pneumococcus carriage can lead to mild disease such as otitis media or sinusitis and more occasionally turns into severe complications such as pneumonia, sepsis, and meningitis (111). Streptococcus pneumoniae is often found in biological fluids of hospitalized patients diagnosed for influenza infection as well as patients with exacerbated chronic lung inflammation (112, 113). Despite vaccination prevents pneumococcus spread and controls infections, the available vaccines have however some issues (114). In addition, the emergence of antibiotic-resistant strains represents an important threat for the management of pneumococcal infections in clinics (115).

In the mouse system, both type I NKT cells and  $\gamma\delta T$  cells activate in response to S. pneumoniae (Figure 1). While type I NKT cells produce IFN-y early after pneumococcal challenge, y&T cells produce IL-17A (66, 74, 116-118). Activation of type I NKT cells during S. pneumoniae infection depends on pneumococcal-derived lipid(s) (α-glucosyldiacylglycerol), cytokines (IL-12) or both according to the strain studied (86, 116, 119). Of note, we and others have highlighted the role of CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells in the activation of type I NKT cells during pneumococcal infection (119, 120). The mechanisms through which murine  $\gamma\delta T$  cells activate (IL-17) mainly depends on IL-1ß and IL-23 (117, 121). The lack of type I NKT cells  $(J\alpha 18^{-/-} \text{ mice})$  (119, 122, 123) or  $\gamma\delta T$  cells (*Tcrd*<sup>-/-</sup> mice) (66, 117) results in higher bacterial loads and mortality. The underlying mechanisms of this protective activity rely on IFN- $\gamma$ and IL-17 secretion and on the early recruitment of neutrophils. Hence, both type I NKT cells and  $\gamma\delta T$  cells play a natural positive role in host defense against experimental pneumococcal infection (Figure 1). The potential role of type II NKT cells and MAIT cells during pneumococcal infection is still elusive. Of interest, S. pneumoniae expresses enzymes involved in the synthesis of riboflavin metabolites (124, 125) and human MAIT cells produce, in an MR1-dependent manner, IFN-y in response to dendritic cells and airway epithelial cells exposed to S. pneumoniae (126, 127). Using V $\alpha$ 19iTg x C $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice, a small proportion of lung MAIT cells were shown to produce IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-17A during pneumococcal infection (127). Although a more detailed kinetic analysis is required, these levels were relatively low compared to those produced by NKT cells and γδT cells. The use of  $Mr1^{-/-}$  or Vα19iTg x Cα<sup>-/-</sup> $Mr1^{-/-}$  mice will be instrumental to address the role of MAIT cells during experimental pneumococcal infection.

The potential effects of exogenous activation of unconventional T lymphocytes on pneumococcal infection have

been examined. Inoculation of the type I NKT cell superagonist α-GalCer protects against lethal pneumococcal infection in the mouse system (123, 128). Mechanistically, this protective activity relies on respiratory CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells and on both IFN-y and IL-17A production and neutrophils (128). The potential effect of exogenous yo T cell and MAIT cell activation on host defense against pneumococcal infection is presently unknown. Despite emerging evidence for a critical role in host response to pneumococcus in experimental models, information regarding the phenotype and dynamics of unconventional T cells in patients with severe S. pneumoniae-driven pneumonia are rather limited. Of note, the level of circulating MAIT cells in critically ill patients with severe bacterial infection is markedly decreased compared to age-matched healthy controls (129). Although this decrease is less striking in patients with streptococcal infections, these data suggest that MAIT cells may migrate into the lungs, and thus may exert a potential role during pneumococcal infection.

#### Staphylococcus aureus

Staphylococcus aureus is a Gram-positive bacterium with a potent pathogenic potential to cause a variety of community and hospital-acquired infections. In normal conditions, it commonly colonizes the upper airways. Under certain circumstances, including influenza infection, it can cause localized and serious invasive infections, as well as a severe septic shock syndrome (130). The frequency of these infections is increasing. The ability of S. aureus to form biofilms and the emergence of multidrugresistant strains (e.g., methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus) are the main reasons why their treatment is becoming more difficult. The capacity of S. aureus to become pathogenic is related to the expression of virulence factors, among which the production of a wide variety of toxins. Staphylococcal superantigens (SAgs) constitute a family of potent exotoxins secreted by S. aureus (131). They can cross-link MHC class II molecules with TCRs to stimulate an uncontrolled polyclonal activation of T lymphocytes (cytokine storm), potentially leading to severe illnesses including toxic shock syndrome.

Despite a relatively poor literature in the field, unconventional T cells might play role during S. aureus infection. They also recently emerged as potential targets of Staphylococcal SAgs. Indirect evidence suggest that IL-17 production by γδ T cells might be important in the control of S. aureus lung infection (72, 73) (Figure 1). Mice lacking  $\gamma\delta$  T cells have a reduced ability to clear bacteria and to control pulmonary inflammation (132). The role of NKT cells and MAIT cells in the control of S. aureus is still unknown. On the other hand, emerging evidence suggest that unconventional T cells (at least NKT cells and MAIT cells) are involved in toxic shock syndrome induced by Staphylococcal SAgs. Intranasal inoculation of Staphylococcal enterotoxin B promotes the activation of type I NKT cells and lung injury (133). Staphylococcal enterotoxin B activates mouse and human type I NKT cells via a MHC class II (but not CD1d) Vβ8-dependent pathway (134). More recently, Szabo et al., using SAg-sensitive HLA-DR4-transgenic mouse demonstrated that type I NKT cells are pathogenic (toxic shock syndrome) in response to Staphylococcal enterotoxin B (135). Of interest, administration of a Th2-polarizing glycolipid agonist



for type I NKT cells reduced morbidity and mortality. Type I NKT cells may therefore constitute an attractive therapeutic target in SAg-mediated illnesses. Mouse and human MAIT cells can also activate in response to Sags in a largely TCR-independent, cytokine-driven manner (136). They produce a huge amount of pro-inflammatory cytokines and thereafter become unresponsive to stimulation with bacterial Ags. Through this mechanism, they might participate in cytokine storm and subsequent immunosuppression. Akin to type I NKT cells, MAIT cells may therefore provide an attractive therapeutic target for the management of both early and late phases of severe SAg-mediated illnesses.

#### ROLE OF UNCONVENTIONAL T CELLS IN BACTERIAL SUPERINFECTION POST -INFLUENZA

As outlined below, mouse models of viral-bacterial infection have been used to assess the role of unconventional T cells in bacterial superinfection post-influenza. These cells are activated during influenza infection (24, 27–33, 137) and, through their ability to control barrier function, they may limit bacterial superinfection. On the other hand, although activation during influenza infection may preset their antibacterial effector functions, immune suppression arising from influenza counteracts their antibacterial potentials.

## Role of Unconventional T Cells in Pulmonary Barrier Functions

Disruption of the pulmonary barrier functions strongly contributes to enhanced bacterial colonization, bacterial superinfection and bacterial pneumonia in the context of prior influenza. Emerging evidences suggest that unconventional T cells play a natural role in the maintenance of tissue integrity and/or in tissue repair processes (138). Recent studies have addressed the role of unconventional T cells in tissue homeostasis and barrier functions during experimental influenza. Type I NKT cells and y8 T cells produce the tissue protective cytokine IL-22 (through IL-1 $\beta$ - and IL-23) during the early course of IAV infection (24, 139). Although IL-22 does not affect viral loads during influenza, several independent groups have demonstrated the protective effect of IL-22 against epithelial damages caused by viral replication (24, 139-143). The mechanisms through which IL-22 prevents epithelial barrier dysfunction during influenza infection might include an inhibitory effect on the recruitment of inflammatory monocytes and a direct effect on the expression of genes involved in barrier functions (143). Interleukin-22 might also participate in airway epithelial regeneration and barrier repair (141, 142). Interestingly, through its protective effect on barrier functions, IL-22 reduces secondary bacterial infection (139, 143). Of note, MAIT cells have recently been reported to accumulate in the lungs and to activate (through IL-18) during experimental IAV infection, a process associated with protection against a lethal viral challenge (33). Although not firmly established, MAIT cell activation during IAV infection may reduce pulmonary epithelial damage and reinforce barrier functions. Hence, by rapidly producing tissue protective factors, unconventional T cells, including NKT cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, and MAIT cells, may limit the extent of secondary bacterial infection post-influenza. It is noteworthy that NKT cells can also indirectly activate the synthesis of protective barrier factors by other cells (e.g., amphiregulin by group 2 innate lymphoid cells) (25, 41). These functions might be exploited for therapeutic purposes.

## Role of Unconventional T Cells in Pulmonary Innate Responses

Alteration of innate immune defense also strongly contributes to bacterial superinfection post-influenza. As stated above, unconventional T cells play a part in host defense against S. pneumoniae and S. aureus. Here, we summarize host factors that (may) compromise their protective functions in the context of double viral and bacterial infection (mouse system). In this setting, IL-10 and type I IFNs appear to play a relevant role. During IAV infection, IL-10 is massively produced by innate and adaptive immune cells. This includes CD4<sup>+</sup> (including regulatory T cells) and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells as well as NK cells and myeloid cells, mostly inflammatory monocytes (38, 119). Our data indicate that in the context of prior influenza, type I NKT cells fail to produce the protective cytokine IFN- $\gamma$  (Figure 2), an effect associated with worse secondary pneumococcal infection (119). Blockade of IL-10 rescues activation of type I NKT cells (through restoration of IL-12 production by Ag-presenting cells), reduces bacterial outgrowth and dissemination and improves disease outcomes. Hence, the lack of type I NKT cell activation participates, at least in part, to bacterial (pneumococcal) superinfection post-influenza. Along with IL-10, type I IFNs favor bacterial superinfection post-influenza (57, 66, 68, 72-74, 144). yo T cells appear to be the main target of type I IFNs. In the context of double IAV-bacterial (both pneumococcal and staphylococcal) infection,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells fail to secrete IL-17 in a type I IFN-dependent manner (66, 72, 74) (Figure 2). This ultimately leads to altered neutrophil recruitment and activity and to inhibition of the IL-17 antimicrobial pathway, including production of antimicrobial peptides. In this setting, the mode of action of type I IFNs is multiple. Type I IFNs can block the secretion of Th17-promoting cytokines IL-1ß and IL-23 by Agpresenting cells (72, 73). On the other hand, type I IFNs can directly target  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, via IFNAR, to inhibit IL-17 production (74) (Figure 2). Finally, type I IFNs indirectly inhibit IL-17 release by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells by promoting IL-27 production (66, 67). IL-27 targets γδ T cells to decrease expression of the IL-17promoting factors RORyt and IL-23 receptor (66). The later mechanism is probably dominant as exogenous administration of IL-27 reverses the resistance phenotype of IFNAR-deficient mice upon post-influenza bacterial infection via down-regulating IL-17 production by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and neutrophil response. Whether MAIT cell functions are affected by influenza, for instance through IL-10 or type I IFNs, is still ignored. Type III IFNs have also been shown to favor bacterial superinfection post-influenza (70). Regarding the role of unconventional T cells in barrier functions and innate antibacterial immunity, one can speculate that type III IFNs (like type I IFNs) also alter the functions of these cells to favor bacterial superinfection.

#### **Human Studies**

Whilst the use of experimental models suggests a role for NKT cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells in bacterial superinfection post-influenza (the potential role of MAIT cells has not yet been appreciated), few studies have so far investigated unconventional T cells during human influenza and secondary infections. MAIT cells are more abundant in the blood relative to NKT cells and, to a lesser extent, yo T cells. Compared to healthy donors, the frequency of circulating MAIT cells decreased in patients hospitalized for severe pneumonia due to infection with the Asian lineage avian IAV (H7N9) (96). Of interest, individuals who recovered from pneumonia had a higher level of circulating MAIT cells compared with patients who succumbed (96). This study suggested a protective role of MAIT cells in human influenza. Another clinical study confirmed the reduced peripheral blood MAIT cell frequencies (and enhanced granzyme B expression) in patients with acute IAV infection (2009 H1N1 pandemic) (145). This decrease was even more pronounced in critically ill patients admitted in intensive care unit compared to patients with mild symptoms. Reduction of MAIT cell numbers during acute human influenza infection (critically ill patients) could impair protective anti-bacterial immunity increasing the risk of secondary bacterial infections, which would enhance disease severity and mortality. The frequency, number and functional state of NKT cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells during human influenza have not yet been examined. In influenza vaccinated individuals,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells proliferate and activate although this intensity weakens with age (146).

## THERAPEUTIC OPPORTUNITIES

The unique biologic features of unconventional T cells are now being harnessed in the fight against cancer (79, 110, 147). Although this field is still in its infancy, exploitation of these cells in the management of lung infections appears to have therapeutic promise (148). Targeting unconventional T cells has several advantages. Firstly, the cells' restriction to non-polymorphic Ag-presenting molecules renders most patients eligible for unconventional T cell-based therapy using universal ligands. The question of whether unconventional T cells are potential immune targets in post-influenza bacterial superinfections has recently been addressed in preclinical models. The results suggest that these cells can indeed be exploited therapeutically. One major obstacle is the difficulty in balancing the induction of effective bacterial clearance and the avoidance of excessive inflammation. Cytokine-based strategies, neutralizing antibodies, and treatment with agonists that are specific for unconventional



**FIGURE 2** | Role of unconventional T cells in bacterial superinfection post-influenza. Influenza A virus replicates in epithelial cells, thus leading to cellular damage and pulmonary inflammation. Along with typical inflammatory cells (neutrophils, inflammatory monocytes), the lungs is infiltrated with various populations of immune suppressive cells expressing for instance IL-10. The later inhibits the production of IFN- $\gamma$  by type I NKT cells. Meanwhile, due to reduced IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-23 production,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells display a defective ability to release IL-17A. Multiple mechanisms are involved including a direct role for type I IFNs on Ag presenting cells (reduced IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-23) and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells (reduced IL-17A) and a promoting effect of type I IFNs on IL-27 synthesis. Interleukin-27 in turn targets  $\gamma\delta$  T cells to reduce IL-17A production. During IAV infection, there is also a numeric and/or functional defect of alveolar macrophages and neutrophils. As a result, the development of respiratory bacteria in the lung compartment is not controlled, leading to severe bacterial pneumonia and bacterial dissemination from the lungs. The potential positive role of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and type I NKT cells (IL-22) in the maintenance of the epithelial barrier is not mentioned. The potential role of MAIT cells in bacterial superinfection is still unknown.

T cells have generated promising results over the last few years (mouse system).

The overexpression and/or inoculation of IL-23 or IL-1β restores the defective production of IL-17 by  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and T helper cells, and improves the clearance of pneumococci and staphylococci (72, 73). Furthermore, neutralization of IL-10 and IL-27 by blocking antibodies during the course of influenza restores the respective abilities of NKT cells and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells to combat secondary bacterial infections (66, 119). It is important to note that this approach is associated with better disease outcomes, including higher survival rates. In the mouse system, it has been suggested that treatment with the superagonist  $\alpha$ -GalCer can enhance the beneficial activity of type I NKT cells. Inoculation of α-GalCer during IAV infection markedly reduces the bacterial (pneumococcal) burden in the lungs and bacterial dissemination from the lungs (149). However, the efficacy of this type of treatment is limited by its narrow therapeutic window; on day 7 (when susceptibility to superinfection peaks), α-GalCer has no effect. This is due to the disappearance of CD103<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells (150)-a critical population involved in activation of type I NKT cells in the lungs-at this time point (128). In contrast,  $\alpha$ -GalCer treatment early in the IAV infection (on day 4) or during the resolution phase (day 14) is associated with lower pneumococcal outgrowth and dissemination. Less intense viralbacterial pneumonia and a lower morbidity rate were observed in superinfected mice treated with both  $\alpha$ -GalCer and the antiinflammatory corticosteroid dexamethasone (149). However, this combination therapy was not associated with a lower mortality rate during secondary bacterial superinfection. In contrast to type I NKT cells, the potential effects of agonists on  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and MAIT cells in the context of post-influenza secondary bacterial infections have yet to be investigated.

Although the above-mentioned findings (the restoration of NKT cell and/or  $\gamma\delta$  T cell functions) have revealed a novel aspect of immunotherapy against superinfection in animal models, their clinical relevance remains to be proven. In the search for an effective balance between effective bacterial clearance and the avoidance of excessive inflammation, it is likely that additional therapeutic approaches (e.g., anti-inflammatory drugs) will have to be implemented. One can also speculate that combination treatment with antibiotics might enhance the efficacy of immunotherapy. It was recently shown that the application of a combination of antibiotics and immune stimulators (e.g., Tolllike receptor agonists) improved the outcome of post-influenza bacterial superinfection in a murine system (151). On the same lines, it would be useful to study the effects of a combination of an agonist (e.g.,  $\alpha$ -GalCer) and an antibiotic. Another key challenge relates to cell targeting. As discussed above, unconventional T cells are heterogeneous, and comprise subpopulations with sometime opposite functions. It will be necessary to target subpopulations of interest (e.g., IL-17 producers) more accurately by engineering T-helper-polarizing agonists (which have only been developed for NKT cells so far) and/or co-factors polarizing their functions. This would open the way to immunotherapies tailored to match a patient's immune profile. Importantly, it seems that this type of treatment must also take account of the nature of secondary bacterial infection. As discussed above, Staphylococcal SAgs have a critical role in the pathogenesis of *S. aureus* infections. In this setting, antagonists or T-helperpolarizing agonists could be used to manipulate type I NKT cells and MAIT cells—both of which are hyper-responsive to SAgs.

#### **CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES**

Unconventional T cells have attracted growing interest from researchers and clinicians. The literature on the cells' roles in immune and inflammatory responses has grown tremendously over the last 10 years. In view of their immunoregulatory potential, unconventional T cells are well poised to help fight lung infections and the latter's complications. However, there is a paucity of preclinical and clinical research on the cells' potential roles in the context of influenza and secondary bacterial infections. Further research into (i) the role of unconventional T cells in bacterial (super) infections of the respiratory tract and (ii) how influenza modulates the cells' functions is now needed. Furthermore, the use of novel mouse models will be essential for defining the respective roles of unconventional T cells and their subsets in influenza and secondary bacterial infections. Given that the mechanisms of post-influenza bacterial superinfections are multifactorial (with the exploitation of mechanical and/or immune alterations in the host), future therapeutics will probably have to include several components that target several host factors in addition to the viruses and bacteria themselves. Although this approach is in its infancy, the manipulation of unconventional T cells during influenza (cytokines,  $\alpha$ -GalCer) has shown its potential in the fight against secondary infections. As mentioned above, this strategy is not problem-free, and must be considered with caution. Research on the effects of combining immunostimulatory factors with antimicrobial drugs (e.g., antibiotics) should be encouraged, and might help to lessen the development of drug resistance. Given the physiological role of unconventional T cells in tissue repair and barrier functions, strategies for promoting these functions might also be of value. Lastly, given the role of type I NKT cells and MAIT cells in the cytokine storm that follows exposure to Staphylococcal

#### REFERENCES

- Quinton LJ, Walkey AJ, Mizgerd JP. Integrative physiology of pneumonia. *Physiol Rev.* (2018) 98:1417–64. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00032.2017
- Fiers W, De Filette M, Birkett A, Neirynck S, Min Jou W. A "universal" human influenza A vaccine. *Virus Res.* (2004) 103:173–6. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2004.02.030
- Zimmer SM, Burke DS. Historical perspective–Emergence of influenza A (H1N1) viruses. N Engl J Med. (2009) 361:279–85. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0904322

SAgs, the manipulation of these cells might help to control the outcomes of secondary staphylococcal infection-including necrotizing pneumonia. As discussed in this review, there is also a critical knowledge gap between preclinical and clinical studies; hence, analyses of the frequency/number and functional states of patients' unconventional T cells should be encouraged. Counts of circulating unconventional T cells are not negligible; considering the critical role they exert in many diseases, one can expect to see some major breakthroughs in the near future. Promising research initiatives might include a complete analysis of the whole family of unconventional T cells, i.e., NKT cells, group 1 CD1-restricted T cells, MAIT cells and γδ T cells. Highthroughput RNA sequencing (at the bulk population and singlecell levels) and the computer modeling of cytokine signatures in patients should also be encouraged. Although the work will be time-consuming and arduous, it might translate into improved clinical outcomes.

In conclusion, we critically analyzed the available evidence on the potential role of unconventional T cells in post-influenza bacterial superinfections. In view of these cells' extraordinary immunostimulatory and immunoregulatory properties and the proven safety of unconventional T cell agonists, further research in this field should be encouraged.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by the Inserm, the CNRS, the University of Lille Nord de France, the Pasteur Institute of Lille, and the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR-17-CE15-0020-01).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to colleagues whose works could not be cited due to space constraints. FT is supported by the CNRS and CP by the INSERM. The figure was created using the vector image bank of Servier Medical Art (http://smart.servier.com/). Servier Medical Art by Servier is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported License (https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/3.0/).

- Johnson NPAS, Mueller J. Updating the accounts: global mortality of the 1918-1920 "Spanish" influenza pandemic. *Bull Hist Med.* (2002) 76:105–15. doi: 10.1353/bhm.20 02.0022
- Morens DM, Taubenberger JK, Fauci AS. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: implications for pandemic influenza preparedness. J Infect Dis. (2008) 198:962–70. doi: 10.1086/591708
- 6. Dawood FS, Iuliano AD, Reed C, Meltzer MI, Shay DK, Cheng P-Y, et al. Estimated global mortality associated with the first 12 months of 2009

pandemic influenza A H1N1 virus circulation: a modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis. (2012) 12:687–95. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70121-4

- Bouvier NM, Palese P. The biology of influenza viruses. Vaccine. (2008) 26 (Suppl. 4):D49–53. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.07.039
- Paules C, Subbarao K. Influenza. Lancet Lond Engl. (2017) 390:697–708. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30129-0
- 9. Hutchinson EC, Fodor E. Transport of the influenza virus genome from nucleus to nucleus. *Viruses*. (2013) 5:2424–46. doi: 10.3390/v5102424
- Dou D, Revol R, Östbye H, Wang H, Daniels R. Influenza a virus cell entry, replication, virion assembly and movement. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1581. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01581
- Edinger TO, Pohl MO, Stertz S. Entry of influenza A virus: host factors and antiviral targets. J Gen Virol. (2014) 95:263–77. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.059477-0
- Short KR, Kroeze EJBV, Fouchier RAM, Kuiken T. Pathogenesis of influenzainduced acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2014) 14:57– 69. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(13)70286-X
- Damjanovic D, Small C-L, Jeyanathan M, Jeyananthan M, McCormick S, Xing Z. Immunopathology in influenza virus infection: uncoupling the friend from foe. *Clin Immunol Orlando Fla.* (2012) 144:57–69. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2012.05.005
- Yoo J-K, Kim TS, Hufford MM, Braciale TJ. Viral infection of the lung: host response and sequelae. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2013) 132:1263–76; quiz 1277. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.06.006
- Braciale TJ, Hahn YS. Immunity to viruses. Immunol Rev. (2013) 255:5–12. doi: 10.1111/imr.12109
- Iwasaki A, Pillai PS. Innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Nat Rev Immunol. (2014) 14:315–28. doi: 10.1038/nri3665
- Herold S, Becker C, Ridge KM, Budinger GRS. Influenza virus-induced lung injury: pathogenesis and implications for treatment. *Eur Respir J.* (2015) 45:1463–78. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00186214
- Tripathi S, White MR, Hartshorn KL. The amazing innate immune response to influenza A virus infection. *Innate Immun.* (2015) 21:73–98. doi: 10.1177/1753425913508992
- Herold S, Steinmueller M, von Wulffen W, Cakarova L, Pinto R, Pleschka S, et al. Lung epithelial apoptosis in influenza virus pneumonia: the role of macrophage-expressed TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:3065–77. doi: 10.1084/jem.20080201
- Ellis GT, Davidson S, Crotta S, Branzk N, Papayannopoulos V, Wack A. TRAIL+ monocytes and monocyte-related cells cause lung damage and thereby increase susceptibility to influenza-Streptococcus pneumoniae coinfection. *EMBO Rep.* (2015) 16:1203–18. doi: 10.15252/embr.201540473
- 21. Brandes M, Klauschen F, Kuchen S, Germain RN. A systems analysis identifies a feedforward inflammatory circuit leading to lethal influenza infection. *Cell.* (2013) 154:197–212. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.06.013
- Hashimoto Y, Moki T, Takizawa T, Shiratsuchi A, Nakanishi Y. Evidence for phagocytosis of influenza virus-infected, apoptotic cells by neutrophils and macrophages in mice. *J Immunol.* (2007) 178:2448–57. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.4.2448
- Hillaire MLB, Haagsman HP, Osterhaus ADME, Rimmelzwaan GF, van Eijk M. Pulmonary surfactant protein D in first-line innate defence against influenza A virus infections. J Innate Immun. (2013) 5:197–208. doi: 10.1159/000346374
- Paget C, Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Renneson J, Blanc F, Pichavant M, et al. Interleukin-22 is produced by invariant natural killer T lymphocytes during influenza A virus infection: potential role in protection against lung epithelial damages. J Biol Chem. (2012) 287:8816–29. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.304758
- Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, Abt MC, Alenghat T, Ziegler CGK, Doering TA, et al. Innate lymphoid cells promote lung-tissue homeostasis after infection with influenza virus. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:1045–54. doi: 10.1038/ni.2131
- Stein-Streilein J, Guffee J. In vivo treatment of mice and hamsters with antibodies to asialo GM1 increases morbidity and mortality to pulmonary influenza infection. J Immunol. (1986) 136:1435–41.
- Carding SR, Allan W, Kyes S, Hayday A, Bottomly K, Doherty PC. Late dominance of the inflammatory process in murine influenza by gamma/delta + T cells. *J Exp Med.* (1990) 172:1225–31. doi: 10.1084/jem.172.4.1225

- Eichelberger M, Doherty PC. Gamma delta T cells from influenza-infected mice develop a natural killer cell phenotype following culture. *Cell Immunol.* (1994) 159:94–102. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1994.1298
- Tu W, Zheng J, Liu Y, Sia SF, Liu M, Qin G, et al. The aminobisphosphonate pamidronate controls influenza pathogenesis by expanding a gammadelta T cell population in humanized mice. *J Exp Med.* (2011) 208:1511–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.20110226
- De Santo C, Salio M, Masri SH, Lee LY-H, Dong T, Speak AO, et al. Invariant NKT cells reduce the immunosuppressive activity of influenza A virusinduced myeloid-derived suppressor cells in mice and humans. *J Clin Invest*. (2008) 118:4036–48. doi: 10.1172/JCI36264
- Paget C, Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Blanc F, Pichavant M, Renneson J, et al. Potential role of invariant NKT cells in the control of pulmonary inflammation and CD8+ T cell response during acute influenza A virus H3N2 pneumonia. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:5590–602. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002348
- Kok WL, Denney L, Benam K, Cole S, Clelland C, McMichael AJ, et al. Pivotal advance: invariant NKT cells reduce accumulation of inflammatory monocytes in the lungs and decrease immune-pathology during severe influenza A virus infection. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2012) 91:357–68. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0411184
- van Wilgenburg B, Loh L, Chen Z, Pediongco TJ, Wang H, Shi M, et al. MAIT cells contribute to protection against lethal influenza infection *in vivo*. *Nat Commun*. (2018) 9:4706. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07207-9
- Abdul-Careem MF, Mian MF, Yue G, Gillgrass A, Chenoweth MJ, Barra NG, et al. Critical role of natural killer cells in lung immunopathology during influenza infection in mice. J Infect Dis. (2012) 206:167–77. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jis340
- Zhou G, Juang SWW, Kane KP. NK cells exacerbate the pathology of influenza virus infection in mice. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:929–38. doi: 10.1002/eji.201242620
- Topham DJ, Tripp RA, Doherty PC. CD8+ T cells clear influenza virus by perforin or Fas-dependent processes. J Immunol. (1997) 159:5197–200.
- Brincks EL, Katewa A, Kucaba TA, Griffith TS, Legge KL. CD8 T cells utilize TRAIL to control influenza virus infection. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:4918–25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.7.4918
- Sun J, Madan R, Karp CL, Braciale TJ. Effector T cells control lung inflammation during acute influenza virus infection by producing IL-10. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:277–84. doi: 10.1038/nm.1929
- Moser EK, Hufford MM, Braciale TJ. Late engagement of CD86 after influenza virus clearance promotes recovery in a FoxP3+ regulatory T cell dependent manner. *PLoS Pathog.* (2014) 10:e1004315. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004315
- Chen WH, Toapanta FR, Shirey KA, Zhang L, Giannelou A, Page C, et al. Potential role for alternatively activated macrophages in the secondary bacterial infection during recovery from influenza. *Immunol Lett.* (2012) 141:227–34. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2011.10.009
- Gorski SA, Hahn YS, Braciale TJ. Group 2 innate lymphoid cell production of IL-5 is regulated by NKT cells during influenza virus infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013) 9:e1003615. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003615
- Nüssing S, Sant S, Koutsakos M, Subbarao K, Nguyen THO, Kedzierska K. Innate and adaptive T cells in influenza disease. *Front Med.* (2018) 12:34–47. doi: 10.1007/s11684-017-0606-8
- Taubenberger JK, Morens DM. Influenza revisited. Emerg Infect Dis. (2006) 12:1–2. doi: 10.3201/eid1201.051442
- Snelgrove RJ, Godlee A, Hussell T. Airway immune homeostasis and implications for influenza-induced inflammation. *Trends Immunol.* (2011) 32:328–34. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2011.04.006
- Metzger DW, Sun K. Immune dysfunction and bacterial coinfections following influenza. J Immunol. (2013) 191:2047–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301152
- Habibzay M, Weiss G, Hussell T. Bacterial superinfection following lung inflammatory disorders. *Future Microbiol.* (2013) 8:247–56. doi: 10.2217/fmb.12.143
- McCullers JA. The co-pathogenesis of influenza viruses with bacteria in the lung. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2014) 12:252–62. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3231

- Rynda-Apple A, Robinson KM, Alcorn JF. Influenza and bacterial superinfection: illuminating the immunologic mechanisms of disease. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:3764–70. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00298-15
- Robinson KM, Kolls JK, Alcorn JF. The immunology of influenza virusassociated bacterial pneumonia. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2015) 34:59–67. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2015.02.002
- Wheeler AH, Nungester WJ. Effect of mucin on influenza virus infection in hamsters. Science. (1942) 96:92–3. doi: 10.1126/science.96.2482.92
- Cundell DR, Gerard NP, Gerard C, Idanpaan-Heikkila I, Tuomanen EI. Streptococcus pneumoniae anchor to activated human cells by the receptor for platelet-activating factor. *Nature*. (1995) 377:435–8. doi: 10.1038/377435a0
- 52. McCullers JA, Rehg JE. Lethal synergism between influenza virus and Streptococcus pneumoniae: characterization of a mouse model and the role of platelet-activating factor receptor. *J Infect Dis.* (2002) 186:341–50. doi: 10.1086/341462
- Rijneveld AW, Weijer S, Florquin S, Speelman P, Shimizu T, Ishii S, et al. Improved host defense against pneumococcal pneumonia in plateletactivating factor receptor-deficient mice. J Infect Dis. (2004) 189:711–6. doi: 10.1086/381392
- Pittet LA, Hall-Stoodley L, Rutkowski MR, Harmsen AG. Influenza virus infection decreases tracheal mucociliary velocity and clearance of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2010) 42:450–60. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2007-0417OC
- McNamee LA, Harmsen AG. Both influenza-induced neutrophil dysfunction and neutrophil-independent mechanisms contribute to increased susceptibility to a secondary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. *Infect Immun.* (2006) 74:6707–21. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00789-06
- Sun K, Metzger DW. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferon-gamma during recovery from influenza infection. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:558–64. doi: 10.1038/nm1765
- 57. Shahangian A, Chow EK, Tian X, Kang JR, Ghaffari A, Liu SY, et al. Type I IFNs mediate development of postinfluenza bacterial pneumonia in mice. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:1910–20. doi: 10.1172/JCI35412
- Ghoneim HE, Thomas PG, McCullers JA. Depletion of alveolar macrophages during influenza infection facilitates bacterial superinfections. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:1250–59. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300014
- Bansal S, Yajjala VK, Bauer C, Sun K. IL-1 signaling prevents alveolar macrophage depletion during influenza and Streptococcus pneumoniae coinfection. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:1425–33. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700210
- Didierlaurent A, Goulding J, Patel S, Snelgrove R, Low L, Bebien M, et al. Sustained desensitization to bacterial Toll-like receptor ligands after resolution of respiratory influenza infection. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:323–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20070891
- Subramaniam R, Barnes PF, Fletcher K, Boggaram V, Hillberry Z, Neuenschwander P, et al. Protecting against post-influenza bacterial pneumonia by increasing phagocyte recruitment and ROS production. J Infect Dis. (2014) 209:1827–36. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit830
- Sun K, Metzger DW. Influenza infection suppresses NADPH oxidasedependent phagocytic bacterial clearance and enhances susceptibility to secondary methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:3301–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303049
- 63. Small C-L, Shaler CR, McCormick S, Jeyanathan M, Damjanovic D, Brown EG, et al. Influenza infection leads to increased susceptibility to subsequent bacterial superinfection by impairing NK cell responses in the lung. *J Immunol.* (2010) 184:2048–56. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.09 02772
- 64. van der Sluijs KF, van Elden LJR, Nijhuis M, Schuurman R, Pater JM, Florquin S, et al. IL-10 is an important mediator of the enhanced susceptibility to pneumococcal pneumonia after influenza infection. J Immunol. (2004) 172:7603–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7603
- 65. van der Sluijs KF, Nijhuis M, Levels JHM, Florquin S, Mellor AL, Jansen HM, et al. Influenza-induced expression of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase enhances interleukin-10 production and bacterial outgrowth during secondary pneumococcal pneumonia. *J Infect Dis.* (2006) 193:214–22. doi: 10.1086/498911

- 66. Cao J, Wang D, Xu F, Gong Y, Wang H, Song Z, et al. Activation of IL-27 signalling promotes development of postinfluenza pneumococcal pneumonia. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2014) 6:120–40. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201302890
- 67. Robinson KM, Lee B, Scheller EV, Mandalapu S, Enelow RI, Kolls JK, et al. The role of IL-27 in susceptibility to post-influenza *Staphylococcus aureus* pneumonia. *Respir Res.* (2015) 16:10. doi: 10.1186/s12931-015-0168-8
- Nakamura S, Davis KM, Weiser JN. Synergistic stimulation of type I interferons during influenza virus coinfection promotes Streptococcus pneumoniae colonization in mice. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:3657–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI57762
- Schliehe C, Flynn EK, Vilagos B, Richson U, Swaminanthan S, Bosnjak B, et al. The methyltransferase Setdb2 mediates virus-induced susceptibility to bacterial superinfection. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:67–74. doi: 10.1038/ni.3046
- Planet PJ, Parker D, Cohen TS, Smith H, Leon JD, Ryan C, et al. Lambda interferon restructures the nasal microbiome and increases susceptibility to *Staphylococcus aureus* superinfection. *mBio.* (2016) 7:e01939–15. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01939-15
- Blevins LK, Wren JT, Holbrook BC, Hayward SL, Swords WE, Parks GD, et al. Coinfection with Streptococcus pneumoniae negatively modulates the size and composition of the ongoing influenza-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:5076–87. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400529
- Kudva A, Scheller EV, Robinson KM, Crowe CR, Choi SM, Slight SR, et al. Influenza A inhibits Th17-mediated host defense against bacterial pneumonia in mice. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:1666–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002194
- Robinson KM, Choi SM, McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Enelow RI, Kolls JK, et al. Influenza A exacerbates *Staphylococcus aureus* pneumonia by attenuating IL-1β production in mice. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:5153–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301237
- 74. Li W, Moltedo B, Moran TM. Type I interferon induction during influenza virus infection increases susceptibility to secondary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection by negative regulation of γδ T cells. J Virol. (2012) 86:12304–12. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01269-12
- Lee B, Gopal R, Manni ML, McHugh KJ, Mandalapu S, Robinson KM, et al. STAT1 is required for suppression of type 17 immunity during influenza and bacterial superinfection. *Immuno Horizons*. (2017) 1:81–91. doi: 10.4049/immunohorizons.1700030
- Jochems SP, Marcon F, Carniel BF, Holloway M, Mitsi E, Smith E, et al. Inflammation induced by influenza virus impairs human innate immune control of pneumococcus. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:1299–308. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0231-y
- 77. Bendelac А, Savage PB, Teyton L. The biology of NKT cells. Annu Rev Immunol. (2007)25:297-336. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141711
- Godfrey DI, Stankovic S, Baxter AG. Raising the NKT cell family. Nat Immunol. (2010) 11:197–206. doi: 10.1038/ni.1841
- Bedard M, Salio M, Cerundolo V. Harnessing the power of Iinvariant Natural Killer T cells in cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1829. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01829
- Van Kaer L, Parekh VV, Wu L. The response of CD1d-restricted invariant NKT cells to microbial pathogens and their products. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:226. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00226
- Lee YJ, Holzapfel KL, Zhu J, Jameson SC, Hogquist KA. Steady-state production of IL-4 modulates immunity in mouse strains and is determined by lineage diversity of iNKT cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2013) 14:1146–54. doi: 10.1038/ni.2731
- Engel I, Seumois G, Chavez L, Samaniego-Castruita D, White B, Chawla A, et al. Innate-like functions of natural killer T cell subsets result from highly divergent gene programs. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:728–39. doi: 10.1038/ni.3437
- Matsuda JL, Mallevaey T, Scott-Browne J, Gapin L. CD1d-restricted iNKT cells, the "Swiss-Army knife" of the immune system. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2008) 20:358–68. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2008.03.018
- 84. Metelitsa LS, Naidenko OV, Kant A, Wu HW, Loza MJ, Perussia B, et al. Human NKT cells mediate antitumor cytotoxicity directly by recognizing target cell CD1d with bound ligand or indirectly by

producing IL-2 to activate NK cells. J Immunol. (2001) 167:3114–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.6.3114

- Macho-Fernandez E, Brigl M. The extended family of CD1drestricted NKT cells: sifting through a mixed bag of TCRs, antigens, and functions. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:362. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2015.00362
- Thanabalasuriar A, Neupane AS, Wang J, Krummel MF, Kubes P. iNKT cell emigration out of the lung vasculature requires neutrophils and monocytederived dendritic cells in inflammation. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 16:3260–72. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.07.052
- Scanlon ST, Thomas SY, Ferreira CM, Bai L, Krausz T, Savage PB, et al. Airborne lipid antigens mobilize resident intravascular NKT cells to induce allergic airway inflammation. *J Exp Med.* (2011) 208:2113–24. doi: 10.1084/jem.20110522
- Treiner E, Duban L, Bahram S, Radosavljevic M, Wanner V, Tilloy F, et al. Selection of evolutionarily conserved mucosal-associated invariant T cells by MR1. *Nature*. (2003) 422:164–9. doi: 10.1038/nature01433
- 89. Tilloy F, Treiner E, Park SH, Garcia C, Lemonnier F, de la Salle H, et al. An invariant T cell receptor alpha chain defines a novel TAP-independent major histocompatibility complex class Ib-restricted alpha/beta T cell subpopulation in mammals. *J Exp Med.* (1999) 189:1907–21. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.12.1907
- Gherardin NA, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J, Godfrey DI. The diverse family of MR1-restricted T cells. *J Immunol.* (2018) 201:2862–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801091
- Reantragoon R, Corbett AJ, Sakala IG, Gherardin NA, Furness JB, Chen Z, et al. Antigen-loaded MR1 tetramers define T cell receptor heterogeneity in mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Exp Med.* (2013) 210:2305–20. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130958
- Eckle SBG, Birkinshaw RW, Kostenko L, Corbett AJ, McWilliam HEG, Reantragoon R, et al. A molecular basis underpinning the T cell receptor heterogeneity of mucosal-associated invariant T cells. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:1585–1600. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140484
- Kjer-Nielsen L, Patel O, Corbett AJ, Le Nours J, Meehan B, Liu L, et al. MR1 presents microbial vitamin B metabolites to MAIT cells. *Nature*. (2012) 491:717–23. doi: 10.1038/nature11605
- Le Bourhis L, Dusseaux M, Bohineust A, Bessoles S, Martin E, Premel V, et al. MAIT cells detect and efficiently lyse bacterially-infected epithelial cells. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013) 9:e1003681. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003681
- Gold MC, McLaren JE, Reistetter JA, Smyk-Pearson S, Ladell K, Swarbrick GM, et al. MR1-restricted MAIT cells display ligand discrimination and pathogen selectivity through distinct T cell receptor usage. *J Exp Med*. (2014) 211:1601–10. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140507
- Loh L, Wang Z, Sant S, Koutsakos M, Jegaskanda S, Corbett AJ, et al. Human mucosal-associated invariant T cells contribute to antiviral influenza immunity via IL-18-dependent activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:10133–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1610750113
- 97. Tang X-Z, Jo J, Tan AT, Sandalova E, Chia A, Tan KC, et al. IL-7 licenses activation of human liver intrasinusoidal mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:3142–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203218
- Le Bourhis L, Martin E, Péguillet I, Guihot A, Froux N, Coré M, et al. Antimicrobial activity of mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2010) 11:701–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.1890
- Salio M, Silk JD, Jones EY, Cerundolo V. Biology of CD1- and MR1-restricted T cells. Annu Rev Immunol. (2014) 32:323–66. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120243
- 100. Gold MC, Cerri S, Smyk-Pearson S, Cansler ME, Vogt TM, Delepine J, et al. Human mucosal associated invariant T cells detect bacterially infected cells. *PLoS Biol.* (2010) 8:e1000407. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000407
- 101. Rahimpour A, Koay HF, Enders A, Clanchy R, Eckle SBG, Meehan B, et al. Identification of phenotypically and functionally heterogeneous mouse mucosal-associated invariant T cells using MR1 tetramers. *J Exp Med.* (2015) 212:1095–108. doi: 10.1084/jem.20142110
- 102. Kawachi I, Maldonado J, Strader C, Gilfillan S. MR1-restricted V alpha 19i mucosal-associated invariant T cells are innate T cells in the gut lamina propria that provide a rapid and diverse cytokine response. J Immunol. (2006) 176:1618–27. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 176.3.1618

- Bonneville M, O'Brien RL, Born WK. Gammadelta T cell effector functions: a blend of innate programming and acquired plasticity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2010) 10:467–478. doi: 10.1038/nri2781
- Nielsen MM, Witherden DA, Havran WL. γδ T cells in homeostasis and host defence of epithelial barrier tissues. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:733–45. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.101
- Hayday AC. Gammadelta T cells and the lymphoid stress-surveillance response. *Immunity*. (2009) 31:184–96. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.006
- Hayday A, Tigelaar R. Immunoregulation in the tissues by gammadelta T cells. Nat Rev Immunol. (2003) 3:233–42. doi: 10.1038/nri1030
- 107. Chien Y, Meyer C, Bonneville M. γδ T cells: first line of defense and beyond. Annu Rev Immunol. (2014) 32:121–55. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120216
- Gu S, Nawrocka W, Adams EJ. Sensing of pyrophosphate metabolites by Vγ9Vδ2 T cells. Front Immunol. (2014) 5:688. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00688
- Adams EJ, Gu S, Luoma AM. Human gamma delta T cells: evolution and ligand recognition. *Cell Immunol.* (2015) 296:31–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.04.008
- Silva-Santos B, Serre K, Norell H. γδ T cells in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. (2015) 15:683–91. doi: 10.1038/nri3904
- Weiser JN, Ferreira DM, Paton JC. Streptococcus pneumoniae: transmission, colonization and invasion. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2018) 16:355–67. doi: 10.1038/s41579-018-0001-8
- Morris DE, Cleary DW, Clarke SC. Secondary bacterial infections associated with Influenza pandemics. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:1041. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01041
- 113. Domenech A, Ardanuy C, Tercero A, García-Somoza D, Santos S, Liñares J. Dynamics of the pneumococcal population causing acute exacerbations in COPD patients in a Barcelona hospital (2009-12): comparison with 2001-04 and 2005-08 periods. J Antimicrob Chemother. (2014) 69:932–9. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkt476
- 114. Moffitt K, Malley R. Rationale and prospects for novel pneumococcal vaccines. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. (2016) 12:383–92. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2015.1087625
- 115. Cherazard R, Epstein M, Doan T-L, Salim T, Bharti S, Smith MA. Antimicrobial resistant streptococcus pneumoniae: prevalence, mechanisms, and clinical implications. Am J Ther. (2017) 24:e361–9. doi: 10.1097/MJT.00000000000551
- 116. Kinjo Y, Illarionov P, Vela JL, Pei B, Girardi E, Li X, et al. Invariant natural killer T cells recognize glycolipids from pathogenic Gram-positive bacteria. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:966–74. doi: 10.1038/ni.2096
- 117. Hassane M, Demon D, Soulard D, Fontaine J, Keller LE, Patin EC, et al. Neutrophilic NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent IL-1β secretion regulates the γδT17 cell response in respiratory bacterial infections. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:1056–68. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.113
- Trottein F, Paget C. Natural Killer T Cells and mucosal-associated invariant T cells in lung infections. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1750. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01750
- 119. Barthelemy A, Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Soulard D, Bouabe H, Paget C, et al. Influenza A virus-induced release of interleukin-10 inhibits the anti-microbial activities of invariant natural killer T cells during invasive pneumococcal superinfection. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:460–9. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.49
- 120. King IL, Amiel E, Tighe M, Mohrs K, Veerapen N, Besra G, et al. The mechanism of splenic invariant NKT cell activation dictates localization *in vivo. J Immunol Baltim.* (2013) 191:572–82. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300299
- 121. Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KHG. Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from gammadelta T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. *Immunity.* (2009) 31:331–41. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.001
- 122. Kawakami K, Kinjo Y, Uezu K, Miyagi K, Kinjo T, Yara S, et al. Interferongamma production and host protective response against Mycobacterium tuberculosis in mice lacking both IL-12p40 and IL-18. *Microbes Infect*. (2004) 6:339–49. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2004.01.003
- 123. Nakamatsu M, Yamamoto N, Hatta M, Nakasone C, Kinjo T, Miyagi K, et al. Role of interferon-gamma in Valpha14+ natural killer T cellmediated host defense against Streptococcus pneumoniae infection in

murine lungs. Microbes Infect. (2007) 9:364–74. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2006. 12.003

- 124. Tettelin H, Nelson KE, Paulsen IT, Eisen JA, Read TD, Peterson S, et al. Complete genome sequence of a virulent isolate of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Science*. (2001) 293:498–506. doi: 10.1126/science.1061217
- 125. Lanie JA, Ng W-L, Kazmierczak KM, Andrzejewski TM, Davidsen TM, Wayne KJ, et al. Genome sequence of Avery's virulent serotype 2 strain D39 of Streptococcus pneumoniae and comparison with that of unencapsulated laboratory strain R6. *J Bacteriol.* (2007) 189:38–51. doi: 10.1128/JB.0 1148-06
- 126. Kurioka A, van Wilgenburg B, Javan RR, Hoyle R, van Tonder AJ, Harrold CL, et al. Diverse streptococcus pneumoniae strains drive a mucosal-associated invariant T-cell response through major histocompatibility complex class I-related molecule-dependent and cytokine-driven pathways. *J Infect Dis.* (2018) 217:988–99. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix647
- 127. Hartmann N, McMurtrey C, Sorensen ML, Huber ME, Kurapova R, Coleman FT, et al. Riboflavin metabolism variation among clinical isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae results in differential activation of MAIT cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2018) 58:767–76. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2017-0290OC
- 128. Ivanov S, Fontaine J, Paget C, Macho Fernandez E, Van Maele L, Renneson J, et al. Key role for respiratory CD103(+) dendritic cells, IFN-γ, and IL-17 in protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae infection in response to α-galactosylceramide. J Infect Dis. (2012) 206:723–34. doi: 10.1093/infdis/ jis413
- 129. Grimaldi D, Le Bourhis L, Sauneuf B, Dechartres A, Rousseau C, Ouaaz F, et al. Specific MAIT cell behaviour among innate-like T lymphocytes in critically ill patients with severe infections. *Intensive Care Med.* (2014) 40:192–201. doi: 10.1007/s00134-013-3163-x
- Krismer B, Weidenmaier C, Zipperer A, Peschel A. The commensal lifestyle of *Staphylococcus aureus* and its interactions with the nasal microbiota. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2017) 15:675–87. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2017.104
- Tuffs SW, Haeryfar SMM, McCormick JK. Manipulation of innate and adaptive immunity by Staphylococcal superantigens. *Pathog Basel Switz*. (2018) 7:E53. doi: 10.3390/pathogens7020053
- Cheng P, Liu T, Zhou W-Y, Zhuang Y, Peng L, Zhang J-Y, et al. Role of gamma-delta T cells in host response against *Staphylococcus aureus*-induced pneumonia. *BMC Immunol.* (2012) 13:38. doi: 10.1186/1471-2172-13-38
- 133. Rieder SA, Nagarkatti P, Nagarkatti M. CD1d-independent activation of invariant natural killer T cells by staphylococcal enterotoxin B through major histocompatibility complex class II/T cell receptor interaction results in acute lung injury. *Infect Immun.* (2011) 79:3141–8. doi: 10.1128/IAI. 00177-11
- Hayworth JL, Mazzuca DM, Maleki Vareki S, Welch I, McCormick JK, Haeryfar SMM. CD1d-independent activation of mouse and human iNKT cells by bacterial superantigens. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2012) 90:699–709. doi: 10.1038/icb.2011.90
- 135. Szabo PA, Rudak PT, Choi J, Xu SX, Schaub R, Singh B, et al. Invariant Natural Killer T Cells are pathogenic in the HLA-DR4-transgenic humanized mouse model of toxic shock syndrome and can be targeted to reduce morbidity. *J Infect Dis.* (2017) 215:824–9. doi: 10.1093/infdis/j iw646
- 136. Shaler CR, Choi J, Rudak PT, Memarnejadian A, Szabo PA, Tun-Abraham ME, et al. MAIT cells launch a rapid, robust and distinct hyperinflammatory response to bacterial superantigens and quickly acquire an anergic phenotype that impedes their cognate antimicrobial function: Defining a novel mechanism of superantigen-induced immunopathology and immunosuppression. *PLoS Biol.* (2017) 15:e2001930. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.2001930
- Costanzo AE, Taylor KR, Dutt S, Han PP, Fujioka K, Jameson JM. Obesity impairs γδ T cell homeostasis and antiviral function in humans. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0120918. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0120918

- Fan X, Rudensky AY. Hallmarks of tissue-resident lymphocytes. *Cell.* (2016) 164:1198–211. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.048
- 139. Ivanov S, Renneson J, Fontaine J, Barthelemy A, Paget C, Fernandez EM, et al. Interleukin-22 reduces lung inflammation during influenza A virus infection and protects against secondary bacterial infection. *J Virol.* (2013) 87:6911–24. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02943-12
- 140. Guo H, Topham DJ. Interleukin-22 (IL-22) production by pulmonary Natural Killer cells and the potential role of IL-22 during primary influenza virus infection. J Virol. (2010) 84:7750–9. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00187-10
- 141. Pociask DA, Scheller EV, Mandalapu S, McHugh KJ, Enelow RI, Fattman CL, et al. IL-22 is essential for lung epithelial repair following influenza infection. *Am J Pathol.* (2013) 182:1286–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.12.007
- 142. Kumar P, Thakar MS, Ouyang W, Malarkannan S. IL-22 from conventional NK cells is epithelial regenerative and inflammation protective during influenza infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2013) 6:69–82. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.49
- 143. Barthelemy A, Sencio V, Soulard D, Deruyter L, Faveeuw C, Le Goffic R, et al. Interleukin-22 immunotherapy during severe influenza enhances lung tissue integrity and reduces secondary bacterial systemic invasion. *Infect Immun.* (2018) 86:e00706–17. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00706-17
- 144. Lee B, Robinson KM, McHugh KJ, Scheller EV, Mandalapu S, Chen C, et al. Influenza-induced type I interferon enhances susceptibility to gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial pneumonia in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2015) 309:L158–167. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00338.2014
- 145. van Wilgenburg B, Scherwitzl I, Hutchinson EC, Leng T, Kurioka A, Kulicke C, et al. MAIT cells are activated during human viral infections. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:11653. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11653
- 146. Stervbo U, Pohlmann D, Baron U, Bozzetti C, Jürchott K, Mälzer JN, et al. Age dependent differences in the kinetics of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells after influenza vaccination. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0181161. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181161
- 147. Godfrey DI, Le Nours J, Andrews DM, Uldrich AP, Rossjohn J. Unconventional T Cell Targets for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:453–73. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.009
- 148. Paget C, Chow MT, Gherardin NA, Beavis PA, Uldrich AP, Duret H, et al. CD3bright signals on γδ T cells identify IL-17A-producing Vγ6Vδ1+ T cells. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2015) 93:198–212. doi: 10.1038/icb.2014.94
- 149. Barthelemy A, Ivanov S, Hassane M, Fontaine J, Heurtault B, Frisch B, et al. Exogenous activation of invariant Natural Killer T Cells by  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide reduces pneumococcal outgrowth and issemination postinfluenza. *mBio.* (2016) 7:e01440–16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01440-16
- 150. Beshara R, Sencio V, Soulard D, Barthélémy A, Fontaine J, Pinteau T, et al. Alteration of Flt3-Ligand-dependent *de novo* generation of conventional dendritic cells during influenza infection contributes to respiratory bacterial superinfection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2018) 14:e1007360. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007360
- 151. Porte R, Fougeron D, Muñoz-Wolf N, Tabareau J, Georgel A-F, Wallet F, et al. A Toll-Like Receptor 5 agonist improves the efficacy of antibiotics in treatment of primary and influenza virus-associated pneumococcal mouse infections. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2015) 59:6064–72. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01210-15

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Paget and Trottein. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

